# POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME AND INSULIN RESISTANCE: DYSREGULATION OF TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR BETA SIGNALLING AND THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE TRAINING

This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

By

Luke C. McIlvenna BSc (Hons), MRes

2021

College of Sport and Exercise Science Institute for Health and Sport (IHES) Victoria University - Melbourne, Australia

### ABSTRACT

Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) is primarily thought of as a reproductive condition, although it has profound effects on metabolic health, with 38-80% of women with PCOS presenting with insulin resistance. This underlying insulin resistance occurs independently of obesity and has negative effects on other features of the condition. The identification of peripheral insulin resistance in PCOS occurred in 1989, and despite several advances in this area, the molecular mechanisms responsible for peripheral insulin resistance in women with PCOS remain unclear. In addition, interventional studies from women with PCOS have identified impaired responses to insulin-sensitizing therapies. A possible explanation for the underlying insulin resistance and poor response to insulin-sensitizing treatments may be the dysregulation of Transforming Growth Factor-beta (TGF-beta) signalling. The dysregulation of TGF-beta signalling is responsible for remodelling in the ovarian tissues and reproductive dysfunction. Due to the systemic action of TGF-beta signalling, it may be conceivable that these effects extend beyond the reproductive tissues to the peripheral tissues. This presents a possible mechanism that could contribute to the development of insulin resistance in women with PCOS. Understanding the underlying mechanisms of insulin resistance will allow for improvements in diagnosis and for targeted therapies to be developed, which are currently lacking for women with PCOS. The overall aim of this thesis was to determine if dysregulated TGF-beta signalling plays a role in skeletal muscle insulin resistance and can influence metabolic responses to exercise in women with PCOS. This was achieved through a combination of *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies focusing on skeletal muscle metabolism.

Study 1 explored the role of TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 and Anti-müllerian hormone (AMH), on glucose uptake and insulin signalling in myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls. In line with previous studies, we showed that *in vivo* metabolic phenotype was not accurately retained in cultured myotubes from women with PCOS, suggesting that a combination of the *in vivo* environmental factors and intrinsic defects lead to the development of insulin resistance. TGF-beta 1 and AMH had distinct metabolic effects. TGF-beta 1 increased basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, while AMH decreased glucose uptake and PI3K-p110 expression, which was accompanied by an increase in inhibitory IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> phosphorylation.

Study 2 assessed the response of myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls to an *in vitro* model of contraction with and without TGF-beta 1 or AMH. It was found that myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls display minimal differences in exercise-induced signalling transduction. Myotubes from healthy women showed an increase in the phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and CREB, which appeared to be absent in the myotubes from women with PCOS. The TGF-beta ligands AMH and TGF-beta 1 do not appear to influence *in vitro* skeletal muscle exercise-like signalling responses.

In Study 3, a cross-sectional approach was used to assess skeletal muscle TGF-beta and insulin signalling in women with PCOS compared to overweight and lean controls. Insulin sensitivity, as determined by euglycemic–hyperinsulinemic clamp, confirmed previous findings that women with PCOS have a significant reduction in insulin sensitivity compared to controls. This insulin resistance occurred in the absence of any identifiable defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling and did not appear to be related to TGF-beta signalling. Women with PCOS have a provide the related to TGF-beta signalling. Women with PCOS have a significant reduction of p38 MAPK, suggesting that excessive reactive oxygen species and/or inflammation may contribute to insulin resistance.

In Study 4, overweight women with PCOS participated in a 12-week exercise training intervention. We aimed to determine if changes in insulin sensitivity following 12 weeks of moderate or high-intensity exercise training were related to aberrant TGF-beta signalling and collagen deposition in the skeletal muscle. Exercise training of high and moderate intensities resulted in improvements in insulin sensitivity and cardiorespiratory fitness, with the metabolic benefits being more noticeable following the high-intensity intervention. Improvements in insulin sensitivity of changes in body composition, TGF-beta signalling and other clinical measures.

Collectively, the results from these studies demonstrate the role of TGF-beta ligands and signalling dysregulation in skeletal muscle metabolism *in vitro*. However, these findings do not appear to translate *in vivo* where insulin sensitivity was not related to TGF-beta signalling in women with or without PCOS. There was no apparent evidence of dysregulation of TGF-beta signalling or insulin signalling in women with PCOS. Furthermore, improvements in insulin sensitivity following 12 weeks of high- or moderate-intensity exercise training occurred independently of changes in TGF-beta signalling.

## Declaration

"I, **Luke C. McIlvenna** declare that the PhD thesis entitled is no more than 100,000 words in length including quotes and exclusive of tables, figures, appendices, bibliography, references and footnotes. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma. Except where otherwise indicated, this thesis is my own work".

Signature:

Date: 23/06/2020



## INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND SPORT

This thesis was completed under the guidance of Professor Nigel Keith Stepto and Dr Alba Moreno-Asso from the Women's Health Group at the Institute for Health and Sport, Victoria University

Prof Nigel K. Stepto



#### Dr Alba Moreno-Asso



In memory of Professor Nigel Keith Stepto

### Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Nigel Stepto and Alba Moreno-Asso for giving me the opportunity to do a PhD. I have learned a great deal from you both and I am grateful for the time you have invested in me and my career. Nigel you are and will continue to be missed by many. I particularly miss the daily supply of dad jokes and your passion for research. Alba, thank you for your patience and guidance throughout the PhD. The endless hours of cell culture and lab work were made more enjoyable with the insightful discussions and much laughter. There are a number of people I wish to acknowledge for their valuable contributions to the research. Dr Andrew Garnham, thank you for supervising all of the euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamps and performing the muscle biopsies, as well as educating us on a variety of topics. Your care for people has played a vital role in the success of this research. Ms Rhiannon Patten for her role in participant recruitment, exercise testing, exercise training and, performing the DEXA scans, and euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp visits. Dr Alba-Moreno-Asso, for her role in the cell culture studies, designing the *in vitro* experiments, establishing the cell lines, and teaching me all of the molecular biology techniques. Prof Nigel Stepto and Prof Itamar Levinger for overseeing the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps and teaching me the art of modulating the glucose infusion rate. To, the technical staff in the Institute of Health and Sport who went above and beyond to ensure our studies run well; Sam Cassar, Collene Steward, Sudinna Hewakapuge, Charmaine DiQuattro and Ramon Rodriguez-Anderson. I would also like to thank my fellow PhD candidates in PB201, having a great group of people on the journey with you helps and the daily coffee breaks have definitely kept me going. I have made many friends for life and I look forward to collaborating in the future. A special thanks to fellow group member Rhiannon Patten, carrying out a training study/clinical trial is no small feat, and I am glad we have been able to do it together, many good memories. Thanks to Javier Botella for always being up for a chat and for your shared appreciation of new scientific papers. I would like to express my gratitude to all of the women who took part in our studies, without their commitment and interest in the research none of this would have not been possible. To my parents, Colin and Michelle, thank you for your love, support and encouragement during my good and not so good days.

## Publications and presentations

Publications and presentations related to this thesis:

- Hiam, D., Patten, R., Gibson-Helm, M., Moreno-Asso, A., McIlvenna, L., Levinger, I., Harrison, C., Moran, L.J., Joham, A., Parker, A., Shorakae, S., Simar, D., Stepto, N., 2019. The effectiveness of high-intensity intermittent training on metabolic, reproductive and mental health in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: study protocol for the iHIT-PCOS randomized controlled trial. Trials 20, 221. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3313-8
- Stepto, N.K., Moreno-Asso, A., McIlvenna, L.C., Walters, K.A., Rodgers, R.J., 2019. Molecular Mechanisms of Insulin Resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Unraveling the Conundrum in Skeletal Muscle? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 5372– 5381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2019-00167</u>
- McIlvenna L.C. Moreno-Asso, A., Patten, R., McAinch A.J., Rodgers, R.J., Stepto, N.K "Are women with polycystic ovary syndrome resistant to the beneficial effects of exercise? An *in vitro* investigation of skeletal muscle contraction" Oral Presentation, Australasian Diabetes Congress 2019 (ADS/ADEA Annual Scientific Meeting); 21-23 August 2019, ICC Sydney, NSW
- Moreno-Asso, A., McIlvenna L.C., Patten, R., McAinch A.J., Rodgers, R.J., Stepto, N.K "Mechanisms of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome" Oral Presentation, Australasian Diabetes Congress 2019 (ADS/ADEA Annual Scientific Meeting); 21-23 August 2019, ICC Sydney, NSW

Other Publications during the PhD candidature, out with the scope of the current thesis:

 McIlvenna, L.C., Muggeridge, D.J., Whitfield, J., 2020. Exploring the mechanisms by which nitrate supplementation improves skeletal muscle contractile function: one fibre at a time. J. Physiol. 598, 25–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/JP279118</u>

- Woessner, M.N., Neil, C., Saner, N.J., Goodman, C.A., McIlvenna, L.C., De Zevallos, J.O., Garnham, A., Levinger, I., Allen, J.D., 2020. Effect of inorganic nitrate on exercise capacity, mitochondria respiration, and vascular function in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. J. Appl. Physiol. 128, 1355–1364. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00850.2019
- McIlvenna, L.C., Muggeridge, D.J., Forrest (Née Whyte), L., Monaghan, C., Liddle, L., Burleigh, M.C., Sculthorpe, N., Fernandez, B.O., Feelisch, M., Easton, C., 2019. Lower limb ischemic preconditioning combined with dietary nitrate supplementation does not influence time-trial performance in well-trained cyclists. J. Sci. Med. Sport. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.01.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.01.011</a>
- Walker, M.A., Bailey, T.G., McIlvenna, L.C, Allen, J.D., Green, D.J., Askew, C.D., 2019. Acute Dietary Nitrate Supplementation Improves Flow Mediated Dilatation of the Superficial Femoral Artery in Healthy Older Males. Nutrients 11, 954. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11050954
- Grgic, J., Mcllvenna, L.C., Fyfe, J.J., Sabol, F., Bishop, D.J., Schoenfeld, B.J., Pedisic, Z., 2019. Does Aerobic Training Promote the Same Skeletal Muscle Hypertrophy as Resistance Training? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sport. Med. 49, 233–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-1008-z</u>
- Woessner, M.N., McIlvenna, L.C., de Zevallos, J.O., Neil, C.J., Allen, J.D., 2018. Dietary nitrate supplementation in cardiovascular health: An ergogenic aid or exercise therapeutic? Am. J. Physiol. - Hear. Circ. Physiol. 314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00414.2017</u>
- Liddle, L., Monaghan, C., Burleigh, M.C., McIlvenna, L.C., Muggeridge, D.J., Easton, C., 2018. Changes in body posture alter plasma nitrite but not nitrate concentration in humans. Nitric Oxide 72, 59–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.niox.2017.11.008</u>

- Monaghan, C., Mcllvenna, L.C., Liddle, L., Burleigh, M., Weller, R.B., Fernandez, B.O., Feelisch, M., Muggeridge, D.J., Easton, C., 2018. The effects of two different doses of ultraviolet-A light exposure on nitric oxide metabolites and cardiorespiratory outcomes. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-018-3835-x</u>
- McIlvenna, L.C., Monaghan, C., Liddle, L., Fernandez, B.O., Feelisch, M., Muggeridge, D.J., Easton, C., 2016. Beetroot juice versus chard gel: A pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic comparison of nitrate bioavailability. Nitric Oxide - Biol. Chem. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.niox.2016.12.006</u>

Publications in prep/submitted from this thesis:

- McIlvenna, L.C., Patten, R.K., McAinch, A.J., Rodgers, R.J., Stepto, N.K., and Moreno-Asso, A., (2021) Effect of TGF-beta 1 on insulin signalling and glucose uptake in myotubes from women with and without Polycystic ovary syndrome. (Submitted)
- 2) McIlvenna, L.C., Altıntaş, A., Patten, R.K., McAinch, A.J., Rodgers, R.J., Stepto, N.K., Barres, R., and Moreno-Asso, A (2021) The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 and AMH on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes. (in-prep)
- 3) Patten, R.K., McIlvenna, L.C., Hiam D.S., Garnham, A.P., Levinger, I., McAinch, A.J., Shorakae, S., Parker, A.G. Moreno-Asso, A., and Stepto, N.K., Efficacy of highintensity interval training compared to standard moderate-intensity continuous training for improving cardio-metabolic health in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. (inprep)
- 4) McIlvenna, L.C., Patten, R.K., McAinch, A.J., Rodgers, R.J., Stepto, N.K., and Moreno-Asso, A., (2021) The Relationship between TGF-beta Signalling and Skeletal Muscle Insulin Resistance in women with PCOS. (in-prep)

Grants/Funding associated to this thesis:

1. NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, 2019 Project Grant "The Role of Skeletal Muscle Extracellular Matrix remodelling in the development of Insulin resistance in Women with PCOS" \$12,000

2. Diabetes Australia Research Project Grant 2018 "Examining a new mechanism of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS" \$60,000

3. NHMRC Centre for Research Excellence in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, 2018 Project Grant "Origins of insulin resistance in women with PCOS: Molecular mechanisms explored in human skeletal muscle *in vivo* and *in vitro*" \$13,700

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	21
1.1 POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME	21
1.2 TREATMENT AND MANAGEMENT	22
1.3 TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA AND POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME	23
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	25
2.1 What is polycystic ovary syndrome?	25
2.1.1 Diagnostic criteria	25
2.1.2 Origins of PCOS	27
2.2 THE ROLE OF INSULIN RESISTANCE AND HYPERANDROGENISM IN PCOS	
2.2.1 Hyperinsulinemia and androgens in vivo	
2.3 MECHANISMS OF INSULIN RESISTANCE IN WOMEN WITH PCOS	32
2.3.1 In vitro identification of mechanisms of insulin resistance	32
2.3.2 In vivo identification of the mechanisms of insulin resistance	34
2.3.3 Environmental factors and intrinsic defects	
2.4 MECHANISMS AND EFFECTS OF EXERCISE-INDUCED IMPROVEMENTS IN INSULIN SENSITIVITY	38
2.4.1 Resistance to metabolic benefits of exercise evidence from individuals with type 2 diabetes	43
2.4.2 In vitro models of exercise: electrical pulse stimulation	44
2.5 EFFECT OF EXERCISE IN WOMEN WITH PCOS: INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND RESISTANCE TO THE BENEFICIAL EFFE	CTS45
2.5.1 Acute responses to exercise in skeletal muscle metabolism and insulin signalling	45
2.5.2 Effect of acute exercise on inflammation in women with PCOS	46
2.5.3 Effects of exercise training on insulin sensitivity and skeletal muscle insulin signalling	47
2.5.4 The hypothesis of the mechanisms of impaired metabolic benefits to exercise training	49
2.6 THE ROLE OF TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA SUPERFAMILY LIGANDS IN PCOS	50
2.6.1 Overview of TGF-beta signalling	50
2.6.2 TGF-beta signalling in the pathogenesis of PCOS	50
2.6.3 TGF-beta signalling and exercise	51
2.7 GAPS IN THE RESEARCH – DISCOVERING THE MECHANISMS OF INSULIN RESISTANCE IN WOMEN WITH PCOS	53
2.8 Aims and Hypothesis	54
3 METHODOLOGY	56
3.1 Participants	56
3.2 METABOLIC AND BODY COMPOSITION ASSESSMENT	58
3.3 MUSCLE BIOPSY	59
3.4 Assessment of exercise capacity	59
3.5 Exercise training intervention	60
3.6 Bloods pathology and analysis	61
3.7 Human primary culture of myotubes	61

3.7.1 Purification of satellite cells	62
3.8 TGF-beta and AMH myotube experiments	64
3.9 Electrical pulse stimulation: <i>in vitro</i> contraction	64
3.10 Glucose uptake assay	66
3.11 Western blot analysis	66
3.12 Statistical analysis	70
4 STUDY 1: THE EFFECTS OF ANTI-MÜLLERIAN HORMONE AND TRANSFORMING GROWTH	FACTOR
BETA 1 ON GLUCOSE UPTAKE AND INSULIN SIGNALLING IN HUMAN PRIMARY MYOTUBES F	ROM
WOMEN WITH AND WITHOUT POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME	71
4.1 INTRODUCTION	71
4.1.1 Aims and hypothesis	74
4.2 Methods	75
4.2.1 Participants	75
4.2.2 Muscle biopsy	75
4.2.3 Human primary culture of myotubes	75
4.2.4 Purification of satellite cells	75
4.2.5 TGF-beta 1 and AMH treatment of myotubes	75
4.2.6 Glucose uptake assay	75
4.2.7 Western blot analysis	76
4.2.8 Statistical analysis	76
4.3 Results	77
4.3.1 Clinical characteristics	77
4.3.2 Relationship between in vivo insulin sensitivity and in vitro insulin-stimulated 2-deoxyglu	icose
uptake in myotubes	
4.3.3 2-Dexoxyglucose uptake	80
4.3.4 TGF-beta/SMAD signalling	
4.3.5 Insulin signalling	84
4.3.6 mTOR signalling	
4.4 DISCUSSION	90
4.4.1 Do myotubes from women with PCOS retain their donor's metabolic characteristics?	
4.4.2 The effects of TGF-beta 1 on glucose uptake and insulin signalling	95
4.4.3 The effects of AMH on glucose uptake and insulin signalling	97
4.4.4 Conclusions	
5 STUDY 2. THE EFFECTS OF ELECTRICAL PULSE STIMULATION IN COMBINATION WITH TO	F-BFTA
1 OR ANTI-MÜLLERIAN HORMONE ON EXERCISE-INDUCED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION IN SKE	LFTAI
I OR AN I PROLEMAN HORMONE ON EXERCISE-INDUCED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION IN SRE	100
	100

5.1 INTRODUCTION	
5.1.1 Resistance to metabolic benefits of exercise in women with PCOS	

5.1.2 Aims and hypothesis	101
5.2 Methods	
5.2.1 Participants	
5.2.2 Assessment of exercise capacity	102
5.2.3 Muscle Biopsy	
5.2.4 Human Primary culture of myotubes	102
5.2.5 TGFB and AMH myotubes experiment	102
5.2.6 Electrical pulse stimulation in vitro contraction	103
5.2.7 Western blot analysis	103
5.2.8 Statistical analysis	103
5.3 Results	104
5.3.1 Clinical characteristics	104
5.3.2 Stress kinase	105
5.3.3 Transcription factors	106
5.3.4 Glucose homeostasis	109
5.3.5 Hypertrophy	112
5.4 DISCUSSION	114
5.4.1 Do myotubes from women with PCOS display impaired exercise-induced signal transducti	on in
response to EPS?	114
5.4.2 Limitations and Future studies	117
5.4.3 Conclusions	119
6 STUDY 3: CROSS-SECTIONAL ANALYSIS OF INSULIN SENSITIVITY. INSULIN SIGNALLING AN	ID TGF-
BETA SIGNALLING IN WOMEN WITH AND WITHOUT PCOS	121
6.1 INTRODUCTION	121
6.1.1 Aims and hypothesis	121
6.2 Метнорs	122
6.2.1 Participants	174
6.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment	121
6.2.3 Muscle Bionsy	124
6.2.4 Bloods and nathology analysis	124
6.2.5 Western blot analysis	
6.2.6 Statistical analysis	
6.3 RESULTS	
6.3.1 Clinical Characteristics	
6.3.2 Insulin sensitivity	
6.3.3 TGF-Beta sianallina	
6.3.4 Insulin Signalling	
6.4 Discussion	
6.4.1 Clinical characteristics and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS and without PCOS	140

6.4.3 Skeletal muscle insulin signalling and insulin resistance in women with PCOS
6.4.4 Limitations and future directions
6.4.5 Conclusions147 STUDY 4: EFFECT OF HIGH-INTENSITY INTERVAL TRAINING AND MODERATE-INTENSITYTRAINING ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND TGF-BETA SIGNALLING IN OVERWEIGHT WOMEN WITHPCOS147.1 INTRODUCTION147.1.1 Aims and hypothesis147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.3.8 Statistical analysis157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 Discussion157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training intervention157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7 STUDY 4: EFFECT OF HIGH-INTENSITY INTERVAL TRAINING AND MODERATE-INTENSITY         TRAINING ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND TGF-BETA SIGNALLING IN OVERWEIGHT WOMEN WITH         PCOS       14         7.1 INTRODUCTION       14         7.1.1 Aims and hypothesis       14         7.2 METHODS       14         7.2.1 Participants       14         7.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment       14         7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy       15         7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity       15         7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis       15         7.2.7 Western blot analysis       15         7.3.8 Statistical analysis       15         7.3.1 Clinical characteristics       15         7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity       15         7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling       15         7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression       15         7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?       15         7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?       16
TRAINING ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND TGF-BETA SIGNALLING IN OVERWEIGHT WOMEN WITH         PCOS       14         7.1 INTRODUCTION       14         7.1.1 Aims and hypothesis       14         7.2.1 Participants       14         7.2.2 METHODS       14         7.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment       14         7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy       15         7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity       15         7.2.5 Exercise training intervention       15         7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis       15         7.2.7 Western blot analysis       15         7.3 RESULTS       15         7.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness       15         7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity       15         7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling       15         7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression       15         7.4 DISCUSSION       15         7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?       15         7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?       16
PCOS147.1 INTRODUCTION147.1 INTRODUCTION147.1 Aims and hypothesis147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2.1 Participants147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3 RESULTS157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 Discussion157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?16
7.1 INTRODUCTION147.1 INTRODUCTION147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2.1 Participants147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 Discussion157.4 Discussion157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?16
7.1 I Aims and hypothesis147.2 METHODS147.2 METHODS147.2.1 Participants147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 Discussion157.4 Discussion157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?16
7.2 METHODS       14         7.2.1 Participants       14         7.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment       14         7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy       15         7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity       15         7.2.5 Exercise training intervention       15         7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis       15         7.2.7 Western blot analysis       15         7.2.8 Statistical analysis       15         7.3 RESULTS       15         7.3.1 Clinical characteristics       15         7.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness       15         7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity       15         7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling       15         7.4 Discussion       15         7.4 Discussion       15         7.4 Discussion       15         7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?       15         7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?       16
7.2.1 Participants147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment147.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?167.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment       14         7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy       15         7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity       15         7.2.5 Exercise training intervention       15         7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis       15         7.2.7 Western blot analysis       15         7.2.8 Statistical analysis       15         7.3.1 Clinical characteristics       15         7.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness       15         7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity       15         7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling       15         7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression       15         7.4 Discussion       15         7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?       15         7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?       16
7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy157.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?167.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity157.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?167.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.5 Exercise training intervention157.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?167.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis157.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?167.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.7 Western blot analysis157.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.2.8 Statistical analysis157.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.3 RESULTS157.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.3.1 Clinical characteristics157.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness157.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness
7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity157.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling157.3.5 Metabolic protein expression157.4 DISCUSSION157.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?157.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?16
7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling       15         7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression       15         7.4 DISCUSSION       15         7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?       15         7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?       16
<ul> <li>7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression</li></ul>
7.4 DISCUSSION
7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?15 7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?
7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?
7.4.3 Exercise prescription for women with PCOS16
7.4.4 Limitations and future studies16
7.4.5 Conclusions
8 GENERAL DISCUSSION
8.1 Overall Aim
8.2 CONCLUSIONS
8.2.1 Discussion of key findings16
8.3 Limitations and Considerations
8.4 FUTURE RESEARCH
8.4.1 Tissue crosstalk17
8.4.2 Retention of donor characteristics in vitro17

8.4.3 Exercise and lifestyle in women with PCOS1	179
8.4.4 Further assessment of TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS	180
8.5 Clinical implications1	181
9 REFERENCES 1	83

## List of Tables

TABLE 1 DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA FOR POLYCYSTIC OVARY SYNDROME         2	6
TABLE 2 PHENOTYPES OF PCOS AS DEFINED BY ROTTERDAM CRITERIA (2003)         24	6
TABLE 3 ANTIBODY LIST	8
TABLE 4 CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS    7	7
TABLE 5 CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS       104	4
TABLE 6. CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN WITH PCOS, OVERWEIGHT CONTROLS AND	D
LEAN HEALTHY CONTROLS12	6
TABLE 7. CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WOMEN WITH PCOS BEFORE AND AFTER THE 12-WEE	K
EXERCISE INTERVENTION	2

### List of Figures

- FIGURE 1 MECHANISMS OF SKELETAL MUSCLE INSULIN RESISTANCE 37
- FIGURE 2 TGF-BETA SIGNALLING VIA SMAD2/3 PROMOTES FIBROSIS 53
- FIGURE 3 DIAGRAM: DETAILING THE SAMPLE SIZES AND WHICH SAMPLES WERE USED FOR EACH OF THE EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES (STUDY 1-4). 57
- FIGURE 4. OVERVIEW OF WEEKLY EXERCISE SESSIONS FOR MICT AND HIIT CREATED WITH BIORENDER.COM.61

FIGURE 5 SCHEMATIC EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE FOR MYOTUBE CULTURE EXPERIMENTS. 63

- FIGURE 6. ELECTRICAL PULSE STIMULATION EXPERIMENTAL SETUP 65
- FIGURE 7. TOTAL PROTEIN CONTENT USED FOR NORMALIZATION ON LOW-FLOW PVDF MEMBRANE (LEFT) AND NITROCELLULOSE MEMBRANE (RIGHT). 67
- FIGURE 8: *IN VIVO* AND *IN VITRO* COMPARISON OF INSULIN SENSITIVITY AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP TO ALLOW FOR ASSESSMENT OF PHENOTYPE RETENTION IN PRIMARY MYOTUBES FROM BOTH WOMEN WITH PCOS AND HEALTHY CONTROLS 79
- FIGURE 9 SKELETAL MUSCLE MYOTUBE 2-DEOXYGLUCOSE UPTAKE 81
- FIGURE 10. TGF-BETA/SMAD SIGNALLING. 83
- FIGURE 11. INSULIN SIGNALLING 86
- FIGURE 12. INSULIN SIGNALLING (CONT.) 87
- FIGURE 13. MTOR SIGNALLING. 89
- FIGURE 14. PHOSPHORYLATION OF P38 MAPK 105
- FIGURE 15. TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS: CREB, PGC1α 107
- FIGURE 16. TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS: NOR1, NUR77 108
- FIGURE 17. GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS: P-ACC, P-AMPK 110
- FIGURE 18. GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS: GLUT4 EXPRESSION 111
- FIGURE 19. HYPERTROPHY 113
- FIGURE 20. BASAL EXPRESSION OF TGF-BETA LIGANDS, RECEPTORS AND COLLAGEN IV, I AND III. 130
- FIGURE 21. SMAD3 PHOSPHORYLATION AT BASELINE AND DURING INSULIN STIMULATION 131
- FIGURE 22. CORRELATION MATRIX FOR SKELETAL MUSCLE TGF-BETA LIGANDS, CLINICAL MEASURES AND INSULIN SENSITIVITY. 132
- FIGURE 23. INSULIN SIGNALLING PROTEINS AT BASELINE AND DURING INSULIN-STIMULATION. 135

FIGURE 24. GLUT4 AND AMPK SIGNALLING AT BASELINE AND DURING INSULIN STIMULATION. 137

FIGURE 25. STRESS KINASE AND FOXO1 139

Figure 26. pre- and post-intervention data for VO2peak and Glucose infusion rate. 154  $\,$ 

FIGURE 27.PRE-POST INTERVENTION TGF-BETA SIGNALLING PROTEIN EXPRESSION. 156

FIGURE 28. METABOLIC PROTEIN EXPRESSION PRE-POST 12-WEEK TRAINING INTERVENTION. 157

### List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

- ACC Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
- ALT Alanine aminotransferase
- AMH Anti-müllerian hormone
- AMPK Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
- AST Aspartate aminotransferase
- BMI Body mass index
- CAMKII Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
- CREB cAMP response element-binding protein
- DCN Decorin
- DHEA Dehydroepiandrosterone
- DHT Dihydrotestosterone
- EPS Electrical pulse stimulation
- E2-Estradiol
- ECM Extracellular matrix
- ERK Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase
- GIR Glucose infusion rate
- GS Glycogen synthase
- GXT Graded exercise test
- HDL High-density lipoprotein
- HIIT High-intensity interval training
- HK Hexokinase
- HRR Heart rate reserve
- IRS Insulin receptor substrate
- IGFBP-1 Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 1
- IGF1 Insulin-like growth factor 1
- LBM Lean body mass
- LDL Low-density lipoprotein
- LOX Lysyl oxidase
- MACS Magnetic activated cell sorting
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MET Metabolic equivalent

- MICT Moderate-intensity continuous exercise
- PCOS Polycystic ovary syndrome
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- SHBG Sex hormone-binding globulin
- SMAD Sma and Mad proteins from Caenorhabditis elegans and Drosophila
- TGF-Beta Transforming growth factor beta
- TGFBRI Transforming growth factor beta receptor 1
- TGFBRII Transforming growth factor beta receptor 2

## 1 General Introduction

#### 1.1 Polycystic ovary syndrome

Polycystic Ovary Syndrome is a multifaceted condition that occurs in women of reproductive age and can be characterized by androgen excess, ovulatory dysfunction and polycystic ovaries (Ehrmann, 2005). The condition affects up to 8-13% of women of a reproductive age worldwide (Bozdag et al., 2016) depending on the diagnostic criteria applied, with the prevalence in Australia being up to 20% (March et al., 2010; Varanasi et al., 2017). The condition is associated with a number of morbidities including subfertility, pregnancy complications, insulin resistance (Cassar et al., 2016a; Stepto et al., 2013), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (Moran et al., 2010), psychological disorders (depression and anxiety (Cooney et al., 2017), and increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Kakoly et al., 2019). The aetiology of PCOS to date remains to be established. However, there are a number of proposed contributing factors and hypothesis such as environmental factors, genetics and in-utero developmental programming.

Traditionally PCOS has been considered a reproductive condition (based upon the diagnostic criteria); however, there is also a strong metabolic component with insulin resistance and compensatory hyperinsulinemia being present in a majority of women with PCOS. Building upon initial findings that women with PCOS have a marked decrease in insulin sensitivity (Dunaif et al., 1989; Lachelin et al., 1979), it has been established that approximately 38-80% of women with PCOS have insulin resistance that occurs independent of body mass index (BMI) but is exacerbated by BMI (DeUgarte et al., 2005; Stepto et al., 2013). This appears to be a distinguishing feature of PCOS indicating differing insulin resistance mechanisms from other metabolic conditions. Furthermore the prevalence of insulin resistance in women with PCOS may have been underestimated given the poor relationship between surrogate markers of insulin sensitivity often utilised by clinicians and more direct measures such as euglycemic -hyperinsulinemic clamp (Cassar et al., 2016a; Tosi et al., 2017). The preference of surrogate markers in a clinical setting can be attributed to cost and practicability. It is important to note that insulin resistance has an adverse effect on the reproductive features of PCOS with hyperinsulinemia leading to an increase in the bioavailability of androgens via different pathways (Micic et al., 1988; Nestler et al., 1991, 1989), creating a vicious cycle. Despite over two decades of research the mechanisms of peripheral insulin resistance remain unclear. This is probably in part due to the complex nature of PCOS and the variability of the pathogenesis. Women with PCOS appear to have a distinct insulin resistance from that observed in individuals with type 2 diabetes. However, it is still not clear which mechanisms are involved, with a lack of consistent findings between studies (Stepto et al., 2019). This makes the current findings difficult to interpret and creates a challenge for the development of effective therapies for the treatment and management of PCOS.

#### 1.2 Treatment and management

To date treatment approaches for women with PCOS have varied due to a lack of general consensus and knowledge among clinicians and practitioners. In response to this problem a group of international experts on PCOS have put together international evidence-based guidelines for the assessment, management and treatment of PCOS (Costello et al., 2019; Teede et al., 2018b). In regards to lifestyle modifications and specifically exercise, the current evidence base for women with PCOS is of a low quality with blanket approaches and general health guidelines often being applied (Stepto et al., 2019b). A personalized or phenotype specific approach to treatment may be needed due to the heterogeneity of the condition. Just as pharmacotherapies undergo extensive investigation to understand their effects and to be optimized for a given condition or patient, it could be argued that exercise research should take a similar approach (Buford et al., 2013). Allowing for the establishment of condition and patient specific exercise programming.

Exercise is one of the key treatments for improving peripheral insulin sensitivity, given that skeletal muscle accounts for around 85% of whole-body glucose uptake following exercise or hyperinsulinemia (Defronzo et al., 1981). This makes skeletal muscle a therapeutic target in the treatment of PCOS given that there are apparent defects in peripheral insulin signalling (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). The effects of exercise training and other therapeutic approaches on insulin resistance in women with PCOS have been sub-optimal. Several studies have demonstrated the ability of exercise training to improve but not to normalize insulin sensitivity (Harrison et al., 2012; Hutchison et al., 2012). Additionally, the traditional-approach of using insulin sensitizers such as metformin and pioglitazone have been ineffective in

resolving insulin resistance in women with PCOS (Glintborg et al., 2008; Vedtofte et al., 2019). Combined these findings highlight the current limitations of treatment options being used to improve metabolic health in women with PCOS. To date a variety of treatment and management approaches have been recommended for women with PCOS, although very few approaches have been effective in improving aspects of the condition. It should be noted that no specific pharmaceutics have been designed/produced for women with PCOS. This may be related to the lack of understanding regarding the specific mechanism by which PCOS occurs, and the heterogeneous nature of the condition making a one-size-fits all approach unfeasible. This highlights the need for more mechanistic research to identify underlying factors that regulate the severity of the condition.

#### 1.3 Transforming Growth Factor-beta and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

A possible explanation for the poor response to treatment may be related to the pathophysiology of PCOS. The Transforming Growth Factor-beta (TGF-beta) superfamily is a group of cytokines involved in a variety of physiological processes including but not limited to; cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis and immune system regulation (Chin et al., 2004; Piek et al., 1999). The synthesis of TGF-beta ligands is not restricted to a particular cell type with the majority of cells in the body expressing TGF-beta receptors and being capable of responding to TGF-beta ligands. In relation to PCOS, it has been observed that there is an association between TGF-beta dysregulation with a genetic variant of the fibrillin-3, an extracellular matrix (ECM) protein that regulates the activity of TGF-beta ligands (Raja-Khan et al., 2010). The presence of this genetic variant has been associated with increased resting plasma insulin levels and reduced insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS (Urbanek et al. 2007), suggesting that TGF-beta dysregulation may be responsible for the reproductive and metabolic dysfunction observed in PCOS.

One of the consequences of this dysregulation is the development of fibrosis of the ovarian tissues caused by excess deposition of collagens (Hatzirodos et al., 2011; Pozzer et al., 2017). In support of the role of abnormal TGF-beta signalling in the aetiology of PCOS, there are a number of superfamily ligands expressed in the ovary including the anti-müllerian hormone (Garg and Tal, 2016), activin (Teede et al., 2013; Welt et al., 2005), inhibin, and bone

morphogenetic proteins (Glister et al., 2005) that may be involved in hyperandrogenism and follicular development irregularities associated with PCOS. The presence of a specific fibrillin-3 genetic variant in D19S884 allele 8 has been associated with metabolic features of PCOS with individuals having elevations in resting plasma insulin and being less insulin sensitive (Urbanek et al., 2007). Given the systemic action of TGF-beta ligands it could by hypothesized that these effects are present in multiple tissues and organs in women with PCOS.

Alterations in the TGF-beta signalling pathway in skeletal muscle can result in remodelling of the ECM leading to increase deposition of collagens in skeletal muscle (Berria et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2015). This remodelling has been shown to act as a physical barrier to glucose and insulin as well as impairing insulin signalling (Berria et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2015). The impact of TGF-beta dysregulation and subsequent tissue remodelling may attenuate the benefits of insulin sensitizing therapies such as exercise. Interestingly, in humans, elevations in plasma TGF-beta 1 correlate with poor metabolic homeostasis and is inversely related to exercise capacity (Yadav and Rane, 2012). These findings have been further emphasized in individuals with type 2 diabetes, with failure to improve insulin sensitivity following exercise training due to increase in TGF-beta 1 in the skeletal muscle (Böhm et al., 2016). This resulted in subsequent suppression of key mitochondrial regulators; PGC1 $\alpha$  and AMPK $\alpha$ 2 (Böhm et al., 2016). These effects have yet to be investigated in women with PCOS but may contribute to the aetiology, linking abnormalities in metabolic and ovarian function.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

## 2 Literature Review

### 2.1 What is polycystic ovary syndrome?

Polycystic ovary syndrome is the most common endocrine condition that affects women of reproductive age, with the effects being evident throughout the lifespan (Teede et al., 2010). The primary features for diagnosis include hyperandrogenism, anovulation, and polycystic ovaries with two out of three features required for diagnosis (The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group, 2004). Other common features not included in the diagnostic criteria are insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, infertility, psychological disorders, weight gain, acne and hirsutism (Goodarzi et al., 2011). Collectively, this range of clinical features has a marked impact on the quality of life and health of women with PCOS. This highlights the complexity and heterogeneity of PCOS, which makes the diagnosis and management challenging for health professionals.

The prevalence of PCOS is estimated to be 8-13%, dependent upon the diagnostic criteria applied (Bozdag et al., 2016). To date, the progress and treatment for women with PCOS have been disadvantaged by the changes in diagnostic criteria. PCOS was first recognised by Stein and Leventhal in 1935 when they presented seven cases where women had an absence of menstruation coupled with bilateral cystic ovaries and hormonal imbalances (Stein and Leventhal, 1935).

#### 2.1.1 Diagnostic criteria

It took until 1990 before the first of three different diagnostic criteria was developed for PCOS (**outlined in Table 1**). The 1990 NIH diagnostic criteria identified only the most severe form of PCOS, but the criteria have been subsequently made broader to include different combinations of all the features of PCOS via the Rotterdam criteria in 2003 (The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group, 2004), which as of 2012 it became recognised as the internationally accepted criteria. The severity of PCOS varies widely and can be classified by different phenotypes, depending on the features present. The Rotterdam criteria outline four phenotypes ranging from full-blown PCOS (phenotype A) to less severe with reproductive features in the absence of hyperandrogenism (phenotype D)

(**Table 2.**). Regardless of phenotype classification, women with PCOS experience a reduction in quality of life (Deeks et al., 2010; Teede et al., 2010).

Health professionals have widely adopted the Rotterdam criteria; however, it has received criticism for being based upon expert consensus rather than prognostic studies and randomized control trials as with previous diagnostic criteria (Wang and Mol, 2017). This has ultimately influenced the research funding and hampered the advances in knowledge. This is evident with PCOS related grant submission resulting in sustainably less funding than conditions with a similar or a lesser prevalence (Brakta et al., 2017; Rodgers et al., 2019). This has also caused inconsistent approaches in clinical practice influencing diagnosis and management, leading to women with PCOS being frustrated with the care they receive (Cree-Green, 2017; Gibson-Helm et al., 2017).

#### Table 1 Diagnostic Criteria for Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

National Institutes of Health (1990)	Rotterdam (2003)	Androgen Excess and PCOS Society (2006)	
Hyperandrogenism	Hyperandrogenism	Hyperandrogenism	
Ovulatory dysfunction	Ovulatory dysfunction	And	
	Delverstie even membelegy	Ovulatory dysfunction or	
	Polycystic ovary morphology	Polycystic ovary morphology	
		•	
Confirmation of Diagnosis			
Poth Critoria	Two out of Three	Hyperandrogenism with one	
Doui Chiena		of the other criteria	

#### Table 2 Phenotypes of PCOS as defined by Rotterdam Criteria (2003)

PCOS Phenotype	Hyperandrogenism	Ovulatory dysfunction	Polycystic ovary morphology	PrevalenceofInsulinresistance(%)
А	Х	Х	Х	80
В	Х	Х		80
С	Х		X	65
D		Х	Х	38

#### 2.1.2 Origins of PCOS

The development and origins of PCOS remain elusive. To date, it is thought that a combination of genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors is responsible for the development of this syndrome. Although the PCOS phenotype may be present from birth, the diagnosis may not occur until during later stages of puberty or after when symptoms appear to develop or become more prominent (Kent et al., 2008; Welt and Carmina, 2013). It has been suggested that the in utero environmental exposure of the foetus to high levels of hormones, such as androgens and anti-müllerian hormone, results in a developmental re-programming (Sir-Petermann et al., 2002; Tata et al., 2018). In turn, this leads to the predisposition of PCOS in daughters from women with PCOS and also causing apparent effects on male offspring (Coviello et al., 2009). Due to these effects occurring in utero, it makes the prevention of PCOS difficult. Other potential contributing environmental factors such as diet, exercise, and overall lifestyle may be easier to modify but still present with challenges in implementation (Blackshaw et al., 2019). In support of the genetic predisposition of PCOS, there is a familial cluster with the relatives of those affected presenting with metabolic dysfunction, hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovary morphology (Franks et al., 2008; Kent et al., 2008; Kobaly et al., 2014). The epigenetic contributions to the development and severity of PCOS are evident with alterations in DNA methylation that lead to aberrant gene function in processes related to hormone homeostasis, inflammation, and glucose and lipid metabolism (Vázquez-Martínez et al., 2019). This could suggest that a mix of environmental, genetic, and epigenetic factors may lead to the development of a PCOS phenotype.

Despite the high prevalence of insulin resistance in women with PCOS, it has yet to be included in the diagnostic criteria. Insulin resistance can be defined as a reduction in response to insulin with a reduction in glucose uptake in specific tissues such as skeletal muscle, adipocytes or liver (DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009). The prevalence of insulin resistance in women with PCOS ranges from 38-80% based upon studies using the gold-standard euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp to measure insulin sensitivity (Moghetti et al., 2013; Stepto et al., 2013). The phenotype of PCOS influences this prevalence, with more severe phenotypes (A+B) being more likely to have insulin resistance. The insulin resistance observed in women with PCOS occurs independently of but is exacerbated by obesity and adiposity (Stepto et al., 2013). This is demonstrated by lean women with PCOS presenting with insulin resistance and other associated metabolic defects (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Dunaif et al., 1989; Stepto et al., 2013). This underlying reduction in insulin sensitivity may go undetected due to the preference for oral glucose tolerance test or fasting blood samples for diagnosis of metabolic issues by clinicians, making early detection and intervention difficult (Tosi et al., 2017). The recent international guidelines highlighted this point, stating that PCOS is recognised as an insulin-resistant condition. However the lack of sensitivity and accuracy in testing measures for insulin resistance is a limiting factor for its inclusion in the diagnostic criteria (Teede et al., 2018a). This underlines the importance of using a gold-standard euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp in determining peripheral tissue insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS. However, due to the challenges of implementing this technique in the clinical environment, new alternative testing methods are needed to guarantee an accurate measurement of insulin sensitivity. For the purpose of this thesis, we define insulin resistance as a diminished response to insulin in the peripheral tissues, whereby higher levels of insulin are required to stimulate glucose uptake. This physiological response is determined by a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp.

#### 2.2 The role of insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism in PCOS

Insulin Resistance can be seen as a primary driver of the symptoms of PCOS, leading to hyperinsulinemia, which plays a role in the regulation of androgen production. The role of insulin in the regulation of androgen production has been demonstrated when women with PCOS who have been prescribed insulin sensitizers for short-term interventions such as metformin, and results in a concomitant improvement in insulin sensitivity and decrease in

androgen production (Dunaif et al., 1996; La Marca et al., 2000; Velazquez et al., 1994). A sixmonth randomized control trial assessing the long-term effects of metformin on multiple clinical features of PCOS showed improvements in insulin sensitivity and reductions in hyperandrogenism with subsequent improvement in menstrual cycle regularity (Moghetti et al., 2000). Understanding the role of hyperinsulinemia in androgen production is challenging. It is not feasible to administer insulin to healthy individuals for an extended amount of time to observe a true physiological effect. Several studies have utilised short term-infusion of insulin (Fox et al., 1993; Micic et al., 1988). The short-term effect of insulin on androgen production appears to occur in a dose-dependent manner in women with PCOS, with a significant increase in androgen production when insulin levels reach those present in insulin resistance state (Micic et al., 1988). Another study showed that a 2-hour insulin infusion caused an increase in androgen levels, whereas a short term postprandial hyperinsulinemia did not alter androgen levels (Fox et al., 1993). Taken together, this suggests that sustained insulin elevation is necessary to stimulate androgen production.

On the other hand, the effect of hyperandrogenism on insulin resistance in women with PCOS remains poorly understood. It has been observed that treatment with anti-androgens results in a reduced androgen secretion but only partially improved insulin sensitivity (Moghetti et al., 1996), indicating that androgen levels effect insulin sensitivity in PCOS. Moreover, trials with anti-androgens such as GnRH analogues lasting greater than six months have demonstrated more robust improvements in insulin sensitivity as measured by a euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp (Dahlgren et al., 1998; Krotkiewski et al., 2003). This lack of influence of hyperandrogenism on insulin sensitivity can be seen when androgen levels are restored to a normal range, but hepatic and peripheral insulin resistance were still present (Dunaif et al., 1990). On the contrary, in healthy non-obese women, short-term androgen administration reduced whole-body insulin sensitivity, with hepatic insulin sensitivity remaining unaltered (Diamond et al., 1998). Therefore, it could be suggested that the role of androgens on insulin sensitivity appears to be less significant than the effect of excess insulin (hyperinsulinemia) as an extra ovarian modulator of androgen homeostasis, increasing its production. It should be noted that hyperandrogenism can contribute to insulin resistance. However, in PCOS, hyperinsulinemia may cause hyperandrogenism rather than the converse. Taken together, the role of hyperandrogenism is still not clear, given that studies to date have used a variety of different treatment approaches (e.g., drug choice and length of treatment) and have employed different measures of insulin sensitivity.

In women with PCOS, the ovaries can account for ~60% of androgen production, with the adrenals contributing ~40% (Cedars et al., 1992). It has been observed that hyperandrogenism can cause a preferential deposition of intra-abdominal fat and an increase in small subcutaneous adipocytes (Dumesic et al., 2016). This can ultimately contribute to metabolic dysfunction via lipotoxicity (Dumesic et al., 2016). Hyperandrogenism can also contribute to beta-cell dysfunction, as seen in women with PCOS with insufficient insulin secretion to compensate insulin resistance or an augmented early insulin response to glucose (Dunaif and Finegood, 1996; O'Meara et al., 1993; Vrbikova et al., 2002). These metabolic defects cannot be accounted for by insulin resistance but contribute to metabolic dysfunction and are closely related to hyperandrogenism (Goodarzi et al., 2005).

In ovarian theca cells, insulin binds to a cognate receptor, causing an increase in luteinizing hormone-stimulated androgen production. Insulin can inhibit the hepatic production and secretion of sex-hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) contributing to an increase in serum androgens and heightens luteinizing hormone-stimulated ovarian steroidogenesis (Bremer and Miller, 2008; Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2008). Insulin inhibits insulin-like growth factorbinding protein I (IGFBP-1) synthesis, which leads to an increase in the bioavailability of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-1) (De Leo et al., 2003). This occurs in the liver and the ovaries, with IGF-1 reducing SHBG and increasing androgens (Duleba et al., 1998; Homburg et al., 1992). Although it is now well established that women with PCOS have insulin resistance in the peripheral and ovarian tissues, the activation of ovarian steroidogenesis appears to remain insulin sensitive (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2008; Poretsky, 2006) and therefore, susceptible to the hyperinsulinemia present in these women. This phenomenon is evident in the excess production of androgens in response to insulin, influencing reproductive function (Munir et al., 2004; Poretsky et al., 1999; Willis et al., 1996; Willis and Franks, 1995). In line with that, the reduction of insulin secretion in lean women with PCOS with normal insulin sensitivity results in a reduction of androgen levels, emphasising increased insulin sensitivity of androgen secretion pathways (Baillargeon and Carpentier, 2007). On the whole, these findings indicate that the relationship between insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism play a

key role in the pathogenesis of PCOS. The excess insulin levels drive hyperandrogenism and, subsequently, other features of PCOS.

#### 2.2.1 Hyperinsulinemia and androgens in vivo

Women with PCOS display a reduced metabolic clearance of insulin, which contributes to the generation of hyperinsulinemia, with serum androgens being a strong predictor of insulin clearance impairment (Tosi et al., 2020). Although the underlying mechanisms for this are unclear, it could be suggested that androgens play a role in insulin degradation. Androgen receptors have been shown to interact with insulin degradation enzyme, linking steroid hormone and insulin production (Kupfer et al., 1994). Increased androgen production in the ovaries and adrenal glands is augmented by high levels of plasma insulin (Ehrmann et al., 1992; Puurunen et al., 2009). Furthermore, insulin can cause the activation of the cytochrome of P450c17 in thecal cells, which can be attributed to an increase in the synthesis of androgens (La Marca et al., 2000). This would suggest that androgens could be in part responsible for hyperinsulinemia present in PCOS.

Few studies have investigated the direct role of androgens on skeletal muscle insulin resistance. In a study where cultured myotubes from patients with PCOS and healthy controls were treated with testosterone (100 nmol/l), there was no change in insulin sensitivity despite increased gene expression of aromatase and androgen receptor (Eriksen et al., 2014). This could indicate that other factors may be inducing the metabolic phenotype in women with PCOS. On the other hand, mouse models of PCOS treated with DHEA display skeletal insulin resistance as characterized by reduced insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of AKT, elevated HOMA-IR and fasting insulin compared to control mice (Song et al., 2018). This whole-body and skeletal muscle insulin resistance resulted from increases in p-mTOR, p-s6, and abnormal mitochondria, with decreases in ATP production and insulin-stimulated GLUT4. In order to understand and confirm this mechanism, C2C12 myotubes were treated with testosterone (500 nmol/l) along with mTORC1 inhibitor rapamycin (1uM) (Song et al., 2018). They identified that in testosterone-treated cells, rapamycin could restore AKT phosphorylation, GLUT4 expression and glucose uptake, accompanied by a reduction in p-mTOR and p-s6 ribosomal protein expression. This suggests that androgens may contribute to peripheral insulin resistance in PCOS by affecting the mTOR pathway and presents a potential therapeutic target. However,

to date, molecular studies do not allow us to conclude whether androgens directly contribute to the development of insulin resistance in PCOS and whether other factors are also involved in to the reduction in skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity. Further studies are needed to understand better the role of androgens on insulin resistance in PCOS.

#### 2.3 Mechanisms of insulin resistance in women with PCOS

Of primary interest for this thesis is the role of skeletal muscle metabolism in PCOS. The skeletal muscle has a high abundance of mitochondria and plays a key role in glucose homeostasis, accounting for around 85% of whole-body glucose uptake following exercise or hyperinsulinemia (Defronzo et al., 1981). Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is one of the earliest detectable metabolic abnormalities to develop in individuals predisposed to metabolic diseases. This has been demonstrated in lean children with a normal glucose tolerance whose parents have T2DM having mild to severe skeletal muscle insulin resistance (Jallut et al., 1990; Perseghin et al., 1997; Vaag et al., 1992). This emphasises the potential for the early detection of metabolic dysfunction and highlights the need for interventions targeting skeletal muscle metabolism for preventing and managing metabolic diseases. The mechanism by which insulin resistance develops in women with PCOS differs from individuals with T2DM, where acquired defects are related to insulin receptor phosphorylation and/or glucose transport (Morino et al., 2006; Schinner et al., 2005). These defects can be normalized by the control of hyperglycaemia, hyperinsulinemia, and a reduction in body weight (Lean et al., 2018). Distinctly, in PCOS, there appear to be intrinsic defects in the post-binding receptor signalling, which are present in the absence of obesity or reduced glucose tolerance. Peripheral insulin resistance is a wellestablished clinical feature in women with PCOS; however, the mechanisms by which it develops are less clear.

#### 2.3.1 In vitro identification of mechanisms of insulin resistance

Early work in this area utilised skin fibroblasts to investigate the mechanism of insulin resistance and signalling defects in women with PCOS (Carol Beth Book and Dunaif, 1999; Ciaraldi et al., 1998; Dunaif et al., 1995; Li et al., 2002). It was identified that there was an increase in insulin receptor serine phosphorylation, coupled with a decrease in insulin receptor tyrosine activity. However, this defect was only present in around 50% of fibroblasts from

women with PCOS despite *in vivo* insulin resistance (Dunaif et al., 1995). A follow-up study showed that the use of serine kinase activity inhibitor could restore the insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of the insulin receptor (Li et al., 2002). Furthermore, they were able to isolate insulin receptors from fibroblasts. Alternatively, others failed to observe any defects in insulin receptor binding or reductions in insulin sensitivity in fibroblasts obtained from women with PCOS (Carol Beth Book and Dunaif, 1999; Ciaraldi et al., 1998). Collectively, these findings suggest a lack of universal causation or defect in the development of insulin resistance in PCOS. A limitation with the use of skin fibroblasts for the assessment of peripheral insulin resistance is that, although they play a role in the whole muscle insulin sensitivity, fibroblasts are not the main insulin targeted cells making the translation and application of these findings challenging.

Several studies have reported that human primary myotubes from women with PCOS are no longer insulin resistant, suggesting that phenotype is not maintained (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Corbould et al., 2005; Eriksen et al., 2010, 2014). The work from Corbould et al. (2005) found that glucose uptake was increased in PCOS under basal and insulin-stimulated state when compared to control myotubes. On the other hand, they noted that myotubes from women with PCOS had increased phosphorylation of the inhibitory IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> leading to a reduction in downstream PI3-K activity and IRS-1 degradation (Corbould *et al.*, 2005), consistent with the findings in the whole muscle (Corbould et al., 2006). They also noted that IRS-2 signalling was impaired in myotubes from women with PCOS under basal and insulin-stimulated conditions despite having a similar abundance as controls. These findings suggest that there are intrinsic defects in insulin signalling that may be exacerbated by *in vivo* circulating factors as the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake was not reduced in myotubes from women with PCOS.

Contrary to these findings, Ciaraldi et al. (2009) noted that under basal and insulin-stimulated conditions, myotubes from women with PCOS had decreased glucose uptake (~50%) compared to controls despite similar GLUT4 content and no apparent insulin signalling defects, representing impairment in insulin responsiveness (Ciaraldi et al., 2009). However, they showed that PCOS and healthy controls normal insulin sensitivity via insulin-dose response curve normalized to % of basal glucose uptake. Adding to these findings, Eriksen *et al.* (2010 and 2014) have shown a lack of insulin resistance in myotubes from women with PCOS and found no intrinsic defects in glucose or lipid metabolism. In addition, these myotubes also

appeared to exhibit normal mitochondrial function and content contrary to *in vivo* findings (Eriksen et al., 2011; Konopka et al., 2015; Skov et al., 2007). Taken together, this suggests that acquired environmental factors rather than intrinsic defects or traits may play a major role in the development of PCOS-specific insulin resistance. This will be the focus of **Study 1**, where we assess the defects in insulin signalling and environmental contributors using human primary myotubes from women with and without PCOS.

#### 2.3.2 In vivo identification of the mechanisms of insulin resistance

A post binding defect in the early step of insulin signalling transduction was first detected in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Papavassiliou, 2006; Dunaif et al., 2001, 1995; Li et al., 2002). β-subunit of the insulin receptor contains a tyrosine kinase that its activity is enhanced by autophosphorylation of the tyrosine residues and inhibited by serine phosphorylation. The activate tyrosine kinase phosphorylates substrates (Insulin receptor substrate (IRS) -1 and -2) inside the cell and initiate signal transduction (White, 1998; Zierath and Wallberg-Henriksson, 2002). IRS-1 is a major docking protein in the skeletal muscle and activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) to stimulate glucose uptake. Serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 leads to a reduction in tyrosine phosphorylation, which causes degradation of the receptor and reduces PI3K and Akt activity (Draznin, 2006; Hançer et al., 2014; Pederson et al., 2001). This results in a reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Björnholm et al., 1997; Goodyear et al., 1995). The chronic stimulus of this pathway, by obesogenic and inflammatory factors such as TNFa, free fatty acids, and excessive insulin, are thought to lead to the development of insulin resistance (Gual et al., 2005). Several studies have attempted to identify the insulin signalling defects in women with PCOS by obtaining muscle biopsies during the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Dunaif et al., 2001a; Glintborg et al., 2008; Hojlund et al., 2008; Rajkhowa et al., 2009). It was found that the IRS-1-associated PI3K activity was significantly decreased, with the abundance of IRS-1 and p85 subunit remaining unchanged in comparison to women without PCOS (Dunaif et al., 2001). This was accompanied by attenuated insulin-mediated glucose uptake and a compensatory increase in the abundance of IRS-2 (Dunaif et al., 2001). These defects in IRS-1 serine dominant phosphorylation have been observed downstream of PI3K with phosphorylation of Akt and AS160 being reduced (Hojlund et al., 2008). In opposition to these findings, it was shown that Akt phosphorylation at ser473 and Thr308 were similar to
healthy controls following insulin stimulation (Ciaraldi et al., 2009). These findings may be accounted for in different insulin infusion rates employed to reach steady-state during the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps. Glintborg and colleagues further exemplified this, highlighting a reduced insulin activation of glycogen synthase and inhibition of GS kinase-3 (Glintborg et al., 2008). In contrast to previous findings, they noted no differences in the expression and insulin activation of IRS-1 (Rajkhowa et al., 2009). More recently, it has been identified as a defect in the anabolic nutrient sensor mTOR in overweight women with PCOS (N. Stepto et al., 2020). This could potentially have a negative effect on insulin-stimulated glucose transport and the activation of Akt (Takano et al., 2001). In order to separate the effects of obesity and PCOS, others have explored skeletal muscle metabolic defects in lean women with PCOS. It was observed that insulin resistance in lean women with PCOS was not related to changes in the insulin signalling cascade but rather reduced expression and phosphorylation of AMPK (modulator of insulin sensitivity) and dysregulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase (Hansen et al., 2019). This was also accompanied by an increase in skeletal muscle lipid accumulation and low levels of plasma adiponectin. This was associated with low levels of adiponectin (Hansen, et al., 2019), which has previously been linked to adipose dysfunction in women with PCOS (Mannerås-Holm et al., 2011). These studies highlight a potential crosstalk between muscle and adipose tissue in women with PCOS in the development of insulin resistance. This could result in a reduction in insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake via adjusting fuel oxidation.

Intriguingly, insulin resistance in women with PCOS is thought to be selective, affecting only the metabolic pathway but no other aspects of insulin actions in a variety of different cell types: skin fibroblasts (C B Book and Dunaif, 1999) adipocytes (Corbould and Dunaif, 2007) and ovarian granulosa cells (Rice et al., 2005). However, insulin activation of mitogenic signalling in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS is defective (Rajkhowa 2009; Corbould 2006). Rajkhowa et al. (2009) identified an increase in phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) 1/2 and reduced insulin stimulation of the mitogenic pathway (Rajkhowa et al., 2009). They also observed a reduction in ERK activity *in vivo* following exposure to a dose of insulin. Contrary, Corbould et al. 2006., found that MAPK-ERK1/2 signalling pathway to be constitutively activated, and suggested that this activation may be responsible for increased serine phosphorylation and thus, decreased IRS-1-associated PI3-K activity (Corbould et al., 2006). Although this pathway has been demonstrated to be defective,

this has not been consistently observed in all studies that explore skeletal muscle insulin signalling in women with PCOS. When taken together, these findings provide more confusion than clarity with a lack of agreement on the insulin signalling defects (**Figure1**). This will be the focus of **Study 3**, where we will assess skeletal muscle insulin signalling in biopsy samples collected at rest and during the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp.

#### 2.3.3 Environmental factors and intrinsic defects

It has been suggested that skeletal muscle insulin resistance occurs *in vivo* due to both environmental factors and intrinsic defects. Both (Corbould *et al.*, 2005) and (Eriksen et al., 2010) found that metabolic defects in cultured human myotubes from women with PCOS were not maintained. In contrast, others have demonstrated that reductions in insulin responsiveness remained in human myotubes from overweight women with PCOS (Ciaraldi *et al.*, 2009). These conflicting results could be due to the severity of PCOS phenotypes selected, differences in patient characteristics such as basal insulin and testosterone levels, and methodological approaches. This presents an opportunity to investigate the environmental factors that lead to the acquired defects in insulin signalling and subsequent reduction in glucose uptake in women with PCOS. This will be explored in **Study 1**.



Figure 1 Mechanisms of skeletal muscle insulin resistance

This Schematic diagram outlines the potential molecular mechanisms of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in women with PCOS based upon the research to date. The schematic incorporates organ system crosstalk, genetic and epigenetic programming, signalling pathway dysfunction, all contributing as potential molecular mechanisms of reduced glucose uptake into this vital metabolic tissue. Indicating that not only are the metabolic origins of PCOS complex but most likely, there are multiple contributing factors. The identified defects highlighted with question marks are potential therapeutic targets and areas that require further research, while many defects have been identified, many studies present conflicting findings with regards to the identified defects. This is most likely due to the heterogeneity of women with PCOS and studies with women with different phenotypes of PCOS. The schematic highlights potential external factors that are contributing to the metabolic defects in the skeletal muscle such as adipokines, cytokines, hormones and nutrients. The consequences of disrupted homeostasis in the aforementioned factors result in impaired insulin signalling, reduced PDH activation and subsequent metabolic flexibility, mitochondrial function, tissue fibrosis, and reduced protein synthesis created with Biorender.com, from (Stepto *et al.*, 2019; created by Luke McIlvenna).

#### 2.4 Mechanisms and effects of exercise-induced improvements in insulin sensitivity

Exercise is considered an effective lifestyle therapy for improving peripheral insulin sensitivity with acute and chronic effects. As previously mentioned, skeletal muscle insulin resistance is one of the earliest detectable metabolic abnormalities demonstrating its highly adaptable nature. Similarly, in response to exercise, improved insulin sensitivity can be observed after a single bout of exercise (Mikines et al., 1988; Richter et al., 1989). These beneficial effects are related to an increase in glycogen synthesis to restore glycogen levels post-exercise. This is further exemplified following exercise, where increases in insulin sensitivity may be specific to the exercised muscle groups (Steenberg et al., 2020). This effect was demonstrated using a one-legged dynamic knee extension exercise model, isolating muscle activation to the quadriceps (Andersen et al., 1985). The exercise was performed for 2.5hours or until local muscle exhaustion, resulting in an increase in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in the exercised limb (~140%) and, decrease in whole-body glucose disposal rate (~18%) and in the non-exercised limb (~37%) (Steenberg et al., 2020). It was suggested that this might occur to redirect glucose to the exercised muscles in order to restore glycogen. Although the mechanism responsible for this response are still not clear, they may be related to PI3K-Akt signalling. The role of improved insulin sensitivity to restore muscle glycogen is made more apparent by the fact that carbohydrate refeeding that occurs immediately after exercise can replete glycogen and eliminate/inhibit an increase in insulin sensitivity (Bogardus et al., 1983). In support of these findings, it has been shown that maintaining a carbohydrate deficit overnight following exercise may be required for improvements in insulin sensitivity and postprandial glycaemic control (Taylor et al., 2018). Elevated muscle glycogen levels have an inhibitory effect on glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis in a basal or insulin-stimulated state (Jensen et al., 2006). Essentially, these findings highlight a relationship between glycogen availability and insulin sensitivity at rest and following acute exercise. The mechanism responsible for this has been partly attributed to AMPK acting as a glycogen sensor. This can be seen following contraction with and without insulin stimulation under low glycogen conditions, where there is a significant increase in AMPK $\alpha$ 2 activity and phosphorylation of AMPK $\alpha$  thr<sup>172</sup> (Lai et al., 2010). A series of studies have identified AMPK and downstream signalling in TBC1D1 and TBC1D4 to be responsible for post-exercise increases in glucose uptake, regulating skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity (Kjøbsted et al., 2019b, 2019a, 2017; Sjøberg et al., 2017). This

process appears to be intact in individuals with type 2 diabetes (Kjøbsted et al., 2016). In animal models, this effect has been shown to occur in a fibre type-specific manner with post-exercise insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of AS160/TBCD14 being greater in type IIA and IIB (glycolytic) fibres than type I or IIX (oxidative) (Pataky et al., 2019). This was complemented by an increase in glucose uptake in type IIA, IIX, IIBX and IIB but not in type I. This may provide a rationale of greater improvements in insulin sensitivity in humans following highintensity exercise in comparison to moderate-intensity exercise. It has been demonstrated that acute high-intensity interval exercise results in greater phosphorylation of skeletal muscle AMPK, TBC1D4, and ACC in type II fibres compared to continuous/moderate exercise (Kristensen et al., 2015). This occurred in conjunction with a greater reduction in overall muscle glycogen and also in type II fibres. The interaction between AMPK and muscle glycogen in the regulation of insulin sensitivity has been shown following glycogen depleting exercise, with glucose uptake being regulated by increases in the expression of GLUT1, GLUT4, HKI, and HKII proteins (Hingst et al., 2018). This study highlights AMPK being responsible for a post-exercise increase in fatty acid oxidation to reduce glycogen synthesis allowing glycogen levels to be restores. Collectively, this vast body of work highlights the importance of AMPK in acting as a mediator for the health benefits of exercise, particularly insulin sensitivity. Any disruptions to AMPK signalling may influence metabolic exercise adaptations.

Furthermore, exercise promotes GLUT4 translocation, a key step for glucose transport and a determinant of enhanced insulin sensitivity following exercise (Hansen et al., 1998). Exercise training, but not acute exercise, also increases GLUT4 protein expression in skeletal muscle, contributing to improved insulin sensitivity (O'Gorman et al., 2006). Post-exercise increases in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake can occur without changes in GLUT4 abundance, with translocation being the vital step (Cartee et al., 1993; Castorena et al., 2014). Following an acute exercise bout, GLUT4 is recruited to the cell-surface membrane via endocytosis. This results in greater receptiveness to recruitment by insulin, facilitating increases in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Geiger et al., 2006). It could be suggested that these effects occur independently of muscle glycogen, given the lack of direct association or interaction of GLUT4 and muscle glycogen at rest or following exercise (Murphy et al., 2018). It has recently been observed that insulin stimulation results in an increase in muscle membrane permeability (McConell et al., 2020), with a 17-fold increase in the rested muscle and a 36-fold increase in

exercised muscle. It may be postulated that this increase in permeability represents an increase in the number of GLUT4 transporters. Due to difficulties when accurately measuring transient GLUT4 translocation following exercise or following ex vivo/in vivo contraction, further work is required to understand how exercise regulates GLUT4. A recent advance has been made in this field using multiple microscopy techniques to demonstrate that a single bout of exercise causes a redistribution of intramyocellular GLUT4 to GLUT4 storage vesicles and T-tubuli (Knudsen et al., 2020). These responses may be impaired in individuals who have insulin resistance and would lead to a reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. Indeed, AMPK signalling may be the linking factor between GLUT4 translocation and glycogen depletion in exercise-induced improvements in insulin sensitivity. This may be explained by AS160/TBC1D4 being activated via AMPK, with greater phosphorylation of AS160/TBC1D4 being linked to enhanced glucose transport in skeletal muscle following exercise and insulin stimulation (Cartee, 2015a). It has been demonstrated that individuals with type 2 diabetes have decreased insulin-stimulated phosphorylation in AS160/TBC1D4 at multiple phosphorylation's sites. This can be improved by ten weeks of aerobic endurance training and was linked to improvements in insulin sensitivity (Vind et al., 2011). This demonstrates the role of exercise to improve insulin sensitivity via increases in TBC1D4 phosphorylation, which plays a role in facilitating GLUT4 translocation.

The beneficial effect of exercise for improving insulin sensitivity extends to improved microvascular perfusion with increases in endothelial function facilitated by endothelial nitric oxide synthase. This enables an increase in the delivery and disposal of glucose in the skeletal muscle (Sjøberg et al., 2017). This cross-talk between the endothelium and skeletal muscle has been observed when endothelial insulin signalling is disrupted, and there is a subsequent reduction in skeletal muscle glucose uptake (Kubota et al., 2011). Additionally, there is an increase in circulating factors such as cytokines and myokines, which may play a role in tissue cross-talk and subsequent regulation of whole-body metabolism (Hoffmann and Weigert, 2017; Laurens et al., 2020). Improvements in skeletal muscle and whole-body insulin sensitivity can last up to 48 hours following acute exercise (Cartee et al., 1989). Therefore, regular exercise can lead to sustained improvements in insulin sensitivity. However, these effects appear to be acutely driven, with active individuals having comparable insulin resistance to sedentary individuals after only ten days of sedentary behaviour (Heath et al., 1983). However, insulin sensitivity could be restored to trained levels following a single

exercise bout (Heath et al., 1983), suggesting that the benefits of regular exercise on insulin sensitivity are largely reliant on the most recent exercise session. Others have confirmed these findings showing that short-term reduction in daily activity leads to the development of metabolic dysfunction characterized by worsening of peripheral insulin sensitivity (King et al., 1988; Krogh-Madsen et al., 2010), further highlighting the high level of skeletal muscle plasticity. From these studies, it could be postulated that there is an underlying metabolic memory, which may include sustained low muscle glycogen, increases in insulin-independent AS160/TBC1D4 phosphorylation, and GLUT4 recruitment to the cell surface membrane (Cartee, 2015b). However, further research is required to elucidate whether any of these pathways and proteins are responsible for the retained metabolic benefits of exercise training.

It is well established that exercise training can improve whole-body insulin sensitivity, signified by an increase in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. Despite acute exercise acting as a potent insulin sensitizer, this effect is dampened by exercise training (Steenberg et al., 2019). The authors suggested this may be due to the upper physiological limit of muscle insulin sensitivity or related to absolute muscle glycogen levels, with a reduction in glycogen degradation following training. While changes in insulin sensitivity may be relatively short-lived following exercise, several long-term adaptations prove beneficial for metabolic health. These include increased capillarization, enhanced substrate utilization capacity, increased basal insulin sensitivity, and increases in protein expression of GLUT4 and mitochondrial proteins (Sylow and Richter, 2019). Exercise intensity appears to be a key determining factor in the extent of improvement in metabolic health observed following exercise training. When exercise intensity increases, there is a matched increase in skeletal muscle glucose uptake (Romijn et al., 1993; Wahren et al., 1978), indicating that high-intensity exercise may be more favourable for improving metabolic health, driven by greater reductions in muscle glycogen.

High-intensity interval exercise has been suggested to produce superior metabolic health benefits in comparison to moderate-intensity exercise in some but not all cases. In those studies reporting distinct metabolic health outcomes between interventions, differences may be purely related to study design, for instance, when interventions are not matched for total workload and training volume. This has been demonstrated in data from the STRRIDE trial, where regardless of the intensity of the exercise performed, the total time had a greater effect on insulin sensitivity (170 min/week compared to 115 min/week) (Fay et al., 2009). Others have shown

that similar improvements in insulin sensitivity occur independent of exercise intensity (Braun et al., 1995; Burgomaster et al., 2008), demonstrating that both moderate- and high- intensity exercise interventions are capable of improving insulin sensitivity despite the mechanism by which they improve insulin sensitivity may differ. In another study, eight months of moderate or vigorous exercise training led to improvements in insulin sensitivity, with moderate leading to greater improvements in disposition index, a marker of beta-cell function, while highintensity resulted in a greater reduction in acute insulin response to glucose (Slentz et al., 2009). Remarkably, there appears to be a longer-lasting benefit on insulin sensitivity following highintensity exercise training, as seen following a period of training cessation, which may be accounted for differences in acute responses between exercise intensities (Bajpeyi et al., 2009). However, in cases where volume is matched between moderate-intensity (40-55% VO<sub>2peak</sub>) and high-intensity training (65-80% VO<sub>2peak</sub>), moderate-intensity training results in greater improvements in insulin sensitivity index in individuals who were obese and sedentary (Houmard et al., 2004). It should be noted that conflicting results in a number of studies examining exercise interventions using different intensities may be dependent on diet, which can influence the extent of improvements in metabolic health alone. This has been shown by Stocks et al. (2019), whereby exercise was performed in fasted and fed state and observed different responses in post-exercise skeletal muscle signalling, with greater increases in the phosphorylation of AMPK and PDK4 gene expression following exercise in a fasted state (Stocks et al., 2019).

The differences in response between exercise intensities may be explained by changes in energy demand and the activation of intracellular regulators of insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake. Several studies have investigated how exercise intensity influences skeletal muscle metabolism (Barrès et al., 2012; Combes et al., 2015; Egan et al., 2010; Kristensen et al., 2015). These studies show that high-intensity exercise produces greater increases in the gene expression of PGC1 $\alpha$ , TFAM, PPARdelta and PDK4, as well as an increase in phosphorylation of AMPK, ACC, CAMKII, P38MPAK, ATF2, helping to facilitate post-exercise glucose uptake. It has been established that there is a link between glucose metabolism and PGC1 $\alpha$  expression, with PGC1 $\alpha$  causing an increase in GLUT4 gene expression in myotubes and resulting in an increase in basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Michael et al., 2001). These findings may be related to greater perturbations in homeostasis via metabolic fluctuations and related to phospho-proteins. It is clear that both high- and moderate-intensity

exercise interventions are capable of improving insulin sensitivity via different mechanisms. This may be relevant for different diseases states, where insulin resistance may develop from different defects. In order to make sure exercise interventions are effective and optimal for health benefits, it is important to determine minimal effective dose, which could then in turn, influence physical activity guidelines.

### 2.4.1 Resistance to metabolic benefits of exercise evidence from individuals with type 2 diabetes

The phenomena of impairments in exercise adaptations have been explored in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Data from the TULIP study identified that individuals who failed to see improvements in glucose homeostasis were severely insulin resistant, had low VO<sub>2peak</sub>, and increased levels of fat deposits in the liver and abdomen (Stefan et al., 2015, 2006; Thamer et al., 2007; Totsikas et al., 2011). On the other hand, the DEXLIFE study noted that clinical variables were unable to differentiate or predict response to an exercise intervention and stated that additional biomarkers are required (O'Donoghue et al., 2019). A recent comprehensive assessment of transcriptional regulators of metabolic adaptations in skeletal muscle in individuals with type 2 diabetes following acute exercise found similar increases in stressresponse genes (NR4A1, NR4A2, NR4A3, ATF3, ERG1, JUNB, SIK1) and upstream regulators (CaMKII, p38 MAPK, Erk1/2, CREB, and AMPK) to matched controls (Sabaratnam et al., 2019). Although responses to acute exercise appear to be intact in individuals with type 2 diabetes, there appears to be a disparity in response to long-term exercise training. Recent observations have noted that exercise interventions are not effective for all individuals with type 2 diabetes with some failing to see improvements in insulin sensitivity and mitochondrial function (Stephens et al., 2018). Individuals who failed to see positive responses were characterized by a unique pre-training epigenetic and transcriptomic pattern in skeletal muscle, with some characteristics maintained in cultured primary skeletal muscle cells, highlighting intrinsic T2DM defects in the skeletal muscle. There was a total of 533 differently methylated CpG sites between those who showed improvements in insulin sensitivity and those who did not, with insulin signalling and mitochondrial pathways being enriched in both DNA methylation and RNAseq data. This highlights the use of primary cell culture as an appropriate model to investigate these defects and presents an opportunity to study the response to exercise in these participants using an *in vitro* physiological approach.

#### 2.4.2 In vitro models of exercise: electrical pulse stimulation

Electrical pulse stimulation (EPS) has become a popular in vitro model of contraction in human primary and C2C12 myotubes (Nikolić et al., 2017). A comparison of endurance exercise in vivo (voluntary wheel running) and EPS in vitro (contraction), showed that similar to in vivo exercise, EPS caused an increase in gene expression of Myh7 and Myh2, and increases in contraction-induced signal transduction proteins p38MAPK, CaMKII, AMPK, PGC1a, and ATF2 (Son et al., 2019). An application for EPS studies is showing how different donor groups respond to in vitro exercise and exploring how intrinsic and environmental factors influence EPS-induced responses. For instance, Park et al. (2019) detected differences in EPS-induced signalling between myotubes from lean individuals (BMI ~23) and severely obese individuals (BMI ~ 44). They demonstrated differences in the phosphorylation of AMPK and ACC immediately after 24hrs of EPS, with both groups seeing an increase but myotubes from severely obese having a significant reduction in response (Park et al., 2019). However, others have found normal activation of AMPK and increase in IL6 following EPS in myotubes from individuals with type 2 diabetes, with impairments in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and phosphorylation of AS160thr642 following EPS (Al-bayati et al., 2019). Both studies add to evidence that individuals with metabolic diseases may not achieve the same insulin-sensitizing benefits achieved by muscle contraction as healthy individuals. Interestingly, metabolic changes in skeletal muscle in vivo following exercise training, such as improvements in fatty acid and glucose oxidation, are preserved in cultured myotubes from healthy sedentary men (Lund et al., 2017). However, to date, no one has assessed contractile responses to EPS in myotubes from women with PCOS. This *in vitro* model will be applied in Study 2 to compare exercise-induced signalling in myotubes from women with and without PCOS.

# 2.5 Effect of exercise in women with PCOS: insulin sensitivity and resistance to the beneficial effects

2.5.1 Acute responses to exercise in skeletal muscle metabolism and insulin signalling

Lifestyle modification is the recommended first-line therapy for women with PCOS who have insulin resistance or are overweight. A limited number of studies have attempted to understand how women with PCOS respond to acute exercise and chronic exercise training in terms of changes in insulin signalling and insulin sensitivity. Preliminary evidence suggests that women with PCOS who are overweight have lesser improvements in peripheral insulin sensitivity following exercise training than healthy controls (Harrison et al., 2012). Defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling observed in women with PCOS may be responsible for this divergent response (Stepto et al., 2019). Differences would be apparent in response to an acute bout of exercise, with the differences in response determining the effectiveness of exercise training. In response to an acute bout of exercise, women with PCOS have a similar ability to increase GLUT4 translocation (a key step required for exercise-induced increases in glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity) as healthy controls (Dantas et al., 2015). Despite similar GLUT4 translocation, women with PCOS had a lack of increase in PI3K-p85 activity and phosphorylation in AS160, resulting in a compensatory increase in the phosphorylation of Akt and AMPK. These compensatory mechanisms may increase skeletal muscle glucose uptake despite underlying defects in insulin signalling transduction. One common defect in the insulin signalling pathway in PCOS is an increase in phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> (Corbould et al., 2006, 2005; Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012). Following exercise, these defects were no longer apparent with levels similar to those observed in healthy controls (Dantas et al., 2015), demonstrating that exercise is an effective mean for women with PCOS to protect against insulin resistance and improve their insulin sensitivity. Although there were differences in molecular responses to acute exercise between women with PCOS and healthy women, signalling responsible for glucose uptake appeared to be intact. Women with PCOS also show irregular molecular responses to exercise with upregulation of genes related to inflammation in skeletal muscle, SOCS3, IL-8, and NAMPT compared to overweight controls, and increased NF-kB expression at rest (Dantas et al., 2017). Another notable difference was the lack of an increase in PGC1a mRNA following exercise in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS.

PGC1 $\alpha$  is a key regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolism. Of interest, PGC1 $\alpha$ has been shown to regulate GLUT4 gene expression and mitochondrial biogenesis and angiogenesis following exercise (Baar et al., 2002; Chinsomboon et al., 2009). This may suggest that mitochondrial dysfunction plays a role in developing insulin resistance and atypical responses to exercise in women with PCOS. This response has been observed in adults with early onset of type 2 diabetes with a lack of increase in PGC1 $\alpha$  following acute exercise in contrast to a 4-fold increase seen in adults who were obese (Hernández-Alvarez et al., 2010). Dantas and Nilsson have demonstrated elevations in gene expression of NAMPT at rest and following exercise in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS (Dantas et al., 2017; Nilsson et al., 2018). NAMPT is a key regulator of NAD+ biosynthesis, regulates sirtuins activity, and is believed to function as both a cytokine and adipokine (Garten et al., 2015). The overexpression of NAMPT has been shown to improve whole-body insulin sensitivity in rats via IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation in the liver and muscle (Sun et al., 2009). This could act as a protective effect to help mitigate the effects of insulin resistance. On the other hand, NAMPT has been shown to play a role in the regulation of the ECM, with NAMPT capable of increasing matrix metalloproteinases and subsequent activation of NF-kB and MAPK signalling (Dahl et al., 2012; Oita et al., 2010). This could lead to an inflammatory response and potentially remodel the ECM. The contrasting outcomes for NAMPT may be related to discrepancies in its function within the cell and the extracellular space. These differences in oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species production would indicate that PCOS is a pro-inflammatory condition. The role of NAD and its metabolism in women with PCOS requires further investigation.

#### 2.5.2 Effect of acute exercise on inflammation in women with PCOS

To follow up on these findings, Dantas and colleagues explored the effects of acute exercise on skeletal muscle inflammation in PCOS and matched controls (Dantas et al., 2019). Similar to previous findings regarding the insulin signalling defects, they noted baseline differences in inflammatory markers, with elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF-alpha and protein expression of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and JNK in skeletal muscle. Both IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and JNK can inhibit insulin signalling, contributing to the development of insulin resistance. It has been proposed that this occurs via a reduction in the phosphorylation of the insulin receptor and AKT, which is accompanied by an increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser307/312</sub> (Aguirre et al., 2000; Hirosumi et al., 2002; Solinas and Becattini, 2017). Following a single exercise session, levels of TNF-alpha and protein expression of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and JNK were restored to levels similar to controls. The protective effects of acute exercise in these studies were measured one hour following the cessation of exercise. However, it is not clear if these benefits would last beyond this period. Altogether, current literature supports that acute responses to exercise are beneficial for insulin signalling and the inflammatory state of the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS, but it is yet to be fully established whether underlying defects in skeletal muscle metabolism in women with PCOS can be resolved with long-term exercise training.

### 2.5.3 Effects of exercise training on insulin sensitivity and skeletal muscle insulin signalling

Harrisson, Stepto, and colleagues proposed the initial idea that exercise-induced improvements in peripheral insulin sensitivity may be reduced or blunted in women with PCOS. They found that their cohort of overweight and obese women with PCOS (n=20) were 46% less insulin sensitive as measured by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp compared to controls (n=13) at baseline (Harrison et al., 2012). However, it should be noted that the level of reduction in insulin sensitivity appears to be highly cohort dependant. Following exercise training (3 days per week for 12 weeks, moderate-high-intensity) women with PCOS improved insulin sensitivity by 16.37%, whereas healthy controls improved by 23.75%. Both groups had comparable adherence and compliance with training and increases in aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2peak</sub>). Given that women with PCOS had lower insulin sensitivity before training, it would be expected they would have had enormous scope for improvement. Overall, women with PCOS tend to be around 27% less insulin sensitive independent of BMI (Cassar et al., 2016b). Follow-up work by Hutchison et al. attempted to determine if increased lipid content and compromised mitochondrial function were determining factors for insulin sensitivity and changes following exercise training in women with PCOS (Hutchison et al., 2012). They highlighted that differences in insulin sensitivity between women with PCOS and healthy controls could not be explained by mitochondrial function and skeletal muscle lipid content. Furthermore, following a period of exercise training, improvements in peripheral insulin sensitivity as measured by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp, occurred independently of changes in mitochondrial function (Hutchison et al., 2012). Others have confirmed these findings, suggesting that mitochondrial function is likely not the primary candidate in skeletal muscle insulin resistance and effects of exercise training on metabolic parameters (Eriksen et al., 2011; Rabol et al., 2011; Konopka et al., 2015). It is important to note that most measures of mitochondria are carried out using permeabilized muscle fibres or isolated mitochondria *ex vivo*. To overcome these methodological limitations, Cree-Green et al. assessed mitochondria function *in vivo* of lean women with PCOS using MRI during exercise. They noted that women with PCOS had a slower rate of PCR recovery and more significant ADP depletion despite exercising lower intensity than healthy women, indicating skeletal muscle mitochondrial dysfunction during exercise (Cree-green et al., 2017). Further studies are needed to investigate whether these findings may be explained by differences in mitochondrial content.

In a further attempt to understand how peripheral insulin sensitivity and insulin signalling is influenced by exercise training, Stepto, Hiam et al. (2020) assessed insulin-stimulated skeletal muscle biopsies following twelve weeks of treadmill-based exercise intervention incorporating moderate and high-intensity exercise sessions. Before training, they identified a reduced expression in insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of mTOR, which was not normalized following the exercise intervention. This may have implications for phosphorylation of IRS1 and downstream PI3K/Akt pathway with subsequent impact on intracellular glucose handling and GLUT4 translocation, but further studies are needed to elucidate the role of mTOR Complexes and relevant downstream signalling in PCOS skeletal muscle metabolism. This may have important implications for glucose metabolism given AMPK-mTORC2 has been shown to suppress hepatic glucose production in the liver and contrastingly, improves glucose uptake in response to energetic stress in muscle and fat (Kazyken et al., 2019). Any alterations in this pathway could, in theory, alter this response and result in ineffective glucose handling, which could, in turn, influence the beneficial effects of exercise on insulin sensitivity. This will be the focus of Study 4, where women with and without PCOS took part in a twelve week exercise intervention.

### 2.5.4 The hypothesis of the mechanisms of impaired metabolic benefits to exercise training

Stepto et al., also noted that women with PCOS had altered gene expression of TGF-beta ligands and components of the extracellular matrix, which was still present after 12 weeks of exercise training (N. Stepto et al., 2020). A significant limitation of this study is the lack of measures of skeletal muscle morphology and protein expression to support the notion that tissue fibrosis plays a role in PCOS-specific skeletal muscle peripheral insulin resistance. This presents the hypothesis that TGF-beta ligands and ECM-remodelling may play a role in the PCOS-specific skeletal muscle insulin resistance, and this may influence the metabolic adaptations to exercise. In line with these findings suggesting that women with PCOS may be resistant to the beneficial effects of exercise training, Hansen et al. (2018) found that skeletal muscle GLUT4 and hexokinase II protein and mRNA content were unaltered by training in lean women with PCOS in contrast to fitness and BMI matched control group. Also, insulin-stimulated AS160/TBCD14 and Akt were not altered by training. However, they were unable to identify the specific reason for this lack of response in key proteins following training. In **Study 4**, we explore the potential underlying factors that may be negatively modulating the beneficial effects of exercise training on insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS.

A limitation with the current exercise training studies in women with PCOS is that none have assessed the acute response of skeletal muscle to exercise following training to understand further the effect of exercise training on insulin signalling and metabolic function. To be able to address that, it would require a larger number of samples from women with PCOS across the different phenotypes. For this to be feasible, considering the challenges in long-term studies (e.g., participant retention and engagement) and invasive techniques such as biopsies, a multi-centre trial across multiple countries would need to occur.

# 2.6 The role of transforming growth factor-beta superfamily ligands in PCOS

#### 2.6.1 Overview of TGF-beta signalling

Most tissues have an abundance of latent TGF-beta ligands within the extracellular environment with the regulation of its function being dependent on activation. This activation takes place by environmental stressors, tissue injury, changes in pH, growth factors and mechanical activation (K. K. Kim et al., 2018). Once activated, TGF-beta ligands bind to coreceptors TGFBRI and TGFBRII and results in phosphorylation of SMAD 2/3 and binds to SMAD4 before being translocated to the nucleus. This signalling results in the activation of ECM, collagen and matrix metalloproteases genes (Figure 2) (Derynck and Budi, 2019). Other members of the TGF-beta family, namely BMP's, activate the SMAD1/5/8 pathway, which is seen as an antifibrotic pathway (Walton et al., 2017). TGF-beta signalling and receptors can activate non-SMAD signalling pathways, including MAPK (Erk1/2, JNK1/2/3 and p38) and PI3K-AKT-mTOR (Zhang, 2009). The interaction of TGF-beta signalling with these other pathways leads to the release of other cytokines and growth factors (Guo and Wang, 2009). Collectively, the function of TGF-beta signalling is diverse, playing a vital role in tissue regeneration and repair, although dysregulation of this signalling by factors such as inflammation and reactive oxygen species may promote tissue fibrosis and tumour growth (Ábrigo et al., 2018; David and Massagué, 2018; Jain et al., 2013). The diverse role of TGFbeta signalling and its interaction with other signalling pathways confer a possible role in altering metabolism and tissue morphology.

#### 2.6.2 TGF-beta signalling in the pathogenesis of PCOS

The seminal work from Rodgers and colleagues on ovarian tissue fibrosis in women with PCOS has highlighted that PCOS may be a fibrotic condition that may help to explain a number of the symptoms that develop. This raises the question, do the effects seen in ovarian tissue have a systemic impact (**Figure 3**). This seems plausible given that women with PCOS often develop non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, which is defined as a profibrotic condition (Vassilatou et al., 2010), increased tissue density of the skeletal muscle (Hutchison et al., 2012), and the upregulation of TGF-beta signalling gene expression in adipose tissue (Kokosar et al., 2016).

It has been established that ovarian hormones can influence skeletal muscle metabolism and function (Boisseau et al., 2012; Livingstone and Collison, 2002). Given that women with PCOS have significant alterations in ovarian hormones and morphology, these factors may play a role in the development of insulin resistance have systemic effects. Rodgers and colleagues (Bastian et al., 2016; Hatzirodos et al., 2011; Raja-Khan et al., 2014) have shown that thickening of the ovarian capsule and stroma are caused by an increase in collagen deposition and subsequent formation of fibrotic tissue. This effect is related to the dysregulation of TGF-beta signalling. The TGF-beta superfamily ligands are a group of cytokines involved in various physiological processes, including cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis and immune system regulation (Chin et al., 2004; Piek et al., 1999). Alterations in the TGF-beta signalling pathway can result in remodelling of the ECM leading to increased deposition of collagen in skeletal muscle and other tissues (Berria et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2015). The ECM is responsible for tissue structure and mediator of intracellular signalling. Insulin resistance is suggested to be directly related to ECM remodelling with an increased synthesis of fibronectin, laminin and collagen (Berria et al., 2006), which is accompanied by a decrease in phosphorylation of IRS-1 tyrosine in skeletal muscle (Berria et al., 2006). Given the lack of temporal data on the development of insulin resistance, it is not clear which occurs first, collagen deposition/ECM remodelling or peripheral insulin resistance. This dysregulated remodelling has been shown to act as a physical barrier to glucose and insulin as well as impairing their signalling cascade (Berria et al., 2006; Williams, Kang and Wasserman, 2015). In line with this, subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissue insulin resistance in lean women with PCOS has been linked to TGF-beta signalling. Approximately 25% of differentially expressed genes were regulated by TGF beta 1 (Dumesic et al., 2019). The TGF-beta ligands SMAD2/3 have been shown to inhibit the actions of key insulin signalling regulators, Akt and mTOR (Trendelenburg et al., 2009). This will be explored in vivo and in vitro in Study 1 and Study 3.

#### 2.6.3 TGF-beta signalling and exercise

This presents a possible explanation for the development of the aforementioned metabolic defects present in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. Exercise is a cornerstone therapy in the management of PCOS, and it has been demonstrated in preclinical models that exercise can attenuate the effects of obesity and diabetes on skeletal muscle ECM (Lehti et al., 2006;

Pincu et al., 2015). Additionally, there is evidence to suggest that the skeletal muscle ECM is a mediator of exercise adaptations (Böhm et al., 2016; Rullman et al., 2009). It has been identified that increases in skeletal muscle TGF-beta 1 activity can suppress key mitochondrial regulators (PGC1a and AMPK) and mitigate the beneficial effects of exercise training on insulin sensitivity in individuals with type 2 diabetes (Böhm et al., 2016). In support of the role of TGF-beta signalling playing a vital role in exercise adaptations, it was identified that JNK regulates SMAD2/myostatin signalling acting as a molecular switch modulating between muscle hypertrophy and endurance adaptations (Lessard et al., 2018). TGF-beta 2 acts as an exercise inducible adipokine that is responsible for improvements in insulin sensitivity, with exercise training resulting in an increased expression of TGF-beta 2 in subcutaneous adipose tissue (Takahashi et al., 2019). The increase in TGF-beta 2 was modulated by lactate, presenting another role of TGF-beta ligands in the beneficial effects of exercise. In support of aberrant response to exercise in individuals with metabolic disease, it has shown that there are abnormal elevations in JNK activity (Hirosumi et al., 2002). These findings have been supported by Nikooie et al. (2020) that resistance training can reduce TGF-beta 1 expression, causing satellite cell activation and increase protein synthesis, leading to muscle hypertrophy through alterations in SMAD signalling. Other studies in mice have shown that a high-fat diet leads to an increase in TGF-beta1 expression, increased SMAD3 activation and collagen deposition that these negative effects could not be attenuated by moderate-intensity exercise training. Additionally, in mice during recovery from high-intensity exercise, elevations in TGF-beta1 were responsible for fatty acid oxidation (Nikooie and Samaneh, 2016). These findings provide a basis by which alterations in TGF-beta signalling could influence response to exercise training interventions. However, it is unclear how the skeletal muscle ECM of women with PCOS is affected by TGF-beta ligands and exercise training. This will be explored in Study 2 and Study 4.



Figure 2 TGF-beta signalling via SMAD2/3 promotes fibrosis

TGF-beta ligands are activated in response to stress or tissue damage. The activation of latent TGF-beta results in the upregulation of SMAD2/3 phosphorylation and in conjunction with SMAD4 is translocated to the nucleus activating ECM enzymes and collagens genes. This process is a delicate balance between tissue repair and tissue fibrosis. Created with Biorender.com.

# 2.7 Gaps in the research – discovering the mechanisms of insulin resistance in women with PCOS

To date, a variety of factors have been identified as the potential cause of insulin resistance in women with PCOS. Despite a significant number of studies, there has been a lack of consistency in these findings. The primary reason for conflicting or differing findings may be the heterogeneity of PCOS with four different phenotypes and variances in the severity within each of them. This may suggest that insulin resistance could develop differently depending on the phenotype. Alternatively, these findings may be explained by the variances in experimental approaches applied, and there may be a common physiological response linking defects in insulin signalling. This leaves researchers with a great opportunity to identify an underlying factor that could be responsible for multiple defects observed. From previous research, we hypothesise that TGF-beta ligands may play a role in skeletal muscle insulin resistance, with

tissue remodelling occurring and creating a physical barrier for insulin signalling. This could also explain why women with PCOS may have ineffective adaptive responses to exercise. Therefore, further investigation is required to understand the molecular mechanisms regulating insulin resistance in women with PCOS and how they respond to exercise, both acutely and long-term, which may ultimately improve their metabolic abnormalities.

#### 2.8 Aims and Hypothesis

Based upon gaps in the current literature as identified in the literature review, this thesis attempted to address the following aims:

- Aim 1: To determine if the TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 or AMH, play a role in the development of peripheral insulin resistance via the induction of aberrant insulin signalling in myotubes from women with and without PCOS. It was hypothesized that TGF-beta 1 and AMH would promote insulin signalling defects and decrease glucose uptake. (Chapter 4/Study 1)
- Aim 2: To determine if myotubes from women with PCOS retain their *in vivo* metabolic characteristics/phenotype. It was hypothesized that women with PCOS would not retain metabolic the donor's characteristics, indicating that skeletal muscle insulin resistance is acquired rather than intrinsic. Confirming the role of environmental and circulating factors in PCOS-specific insulin resistance. (Chapter 4/Study 1)
- Aim 3: To determine if myotubes from women with PCOS display a resistance to the beneficial effects of exercise by assessing exercise specific signalling following *in vitro* electrical pulse stimulation (EPS). It was hypothesized that myotubes from women with PCOS would have impaired exercise-induced signalling following *in vitro* contractions, consistent with the lack of training-induced improvements in metabolism observed *in vivo*. (Chapter 5/Study 2)
- Aim 4: To assess if TGF-beta 1 or AMH influences exercise-specific signalling in myotubes following *in vitro* electrical pulse stimulation. It was hypothesized that these TGF-beta ligands would further augment the impairment in exercise-induced signalling. (Chapter 5/Study 2)

- Aim 5: To assess insulin sensitivity and identify insulin signalling defects as previously observed in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that women with PCOS would have a greater degree of insulin resistancethan women who were lean or overweight. Also, that insulin resistance would be linked to defects in proximal insulin signalling (Chapter 6/Study 3).
- Aim 6: To establish if TGF-beta signalling is dysregulated in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS and could be related to insulin resistance. It was hypothesized that the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS would have an increased expression of collagens and TGF-beta 1, resulting in tissue fibrosis. This profibrotic phenotype extending beyond the reproductive tissues could contribute to the development of skeletal muscle insulin resistance (Chapter 6/Study 3).
- Aim 7: To determine if 12 weeks of high-intensity and moderate-intensity exercise training could improve VO<sub>2peak</sub> and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that greater exercise intensities would be required to see improvements in VO<sub>2peak</sub> and insulin sensitivity (Chapter 7/Study 4).
- Aim 8: To assess the effects of 12 weeks of high-intensity and moderate-intensity exercise training on the TGF-beta signalling pathway in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that exercise training would result in a down-regulation of the expression of the profibrotic factors TGF-beta 1 and SMAD3 and increased expression of the adipokine TGF-beta 2 (Chapter 7/Study 4).

### 3 Methodology

#### 3.1 Participants

Twenty-nine overweight women with PCOS, six overweight and ten lean healthy control women from the local community participated in the study (see figure 3 – Consort diagram). Participants were recruited from the local community through social media groups and community advertising (posters, leaflets and word of mouth). Women who took part in this study were primarily Caucasian (80%), but the cohort also included European (10%) and Asian/Indian (10%) backgrounds. These participants and related samples from the TGF-beta-PCOS trial (ACTRN12618000155291) and the IHITPCOS trial (ACTRN12615000242527). The participants in study 1, study 2 and study 4 were a subset of participants from the main cross-sectional study - study 3. Women with PCOS were premenopausal women aged between 18-45yr. PCOS was diagnosed using the Rotterdam Criteria (The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRMsponsored PCOS consensus workshop group, 2004), with the diagnosis being confirmed by an endocrinologist. Rotterdam criteria required confirmation of two of the following: (i) oligo- or anovulation; (ii) clinical (hirsutism and acne) and/or biochemical hyperandrogenism; (iii) polycystic ovaries on ultrasound and exclusion of other causes of hyperandrogenism. The healthy control group consisted of premenopausal women aged between 18-45yr without any features of PCOS. The exclusion criteria included menopause, secondary causes of menstrual disturbance and hyperandrogenism, pregnancy, smoking, Type 1 diabetes, Type 2 diabetes mellitus, uncontrolled hypertension (>160/100mm/Hg), cardiac ischemia, established cardiovascular disease, renal impairment and malignancy, and use of medications that interfere with endpoints (e.g., contraception, metformin, anti-androgens, and progestins antihypertensives, and lipid-lowering agents). Ethical approval was obtained from the Victoria University Human Research Ethics Committee (Reference - HRE17-232), and all participants provided written informed consent prior to participation in the study.



Figure 3 Diagram: detailing the sample sizes and which samples were used for each of the experimental studies (study 1-4).

#### 3.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment

Participants reported to the lab between 6 am-8 am following an overnight fast. A wholebody dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA; GE Lunar iDXA) scan was performed to assess total body fat mass and lean mass. Participants were asked to avoid intense or strenuous physical activity for 48 hours prior to the testing visit as it is well established that the effects of an acute bout of exercise or short-term exercise training (e.g. 7days) on insulin sensitivity can still be observed up to 48 hours following exercise cessation (Mikines et al., 1988; Ortega et al., 2014). In vivo insulin sensitivity was determined using a euglycemic -hyperinsulinemic clamp (DeFronzo et al., 1979) with a constant infusion of human insulin (Actrapid; Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark) at an infusion rate of 40 mU/min/m<sup>2</sup> for 120-180mins. Plasma glucose was modulated using a variable infusion of 25% Glucose (Viaflex Bag I.V. Solution 25% Glucose 1000ml, Baxter), to maintain the target level of ~5 mmol/l. To reduce the risk of hypokalaemia, participants were given a single dose (600 mg) of slow-release potassium before the commencement of the insulin clamp. An intravenous catheter was inserted in the antecubital vein of both arms, one for the infusion of insulin and glucose and the other for blood sampling. The arm which was used for blood sampling was covered with a heat blanket (Beurer personal heating pad, HKCOMFORT 4211125273262, Germany) at 50°C to arterialize the venous blood. Baseline blood samples were collected in tubes for either serum or plasma, plasma and serum separation were achieved via centrifugation at 3500 rpm, 4°C for 10mins. Samples were aliquoted into 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes and snap-frozen on liquid nitrogen before being transferred to -80°C for later analysis. Approximately 1-2ml of the arterialized blood was obtained every 5mins to measure blood glucose with a Yellow Springs Instruments 2300 STAT Glucose Analyzer (Yellow Springs Instruments Inc., Yellow Springs, OH). Blood samples were obtained every 30mins for later analysis of insulin. Glucose infusion rates were calculated for the steady-state period during the final 30mins of the clamp. As skeletal muscle is responsible for a large percentage of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, the glucose infusion rate was expressed as glucose (mg) per lean body mass (kg) (lbmkg) per min. In addition, prior to the commencement of the clamp and during the steady-state phase of the clamp, indirect calorimetry was carried out to determine substrate utilization and metabolic rate. This was performed using a metabolic cart (Quark RMR, COSMED, Australia) and a ventilated canopy hood. (COSMED, Australia). The system was calibrated before conducting each test using a volumetric syringe (Hans Rudolph, Shawnee, KS, USA) and known references gases for O2

and CO<sub>2</sub>. Lean, healthy controls followed this procedure only at baseline while women with PCOS were assessed prior to and after the exercise training intervention.

#### 3.3 Muscle biopsy

A muscle biopsy was obtained from the *vastus lateralis* using the modified Bergstrom technique (Bergström, 1975; Shanely et al., 2014) prior and during steady-state phase of the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp at baseline for both controls and PCOS, and also after the 12-week exercise training for the women with PCOS. Local anaesthetic (1% Xylocaine) was injected into the skin and fascia at the biopsy site, and a small incision was made with a scalpel blade. A sample of ~100-200mg was obtained using Bergstrom needle with suction. The sample was then processed on dental wax with any visible connective tissue or adipose tissue being removed then the sample was divided for immunoblotting and cell culture. The sample for immunoblotting was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C until later analysis.

#### 3.4 Assessment of exercise capacity

Participants completed two symptoms-limited graded exercise tests (GXT) with seven days between each test. The first GXT served as a familiarisation of the protocol, and the later test was used to determine VO<sub>2peak</sub> and maximal power output in watts (W). For the women with PCOS, this data was used to prescribe initial training intensities. The test was carried out on electronically braked cycle ergometer (Excalibur, V2.0; Lode, Groningen, the Netherlands), the test consisted of two phases- sub-maximal and step protocol. The submaximal phase consisted of cycling at the following workloads: 25w, 50w, and 75w for 3minutes. Upon completion of this phase, the test continued into step protocol with 25W increase every minute until exhaustion or an RPE of 20 (Borg scale) was reached. In cases where clinical signs and symptoms of metabolic or cardiovascular abnormalities the test was stopped. During the testing, participants were monitored by 12-lead ECG. Expired respiratory gases were collected breath by breath for VO<sub>2</sub>, VCO<sub>2</sub> and ventilation using a metabolic cart (Quark RMR, COSMED, Australia). Following collection, the VO<sub>2</sub>, data was smoothed to remove values that were less than or greater than rolling seven breath mean  $\pm$  two standard deviations.

Subsequently, this data was then averaged over a rolling seven breath mean, and the largest value recorded was determined as the VO<sub>2peak</sub>. This testing was repeated following the 12-week exercise intervention

#### 3.5 Exercise training intervention

Following the completion of baseline testing, overweight women with PCOS were randomly allocated to one of two 12-week supervised exercise training interventions; supervised standard exercise (MICT) or high-intensity intermittent training (HIIT). All exercise session were conducted at Victoria University Footscray Park campus under the supervision of exercise physiologists. The MICT intervention was designed to meet the minimum physical activity guidelines of 150 min each week, this made up of three sessions per week, and consisted of 50mins of moderate-intensity cycling at 50-60% of heart rate reserve. The HIIT group was designed to meet the minimum vigorous physical activity guidelines of 75 min each week; again, this consisted of three sessions per week. Two different HIIT protocols were used based on collective evidence for improvements in metabolic health (Cassidy et al., 2017). This consisted of two weekly sessions of 12 x 1 min at >85% of HRR with 1 min active recovery and one weekly session of 6-8 x 4 min at >85% of HRR with 2 min of active recovery (Figure 4). The initial concepts for these training interventions come from seminal work from Stepto et al., 1999. All training was carried out on electronically-braked cycle ergometer (Excalibur, V2.0; Lode, Groningen, the Netherlands) allowing exercise intensity to be pre-programmed and individualized for each session. Both exercise interventions were matched for training volume as determined by metabolic equivalent task (MET).min/week. The training interventions were progressive starting at 312 MET.min/week at week one and progressing to 530 MET.min/week in weeks 6-12. The protocols for the exercise intervention has been published for further details see: (Hiam et al., 2019).



Figure 4. Overview of weekly exercise sessions for MICT and HIIT created with Biorender.com.

#### 3.6 Bloods pathology and analysis

Stored blood samples were batch analysed by Monash pathology for the following measures: HBA1c, testosterone, sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST) cholesterol, triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), Low-density lipoprotein (LDL), Dihydrotestosterone (DHT), Estradiol, (E2), and Androgens. The serum steroids were determined using mass spectrometry, and other measures were determined by clinical-grade ELISAs. Additional analysis for AMH and insulin were conducted at Victoria University. Serum AMH was concentration was determined using a commercially available ELISA kit (Ultra-Sensitive AMH/MIS ELISA, AL-105, Anash Labs). Plasma insulin levels at rest and for the major time points of the euglycemic -hyperinsulinemic clamp were determined via Radio-Immuno Assay kit from Millipore (Human Insulin-Specific RIA, HI-14K, Millipore).

#### 3.7 Human primary culture of myotubes

Primary human cell lines were established using approximately 40-50 mg of muscle sample obtained from the biopsy. The sample was immediately transferred into a 15 ml falcon tube containing 10 ml of ice-cold alpha MEM (Life Technologies Australia, Gibco cat no. 12571-063). Following collection, the sample was washed 3x with ice-cold PBS to ensure there was no blood or debris on the sample, before transferring it to a petri dish and removing any visible connective or adipose tissue. The muscle tissue was then minced into small pieces (<1-2mm<sup>3</sup>)

using a scalpel blade and 3 ml of 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA. Then, the samples were transferred to a 100ml sterile conical flask containing 12 ml of 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA placed on an orbital shaker at 60-70rpm for 20 min at RT°C to disassociate the cells enzymatically. The supernatant was removed and transferred to 50ml Falcon tube containing 5mL of FBS on ice to inactivate the trypsin-EDTA immediately and avoid over-digestion of the tissue. This process was repeated two more times with total end volume of 45ml of cell suspension and 5ml of FBS. The cell suspension was filtered through 100um cell strainer to remove any undigested tissue and then centrifuged for 10 min at 1500rpm. Cells were resuspended in 5 ml of growth medium (low-glucose alpha MEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 0.5% Penicillinstreptomycin and 0.5% Amphotericin B), then pre-plated in an uncoated flask to reduce the population of fibroblasts and incubated for 20 min at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> before transferring the supernatant to a fresh ECM-coated T-25 flask and cultured at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> (Figure 5). All cells were cultured in the growth medium, with medium changed after 24 hours and then every second day thereafter. For step by step video of the procedures and further justification of this method see (Agley et al., 2015; Cornall et al., 2012). All chemicals and culture media were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich/life tech.

#### 3.7.1 Purification of satellite cells

Satellite cells were selected from the mixed cell population, including remaining fibroblasts, following the method by Agley *et al.*, (2013). Magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS) with anti-CD56 microbeads (MACS Miltenyi Biotec #130-050-401) was used in order to achieve a fraction of enriched myogenic cells. CD56 is considered to be the gold-standard surface marker for the identification of human satellite cells. After reaching 70-80% confluence, primary cultured cells in T-25 flask were washed with PBS before being detached with 1.5ml of 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA and incubated for 3min at 37°C and 5% CO2. Trypsinization was stopped by adding 3.5ml of the growth medium when the majority of the cells had detached from the surface of the flask. All medium and cells were transferred to a 15ml falcon tube and were centrifuged at 300g for 10 min. Then, the pellet of cells was resuspended with 80 ul of autoMACS™ running buffer (MACS Miltenyi Biotec #130-050-401) and incubated for 15 min at 4°C. Then cells were washed with 2 ml of the running buffer and re-pelleted. Then the supernatant

was removed, and the cells were resuspended in 500 ul of autoMACS<sup>TM</sup> running buffer before being separated using miniMACS<sup>™</sup> separator combined with MS column (MACS Miltenyi Biotec #130-091-632). The column was rinsed with 500 ul of the running buffer before loading the cell suspension. When the cell suspension passes through the column, the CD56<sup>+</sup> cell fraction (previously magnetically labelled) binds to the column, whilst the CD56<sup>-</sup> cell fraction pass freely through the column. To ensure only the CD56<sup>+</sup> cells remained, the column was rinsed 3 x 500ul of the running buffer. To collect the CD56<sup>+</sup> cells, the column was removed from the separator and placed over a 15ml falcon tube. Next, 1 ml of running buffer was added to the column, and the cells were flushed out into the falcon tube using the plunger. Finally, 9 ml of growth medium was added to the purified fraction and centrifuged for 10min at 300g. The cell pellet was resuspended in growth medium before plating in four ECM-coated T75 flasks. After growing a pure population of myoblasts and reaching 80-90% confluence, a proportion was plated for experiments, and the rest of the cells were frozen in cryovials using freezing media (Growth medium and 10% DMSO). Cryovials were placed in a freezing box (Corning<sup>TM</sup> CoolCell<sup>TM</sup> LX Cell Freezing) and stored at -80°C, before being transferred to liquid nitrogen storage.



Figure 5 Schematic experimental procedure for myotube culture experiments.

Muscle tissue was obtained from the *vastus lateralis* using Bergstrom needle biopsy technique and enzymatically digested using trypsin. Cell purification was carried out using anti-CD56 microbeads to select satellite cells. Cells were then plated and differentiated for experiments, created with Biorender.com.

#### 3.8 TGF-beta and AMH myotube experiments

Cells were plated (passage 3) into 6-well plates for protein expression and 12-well plates for glucose uptake. Growth medium was changed every second day until cells reached 80-90% confluence, then differentiation was started. Prior to differentiation, cells were washed twice with PBS, and differentiation medium (low-glucose alpha MEM supplemented with, 2% horse serum, 0.5% Penicillin-streptomycin and 0.5% Amphotericin B) was added to the cells and changed every day for five days. On the fifth day the following treatments were applied to the myotubes for 24 hours: TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml and 5ng/ml) (Transforming Growth Factor-β1 human, T7039, Sigma Aldrich, St Lewis, MO, USA), AMH (5ng/ml, 10ng/ml and 30ng/ml) (AMH (NM\_000479) Human Recombinant Protein, amsbio, Cambridge, MA, USA), and a control with no treatment (vehicle) was also included. Treatments and control conditions were prepared in serum-free low glucose media (alpha MEM with 0.1% BSA, 0.5% Penicillin-streptomycin B).

#### 3.9 Electrical pulse stimulation: in vitro contraction

Electrical Pulse stimulation (EPS) of human primary muscle cells is an *in vitro* model of skeletal muscle contraction. The use of EPS produces effects similar to those observed following *in vivo* exercise (Nikolić et al., 2017). Following five days of differentiation, human primary myotubes were stimulated with EPS using the C-Pace EP multichannel Culture Pacer (IonOptix, MA) (Figure 6). A chronic low-frequency stimulation protocol of 11.5 V, 2 ms, 1Hz for 6 hours in serum-free low glucose media (alpha MEM) was selected to represent an exercise training like stimulus. Previous studies utilising this or similar protocols have observed activation of exercise-mediated signal transduction (AMPK, MAPK, Ca<sup>2+</sup> handling), improved glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity, increased myokine release and structural changes (e.g., Hypertrophy) (Al-bayati et al., 2019; Lambernd et al., 2012; Nikolić et al., 2012; Scheler et al., 2013; Son et al., 2019). It should be noted that during pilot work, a variety of different published stimulus was applied, with higher voltages  $\geq$  30 volts resulting in cells dethatching from the surface of the plate.



Figure 6. Electrical pulse stimulation experimental setup

Specially designed carbon electrodes are able to sit close to the wall of the well in the cell culture dish. Electrodes are connected to cell stimulator that allows manipulation of voltage and currency applied to the cells (ION OPTIX C-PACE EP, Cell Culture Stimulator). 6-well plate with electrodes is designed to work in the incubator, created with Biorender.com.

On day 5 of differentiation, media of the cells was changed to a serum-free medium, with or without the respective treatment (TGF-beta 1 or AMH) for 16 hours overnight. On day 6, the EPS protocol was applied, and following stimulation, cells were rinsed twice with PBS and lysed in RIPA buffer (25mM Tris•HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) with fresh phosphatase and protease inhibitors (1:100) to extract protein for immunoblotting or in Trizol to extract RNA for qPCR. Samples were then stored at -80°C for later analysis.

#### 3.10 Glucose uptake assay

A radio-activity based assay [2-<sup>3</sup>H]Deoxy-D-glucose ([2-<sup>3</sup>H]DG) uptake was used to measure glucose uptake. Myotubes were pre-incubated overnight (16 hours) in serum-free medium with and without the previously described treatments of TGF-beta and AMH. The medium was then removed, and cells were washed three-times and pre-incubated with Krebs buffer (10 mM HEPES, 2.5 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 150 NaCl, 5 KCl, 1.2 CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1.2 MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% BSA) with and without insulin (100 nM) for 30mins. To assess glucose uptake, 10 $\mu$ M 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) at 1 $\mu$ Ci/mL/well ([2-<sup>3</sup>H]DG) was added for exactly 15 min at 37 °C. The cells were then rinsed twice with cold PBS and lysed in 500ul of 0.2 M NaOH. 400ul of the lysate was transferred to a scintillation vial, and 100ul was kept for total protein quantification. Glucose uptake was determined using liquid scintillation counting on  $\beta$ -spectrometer (Perkin-Elmer), unit of measurement in picomoles of [2-<sup>3</sup>H]DG taken up per minute per milligram normalized to total protein.

#### 3.11 Western blot analysis

Protein expression of TGF-beta and insulin signalling pathways, as well as of markers of tissue fibrosis were determined via western blotting. Cell lysates were prepared using ice-cold RIPA buffer (25mM Tris•HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, Product No.89900, ThermoFisher Sci, USA) with the addition of phosphates and protease inhibitor cocktail at 1:100 (Halt<sup>™</sup> Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail Product No.78440, ThermoFisher Sci, USA). Following treatment, the cells were then rinsed twice with ice-cold PBS, and 100ul of the RIPA buffer with inhibitor cocktail was added per well. A cell scraper was used to lyse the cells into the lysis buffer before transferring the lysate into an Eppendorf tube. The lysate was then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and stored at -80°C until later analysis. The total protein concentration for each sample was determined using Red 660 protein assay (cat no. 786-676, G-Biosciences, USA) with SDS Neutralizer (cat no. 786-673, G-Biosciences, USA) for cell culture work and with Pierce<sup>™</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (cat no. 23225, Thermofisher) for whole muscle lysate. Samples were prepared in 4x Laemmli buffer with beta-mercaptoethanol and boiled for 5min at 95°C. Samples were loaded into 10% Criterion<sup>™</sup> TGX Stain-Free<sup>™</sup> protein gels (Biorad, #5678034). Fifty micrograms for the cell culture samples and nine to

eighteen micrograms for the whole muscle samples, and different concentrations of the internal standards (pooled sample from different lysates) was separated via electrophoresis (Criterion<sup>TM</sup> Vertical Electrophoresis Cell, Biorad, #1656001) for 90 min at 200V. Afterwards, the gel was transferred on to a nitrocellulose membrane (Biorad, #1704271) or PVDF low fluorescence, depending on the target. The transfer was performed using Trans-Blot® Turbo<sup>™</sup> Transfer System (Biorad, #1704150) using the following protocol: 2.5 A, 25 V, for 7min. The membrane was then imaged for total protein using the stain-free protocol on ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup> XRS+ System (Biorad #1708265). All membranes were blocked for 1 hour in 5% skimmed milk or 5% bovine serum albumin in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) plus 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T). Membranes were then washed for 3 x 5 min in TBS-T, then incubated overnight on a rocking platform at 4°C in primary antibody solution containing selected antibody (Table 3) at 1:1000 dilution, 5% bovine serum albumin, 0.02% sodium azide and 15ml of TBS. The next day, membranes were washed for 3 x 5 min in TBS-T then incubated in appropriate secondary horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antibody (1:10,000) for 90 min. Following 3 x 5 min wash with TBS-T, proteins were visualized by ultra-sensitive enhanced chemiluminescence (SuperSignal<sup>TM</sup> West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate, Thermo Scientific, cat no. 34094) or ECL substrate (clarity western ECL substrate, #1705060, Biorad) and were quantified by densitometry. Images of membranes for total protein and target proteins were analysed using Biorad Image Lab 6.0.1 to determine band density. The band density data was normalized to total protein content (Figure 7) for each lane and to the internal standard loaded in each gel.



Figure 7. Total protein content used for normalization on Low-Flow PVDF membrane (left) and Nitrocellulose membrane (right).

Table 3 Antibody list			
Protein	Abbreviation	Company	Concentration
Phospho-Smad3 (Ser423/425) (C25A9) Rabbit mAb 9520S	pSMAD 3	Cell signalling Technology	1:1000
Phospho-Smad1	pSMAD 1/5/9	Cell signalling	1:1000
(Ser463/465)/Smad5		Technology	
(Ser463/465)/Smad9			
Ser465/467) (D5B10) Rabbit			
mAb 13820S			
Smad3 (C67H9) Rabbit mAb 9523S	SMAD 3	Cell signalling Technology	1:1000
Smad5 (D4G2) Rabbit mAb	SMAD 5	Cell signalling	1:1000
12534S		Technology	
Smad4 (D3M6U) Rabbit mAb	SMAD4	Cell signalling	1:1000
38454S		Technology	
Anti-IRS1 (Phospho s312) Rabbit pAB ab4865	pIRS-1	Abcam	1:1000
IRS-1 (D23G12) Rabbit mAb	IRS-1	Cell signalling	1:1000
34075		Technology	
Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (D9E) XP®	pAkt	Cell signalling	1:2000
Rabbit mAb 4060		Technology	
Akt (pan) (C67E7) Rabbit mAb	Akt	Cell signalling	1:1000
4691		Technology	
PI3 Kinase p85-alpha (6G10)	PI3K-p85	Cell signalling	1:1000
Mouse mAb 13666S		Technology	
PI3 Kinase p110-alpha (C73F8)	PI3K-p110	Cell signalling	1:1000
Rabbit mAb 4249S		Technology	
mTOR Rabbit AB 2972S	mTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
Phospho-mTOR (Ser2448) 2971S	pmTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
Raptor (24C12) Rabbit mAb	RAPTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
2280S		Technology	
Phospho-Raptor (Ser792) 2083S	pRAPTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
Rictor (53A2) Rabbit mAb 2114S	RICTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
Phospho-Rictor (Thr1135)	pRICTOR	Cell signalling	1:1000
(D30A3) Rabbit mAb 3806S		Technology	
PhosphoPlus(R) CREB (Ser133)	pCREB	Cell signalling	1:1000
Antibody Duet 8212		Technology	
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (137F5)	ERK1/2	Cell signalling	1:1000
Rabbit mAb 4695		Technology	

Phospho-p44 42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) (D13.14.4E)	pERK1/2	Cell signalling Technology	1:1000
XP® Rabbit mAb 4370		Abcam	1.2000
NULP77 ab100180		Abcam	1:2000
Glucoso transportor 4 ab654		Abcam	1:2000
Collegen Leb 24710		Abcam	1.4000
		Abcam	1:1000
Collagen IV ab6586		Abcam	1:1000
		Abcam	1.1000
		Abcam	1:1000
		Abcam	1:1000
TCC hate 2 ab2C405	TGFDetal	Abcam	1:1000
TGF-beta 2 ab36495		Abcam	1:1000
TGF-beta receptor 1 ab31013	TGFBR-1	Abcam	1:1000
	IGFBR-Z		1:1000
рз8 МАРК 9212	рзымарк	Technology	1:1000
phospho-p38 MAPK	Р-р38МАРК	Cell signalling	1:1000
(Thr180/Tyr182) 9211		Technology	
AMPK $\alpha$ Rabbit mAb 2603	АМРК	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
p-AMPK $lpha$ (Thr172) Rabbit mAb	рАМРК	Cell signalling	1:1000
2535		Technology	
Anti-PGC-1α Mouse mAb ST1202	PGC1α	Merck	1:1000
GSK-3B Rabbit mAB 9315	GSK3B	Cell signalling Technology	1:1000
phosphoGSK-3α/β (Ser21/9)	pGSK3	Cell signalling	1:1000
9331		Technology	
Total OXPHOS Rodent WB	OXPHOS	abcam	1:2000
antibody cocktail ab110413			
Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Rabbit	Acc	Cell signalling	1:1000
mAb 3676		Technology	
Phospho-Acetyl-CoA	рАсс	Cell signalling	1:1000
Carboxylase (Ser79) rabbit mAb		Technology	
11818			
phospho-AS160 (Thr642) 4288	pAS160	Cell signalling	1:1000
		Technology	
Phospho-FOXO1 (ser256) Rabbit	pFOXO1	Cell signalling	1:1000
mAb 84192S		Technology	
Secondary Anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-	Rab IgG	Cell signalling	1:10000
linked Antibody 7074S		Technology	
Secondary Pierce Anti-Mouse IgG (Goat) - HRP-Labeled #31430	Ms IgG	Thermofisher	1:10000

#### 3.12 Statistical analysis

All analyses and graphing were carried out using GraphPad Prism Version 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA). All data are reported as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) unless stated otherwise, and statistical significance was declared when P < 0.05. Where statistical significance was detected, data were presented as absolute change or percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P-value. Specific analysis performed is outlined in the methodology of each study.
# 4 **Study 1:** The Effects of Anti-Müllerian Hormone and Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 on Glucose Uptake and Insulin Signalling in Human Primary Myotubes from Women with and Without Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

# 4.1 Introduction

Insulin resistance appears to be a key feature and a driver of the symptoms of PCOS, with approximately 38-80% of women with PCOS being insulin resistant when measured by euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp (Stepto et al., 2013; Tosi et al., 2017). The insulin resistance and subsequent hyperinsulinemia appear to contribute to hyperandrogenism, ovulatory dysfunction and subfertility, highlighting the importance of understanding the mechanisms by which insulin resistance develops in women with PCOS. To date, several studies have attempted to identify the mechanisms responsible for the development of insulin resistance and the aberrations in the insulin signalling cascade. Despite significant progress in this area, there is still a lack of consensus and understanding; this presents a significant challenge for developing new therapeutics. The prominent peripheral insulin resistance in women with PCOS was first identified by Dunaif et al. (1989). It was noted that women with PCOS had insulin resistance that occurred independently of obesity or impaired glucose tolerance, with unique abnormalities in insulin action (Dunaif et al., 1989). The skeletal muscle plays a key role in whole-body glucose homeostasis. It is the primary site for peripheral glucose disposal, accounting for ~85% whole-body insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Defronzo et al., 1981), making it a key therapeutic target for improving whole-body metabolism. Although a variety of different defects have been observed, which can be attributed to the heterogeneity of PCOS, there has been little progress in understanding the contributing or causative factors in the development of insulin resistance in women with PCOS.

Human primary myotubes appear to retain the key characteristics of skeletal muscle, such as fibre type composition and glucose metabolism (Aas *et al.*, 2013). The use of human primary myotubes creates the opportunity to differentiate between intrinsic and environmental

contributions in the aetiology of a condition and, in particular metabolic features such as insulin resistance. The assessment of insulin-mediated glucose uptake and the subsequent activation of insulin signalling cascade has been used to determine insulin sensitivity in cultured myotubes. In primary skeletal muscle myotube cultures established from individuals with type 2 diabetes, there is a reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake when compared to myotubes from healthy controls (Ciaraldi et al., 1995; Henry et al., 1995; McIntyre et al., 2004a). However, the relationship and direct measures of comparison between the in vivo phenotype and the response of the in vitro culture is not often assessed (Gaster, 2019). For instance, the comparison of glucose disposal rate obtained from the euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp and insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy-glucose uptake in myotubes from the same donor. This makes it difficult to interpret the extent of the phenotype retained and the contribution of the in vivo environment. Several studies have reported that human primary myotubes from women with PCOS are no longer insulin resistant, suggesting that phenotype is not maintained (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Corbould et al., 2005; Eriksen et al., 2010, 2014). Adding to these findings, Eriksen et al. (2010 and 2014) have shown a lack of insulin resistance in myotubes from women with PCOS and found no intrinsic defects in glucose or lipid metabolism. In addition, these myotubes also appeared to exhibit normal mitochondrial function and content contrary to in vivo findings (Eriksen et al., 2011; Konopka et al., 2015; Skov et al., 2007). Taken together, this suggests that acquired environmental factors rather than intrinsic defects or traits may play a significant role in the development of PCOS-specific insulin resistance.

Given the heterogeneity of PCOS, there may be multiple environmental factors that could lead to the development of insulin resistance. A possible candidate for the development of metabolic abnormalities in women with PCOS is the TGF-beta superfamily ligands. To date, several of the TGF-beta ligands have been demonstrated to play a role in the pathophysiology of PCOS. These TGF-beta ligands have been shown to be responsible for alterations in ovarian hormones and morphology, with the thickening of the ovarian capsule and stroma caused by an increase in collagen deposition and fibrotic tissue related to dysregulation of TGF-beta superfamily ligands (Bastian et al., 2016; Hatzirodos et al., 2011; Raja-Khan et al., 2014). Women with PCOS have elevated levels of serum TGF-beta 1 (Irani et al., 2015; Raja-Khan et al., 2010; Tal et al., 2013) and AMH (Cook et al., 2002; Seifer and MacLaughlin, 2007). The role of AMH in PCOS has been primarily outlined in regulating reproductive function (Bhide et al., 2015;

Maciel et al., 2004; Pellatt et al., 2011). Although the direct role of AMH in insulin resistance has not been determined, it has been shown to be positively associated with HOMA-IR across all phenotypes (Wiweko et al., 2018). The relationship and ratio between advanced glycation end products and AMH levels are directly linked to follicle count and anovulation (Diamanti-Kandarakis et al., 2009). This links insulin resistance to ovulatory dysfunction but does not imply that ovulatory dysfunction and AMH influence insulin resistance. The interaction of AMH with other hormones is evident, with hyperandrogenism and levels of AMH being linked (Cassar et al., 2014). Despite AMH being associated with insulin resistance, the mechanisms of this relationship remain unexplored. It is clear that AMH has a central role in reproductive function, but its systemic effects have not been established.

It remains to be determined if the TGF beta-driven tissue remodelling of reproductive tissues is also occurring in the peripheral tissues and subsequently influencing insulin signalling via alterations in ECM and tissue morphology. It has been demonstrated that the gene expression of key components of the TGF-beta signalling pathway is altered in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS (Skov et al., 2007, Stepto et al., 2020). The role of TGF-beta signalling in glucose homeostasis is becoming more apparent. An increase in glucose and insulin leads to rapid translocation of intracellular TGF-beta receptor 1 (TGFBRI) and 2 (TGFBRII) to the cell surface in a variety of cell types (Budi et al., 2015; Wu and Derynck, 2009). This occurs via the activation of Akt and is regulated by subsequent activation of AS160 to enhance TGF-beta responsiveness (Budi et al., 2015). This translocation of TGF-beta receptors causes an amplification of TGF-beta signalling through SMAD activation (Duan and Derynck, 2019). The interaction between insulin and TGF-beta signalling may be particularly pertinent in relation to women with PCOS, given that many presents with hyperinsulinemia. Chronic stimulation of TGFBR and subsequent SMAD2/3 and other TGF-beta related pathways could promote tissue fibrosis. Together, these findings highlight the potential crosstalk between TGFbeta and insulin signalling. This may be a possible mechanism by where TGF-beta could influence insulin signalling directly or indirectly via tissue remodelling.

### 4.1.1 Aims and hypothesis

Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine if TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 or AMH, play a role in the development of peripheral insulin resistance via the induction of aberrant insulin signalling. It was hypothesized that AMH and TGF-beta1 would both promote insulin signalling defects and decrease glucose uptake in human primary myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy lean controls. A secondary aim was to determine if myotubes from women with PCOS retained their *in vivo* metabolic characteristics. It was hypothesized that myotubes from women with PCOS would not retain the donor's metabolic characteristics, indicating that skeletal muscle insulin resistance is acquired rather than intrinsic. This would confirm the role of environmental and circulating factors in PCOS-specific insulin resistance.

# 4.2 Methods

# 4.2.1 Participants

The myotube cultures established from biopsy samples for seven women with PCOS who were overweight, and seven healthy women were used for this study (total n = 14) (For further details see Methodology section 3.1)

# 4.2.2 Muscle biopsy

Biopsy samples obtained at baseline before the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp were used for this study. For more information, see Methodology section 3.3.

# 4.2.3 Human primary culture of myotubes

See Methodology section 3.7

4.2.4 Purification of satellite cells

See Methodology section 3.7.1

# 4.2.5 TGF-beta 1 and AMH treatment of myotubes

Differentiated myotubes were exposed for 24 hours to TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml and 5ng/ml) and AMH (5ng/ml, 10ng/ml and 30ng/ml). A control with no treatment was also included (See more details in Methodology section 3.9).

# 4.2.6 Glucose uptake assay

The sample size for this outcome was 7 per group (for more details, see Methodology section 3.11).

#### 4.2.7 Western blot analysis

The sample size for this outcome was 5 per group. Targets quantified in this study were phospho and total: SMAD3, SMAD1/5/8, IRS-1, AKT, MTOR, RAPTOR, RICTOR, ERK1/2, Total: SMAD4, PI3K p85 and PI3K p110 (for more details see Methodology section 3.12).

#### 4.2.8 Statistical analysis

Clinical characteristics were compared with two-tailed unpaired student's t-test. A linear mixed model analysis was used to examine the differences between treatments, groups, and within donor variation. Analysis of the treatments of TGF-beta and AMH were carried out independently. Changes in protein total expression and phosphorylation were assessed using a mixed-effects model (2 groups and 12-time points). Significant effects of interaction (group x time), Time (Basal control vs treatments) and group (Lean Con vs OW PCOS). The distribution of the data was tested using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Post-hoc analysis of significant interaction and main effects was carried out using the Sidak multiple comparisons test. Correlation between *in vivo* and *in vitro* measures of insulin sensitivity were assessed by Spearman's correlation coefficient. Data in text for basal expression and phosphorylation of proteins is presented as relative difference percentage  $\pm$  SD 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value, unless stated otherwise (For additional details See Methodology section 3.13)

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Clinical characteristics

Clinical characteristics of participants involved in this study, overweight women with PCOS and healthy lean controls, are summarised in **Table 4**.

	PCOS	Healthy controls	p-value
Number of participants	7	7	
Age	$30\pm 6$	$26\pm 6$	0.175
Bodyweight (kg)	99 ± 18	$65 \pm 14$	< 0.001
BMI	36.7 ± 6.7	$22.1 \pm 2.8$	< 0.001
Lean mass (%)	$49\pm 6$	$68 \pm 5$	< 0.001
Fasting glucose (mM)	$4.7\pm0.4$	$4.4\pm0.3$	0.240
Fasting insulin (uIU/ml)	$15.6\pm5.9$	$9.9 \pm 2.6$	0.069
Serum AMH (pmol/l)	53.5 ± 19.3	$76.73\pm43.5$	0.236
GIR (mg/lbmkg/min)	$6.75 \pm 2.89$	$16.36\pm5.1$	0.001
Insulin sensitivity index ((GIR/LBM)/SS INS)*100	$7.0\pm2.9$	$14.97 \pm 4.6$	0.003

#### Table 4 Clinical Characteristics of participants

4.3.2 Relationship between *in vivo* insulin sensitivity and *in vitro* insulinstimulated 2-deoxyglucose uptake in myotubes.

There was a significant difference between women with PCOS and healthy women in wholebody insulin sensitivity as derived from the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp, with healthy controls being more insulin sensitive (PCOS:  $6.75 \pm 2.89$  mg/lbmkg/min, CI [4.07, 9.43], Healthy:  $16.36 \pm 5.13$  mg/lbmkg/min, CI [11.61, 21.11] P = 0.001) (Figure 8A). In Primary myotubes there was no significant differences between groups in the absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (PCOS:  $1.12 \pm 3.77$  pmol/mg/min, CI [-2.37, 4.61], Healthy:  $2.33 \pm 2.28$  pmol/mg/min, CI [0.22, 4.44], P = 0.48) (Figure 8B). In addition, there was a poor relationship between GIR (*in vivo*) and 2-deoxyglucose uptake (*in vitro*) in both groups (PCOS: r = 0.5467, CI [-0.35, 0.92], P = 0.2041, Healthy: r = -0.3596, CI [-0.87, 0.54], P = 0.4282).



Figure 8: *In vivo* and *in vitro* comparison of insulin sensitivity and their relationship to allow for assessment of phenotype retention in primary myotubes from both women with PCOS and healthy controls

Comparison of glucose infusion rate (mg/lbmkg/min) obtained during the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp between women with PCOS and healthy controls. B) Comparison of absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in myotubes from women with PCOS and Healthy controls. C) Relationship between glucose infusion rate (mg/lbmkg/min) *in vivo* and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in women with PCOS D) Relationship between glucose infusion rate (mg/lbmkg/min) *in vivo* and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in women with PCOS D) Relationship between glucose infusion rate (mg/lbmkg/min) *in vivo* and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in vivo and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in vivo and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in vivo and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in vivo and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in vivo and absolute change of insulin-stimulated 2-deoxy glucose uptake (pmol/mg/min) in healthy controls. \*significant difference between PCOS and Healthy controls, Data reported mean  $\pm$  SD (PCOS: N= 7, Healthy: N= 7).

#### 4.3.3 2-Dexoxyglucose uptake

#### 4.3.3.1 TGF-beta

Following treatment with TGF-beta 1 there was an increase in glucose uptake in both the PCOS and control myotubes (Group effect, P = 0.88; treatment effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P < 0.001), (mean difference pmol/mg/min ± SD, 95% CI, P value). In PCOS myotubes the increase in glucose uptake occurred following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (5ng/ml) (9.220 ± 2.724, CI [0.88, 17.55], P = 0.01) and TGF-beta 1 (5ng/ml) plus insulin (11.72 ± 2.724, CI [3.39, 20.06], P = 0.001). In control myotubes the increase in glucose uptake occurred following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml) (12.94 ± 2.862, CI [4.18, 21.69], P < 0.001) and TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml) plus insulin (12.33 ± 2.862, CI [3.57, 21.08], P = 0.001) (Figure 9A).

#### 4.3.3.2 AMH

Following treatment with AMH there was a decrease in glucose uptake in both the PCOS and control myotubes (Group effect, P = 0.94; treatment effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.82), (mean difference pmol/mg/min ± SD, 95% CI, P value), In the PCOS myotubes there was a trend for decrease in glucose uptake following treatment with AMH (-6.49 ± 3.08 pmol/mg/min), but no significant differences were detected (P > 0.37). In control myotubes the decrease in glucose uptake occurred following treatment with AMH (5ng/ml) (-10.92 ± 3.150, CI [-19.61, -2.23], P = 0.006) (Figure 9B).



Figure 9 Skeletal muscle myotube 2-Deoxyglucose uptake

Control (C) as no treatment and following 24hour treatment with TGF-beta 1 (1 and 5 ng/ml) (Fig.6A) (B1 and B5) and AMH (5,10,30 ng/ml) (A5, A10, A30) (Fig.6B) in basal and insulin-stimulated states (I). C: control (no treatment), CI: Control + insulin, B1: TGF-beta 1ng/ml, B1I: TGF-beta 1ng/ml + insulin, B5: TGF-beta 5ng/ml, B5I: TGF-beta 5ng/ml + insulin, A5: AMH 5ng/ml + insulin, A5I: AMH 5ng/ml, A10: AMH 10ng/ml, A10I: AMH 10ng/ml + insulin, A30: AMH 30ng/ml, A30I: AMH 30ng/ml + insulin. Black bars = Healthy myotubes Grey bars = PCOS myotubes. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*significantly different from basal control. (Healthy: N= 7, PCOS: N= 7).

#### 4.3.4 TGF-beta/SMAD signalling

#### 4.3.4.1 TGF-beta

There was an increase in SMAD3 phosphorylation following treatment with TGF-beta 1, this increase was similar in both the PCOS and healthy control myotubes (Group effect P = 0.36; treatment effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.23) (percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value). The increase was observed following TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml and 5ng/ml) with and without insulin in myotubes from both groups (PCOS: (B1: 498  $\pm$  431%, CI [121, 876], P = 0.002, B1I: 511  $\pm$  485%, CI [86, 936], P < 0.001, B5: 774  $\pm$  728%, CI [166, 365], P < 0.001, B5I: 1011  $\pm$  1232%, CI [69, 2090], P < 0.001) (Figure 10A) (Healthy: (B1: 1932  $\pm$  1554%, CI [569, 3294], P < 0.001, B5I: 2409  $\pm$  2502%, CI [216, 4603], P = <0.001) (Figure 10A). There were no detectable differences in SMAD 1/5/8 phosphorylation (Group effect P = 0.91; treatment effect, P = 0.05; Interaction effect, P = 0.28) although there was dosedependent activation trend following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (Figure 10B). There were no detectable differences in total SMAD4 expression following treatment with TGF beta 1 (Group effect, P = 0.14; treatment effect, P = 0.84; Interaction effect, P = 0.81) (Figure 10C).

#### 4.3.4.2 AMH

There were no detectable differences in for the phosphorylation of SMAD3 (Group effect, P = 0.14; treatment effect, P = 0.08; Interaction effect, P = 0.79) (Figure 10A) or SMAD1/5/8 (Group effect P = 0.79; treatment effect, P = 0.64; Interaction effect, P = 0.37) (Figure 10B) or for total SMAD4 expression following treatment with AMH in both groups (Group effect, P = 0.18; treatment effect, P = 0.64; Interaction effect, P = 0.41) (Figure 10C).

Chapter 4: Study 1: The Effects of Anti-Müllerian Hormone and Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 on Glucose Uptake and Insulin Signalling in Human Primary Myotubes from Women with and Without Polycystic Ovary Syndrome



Figure 10. TGF-beta/SMAD signalling.

SMAD3 phosphorylation relative to total SMAD3 expression. B) SMAD1/5/8 phosphorylation relative to total SMAD1/5/8 expression. C) Total SMAD4 expression. Control (C) as no treatment and following 24hour treatment with TGF beta (1 and 5 ng/ml) (B1 and B5) and AMH (5,10,30 ng/ml) (A5, A10, A30) in basal and insulin-stimulated states (I). C: control (no treatment), CI: Control + insulin, B1: TGF-beta 1ng/ml + insulin, B5: TGF-beta 5ng/ml, B5I: TGF-beta 5ng/ml + insulin, A5: AMH 5ng/ml + insulin, A5I: AMH 5ng/ml, A10: AMH 10ng/ml, A10I: AMH 10ng/ml + insulin, A30: AMH 30ng/ml, A30I: AMH 30ng/ml + insulin. White bars = Healthy myotubes, Grey bars = PCOS myotubes. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) and total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 5, PCOS: n = 5).

#### 4.3.5 Insulin signalling

#### 4.3.5.1 TGF-beta

There were no significant changes in the phosphorylation IRS-1 following treatment with TGFbeta 1 (Group effect P = 0.84; treatment effect, P = 0.17; Interaction effect, P = 0.86), (Figure 11A). There was a significant increase in phosphorylation of AKT following treatment with TGF-beta (Group effect, P = 0.06; treatment effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.002) (percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value), significant increases in phosphorylation only occurred in the healthy control group following no treatment with insulin stimulation  $(3751 \pm 4591\%, CI [-273,7776], P = 0.001)$  and TGF-beta 1 (1ng/ml) treatment with insulin  $5420 \pm 6855\%$ , CI [-589,11428], P < 0.001) (Figure 11B). There were no significant changes in the phosphorylation ERK1/2 following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (Group effect, P = 0.92; treatment effect, P = 0.58; Interaction effect, P = 0.83) (Figure 11C). There were no significant changes in the expression of PI3K-p85 following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (Group effect P = 0.27; treatment effect, P = 0.97; Interaction effect, P = 0.17). Although not statistically significant, PI3K-p85 expression tended to be higher in myotubes from women with PCOS at basal level and with TGF-beta 1 (Figure 12A). There were no significant changes in the expression of PI3K-p110 following treatment with TGF-beta 1 (Group effect, P = 0.27; treatment effect, P = 0.97; Interaction effect, P = 0.17) (Figure 12B). There was significant difference between groups or following treatment for ratio of PI3K-p85/PI3K-p110 (P > 0.16) (Figure 12C).

#### 4.3.5.2 AMH

Following treatment with AMH there was a significant difference in phosphorylation of IRS-1 in the healthy control myotubes only, this occurred following treatment with AMH (30ng/ml) and insulin (Group effect P = 0.24; treatment effect, P = 0.11; Interaction effect, P = 0.03) (percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value), (A30I: 517  $\pm$  592%, CI [2, 1035], P = 0.006). There was a trend for a dose response activation of IRS-1 phosphorylation in myotubes from the healthy control women following treatment with AMH (Figure 11A). There was a significant increase in phosphorylation of AKT following treatment with AMH (Group effect

P = 0.16; treatment effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.07) (percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value), significant increases in phosphorylation only occurred in the healthy control group following treatment with AMH (5ng/ml) with insulin (1487  $\pm$  1100%, CI [523, 2452], P = 0.001) and AMH (10ng/ml) with insulin (844  $\pm$  749%, CI [187, 1501], P = 0.006) (Figure 11B). There were no significant changes in the phosphorylation ERK1/2 following treatment with AMH (Group effect P = 0.59; treatment effect, P = 0.14; Interaction effect, P = 0.41) (Figure 11C). Treatment with AMH did not result in any changes in the expression of PI3K-p85 (Group effect P = 0.06; treatment effect, P = 0.54; Interaction effect, P = 0.53), PI3K-p85 expression tended to be higher in myotubes from women with PCOS (Figure 12A). Following treatment with AMH there was a reduction in PI3k-p110 expression in healthy control myotubes only (Group effect P = 0.77, treatment effect, P = 0.01, Interaction effect, P = 0.67). This reduction occurred following AMH (30ng/ml) with and without inulin (A30: -48  $\pm$  21 %, CI [-30, -67], P =0.019; A30I: -50  $\pm$  37 %, CI [-18, -82], P = 0.01) (Figure 12B). There was significant difference between groups or following treatment for ratio of PI3K-p85/PI3K-p110 (P > 0.15) (Figure 12C).



Figure 11. Insulin signalling

A) IRS-1 phosphorylation relative to total IRS-1 expression. B) AKT phosphorylation relative to total AKT expression. C) ERK1/2 phosphorylation relative to total ERK1/2 expression. Control (C) as no treatment and following 24hour treatment with TGF beta (1 and 5 ng/ml) (B1 and B5) and AMH (5,10,30 ng/ml) (A5, A10, A30) in basal and insulin-stimulated states (I). C: control (no treatment), CI: Control + insulin, B1: TGF-beta 1ng/ml + insulin, B5: TGF-beta 5ng/ml, B5I: TGF-beta 5ng/ml + insulin, A5: AMH 5ng/ml + insulin, A5I: AMH 5ng/ml, A10: AMH 10ng/ml, A10I: AMH 10ng/ml + insulin, A30: AMH 30ng/ml, A30I: AMH 30ng/ml + insulin. White bars = Healthy myotubes, Grey bars = PCOS myotubes. Data reported as Mean ± SD. \*significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) and total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 5, PCOS: n = 5).



Figure 12. Insulin Signalling (cont.)

A) Total protein expression PI3K-p85. B) Total protein expression PI3K-p110. C) Total protein expression PI3K-p85/PI3K p110 ratio. Control (C) as no treatment and following 24hour treatment with TGF beta (1 and 5 ng/ml) (B1 and B5) and AMH (5,10,30 ng/ml) (A5, A10, A30) in basal and insulin-stimulated states (I). C: control (no treatment), CI: Control + insulin, B1: TGF-beta 1ng/ml, B1I: TGF-beta 1ng/ml + insulin, B5: TGF-beta 5ng/ml, B5I: TGF-beta 5ng/ml + insulin, A5: AMH 5ng/ml + insulin, A5I: AMH 5ng/ml, A10: AMH 10ng/ml, A10I: AMH 10ng/ml + insulin, A30: AMH 30ng/ml, A30I: AMH 30ng/ml + insulin. White bars = Healthy myotubes, Grey bars = PCOS myotubes. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 5, PCOS: n = 5).

#### 4.3.6 mTOR signalling

#### 4.3.6.1 TGF-beta

Following treatment with TGF-beta 1 there was no differences in the phosphorylation of mTOR (Group effect, P = 0.260; treatment effect, P = 0.07; Interaction effect, P = 0.35) (Figure 13A). Following treatment with TGF-beta 1 there were differences between groups in phosphorylation of Raptor (Group effect, P = 0.04; treatment effect, P = 0.06; Interaction effect, P = 0.44. Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.12). Although there was trend for healthy control myotubes displaying higher levels of phosphorylation of Raptor compared to myotubes from women with PCOS and for TGF-beta 1 treatment to decrease phosphorylation of Raptor (Figure 13B). Following treatment with TGF-beta 1 there was differences between groups in phosphorylation of Rictor (Group effect, P = 0.89; treatment effect, P = 0.004; Interaction effect, P = 0.94) Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.10) (Figure 13C).

#### 4.3.6.2 AMH

Following treatment with AMH there was no differences in the phosphorylation of mTOR (Group effect, P = 0.28; treatment effect, P = 0.11; Interaction effect, P = 0.33) (Figure 13A). Following treatment with AMH there was no differences in the phosphorylation of Raptor (Group effect, P = 0.05; treatment effect, P = 0.49; Interaction effect, P = 0.50) (Figure 13B) Following treatment with AMH there was differences in the phosphorylation of Rictor (Group effect, P = 0.91; treatment effect, P = 0.004; Interaction effect, P = 0.99) Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.26) (Figure 13C).

Chapter 4: Study 1: The Effects of Anti-Müllerian Hormone and Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 on Glucose Uptake and Insulin Signalling in Human Primary Myotubes from Women with and Without Polycystic Ovary Syndrome



Figure 13. mTOR Signalling.

mTOR phosphorylation relative to total mTOR expression. B) Raptor phosphorylation relative to total Raptor expression. C) Rictor phosphorylation relative to total Rictor expression. Control (C) as no treatment and following 24hour treatment with TGF beta (1 and 5 ng/ml) (B1 and B5) and AMH (5,10,30 ng/ml) (A5, A10, A30) in basal and insulin-stimulated states (I). C: control (no treatment), CI: Control + insulin, B1: TGF-beta 1ng/ml, B1I: TGF-beta 1ng/ml + insulin, B5: TGF-beta 5ng/ml, B5I: TGF-beta 5ng/ml + insulin, A5I: AMH 5ng/ml + insulin, A10: AMH 10ng/ml, A10I: AMH 10ng/ml + insulin, A30: AMH 30ng/ml, A30I: AMH 30ng/ml + insulin. White bars = Healthy myotubes, Grey bars = PCOS myotubes. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 5, PCOS: n = 5).

## 4.4 Discussion

# 4.4.1 Do myotubes from women with PCOS retain their donor's metabolic characteristics?

We sought to determine if in vitro insulin sensitivity measured in the myotubes reflected in vivo insulin sensitivity obtained via a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. Our results indicate that the metabolic phenotype in vivo was not maintained in vitro (Figure 8 C and D). Women with PCOS displayed insulin resistance in vivo, but this was not reflected in vitro. Based on these results, culture myotubes from women with PCOS do not reflect donor characteristics, suggesting a role of environmental factors in the PCOS-specific IR. Despite a lack of retention of donor characteristics in both myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls when assessing metabolic characteristics in vivo and in vitro, we did observe some differences in insulin signalling. Remarkably, the assessment of insulin sensitivity in vitro by measuring 2deoxyglucose uptake does not seem to represent the *in vivo* insulin sensitivity even in healthy controls (Figure 8. D). Although in our study this effect may be due to the sample size used (n=7 per group), this highlights the limitations of this technique and therefore suggests the need of complementary physiological measurement such as glucose oxidation to support the results. Others have found that in vitro glucose uptake cannot be predicted by BMI, age, gender or muscle origin of the donor (Aas et al., 2020). This would suggest that under in vivo conditions, muscle cells undergo metabolic reprogramming or alterations in metabolic mechanisms compared with their role in vivo. Another possibility for the metabolic differences between in vivo and in vitro may be related to the degree of differentiation of the myotubes. It has previously been observed that myotubes from women with PCOS exhibit a greater degree of differentiation when compared to matched control myotubes as evidenced by higher creatine kinase activity and the abundance of myosin heavy chain protein expression (Corbould et al., 2005). This effect occurred despite cells being cultured side by side under the same conditions, which may suggest a unique characteristic of myotubes from women with PCOS. Although we did not assess the degree of differentiation in our study, this may account for lack of differences in insulin responsiveness between groups. Poor insulin responsiveness was evident in myotubes from both groups for glucose uptake, whereas insulin signalling appeared to be more insulin responsive. In general, myotubes express all the core metabolic proteins of the insulin signalling cascade as observed in vivo (Gaster, 2019; Thingholm et al., 2011); however, the

levels of expression can differ. Myotubes have higher protein expression of GLUT1 than GLUT4, in contrast to whole skeletal muscle where the opposite is observed (Deshmukh et al., 2015). Higher amounts of GLUT1 protein leads to an elevation of basal glucose uptake and reduced insulin responsiveness, with less GLUT4 translocation occurring in human primary myotubes in comparison to *in vivo* (Abdelmoez et al., 2019; Gaster, 2019). Another important consideration is the requirement of a supraphysiological dose of insulin to stimulate glucose uptake above basal levels, coupled with modest increases in glucose uptake following insulin stimulation. This may suggest that *in vitro* techniques may be of insufficient sensitivity to detect differences between groups.

The extent to which the donor characteristics are retained in cultured myotubes from women with PCOS has already been debated. Supporting our results, it is thought that defects in insulin responsiveness in skeletal muscle from women with PCOS are a result of a combination of in vivo environment and intrinsic defects. Eriksen and collages have demonstrated that neither insulin resistance nor mitochondrial dysfunction is maintained in culture (Eriksen et al., 2010, 2011). Others have also shown that despite displaying insulin resistance in vivo, cultured myotubes form women with PCOS had normal insulin sensitivity/responsiveness (Ciaraldi et al., 2009). In contrast to the work from Eriksen, others have claimed there is an intrinsic defect in PCOS myotubes, causing increased phosphorylation of IRS-1ser312 and decreased PI3Kactivity (Corbould et al., 2005). In a follow-up work, they suggested that ERK1/2 activation was responsible for these alterations by modulating inflammatory factors (Corbould et al., 2006). We found no detectable differences in IRS-1 or ERK1/2 phosphorylation at baseline and during insulin stimulation in PCOS myotubes, suggesting that this defect is not seen in all women with PCOS (Figure 10.A and C). Collectively, the work by Eriksen and Corbould suggests that the defects seen *in vivo* may be a combination of acquired and intrinsic defects. This work contributed to our study rationale that circulating factors that are elevated in the serum of women with PCOS may contribute to insulin resistance either by worsening existing defects or lead to the development of defects in insulin signalling.

The extent to which myotubes retain different aspects from their donor characteristics is uncertain. It has been noted that when mammalian cells are in culture, they undergo a rapid and substantial modification of the transcriptome and epigenome (Nestor et al., 2015). This indicates alteration of the physiological state of the cells, which likely reflects the change in the cellular environment (e.g., two-dimensional and lack of in vivo circulating factors). Indeed, when comparing human skeletal muscle and myotubes from healthy young women, there were substantial differences in the transcriptome (Raymond et al., 2010). The main differences observed were related to mitochondrial dysfunction, increased extracellular matrix, and altered glucose metabolism in the myotubes, suggesting that the *in vitro* environment alters the cellular phenotype. In regards to the retention of the metabolic characteristics in our cultured myotubes, we have found that myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls no longer reflect the donors' metabolic state when in culture. Others have shown that myotubes from obese and non-obese individuals have comparable insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, despite myotubes from obese individuals having reduced GLUT4 content (Pender et al., 2005). Similarly, lean myotubes from insulin-resistant and insulin-sensitive individuals display similar insulinstimulated glucose uptake, glycogen synthesis and signalling despite clear in vivo differences (Krutzfeldt et al., 2000). In contrast, myotubes derived from skeletal muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes retain insulin resistant phenotype in culture (Gaster et al., 2002; Henry et al., 1995; McIntyre et al., 2004b; Thingholm et al., 2011). Taken together, this would suggest that only severe or genetic defects are retained in myotubes, allowing for the separation of acquired and intrinsic factors that contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Caution should be applied when utilising PCOS myotubes when investigating the mechanism of insulin resistance or other phenotypical features observed in vivo, given the lack of retention in characteristics shown in our study and others (Eriksen et al., 2010, 2011). This highlights a need to replicate the *in vivo* environment to make this model more relevant to the disease state.

Future studies should consider supplementing the growth medium with the donor's serum to better represent the *in vivo* tissue microenvironment, as circulating factors may be responsible for activating intrinsic signalling defects. For instance, in our study, the donors' PCOS phenotypes were, three from phenotype A, two from phenotype B, and two from phenotype D (The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group, 2004), and therefore each skeletal muscle is exposed to different levels of circulating factors, which may affect insulin resistance. Thus, it is important to factor in the heterogeneity of PCOS for the differences observed between studies. A limitation of our study is the use of myotubes from lean, healthy women rather than BMI matched comparison group, meaning we cannot fully account for the metabolic impact of obesity. The addition of a BMI-matched control group,

and the inclusion of lean PCOS group would mean that the effect of PCOS and the effect of obesity on insulin signalling and sensitivity could be independently quantified. However, it has been shown that obesity-related insulin resistance is not maintained in primary myotubes (Pender et al., 2005), suggesting that the use of myotubes allows to identify intrinsic versus acquired factors. Another possible influence on the results is the high day-to-day variation from the same donor for glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis in human primary myotubes (Gaster, 2019). These results are also influenced by experimental factors such as cell confluency and the level of differentiation, which is difficult to precisely control.

#### 4.4.1.1 Intrinsic defects in the insulin signalling pathway

Defects in insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation at both Thr308 and ser473 despite normal PI3K activity were previously observed in muscle samples from women with PCOS (Hojlund et al., 2008). In our study, the myotubes from women with PCOS had a reduction in insulinstimulated phosphorylation of Akt and a tendency for greater expression of PI3K-p85 (inhibitor of PI3K activity) than myotubes from lean, healthy controls, which may contribute to the defect in Akt phosphorylation. An increase in expression of PI3K-p85 adaptor subunit has been demonstrated to play a role in insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes via an increase in phosphorylation of IRS-1ser312, ERK1/2, p38MAPK and JNK, to inhibit PI3K activity (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2005; Barbour et al., 2005). However, this does not explain the defects we observed, given the lack of differences in IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> and ERK1/2 phosphorylation at baseline and during insulin stimulation. Moreover, defects in AKT are unlikely to fully account for or explain insulin resistance observed in women with PCOS, given that only a small proportion of Akt phosphorylation is required to elicit downstream insulin action (Hoehn et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2012). It has been shown that there is a lack of linearity between insulin signalling phosphorylation and glucose uptake. For example, in L6 myotubes (Hoehn et al., 2008) and adipocytes (Whitehead et al., 2001), Akt phosphorylation of 28% was sufficient to achieve maximal-insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and only 5% to achieve maximal GLUT4 translocation. In addition, Hoehn et al. 2008 investigated a number of different physiological relevant experimental models of insulin resistance; this included palmitate, glucocorticoid, hyperinsulinemia, oxidative stress, chronic low-dose inflammation. This extensive approach allowed them to identify that impaired insulin and platelet-derived growth factor-stimulated glucose uptake and GLUT4 translocation could occur without any defects in IRS/PI3K/Akt signalling (Hoehn et al., 2008). Additionally, it has been demonstrated a reduction in IRS-1 protein levels of 68% (using short hairpin RNA's) was insufficient to influence glucose disposal and induce insulin resistance *in vivo* (Cleasby et al., 2007). Therefore, changes in proximal insulin signalling would likely have a substantial impact on insulin signalling and would lead to the development of insulin resistance.

It is known that insulin resistance can occur independently of decreases in proximal insulin signalling transduction (Meyer et al., 2002; Tonks et al., 2013; Vind et al., 2011). In myotubes and whole muscle from women with PCOS, it has been demonstrated that reductions in insulinstimulated glucose uptake occurred independently of changes in insulin-signalling proteins (Ciaraldi et al., 2009). In the case of our study, myotubes from women with PCOS displayed a decrease in the basal mTOR signalling with comparable insulin sensitivity to healthy control myotubes. This does not rule out metabolic defects, such as differences in glycogen synthesis and fatty acid oxidation. Our findings may demonstrate that factors beyond defective insulin signalling could be contributing to the development of insulin resistance. It has been suggested that insulin resistance itself may be responsible for the development of impaired insulin signalling from animal models and cell culture studies (Fazakerley et al., 2019). Hyperinsulinemia has been shown to lead to impairment of insulin-stimulated IRS-1tyr612 and Aktser473 phosphorylation in human primary myotubes (Turner et al., 2020), and increases basal phosphorylation serine IRS-1ser307 and mTOR in conjunction with a decrease in IRS-1tyr612 and PI3k activity in rats (Ueno et al., 2005). This makes sense in the case of our study with the removal of whole muscle from hyperinsulinemia, and defects observed in myotubes in Akt and mTOR expression may be seen as residuals of this environment. This could explain the variety of defects in the insulin signalling cascade observed in PCOS as each individual has different levels of hyperinsulinemia. To fully understand if myotubes obtained from women with PCOS retain donor characteristics and which environmental factors in the physiological milieu are involved in the development of insulin resistance, more advanced sequencing and omics studies should be considered.

#### 4.4.2 The effects of TGF-beta 1 on glucose uptake and insulin signalling

The primary aim of this study was to determine if the TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 and AMH, were in part responsible for the development of insulin resistance and aberrant insulin signalling, previously observed in the skeletal muscle and myotubes of women with PCOS. Contrary to our hypothesis, treatment with TGF-beta 1 resulted in an increase in basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in myotubes from women with PCOS and from healthy women. This increase was observed following a dose of 1ng/ml in the myotubes from healthy women and following the higher dose of 5 ng/ml in the myotubes from women with PCOS. This presents the possibility that myotubes from PCOS are desensitized to the effects of TGFbeta 1 due to already being chronically exposed and therefore need a stronger stimulus to respond. This could be related to the proposed hypothesis that skeletal muscle has an epigenetic memory, whereby the response to environmental stressors can be influenced by prior exposure to the same stressor (Sharples et al., 2016). Likewise, others have shown that metabolic adaptations following 8-12 weeks of exercise training are retained in human primary myotubes (Bourlier et al., 2013; Lund et al., 2017), and that myotubes from trained individuals display protection from fatty acid-induced insulin resistance (Green et al., 2013). The alteration in glucose metabolism following TGF-beta 1 treatment was accompanied by an increase in the phosphorylation of SMAD3 and Aktser473, while AMH treatment increased IRS1ser312 phosphorylation in both groups. This may help to explain the opposing effects of the respective treatments on glucose uptake, with TGF-beta 1 resulting in an increase, and AMH resulting in a decrease in glucose uptake.

The effects of TGF-beta 1 on glucose metabolism and insulin signalling has not been previously explored in myotubes. However, there is a substantial body of evidence for its role in metabolism in other cell types whereby TGF-beta1 leads to profibrotic effects via mTORC1/2. This process itself is physiologically vital; however, when this pathway is chronically stimulated, it can promote fibrosis. Further studies using murine fibroblasts and myofibroblasts have shown that TGF-beta 1 induces glycolysis via SMAD2/3 signalling to increase GLUT1 under normoxia (Andrianifahanana et al., 2016; Selvarajah et al., 2019). It was identified that this elevated GLUT1 expression results in an increased expression of profibrotic genes PAL-1, CTGF, alpha-SMA, leading to increases in collagen I and fibronectin,

with this effect being mediated by ERK1/2 and mTORC1 (Andrianifahanana et al., 2016). In addition, it was demonstrated in myofibroblasts that TGF-beta 1 activates signalling cascade of SMAD3-mTORC1-ATF4-GLUT1 to induce glycolysis to meet the enhanced demands of collagen production (Selvarajah et al., 2019). Therefore, suggesting that TGF-beta 1 may induce fibrosis via GLUT1 upregulation. However, in our study, we did not see any changes in the phosphorylation of ERK or mTOR with treatment with TGF-beta 1. We did observe increases in GLUT1 mRNA but not GLUT4 (Unpublished data Moreno-Asso et al.) following treatment with TGF-beta1 in both groups. We have not yet measured GLUT1 protein expression to confirm this effect in our study, nor changes in GLUT4 translocation, which may be more relevant for glucose uptake than changes in mRNA. Moreover, to fully understand if this fibrotic effect is occurring in PCOS myotubes and whole skeletal muscle, we would need to assess downstream targets such as collagens and profibrotic genes in future studies. Furthermore, it has been described that C2C12 myotubes treated with TGF-beta 1 result in an increase in ROS production which could augment the fibrotic effects, and lead to aberrant insulin signalling (Abrigo et al., 2016; Abrigo et al., 2018), suggesting that other pathways may be involved in regulating fibrosis in skeletal muscle. Future studies may wish to explore how the responses to treatment with TGF-beta 1 and AMH are influenced by other physiological factors present in women with PCOS, such as hyperandrogenism and oxidative stress.

In line with the increase in GLUT1 mRNA following treatment with TGF-beta 1 in our results, it has been demonstrated that myotubes from women with PCOS had a greater expression of GLUT1 than cells from overweight controls (Corbould et al., 2005). This was also accompanied by an increase in basal glucose uptake and no changes in GLUT4. This may indicate there is a potential metabolic reprogramming via environmental factors such as TGF-beta 1 or other growth factors in PCOS skeletal muscle causing a shift to a preferential glycolytic ATP synthesis as opposed to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation under conditions of normoxia. This process is also known as the Warburg effect in oncology and has been linked to diabetes and ageing (Burns and Manda, 2017), increasing cancer predisposition. In support of this theory, metabolomics of plasma samples from women with PCOS showed a significant increase in lactate and glucogenic amino acids with a reduction in glucose, a sign of glycolysis in skeletal muscle (Zhao et al., 2012). However, we did not observe an elevated basal glucose uptake in the myotubes from women with PCOS in our study.

# 4.4.3 The effects of AMH on glucose uptake and insulin signalling

We observed that treatment with AMH resulted in a trend for a decrease in basal and insulinstimulated glucose uptake, which was accompanied by an increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1ser312 and a decrease in PI3K-p110 (Figure 11A and 12B), which is associated with insulin resistance. This effect appeared to be more pronounced in the myotubes from healthy women following treatment with 30 ng/ml, and we expected it to occur via SMAD dependent signalling pathways. This dose of AMH (214.3 pmol/l) would be considered as high serum levels. However, there was a lack of activation of SMAD2/3 or SMAD1/5/8 signalling following treatment with AMH. The magnitude of the effect of AMH may be related to the low expression of AMH receptor 2 in the skeletal muscle (Uhlén et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2005), which may be further affected when cells are cultured. Although AMH is capable of acting through Type 1 receptors ALK2 and ALK3, in this case, this seems unlikely given the lack of SMAD activation. The presence of AMH receptor 2 has been difficult to assess to date due to anti-bodies showing cross-reactivity in many tissues (Pankhurst et al., 2016). A limitation of our study is that we did not assess the expression and activation of AMH receptor 2 or other type 1 receptors. Moreover, we were unable to detect mRNA expression of AMH receptor 2 in skeletal muscle or cultured myotubes (Unpublished data Moreno-Asso et al.).

To our knowledge, no other study has assessed the effects of AMH on metabolic function and insulin signalling in myotubes. From our results, we would indicate that AMH results in a decrease in glucose uptake and disrupts insulin signalling in human primary myotubes from women with and without PCOS, suggesting that it may play a role in peripheral insulin resistance in women with PCOS. However, the effect seen would not account for the whole extent of insulin resistance observed. It may be possible that AMH interacts with other factors such as androgens and have a synergistic effect. In addition, insulin has been shown to upregulate AMH expression in granulosa cells from women with PCOS (Liu et al., 2019). This may indicate that hyperinsulinemia drives an increase in AMH, suggesting that AMH action

and expression is influenced by insulin resistance, creating a negative feedback loop where AMH worsens insulin resistance. In fact, the increase in phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub>, which is associated with insulin resistance, may have occurred via SMAD independent signalling pathways and was greater with AMH and insulin in comparison to AMH alone. An effect of the increase in IRS-1 serine phosphorylation is a decrease in the expression of PI3K-p110 $\alpha$ ; this effect has been observed in the skeletal muscle of individuals who are obese and individuals with type 2 diabetes (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2005). In p110 $\alpha/\beta$  knockout mice, there is a decrease in insulin sensitivity and glucose disposal, as well as a reduction in PI3K-P85 expression (Brachmann et al., 2005). This results in an increase in the ratio of  $p85\alpha$  to  $p110\alpha$  which has been associated with a decline in insulin sensitivity (Draznin, 2006). More recently, in the skeletal muscle of mice, it has been shown that p110a deletion results in impaired insulin signalling, with a decrease in Akt phosphorylation (Li et al., 2019). In our study, the reduction in p110 $\alpha$  was accompanied by a trend for a slight reduction in Akt. This presents a possible mechanism by which exposure of peripheral tissues to high levels of AMH may result in aberrant insulin signalling and decreases in glucose uptake but needs to be explored further.

AMH needs to undergo cleavage to be able to bind to AMH receptor 2 and activate SMAD signalling (Papakostas et al., 2010). For our experiments, we treated the myotubes with a cleaved form of AMH, which must be taken into account for the physiological relevance of these results. It has been demonstrated that there are high levels of cleaved AMH in the blood, with most of it remaining inactive as it is not competent for binding to the AMH receptor 2 (Pierre et al., 2016). This indicates that despite high circulating levels in serum of women with PCOS, these measures do not reflect the bioactivity. It also raises the question if it has a role in skeletal muscle metabolism, given the likelihood that *in vivo* skeletal muscle is exposed to minimal concentrations of bioactive AMH. However, our results may indicate that AMH can act through other pathways to cause metabolic dysfunction, despite the lack of SMAD phosphorylation.

#### 4.4.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, myotubes from women with PCOS do not appear to retain their metabolic phenotype, and only insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of Akt and basal mTOR was altered compared to controls. This suggests that external environmental factors may contribute to the development of insulin resistance in combination with underlying intrinsic alterations. We observed that treatment with TGF-beta 1 increases glucose uptake and phosphorylation of SMAD3, which appears to occur independently of changes in the insulin signalling cascade. In comparison, AMH decreased glucose uptake with an increased expression of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> and a reduction in PI3Kp110. The role of TGF-beta ligands, including TGF-beta 1 and AMH, requires further work to understand its role in skeletal muscle insulin resistance in women with PCOS.

# 4.4.4.1 Key findings

- The *in vivo* metabolic phenotype is not accurately retained in cultured myotubes from women with PCOS or healthy controls.
- TGF-beta 1 treatment increases basal and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in skeletal muscle myotubes.
- AMH decreased glucose uptake and is accompanied by an increase in IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> and a decrease in PI3Kp110. Its mechanism of action is unclear, given that it failed to activate SMAD signalling pathways.

# 5 STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

# 5.1 Introduction

To date, lifestyle modification is seen as first-line therapy for women with PCOS to manage the clinical features, including metabolic, reproductive and psychological characteristics. A key component of this lifestyle modification is structured exercise (Stepto et al., 2019b; Teede et al., 2018a). There are multiple benefits of exercise training for improving metabolic health. In particular, the following adaptations to skeletal muscle correspond to improvements in insulin sensitivity, increases in muscle mass, capillarization, GLUT4 and hexokinase II protein expression (responsible for glucose transport), and mitochondrial content (Egan and Zierath, 2013; Sylow and Richter, 2019).

#### 5.1.1 Resistance to metabolic benefits of exercise in women with PCOS

A key determinant in the risk of developing metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes is cardiorespiratory fitness (VO<sub>2peak/max</sub>). Based on the limited available data, women with PCOS display a marked reduction in cardiorespiratory fitness when compared with matched controls (Dona et al., 2017). This may be attributed to insulin resistance in women with PCOS who are overweight or obese, while in lean patients, it is attributed to hyperandrogenism (Dona et al., 2017) and may depend on the phenotype. It has also been suggested that women with PCOS have resistance to the beneficial effects of exercise on insulin sensitivity. This notion stemmed from the study from Harrisson, Stepto, and colleagues, where they observed that women with PCOS had an impairment in exercise-induced improvements in peripheral insulin sensitivity measured by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp technique (Harrison et al., 2012). Women with PCOS improved insulin sensitivity by 16.37%, whereas matched controls improved by 23.75% after 12-week exercise intervention. However, women with PCOS were 46% less insulin sensitive before the exercise intervention (Harrison et al., 2012). In individuals

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

with type 2 diabetes, the mechanism behind this reduced improvement in insulin sensitivity after exercise training has been attributed to TGF-beta 1 (Böhm et al., 2016). It has been shown that low responders to exercise training have greater TGF-beta 1 activity, resulting in the suppression of AMPK $\alpha$ 2 and ATP synthase subunit  $\alpha$ , PGC1 $\alpha$ , and TFAM (Böhm et al., 2016). These factors are responsible for the regulation of post-exercise metabolism. A similar role of TGF-beta signalling has been shown in women with PCOS, whereby intensified exercise training did not fully restore insulin sensitivity to levels comparable to overweight controls (N. Stepto et al., 2020). This was accompanied by a profibrotic gene expression profile (COL1A2, COL3A1, LOX, Decorin, TGFBR2), which was augmented following exercise training.

### 5.1.2 Aims and hypothesis

Therefore, we aimed to determine if myotubes from women with PCOS display a resistance to the beneficial effects of exercise by assessing exercise-specific signalling following *in vitro* electrical pulse stimulation (EPS), compared with myotubes from healthy controls. It was hypothesized that myotubes from women PCOS would display impaired exercise-induced signalling following *in vitro* contraction, consistent with the lack of training-induced improvements in metabolism observed *in vivo*. In addition, we wanted to assess if TGF-beta 1 or AMH influence exercise-specific signalling in myotubes following *in vitro* EPS. It was hypothesized that these TGF-beta ligands would further augment the impairment in exercise-induced signalling.

# 5.2 Methods

# 5.2.1 Participants

Myotube cultures were established from six women with PCOS who were overweight, and six healthy women were used for this study (total n = 12) (For more details, see Methodology section 3.1).

5.2.2 Assessment of exercise capacity

See Methodology section 3.2

5.2.3 Muscle Biopsy

See Methodology section 3.3

5.2.4 Human Primary culture of myotubes

See Methodology section 3.7

# 5.2.5 TGFB and AMH myotubes experiment

To determine if the circulating factors TGF-beta 1 and AMH differently influence primary myotube responses to *in vitro* EPS, the following four conditions were applied to all the cultures: no treatment control, EPS, EPS+TGF-beta 1 (5ng/ml) and EPS+AMH (30 ng/ml). On day 5 of differentiation, media was changed from all cells to a serum-free medium, with or without the respective treatment (TGF-beta 1 or AMH). EPS protocol commenced on day 6, for more details, see methodology section 3.9.

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

### 5.2.6 Electrical pulse stimulation in vitro contraction

A chronic low-frequency stimulation protocol of 11.5 V, 2 ms, 1Hz was applied for 6 hours in serum-free low glucose media (alpha MEM). For more details, see Methodology section 3.10.

# 5.2.7 Western blot analysis

Targets quantified in this study were Phospho-p38 MAPK, PGC1α, phospho CREB, NUR77, NOR1, Phospho-AMPK, Phospho-ACC, GLUT4, Phospho and total AKT, Phospho and total MTOR (for more details, see Methodology section 3.12)

# 5.2.8 Statistical analysis

Clinical characteristics were compared with two-tailed unpaired student's t-test. A linear mixed model analysis was used to examine the differences between treatments, groups, and within donor variation. Changes in protein expression and phosphorylation were assessed using a mixed-effects model (2 groups and 4-time points). Significant effects of interaction (group x time), Time (Basal control vs EPS with and without treatment) and group (Lean Con vs OW PCOS). The distribution of the data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Post-hoc analysis of significant interaction and main effects was carried out using the Sidak multiple comparisons test. Data in text for basal expression and phosphorylation of proteins is presented as relative difference percentage  $\pm$  SD 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value. (For additional details See Methodology section 3.13)

# 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Clinical characteristics

Clinical characteristics of participants involved in this study, overweight women with PCOS and healthy lean controls, are summarised in **Table 5**.

	PCOS	Healthy controls	p-value
number of participants	6	6	
Age	$28 \pm 3$	$24\pm3$	0.02
Body weight (kg)	$104.6 \pm 14$	$66.4 \pm 14.4$	< 0.001
BMI	$38.4\pm5.5$	$22.3\pm3.0$	< 0.001
Lean mass (%)	$48 \pm 5$	$68.6\pm5.0$	< 0.001
Fasting glucose (mM)	$4.8\pm0.2$	$4.4\pm0.3$	0.03
Fasting insulin (uIU/m)	$16.6 \pm 5.4$	$9.9 \pm 2.9$	0.02
VO2 <sub>peak</sub> (ml/kg/min)	$24.3\pm 6.5$	$45.0\pm 6.5$	< 0.001
GIR (mg/lbmkg/min)	$6.0 \pm 2.3$	$16.7\pm5.5$	0.003
Insulin sensitivity index ((GIR/LBM)/SS INS) *100	$6.6 \pm 2.8$	$16.07\pm4.0$	0.001

## Table 5 Clinical characteristics of participants

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

#### 5.3.2 Stress kinase

#### 5.3.2.1 phospho-p38 MAPK

There was an increase in p38 MAPK phosphorylation following EPS with and without treatment. (Group effect, P = 0.09; treatment effect, P = 0.003; Interaction effect, P = 0.16) (percentage of relative change  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value). Post-hoc analysis revealed a significant increase in healthy myotubes following EPS alone (221  $\pm$  346%, 95% CI, [-56, 498], P = 0.04), and EPS with TGF beta 1 (5ng/ml) (397  $\pm$  748%, 95% CI, [-201, 996], P = 0.001) (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Phosphorylation of p38 MAPK

Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGF-beta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*Significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).

#### 5.3.3 Transcription factors

#### 5.3.3.1 phospho-CREB

There was an increase in CREB phosphorylation following EPS with and without treatment. (Group effect, P = 0.12; Treatment effect, P = 0.04; Interaction effect, P = 0.06) (percentage of relative change ± SD, 95% CI, P value). A statistically significant increase occurred in healthy myotubes following EPS alone (137 ± 267%, 95% CI, [-77, 351], P = 0.01). EPS with TGF-beta 1 (5ng/ml) (112 ± 204%, 95% CI, [-52, 276], P = 0.01), and EPS with AMH (30ng/ml) (115 ± 227%, 95% CI, [-67, 297], P = 0.02) (Figure 15A).

#### $5.3.3.2 PGC1\alpha$

There were no differences in the expression of PGC1 $\alpha$  following EPS with and without treatments and no differences between groups (Group effect, P = 0.86; Treatment effect, P = 0.90; Interaction effect, P = 0.23) (Figure 15B).

#### 5.3.3.3 NOR1

There were differences in expression of NOR1 between groups. Overall, myotubes from women with PCOS had greater expression of NOR1 with no effect of treatment (Group effect, P = 0.001; treatment effect, P = 0.41; Interaction effect, P = 0.57) (Percentage difference  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI, P value). Differences were observed in the following conditions: EPS alone (103  $\pm$  59%, 95% CI, [56, 150], P = 0.001). EPS with TGF beta (5ng/ml) (89  $\pm$  83 %, 95% CI, [22, 155], P = 0.004), and EPS with AMH (30ng/ml) (100  $\pm$  110 %, 95% CI, [12, 188], P = 0.002) (Figure 16A).

#### 5.3.3.4 NUR77

There were no differences in the expression of NUR77 following EPS with and without treatments and no differences between groups (Group effect, P = 0.92; Treatment effect, P = 0.46; Interaction effect, P = 0.87) (Figure 16B).
Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes



В



Treatment

Figure 15. Transcription Factors: CREB, PGC1a

A) Phosphorylation of CREB<sub>ser133</sub>. B) Total Expression of PGC1 $\alpha$ . Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGF-beta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*Significantly different from basal control. Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).



Figure 16. Transcription Factors: NOR1, NUR77

A) Total Expression of NOR1 B) Total Expression of NUR77. Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGF-beta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*significantly different from basal control. \*\*Significant difference between groups Representative images shown for Total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

### 5.3.4 Glucose homeostasis

# 5.3.4.1 AMPK

There were differences in the phosphorylation of AMPK between groups, with myotubes from healthy controls showing greater expression of AMPK across all conditions (Group effect, P = 0.04; Treatment effect, P = 0.69; Interaction effect, P = 0.95). Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.06) (Figure 17A).

# 5.3.4.2 ACC

There was appeared to be an increase in the phosphorylation of ACC following EPS and EPS with AMH (Group effect P = 0.35; Treatment effect, P = 0.04; Interaction effect, P = 0.92). Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.15) (Figure 17B).

# 5.3.4.3 GLUT4

There were no differences in the expression of GLUT4 following EPS with and without treatments and no differences between groups (Group effect, P = 0.28; treatment effect, P = 0.61; Interaction effect, P = 0.78) (Figure 18A).



Figure 17. Glucose Homeostasis: p-ACC, p-AMPK

A) Phosphorylation of AMPK<sub>Thr172</sub> B) Phosphorylation of ACC<sub>ser79</sub>. Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGF-beta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*Significantly different from basal control. \*\*significant difference between groups Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) and Total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes



Figure 18. Glucose Homeostasis: GLUT4 expression

A) Total Expression of GLUT4. Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGFbeta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*Significantly different from basal control. \*\*Significant difference between groups Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) and Total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).

# 5.3.5 Hypertrophy

### 5.3.5.1 phospho/total AKT

There were no differences in the phosphorylation of Akt following EPS with and without treatments and no differences between groups (Group effect, P = 0.48; treatment effect, P = 0.39; Interaction effect, P = 0.36) (Figure 19A).

#### 5.3.5.2 phospho/total MTOR

There were no differences in the phosphorylation of mTOR following EPS with and without treatments and no differences between groups (Group effect, P = 0.61; treatment effect, P = 0.16; Interaction effect, P = 0.98) (Figure 19B).

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes



Figure 19. Hypertrophy

A) mTOR phosphorylation relative to total mTOR expression. B) AKT phosphorylation relative to total AKT expression. Control (C) as no treatment and following 6 hours of EPS (EPS) with TGF-beta 1 (5 ng/ml) (EPS B5) and AMH (30 ng/ml) (EPS A30. Data reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD. \*Significantly different from basal control. \*\*Significant difference between groups Representative images shown for Phosphorylation (P) and Total (T) protein expression shown for (Healthy: n = 6, PCOS: n = 6).

# 5.4 Discussion

### 5.4.1 Do myotubes from women with PCOS display impaired exerciseinduced signal transduction in response to EPS?

For this study, we used EPS as a model of *in vitro* exercise combined with exposure to the TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 and AMH, to understand if myotubes from women with PCOS display a similar pattern in exercise signal transduction to myotubes from healthy women. Furthermore, we wished to determine if TGF-beta ligands influenced these responses, which have been associated with the pathology of PCOS and linked to a reduction in the metabolic benefits of exercise. Our data provide further preliminary evidence of differences in skeletal muscle adaptive responses to exercise; however, whether these findings translate *in vivo* remains to be determined.

#### 5.4.1.1 Stress kinase

. Exercise has been shown to cause an acute increase in the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathway in skeletal muscle (Bartlett et al., 2012; Coffey et al., 2006; Petersen et al., 2012). Interestingly, phosphorylation of this pathway via JNK, p38MAPK and NF- $\kappa$ B has been associated with greater post-exercise insulin sensitivity (Parker et al., 2016). Activation of the MAPK pathway has been linked to IL6 expression and GLUT4 translocation (Nedachi et al., 2008; Whitham et al., 2012). Indeed, the inhibition of p38 MAPK leads to a decrease in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Sweeney et al., 1999). In our study, we observed an increased phosphorylation of p38MAPK following EPS in myotubes from control women, but this effect appeared to be absent in the myotubes from women with PCOS. Although we have not assessed glucose uptake in these cells after EPS, nor expression of IL6 and GLUT4 translocation, it could be suggested that the lack of phosphorylation of P38MAPK in myotubes from women with PCOS may result in attenuation of the metabolic benefits of an exercise stimulus. However, others have shown that activation of p38MAPK during in vitro contraction of rat soleus muscle was not required to improve post-contraction insulin sensitivity (Geiger et al., 2005). The role of p38 MAPK in regulating post-exercise glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity is still under debate. While it would appear to play a part, further investigations are needed to elucidate its role and that of other signalling pathways that may be involved.

### 5.4.1.2 Transcription factors

We observed an increase in the activation of CREB following EPS in the control myotubes, while this effect appeared to be absent in the PCOS myotubes. CREB has been shown to act as a regulator of myogenic and mitochondrial gene expression, influencing structural and metabolic adaptions to exercise (Bruno et al., 2014; Catoire et al., 2012). Similarly, the phosphorylation of CREB has been observed following in vivo high-intensity exercise (Egan et al., 2010; Widegren et al., 1998) and in response to contractile activity (Bruno et al., 2014), supporting our in vitro data in myotubes from healthy individuals. CREB is capable of enhancing the transcription of PGC1 $\alpha$  (Baldelli et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2006) with enhanced transcription likely leading to an increase in mitochondrial biogenesis following exercise (Baar et al., 2002). However, we observed no differences in the expression of PGC1a following EPS in both groups. This may be due to the sample time point, with cells being lysed immediately post EPS. In line with that, it has been shown that PGC1 $\alpha$  mRNA and protein expression is at its highest at 3 hours after exercise (Granata et al., 2017; Little et al., 2011), which would explain our results. To date, only a few studies with EPS have demonstrated increases in PGC1a gene expression in C2C12 (Burch et al., 2010) and human primary myotubes (Hjorth et al., 2015; Lambernd et al., 2012), and only one study has shown protein changes in C2C12 myotubes (Burch et al., 2010).

While there was a difference in expression of NOR1 between groups, EPS with or without the addition of TGF-beta ligands had no effect on the expression of NOR1 and NUR77 in both groups. Nuclear orphan receptors NOR1/NR4A3 and NUR77/NR4A1 have been identified as important regulators of exercise-induced skeletal muscle adaptations (Pearen and Muscat, 2018). However, in human studies, exercise increases the gene but not the protein expression of NOR1 and NUR77. Additionally, the expression of skeletal muscle NOR1 and NUR77 have been shown to been insulin-responsive in healthy individuals but not in those with type 2 diabetes, with exercise training improving this response (Mey et al., 2019).

#### 5.4.1.3 Glucose homeostasis

Muscle contractions require ATP and phosphocreatine (PCr), leading to a reduction in glycogen. This leads to the subsequent activation of AMPK. Previously, EPS has been shown to activate AMPK and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) in myotubes from healthy individuals and with metabolic diseases (Al-bayati et al., 2019; Audrey E Brown et al., 2015; Lambernd et al., 2012; Park et al., 2019). This response often occurs in conjunction with an increase in p38MAPK and ACC post-exercise in vivo (Bartlett et al., 2012; Combes et al., 2015; Gibala et al., 2009). In our study, despite seeing increases in p38 MAPK, there was no increase in AMPK<sub>thr172</sub> following EPS in both groups. It should be noted that myotubes from women with PCOS had a marked reduction in basal AMPK expression when compared with healthy control myotubes. This matches findings of Hansen et al. 2019, who showed lean women with PCOS have a 50% basal reduction in phosphorylation of AMPKthr172 (Hansen et al., 2019). Another component of AMPK signalling is the phosphorylation of ACC, leading to an increase in fatty acid oxidation following acute exercise (Chen et al., 2000; Hoffman et al., 2015). Following EPS in our study, both groups displayed an increase in ACC phosphorylation observed by previous studies. Post-exercise GLUT4 expression has been shown to increase following acute exercise in some, but not all studies (Kraniou et al., 2006; Richter and Hargreaves, 2013) and in the case of EPS no published studies to date have observed increases in GLTU4 protein expression in human primary or C2C12 myotubes (Nikolić et al., 2017). We showed no changes in GLUT4 expression and no differences between groups following EPS. However, EPS has been shown to increase GLUT4 translocation independently of changes in GLUT4 protein expression (Park et al., 2019). Thus, future studies should assess GLUT4 translocation in EPS experiments with myotubes from women with PCOS.

#### 5.4.1.4 Hypertrophy

Following EPS there were no changes in either group for the phosphorylation of  $Akt_{ser473}$  and mTOR<sub>ser2448</sub>. Beyond its role in insulin signalling, the Akt/mTOR pathway is activated during hypertrophy, inhibiting this pathway leading to atrophy (Bodine et al., 2001). However, we did not assess downstream targets of mTOR pathway (p70s6K, 4EBP1, and eIF2 $\alpha$ ). The lack of hypertrophic signalling may be related to the EPS protocol used, we observed an increase in MYH7 and MYH2 gene expression (Unpublished data Moreno-Asso et al.) representative of

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

slow-twitch fibre activation/recruitment suggesting stimulus applied (11.5 V, 2 ms, 1Hz for 6 hours) is more akin to aerobic exercise. However, similar EPS protocol (12 V, 2 ms, 1Hz for 8 hours) is sufficient stimulus to trigger phosphorylation of mTOR and 4E-BP1, with a subsequent increase in myotube diameter 8 hours post EPS (Tarum et al., 2017). These differences may be equated to sex-specific responses, with the majority of their participants being male in comparison to our study, where all participants were females. Sex-specific differences in myotubes have been observed in DNA methylation and differentiation (Davegårdh et al., 2019) and in response to a hypertrophic stimulus such as testosterone (Salehzadeh et al., 2011). Therefore, the lack of hypertrophic signalling in our myotubes may be due to sex-specific response.

5.4.1.5 Do TGF-beta ligands influence the response to *in vitro* exercise in myotubes?

The effects of TGF-beta ligands AMH and TGF-beta 1 on EPS-induced contraction appears to be limited. In previous studies, it has been observed that low dose of TGF-beta 1 (2 ng/ml) can improve contractile function in 3D muscle constructs following electrical stimulation, via altered structure and contractile activity (Weist et al., 2013). However, we were not able to detect other effects of TGF-beta ligands on myotubes during EPS, indicating that TGF-beta ligands did not influence *in vitro* exercise-induced skeletal muscle signalling. This suggests that the effects of TGF-beta ligands observed *in vivo* may stem from different cell types such as fibroblasts or via interactions with environmental factors. Another potential explanation is that the effects of TGF-beta 1 may be more prominent post-exercise during the recovery phase rather than directly influencing contractile responses.

#### 5.4.2 Limitations and Future studies

#### 5.4.2.1 Other in vitro models to mimic exercise: 3D models and optogenetics

Since starting this study, there have been several advances in the *in vitro* models used to mimic *in vivo* exercise. Many are implementing the use of 3D tissue-engineered skeletal muscle from myotubes to create more physiologically representative *in vivo* skeletal muscle allowing for electrical and mechanical stimulation (Turner et al., 2019). This approach would help to

overcome some of the issues we faced in our study; when greater a voltage was applied and cells would detach, and also get a more homogenous stimulation of all myotubes. However, these models can be costly and require large numbers of cells, given that studies utilising biopsies have multiple analysis to conduct, and this may not be a feasible option. Another option utilising similar principles is human skeletal micro-muscles combined with optogenetics, which can be carried out using 96-well plates with elastomeric poles. This model demonstrated capabilities of force generation, hypertrophy and metabolic flux (Afshar et al., 2020; Mills et al., 2019). Future studies should consider utilising these new approaches.

# 5.4.2.2 Contractile properties of human primary myotubes in comparison with C2C12 myotubes

In addition, there has been an increase in the number of studies that have utilised EPS. One key finding is that C2C12 display greater increase in EPS-induced glucose uptake with a greater abundance of key contractile proteins than human primary myotubes (Abdelmoez et al., 2019). Similarly, when comparing human primary myotubes to intact human muscle fibres, it is noted that myotubes have a lack of expression in calcium handling proteins (RyR1, DHPR, SERCA1, SERCA2), which may account for the lack of visible contraction seen during EPS (Nikolić et al., 2017). This may be effective for manipulating the physiological environment to understand how TGF-beta ligands or other drug-targetable pathways influence exercise responses; however, it does not allow to study specific characteristics of the donor. Others have proposed the use of a co-culture model of human primary and C2C12 myotubes to improve contraction inducible responses, e.g. calcium channels activation and myokine secretion (Chen et al., 2019), however, this approach is not appropriated when studying human disorder-associated differences (condition-specific) in a human population.

#### 5.4.2.3 Time course and physiological endpoints

A key limitation of our study is that cells were only harvested at one single time point, immediately post EPS. Others who have employed a time course have shown differential expression of proteins and genes from 60-180mins post EPS (Park et al., 2019; Pattamaprapanont et al., 2016). Having a time course may have revealed additional changes that could occur during the post-exercise recovery phase. This study was part of a series of

Chapter 5: STUDY 2: The Effects of Electrical Pulse Stimulation in Combination with TGF-beta 1 or Anti-Müllerian Hormone on Exercise-induced Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle Myotubes

experiments, and due to constraints in resources, we were unable to assess metabolic responses such as glucose uptake, glycogen synthesis and fatty acid oxidation, which would have informed better about physiological changes. Future studies may wish to assess these outcomes to see if the differences observed in exercise-induced signalling resulted in differences in metabolic parameters and consider a sample collection within a time course to capture all EPSinduced changes.

#### 5.4.2.4 The effects of obesity on contractile function

A potential confounder in our results is the lack of a BMI-matched control group, therefore, our findings should be interpreted with caution. The BMI differences between our groups (PCOS:  $38.4 \pm 5.5$  vs Healthy:  $22.3 \pm 3.0$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) may in part explain the differences observed. It is known that obesity negatively affects skeletal muscle contractile function *in vivo*, due to inflammation, lipid accumulation, altered fibre type distribution, structural remodelling and reduced expression of contractile proteins (Straight et al., 2020; Tallis et al., 2018). It has been demonstrated that myotubes co-cultured with obese visceral adipose tissue display a reduction in the expression of myogenic and contractile proteins, leading to atrophic effects (Pellegrinelli et al., 2015). However, in the absence of the visceral adipose tissue, the obese myotubes did not display this response. In the context of EPS, myotubes from obese donors show blunted contraction-induced responses in insulin signalling and glucose metabolism in comparison to healthy myotubes (Al-bayati et al., 2019; Feng et al., 2015; Park et al., 2019). Future studies investigating the effects of PCOS on contractile responses should include BMI-matched control women and lean women with PCOS. This approach would be more comprehensive and would allow investigators to account for the effects of obesity.

#### 5.4.3 Conclusions

Collectively, we observed limited differences in response to EPS between myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls. The differences we did observe may point towards reduced responsiveness to EPS. At the same time, the effect of TGF-beta ligands on contractile responses was minimal. Follow-up work should focus on replicating these findings with additional target pathways, including an assessment of metabolic function via glucose uptake,

glycogen synthesis and fatty acid oxidation, and assessing temporal responses and utilising new advances in technology such as 3D cultures. These approaches would allow for a better understanding of the physiological implications of altered exercise-induced signalling transduction.

# 5.4.3.1 Key findings

- Myotubes from women with PCOS and healthy controls display minimal differences in exercise-induced signalling transduction.
- TGF-beta ligands, AMH and TGF-beta 1, do not appear to influence the signalling responses in myotubes to the *in vitro* contraction by EPS.
- Myotubes from healthy women had an increase in the EPS-induced phosphorylation of p38MAPK and CREB.

# 6.1 Introduction

It has long been known that women with PCOS, both lean and overweight, have significant peripheral insulin resistance compared to matched controls (Dunaif et al., 1989). A possible explanation was first identified with excessive serine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS (Dunaif et al., 1995). Follow-up work demonstrated a reduction in IRS-1-associated PI3K activity during the initial response to insulin stimulation (Dunaif et al., 2001), although this defect was only apparent in the initial 30 minutes of the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp and was absent at 90 minutes. Dunaif and colleagues' seminal works have served as the catalyst for further investigations, utilising euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamps combined with muscle biopsies. Defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling observed in insulin-resistant women with PCOS have included; IRS-1, ERK1/2 (Corbould et al., 2006; Rajkhowa et al., 2009), Akt and AS160 (Hojlund et al., 2008), atypical protein kinase C (Beeson et al., 2004), glycogen synthase kinase (Glintborg et al., 2008), and mTOR (N. Stepto et al., 2020), all of which could potentially influence GLUT4 translocation and glucose uptake. However, other studies have not been able to identify defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling during euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps despite the given population of overweight and lean women with PCOS having severe insulin resistance (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Hansen et al., 2019). Although there are many subsequent studies exploring the molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in women with PCOS, there is currently a lack of consensus regarding specific defects in insulin signalling and the underlying mechanisms responsible for peripheral insulin resistance in women with PCOS.

A potential mechanism contributing to the development of peripheral insulin resistance may be ECM remodelling and aberrant TGF-beta signalling. It has been observed that individuals who are insulin resistant have increased skeletal muscle collagen I and III, accompanied by a reduction in PI3K-p85 expression and IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation (Berria et al., 2006). Additional human studies show that rapid weight gain or lipid infusion is capable of inducing upregulation of ECM related genes (Richardson et al., 2005; Tam et al., 2014). This excess collagen and stroma deposition may act as a physical barrier for glucose transport and insulin signalling.

Active TGF-beta 1 binds to TGF-beta co-receptors I and II then phosphorylates SMAD 2 and SMAD 3 and forms a complex with SMAD4, which is translocated to the nucleus and upregulates ECM related genes (Derynck and Budi, 2019; Hu et al., 2018; K. K. Kim et al., 2018). This promotes the production of collagen and fibronectin, which are important for tissue repair, although excessive activation of TGF-beta signalling leads to fibrosis (Walton et al., 2017). ECM remodelling in women with PCOS has been shown to occur in the ovaries via TGF-beta signalling and is attributed to reproductive dysfunction (Hatzirodos et al., 2011; Raja-Khan et al., 2014). Similarly, women with PCOS are predisposed to hepatic steatosis and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Petta et al., 2017; Rocha et al., 2017). Preliminary evidence from our group shows an increase in tissue density and profibrotic gene expression profile in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS (Hutchison et al., 2012; N. Stepto et al., 2020). This presents the possibility that PCOS is a profibrotic condition, and that effects observed in ovaries may also extend to other peripheral tissues, such as skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, and impact metabolic function. In line with that, circulating TGF-beta1 levels have been related to adiposity in humans and have been shown to regulate glucose homeostasis in animal models (Alessi et al., 2000; Yadav et al., 2011). Also, TGF-beta ligands and activation of SMAD signalling have been suggested to interact with Akt and mTOR signalling influencing muscle mass and metabolism (Conery et al., 2004; Remy et al., 2004; Trendelenburg et al., 2009; Winbanks et al., 2012), indicating a link between TGF-beta signalling and skeletal muscle metabolic function. However, the role of TGF-beta signalling regulating insulin resistance through the extracellular matrix remodelling in skeletal muscle in PCOS and its contribution to the development of metabolic dysfunction has yet to be established.

#### 6.1.1 Aims and hypothesis

We aimed to assess the peripheral insulin sensitivity and identify insulin signalling defects that have previously been observed in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that women with PCOS would display a reduction in insulin sensitivity in comparison to healthy women who were lean or overweight. Furthermore, we also

hypothesized that the reduction in insulin sensitivity would be accompanied by an increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub>, a negative regulator of insulin signalling and a decrease in the phosphorylation of AKT and AS160, resulting in impaired glucose transport. Additionally, we aimed to determine if TGF-beta signalling is dysregulated and contributes to the development of insulin resistance in women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS would have a higher expression of collagens, which may create a physical barrier to insulin, and/or overexpression of TGF-beta 1 that may act as an inhibitor of insulin signalling.

This study used a cross-sectional study design to compare peripheral insulin sensitivity, skeletal muscle signalling, and other clinical parameters between overweight women with and without PCOS and lean healthy women.

# 6.2 Methods

# 6.2.1 Participants

A total of 45 women took part in this study: 29 overweight women with PCOS (OWPCOS), 6 overweight healthy women (OW con) and 10 lean, healthy women (Lean Con) (See Methodology section 3.1).

### 6.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment

See Methodology section 3.2

### 6.2.3 Muscle Biopsy

Muscle biopsies were obtained before the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps and during the steady-state phase of the clamp, which can be defined as the final 30 minutes (See Methodology section 3.3)

6.2.4 Bloods and pathology analysis

See Methodology section 3.6

### 6.2.5 Western blot analysis

Targets assessed in this study were: TGF-beta 1, TGF-beta 2, TGF-beta receptor 1, Collagen IV, I and III, phospho SMAD3, phospho AKT<sub>ser473</sub>, AKT 2, phospho mTOR<sub>ser2448</sub>, PI3K P85, PI3K P110, AS160<sub>Thr642</sub>, GLUT4, Phospho ACC<sub>ser79</sub>, Phospho AMPKα<sub>Thr172</sub>, Phospho ERK1/2<sub>Thr202/Tyr204</sub>, phospho P38MAPK<sub>Thr180/Tyr182</sub>, Phospho FOXO1<sub>ser256</sub> (See Methodology section 3.12)

# 6.2.6 Statistical analysis

Clinical characteristics and basal expression of TGF-beta related proteins were analysed using a one-way ANOVA. In cases where clinical characteristics were only available for two groups, unpaired samples t-test was used to detect differences. Pearson correlation coefficient was used to examine the relationship between TGF-beta signalling and glucose-infusion rate. Basal to insulin-stimulated changes in protein expression and phosphorylation were assessed using a mixed-effects model (3 groups and 2-time points). Significant effects of interaction (group x time), Time (Basal vs insulin-stimulated) and group (Lean Con vs OW Con vs OW PCOS). When significant effects were observed, Sidak posthoc test was used to identify differences. The distribution of the data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Skewed data were logtransformed and using log2. Data in text for insulin sensitivity and cardiorespiratory fitness were reported as follows: mean difference  $\pm$  SD 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value. Data in text for basal expression of TGF-beta related proteins is presented as mean difference percentage  $\pm$ SD 95% CI [lower, upper], P value. Data in text for insulin signalling proteins are presented as percentage of fold-change from basal  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value. (Additional details in Methodology section 3.13).

# 6.3 Results

6.3.1 Clinical Characteristics

Overall clinical profiles between groups outlined in Table 6.

#### Table 6. Clinical characteristics of women with PCOS, overweight controls and lean healthy controls.

	Lean	Overweight	Overweight			
	Controls	Controls	PCOS			
General						
No. of participants	10	6	29			
Age (years)	$26\pm 6$	$30\pm7$	$32\pm 6$			
Height (cm)	$170 \pm 1$	$160 \pm 1$	$164 \pm 1$			
Phenotype						
Α	-	-	9			
В	-	-	4			
С	-	-	4			
D	-	-	8			
				P-value	P-value	<b>P-value</b>

Body composition	OW con	OW	OW			
				VS	PCOS	PCOS
				Lean	VS	VS
				con	Lean con	OWcon
Weight (kg)	$66.4 \pm 12.3$	$79.7\pm13.3$	$99.1\pm23.4$	0.49	< 0.001	0.11
BMI (kg m-2)	$22.9\pm3.0$	$31.3\pm3.2$	$36.8\pm8.2$	0.02	< 0.001	0.23
Lean mass (%)	$67 \pm 4$	$52\pm3$	$49\pm 6$	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.58
Fat mass (%)	$30\pm5$	$46\pm3$	$47 \pm 6$	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.98
Glucose Homeostasis						
Fasting glucose (mM)	$4.4\pm0.4$	$4.4\pm0.4$	$4.9\pm0.5$	0.99	0.01	0.04
Fasting insulin (uIU/mL)	$9.2 \pm 2.5$	-	$17.8\pm6.1$	n/a	0.006	n/a
HOMA-IR	$1.8\pm0.6$	-	$3.8 \pm 1.7$	n/a	0.001	n/a
HbA1c (%)	$5.1 \pm 0.2$	$5.1 \pm 0.2$	$5.2 \pm 0.2$	ns	ns	ns
Insulin Sensitivity						
GIR (mg/lbmkg/min)	$15.5 \pm 4.7$	$4.8 \pm 1.0$	$7.1 \pm 3.1$	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.37
Hormonal status						
Testosterone total (nmol/L)	$1.0 \pm 0.4$	$1.15\pm0.6$	$1.6 \pm 0.6$	0.98	0.05	0.26
Testosterone free (pool/L)	$13.3 \pm 5.3$	$19.05 \pm 11.9$	$34.6 \pm 15.6$	0.79	< 0.001	0.04
SHBG (nmol/L)	$65.5 \pm 30.5$	$50.81 \pm 26.6$	$32.2 \pm 18.0$	0.52	0.001	0.22
Dihydrotestosterone (nmol/L)	$0.4 \pm 0.2$	$0.6 \pm 0.2$	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	0.25	0.10	0.001
Androstenedione (nmol/L)	$3.5 \pm 1.0$	$3.3 \pm 1.5$	$4.8 \pm 1.4$	0.97	0.04	0.04
Estradiol (pmol/L)	$216.5\pm208.5$	$277.5\pm258.9$	$261.5 \pm 225.6$	ns	ns	ns
AMH (pmol/L)	$88.1 \pm 40.5$	-	$57.1 \pm 25.3$	n/a	0.01	n/a
Lipids						
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	$4.1 \pm 0.7$	$4.4 \pm 1.0$	$4.8\pm0.8$	0.85	0.04	0.50
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	$0.7 \pm 0.1$	$1.2 \pm 0.4$	$1.3 \pm 0.6$	0.15	0.007	0.96
HDL (mmol/L)	$1.6 \pm 0.3$	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	$1.4 \pm 0.3$	ns	ns	ns
LDL (mmol/L)	$2.1 \pm 0.6$	$2.5\pm0.9$	$2.9\pm0.8$	0.64	0.02	0.66
LDL:HDL ratio	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.9\pm0.6$	$2.2 \pm 0.7$	0.26	0.006	0.81
Liver function						
AST (IU/L)	$20.8\pm5.3$	$19.0\pm5.2$	$24.8\pm11.5$	ns	ns	ns
ALT (IU/L)	$18.9\pm10.6$	$18.3\pm7.8$	$35.0\pm26.1$	ns	ns	ns

Data reported as mean and SD. AST: aspartate aminotransferase ALT: alanine aminotransferase. HOMA-IR: fasting insulin (mU/L)\*fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L)/22.5.Between group analysis performed using one-way ANOVA. ns: not significant as determined by one-way ANOVA. n/a; not measured. ns; not significant.

# 6.3.1.1 Body Composition

Overweight women with PCOS display greater body weight, BMI, fat mass and a lower lean mass compared to lean controls. The body composition profile was similar between overweight women with PCOS and overweight controls (**Table 6**).

# 6.3.1.2 Glucose homeostasis

Overweight women with PCOS have higher levels of fasting blood glucose, insulin, and HOMA-IR than lean and overweight controls. There were no differences in HBA1c between groups (Table 6).

# 6.3.1.3 Hormonal status

Overweight women with PCOS have higher levels of free and total testosterone, androstenedione, and lower levels of serum AMH and SHBG, compared to lean women without PCOS. Compared to overweight controls, women with PCOS have higher levels of free testosterone and androstenedione, with lower levels of dihydrotestosterone. There were no differences in estradiol between groups (Table 6).

# 6.3.1.4 Lipids

Overweight women with PCOS have higher levels of cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL and LDL: HDL ratio compared to lean controls. The lipid profile was similar between overweight women with PCOS and overweight controls (**Table 6**).

### 6.3.1.5 Liver Function

No apparent differences in liver function as measured by aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase were observed between groups (Table 6).

### 6.3.2 Insulin sensitivity

Significant differences between groups in insulin sensitivity as determined by the euglycemic– hyperinsulinemic clamp, calculated as per Glucose infusion rate (GIR) (P < 0.001). Lean controls were more insulin sensitive than both overweight controls (mean difference GIR  $\pm$ SD: 10.66  $\pm$  3.60, 95% CI [6.29,15.02] P < 0.001) and overweight women with PCOS (mean difference GIR  $\pm$  SD: 8.36  $\pm$  1.57, 95% CI [5.20,11.52], P < 0.001). There were no significant differences in insulin resistance between overweight controls and overweight women with PCOS (P = 0.37). Women with PCOS were 94% less insulin sensitive than lean, healthy control women (**Table 6**).

6.3.3 TGF-Beta signalling

# 6.3.3.1 TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 2

There were no detectable differences between groups for the expression of TGF-beta 1 (P = 0.10) (Figure 20A). Overall, there were significant differences between groups for the expression of TGF-beta 2 (P = 0.02). Lean controls had greater expression of TGF-beta 2 than overweight women with PCOS (mean difference percentage  $\pm$  SD: 28  $\pm$  27, 95% CI [2,51], P < 0.0001) (Figure 20B).

6.3.3.2 TGF-beta Receptor 1 and TGF-beta Receptor 2

Overall, there were significant differences between groups for the expression of TGF-beta receptor 1 (P < 0.001). Overweight controls had greater expression of TGF-beta receptor 1 than lean controls (mean difference percentage  $\pm$  SD: 47  $\pm$  22, 95% CI [4,56], P = 0.02) and overweight women with PCOS (mean difference percentage  $\pm$  SD: 53  $\pm$  24, 95% CI [42,125], P < 0.001) (Figure 20C). The expression of TGF-beta receptor 2 could not be detected.

### 6.3.3.3 Collagen IV, I and III

There were no detectable differences between groups for the expression of Collagen IV, I or III (P > 0.50) (Figure 20D,20E,20F).



Figure 20. Basal expression of TGF-beta ligands, receptors and collagen IV, I and III.

TGF-beta 1 expression B) TGF-beta 2 expression C) TGF-beta receptor 1 D) Collagen IV E) Collagen I F) Collagen III. Representative blots for protein expression of TGF-beta signalling and collagen IV from muscle samples obtained under resting conditions for 2 participants per group. \*signifies statistically significant difference between groups. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. (Lean con: n = 9, OW con: n = 6, OW PCOS: n = 25). Data analysed using one-way ANOVA and sidak posthoc.

#### 6.3.3.4 SMAD3

The phosphorylation of SMAD 3 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.07; Time effect, P = 0.85; Interaction effect, P = 0.62). (Figure 21).



Figure 21. SMAD3 phosphorylation at baseline and during insulin stimulation

Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. (Lean con: n = 9, OW con: n = 6, OW PCOS: n = 13). Data analysed using mixed-effects modelling and sidak post-hoc.

# 6.3.3.5 Relationship between TGF-beta signalling, clinical measures and insulin sensitivity

~ .

There was no relationship between skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling and insulin sensitivity (Figure 26.). Serum free testosterone had a significant and negative association with insulin sensitivity (P = 0.001). Skeletal muscle TGBR2 expression had a significant negative association with serum total testosterone (P = 0.01), free testosterone (P = 0.01), and androsterone (P = 0.004). All other associations observed were related to normal/typical physiological responses.

	TGFB1	TGFB2	COL IV	TGFBR2	COLI	COLIII	Total T	Free T	DHT	Andro	E2	AMH	SHBG	GIR		10
TGFB1	1.00	0.34	-0.32	0.06	-0.04	0.21	-0.15	-0.11	0.18	-0.15	-0.20	0.02	0.19	0.18		1.0
TGFB2	0.34	1.00	-0.13	-0.09	0.18	0.16	0.18	0.02	0.30	0.34	0.21	-0.17	0.11			
COL IV	-0.32	-0.13	1.00	-0.08	-0.21	0.08	0.12	0.10	0.03	0.04	0.10	-0.21	-0.20	0.12		
TGFBR2	0.06	-0.09	-0.08	1.00	-0.17	-0.02	-0.38	-0.39	0.28	-0.45	0.07	0.05	0.28	0.07		0.5
COL I	-0.04	0.18	-0.21	-0.17	1.00	-0.20	-0.18	-0.07	-0.23		-0.04	-0.39	-0.11	-0.22		
COLIII	0.21	0.16	0.08	-0.02	-0.20	1.00	0.18	0.16	0.20	0.15	0.05	0.20	-0.02	0.16		
Total T	-0.15	0.18	0.12	-0.38	-0.18	0.18	1.00	0.75	0.27	0.82	0.26	0.01	-0.10	-0.18		0
Free T	-0.11	0.02	0.10	-0.39	-0.07	0.16	0.75	1.00	-0.13	0.67	-0.02	-0.16	-0.64	-0.49		0
DHT	0.18	0.30	0.03	0.28	-0.23	0.20	0.27	-0.13	1.00	0.14	0.19	0.25	0.50	0.13		
Andro	-0.15	0.34	0.04	-0.45		0.15	0.82	0.67	0.14	1.00	0.20	-0.17	-0.24	-0.13		
E2	-0.20	0.21	0.10	0.07	-0.04	0.05	0.26	-0.02	0.19	0.20	1.00	-0.08	0.16	0.04		-0.5
АМН	0.02	-0.17	-0.21	0.05	-0.39	0.20	0.01	-0.16	0.25	-0.17	-0.08	1.00	0.47	0.27		
SHBG	0.19	0.11	-0.20	0.28	-0.11	-0.02	-0.10	-0.64	0.50	-0.24	0.16	0.47	1.00	0.45		
GIR	0.18		0.12	0.07	-0.22	0.16	-0.18	-0.49	0.13	-0.13	0.04	0.27	0.45	1.00		-1.0

Figure 22. Correlation matrix for skeletal muscle TGF-beta Ligands, clinical measures and insulin sensitivity.

Pearson correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between variables (n = 40, all groups combined). Correlational matrix showing Pearson correlation coefficient r values. The correlation matrix heat maps demonstrate significant positive (dark blue) and negative (dark red) relationships between variables.

# 6.3.4 Insulin Signalling

#### 6.3.4.1 Insulin receptor substrate 1

The phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.54; Time effect, P = 0.24; Interaction effect, P = 0.71) (Figure 23A).

#### 6.3.4.2 AKT

The phosphorylation of Akt<sub>ser473</sub> was different between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.69; time effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.24). There was a significant increase in phosphorylation of Akt<sub>ser473</sub> following insulin stimulation in the lean controls (relative change± SD: 543 ± 346%, 95% CI[317,769], P = 0.003) and OW PCOS(relative change ± SD: 389 ± 382%, 95% CI[181,596], P < 0.001), but not in the OW Con group (relative change ± SD: 129 ± 186%, 95% CI[-20,278], P = 0.70) (Figure 23B). The expression of AKT2 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.19; Time effect, P = 0.12; Interaction effect, P = 0.39) (Figure 23C).

#### 6.3.4.3 MTOR

The phosphorylation of mTOR was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.51; Time effect, P = 0.26; Interaction effect, P = 0.60) (Figure 23D.).

#### 6.3.4.4 PI3K

The expression of PI3K p85 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.76; Time effect, P = 0.80; Interaction effect, P = 0.04). There was a significant interaction effect but post-hoc analysis did not identify any differences (P > 0.20) (Figure 23E) The expression of PI3K p110 was different between basal and insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.80; Time effect, P = 0.006; Interaction effect, P = 0.11) There

was a significant decrease in the expression of PI3K p110 following insulin stimulation in the lean control group only (relative change  $\pm$  SD: -27  $\pm$  58%, 95% CI[-65,11],P = 0.01) (Figure 23F).



Figure 23. Insulin signalling proteins at baseline and during insulin-stimulation.

A) phosphorylation of IRS-1ser312 B) phosphorylation of AKTser473 C) Expression of AKT2 D) phosphorylation of mTORser2448 E) Expression of PI3K p85 F) Expression of PI3K p110. Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. \*represents significant differences between basal and insulin stimulation. (Lean con: n = 9, OW con: n = 6, OW PCOS: n = 13). Data analysed using mixed-effects modelling and sidak posthoc test.

The phosphorylation of AS160/TBC1D4 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.09; Time effect, P = 0.06; Interaction effect, P = 0.99) (Figure 24A).

#### 6.3.4.6 GLUT4

The expression of GLUT4 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.99; Time effect, P = 0.53; Interaction effect, P = 0.58) (Figure 24B).

#### 6.3.4.7 AMPK signalling

The phosphorylation of ACC<sub>ser79</sub> was decreased follow insulin stimulation across all groups (Group effect, P = 0.20; Time effect, P = 0.01; Interaction effect, P = 0.81). Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.26) (Figure 24C). The phosphorylation of AMPKalpha<sub>Thr172</sub> was different between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.01; Time effect, P = 0.58; Interaction effect, P = 0.13). Overweight controls had a higher basal expression compared to lean controls (mean difference ± SD (a.u.): 1.35 ± 0.44, 95%CI [1.09,1.61], P = 0.004) and overweight women with PCOS (mean difference ± SD (a.u.): 1.32 ± 0.38, 95%CI [1.08,1.57], P = 0.004) (Figure 24D).



Figure 24. GLUT4 and AMPK Signalling at baseline and during insulin stimulation.

A) Phosphorylation of AS160/TBC1D4 Thr642 B) GLUT4 Expression C) Phosphorylation of ACC ser79 D) Phosphorylation of AMPKalpha Thr172. Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. \*represents significant differences between groups under basal conditions. For AS160, Acc, and GLUT4: (Lean con: n = 9, OW con: n = 6, OW PCOS: n = 13) For AMPK (Lean con: n = 6, OW con: n = 4, OW PCOS: n = 7). Data analysed using mixed effects modelling and sidak post-hoc.

#### 6.3.4.8 Stress kinases

The phosphorylation of ERK1/2 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.41; Time effect, P = 0.10; Interaction effect, P = 0.25) (Figure 22A.) The phosphorylation of p38 MAPK was different between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.01; Time effect, P = 0.59; Interaction effect, P = 0.13) (Figure 25A). The basal and insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of p38 MAPK was significantly higher in overweight women with PCOS compared to Lean controls (Basal: mean difference  $\pm$  SD (a.u.):  $11.92 \pm 8.40$ , 95%CI [9.16,14.77], P < 0.001, insulin-stimulated: mean difference  $\pm$  SD (a.u.):  $9.63 \pm 4.24$ , 95%CI [6.79,12.47], P = 0.006) Following insulin stimulation phosphorylation of p38 MAPK was significantly higher in women with PCOS compared to overweight controls (insulin-stimulated: mean difference  $\pm$  SD (a.u.):  $9.63 \pm 4.24$ , 95%CI [6.79,12.47], P = 0.006) Following insulin stimulation phosphorylation of p38 MAPK was significantly higher in women with PCOS compared to overweight controls (insulin-stimulated: mean difference  $\pm$  SD (a.u.):  $9.93 \pm 4.51$ , 95%CI [6.99,12.88], P = 0.01) (Figure 25B.).

#### 6.3.4.9 FOXO1

The phosphorylation of FOXO1 was similar between groups at baseline and during insulin stimulation (Group effect, P = 0.71; Time effect, P = 0.55; Interaction effect, P = 0.003), a significant interaction was detected, post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.17) (Figure 25C.).



Figure 25. Stress Kinase and FOXO1

A) Phosphorlyation of ERK1/2 Thr202/Tyr 204) B) Phosphorlyation of p38 MAPK Thr180/Tyr182 C) Phosphorlyation of FOXO1 ser256. Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. \*represents significant differences between groups. For ERK1/2 and FOXO1: (Lean con: n = 9, OW con: n = 6, OW PCOS: n = 13). For P38MAPK: (Lean con: n = 6, OW con: n = 4, OW PCOS: n = 8). Data analysed using mixed effects modelling and sidak post-hoc test.

# 6.4 Discussion

# 6.4.1 Clinical characteristics and insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS and without PCOS

The clinical profile of women with PCOS and controls outlined in **Table 6** may help to explain the underlying insulin resistance observed. In our study, overweight women with PCOS had elevated fasting insulin, glucose and HOMA-IR compared to lean controls, with no differences in HBA1c. Coupled with metabolic impairments in women with PCOS, there was also a marked reduction in lean mass and an increase in fat mass, which was not observed when compared to overweight healthy controls. It has long been known that body composition influences glucose metabolism with a positive relationship between insulin sensitivity and percentage of skeletal muscle mass and a negative relationship with percentage of fat mass (Yki Jarvinen and Koivisto, 1983). In addition, skeletal muscle is the primary site of postprandial and insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (DeFronzo and Tripathy, 2009). This at least partly accounts for the reduction in insulin sensitivity in overweight women with and without PCOS.

Insulin resistance is known to be highly prevalent in women with PCOS and can occur independently of obesity (Stepto et al., 2013; Tosi et al., 2017). Our data show that overweight controls and overweight women with PCOS have a comparable reduction in insulin sensitivity when compared to lean controls. Caution is required in the interpretation of these results, given that we had only six overweight controls. Obesity presents as a large confounding factor in understanding insulin resistance in women with PCOS, and it has been demonstrated that women with PCOS have a 27% reduction in insulin sensitivity as measured by the euglycemic–hyperinsulinemic clamp, compared to matched controls (Cassar et al., 2016b). Obesity itself worsens the reduction in insulin sensitivity by ~15% and to a greater extent in women with PCOS (Cassar et al., 2016b). A limitation of our work is the lack of inclusion of a group with lean women with PCOS, which would help separate the effects of obesity and PCOS. Although the inclusion of that group was initially planned, this population has been challenging to recruit given the lower prevalence.

A distinguishing feature of the overweight women with PCOS was an increase in free testosterone (bioactive form) when compared to both healthy and overweight controls. The link between excess androgen production and insulin resistance in women with PCOS is poorly understood. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia can increase androgen production via decreased SHBG in the liver, causing an increase in bioactive free testosterone (Wallace et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2019). Similarly, in our study women with PCOS had a significant reduction in SHBG compared to lean controls with no difference with overweight controls. This aligns with the lack of differences observed in insulin resistance between both overweight groups. Although SHBG levels were similar, only women with PCOS had elevated free testosterone. This highlights that the elevation in free testosterone may result from other factors beyond SHBG, such as the presence of elevated levels of luteinizing hormone (LH), which stimulates androgen production from theca cells in PCOS ovaries (Rosenfield et al., 2016). The effects of androgens on skeletal muscle have not been directly assessed in women with PCOS. However, it is known that hyperandrogenism leads to preferential storage of intra-abdominal fat and increases the number of subcutaneous adipocytes (Dumesic et al., 2016). This may promote ectopic fat accumulation leading to metabolic dysfunction and insulin resistance (Dumesic et al., 2019). This provides a mechanism by which hyperandrogenism may indirectly influence skeletal muscle insulin resistance, which supports the hypothesis previously proposed by Corbould (Corbould, 2008). However, the role of hyperandrogenism may account for some but not all cases of insulin resistance in women with PCOS, as not all women with PCOS have hyperandrogenism.

Although AMH levels have been shown to be positively correlated with HOMA-IR in all phenotypes of PCOS (Wiweko 2018), our findings indicate that there is no link between serum AMH and insulin resistance. Instead, there is a more close relationship between testosterone and reproductive dysfunction (Cassar et al., 2014). Serum AMH has been previously associated with irregular menstrual cycles and the severity of PCOS (Abbara et al., 2019). In our study, cohort overweight women with PCOS displayed lower levels of serum AMH compared to lean women (PCOS:  $57.1 \pm 25.3$ , Lean control:  $88.1 \pm 40.5$  (pmol/L)). This unexpected finding may be a result of biological variability, considerably change over the lifespan and assay selection (Bungum et al., 2018; Tremellen and Zander-Fox, 2015). This presents a challenge in a clinical context where often a single measurement is obtained and questions the validity of AMH in the diagnosis of PCOS. It is clear that AMH plays a role in the reproductive function of PCOS,

and more research is required to validate the assays in a variety of populations before being incorporated into clinical testing for PCOS (Teede et al., 2019).

We reported that women with PCOS had elevated blood lipids, cholesterol, triglycerides and LDL compared to lean healthy controls but were similar to overweight controls. This highlights the contribution of obesity rather than PCOS. It has been reported that women with PCOS have higher rates of hepatic steatosis and non-acholic fatty liver disease (Petta et al., 2017; Rocha et al., 2017). However, in the case of our study, there were no differences in circulating biomarkers of liver function; AST and ALT. This goes against our hypothesis of PCOS being a profibrotic condition.

6.4.2 Does TGF-beta signalling contribute to insulin resistance in women with PCOS?

We aimed to determine if TGF-beta signalling could be a potential mechanism for the development of insulin resistance in women with PCOS. Contrary to our initial hypothesis based upon the findings from previous studies (Hutchison et al., 2012; N. Stepto et al., 2020), women with PCOS did not appear to present with aberrant TGF-beta signalling or increased accumulation of collagen I, III, IV in the skeletal muscle (Figure 20). The only identifiable difference was a reduction in TGF-beta 2 expression in skeletal muscle from women with PCOS compared to lean control women (Figure 20B.) Aberrant TGF-beta signalling can occur via an increase in the activation of SMAD3. We observed no differences in SMAD3 phosphorylation at baseline and during insulin stimulation. Furthermore, we have observed no differences in gene expression of SMADs, collagens or ECM enzymes between women with PCOS and lean controls (unpublished data Moreno-Asso et al.). There is a good agreement between increases in gene expression and protein expression of collagens and other ECM proteins (Makhnovskii et al., 2020). Together these findings suggest that skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling is not dysregulated and was not related to skeletal muscle insulin resistance in overweight women with PCOS.

In our study, women with PCOS had a significant reduction in skeletal muscle TGF-beta 2 expression compared to healthy lean controls (Figure 20B). TGF-beta 2 has been shown to act as an adipokine and increase glucose uptake in C2C12 myotubes (Takahashi et al., 2019). This
Chapter 6: STUDY 3: Cross-sectional Analysis of Insulin Sensitivity, Insulin Signalling and TGF-beta Signalling in Women with and Without PCOS

may point to the role of TGF-beta ligands in regulating insulin sensitivity. Pre-clinical models have demonstrated that other TGF-beta ligands such as follistatin and myostatin are capable of regulating metabolic homeostasis (Eilers et al., 2020; Han et al., 2019). The regulation of TGF-beta ligands and signalling appears to be complex, given their role in multiple processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, tissue remodelling, and immune function (Xu et al., 2018). Their function is dependent on the physiological environment, and for instance, under conditions of high glucose or ROS, TGF-beta1 exerts profibrotic effects (Abrigo et al., 2016; Li et al., 2003). Preliminary evidence from this study and **Study 1** shows that TGF-beta ligands are capable of influencing metabolism; however, these effects may occur independently of the development of tissue fibrosis.

# 6.4.3 Skeletal muscle insulin signalling and insulin resistance in women with PCOS

We observed an increase in phosphorylation of p38MAPK at baseline in women with PCOS compared to lean healthy controls (Figure 25B). An increase in the basal phosphorylation of p38MAPK has been shown in the skeletal muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes, which may be linked to hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia (Koistinen et al., 2003). Also increased p38MAPK activity has been related to oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) and an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines (Audrey E. Brown et al., 2015; Diamond-Stanic et al., 2011). Measures specific to reactive oxygen species and inflammation were beyond the scope of the current study but may present an opportunity worthy of further investigation. In the context of PCOS, ROS has been linked to insulin resistance (González et al., 2006a, 2006b).

Moreover, skeletal muscle MAPK signalling has been found to be dysregulated in PCOS with the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 being elevated under basal (Ciaraldi et al., 2013) and insulin stimulation conditions (Corbould et al., 2006; Rajkhowa et al., 2009). These defects in mitogenic signalling have been attributed to an increase in phosphorylation of inhibitory IRS-1serine. However, in our study we observed no differences in basal or insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub> and ERK1/2 (**Figure 23A and 25A**). In women with PCOS with an inflammatory profile in plasma cytokines and in skeletal muscle signalling, an acute bout of exercise has been shown to reduce these effects (Dantas et al., 2019), suggesting that this is an acquired pathology rather than an intrinsic defect. Despite elevated p38MAPK phosphorylation

in our study, we have seen no differences in insulin signalling. Future studies should explore other targets that might be affected by excessive p38MAPK phosphorylation.

Our study aimed to replicate previous findings demonstrating whether or not insulin resistance could be attributed to defects in the expression or phosphorylation of insulin signalling cascade (Diamanti-Kandarakis and Dunaif, 2012; Stepto et al., 2019a). We did not detect any defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling in biopsies obtained during the steady-state phase of by the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp compared to lean and overweight women. In particular, the insulin-stimulated phosphorlyation of Aktser473 during the clamp was similar between overweight women with PCOS and lean controls (Figure 23B), despite significantly lower GIR in the women with PCOS. In line with our results, other studies have observed no specific defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling in overweight and lean women with PCOS during insulin stimulation (Ciaraldi et al., 2009; Hansen et al., 2019). In these studies, the underlying insulin resistance either could not be explained by the data collected (Ciaraldi et al., 2009) or was attributed to downregulation of AMPK and ACC phosphorylation, with increased skeletal muscle lipids (Hansen et al., 2019). Again, these findings are contrary to ours, where we see no differences in the phosphorylation AMPK and ACC (Figure 24C and 24D). Comparably, a reduction of insulin sensitivity via lipid infusion occurs without any changes in insulin signalling (Dubé et al., 2014; Høeg et al., 2011). This may indicate that changes in mitochondrial function and fatty acid oxidation may be responsible for metabolic dysfunction observed in our study. Together, the data from our study and previous studies suggest that insulin resistance in women with PCOS may result from proinflammatory factors and excessive ROS. This suggests that insulin resistance in women with PCOS is not a direct result of defects in insulin signalling. It is important to take into account that there are multiple mechanisms for the development of insulin resistance. In particular, due to the heterogeneity of PCOS, there may not be a single factor or specific defect that is responsible.

#### 6.4.4 Limitations and future directions

This study is not without limitation. Firstly, the sample size was not the same across groups, with the number of lean and overweight control women being lower than the numbers of women in the PCOS group. Furthermore, given the heterogeneity of PCOS, greater numbers across all phenotypes are needed to better characterize factors contributing to peripheral insulin

Chapter 6: STUDY 3: Cross-sectional Analysis of Insulin Sensitivity, Insulin Signalling and TGF-beta Signalling in Women with and Without PCOS

resistance in each metabolic profile and identify phenotype-specific signalling defects. As the data presented here is part of an ongoing trial, a greater number of participants will complete the study. It may have a better representation of matched controls and different PCOS phenotypes. Secondly, a more comprehensive analysis of TGF-beta signalling is required to determine if it plays a role in skeletal muscle, assessing additional targets, structural remodelling via scans and tissue histology.

Due to the differences in BMI between the overweight women with PCOS and the overweight women in the control group (PCOS: 36.8 vs OW con: 31.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), it is not possible to fully distinguish whether the observations made in this study were due to obesity or PCOS. Although the differences in BMI were not statistically significant, they may be of clinical relevance. Our study, increased phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in skeletal muscle at rest and during the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp was the only defect observed. In the context of the effects of obesity, chronic activation of p38 MAPK by ROS has been shown to induce insulin resistance in obese individuals and those with type 2 diabetes (Bengal et al., 2020; Audrey E. Brown et al., 2015). This would indicate the elevation in p38 MAPK may result from obesity rather than PCOS, highlighting the need for appropriate BMI-matched controls in PCOS

Future studies may wish to utilise a systems biology approach using *omics* platforms to assess transcriptional and translational defects in many metabolic pathways rather than relying solely on a targeted approach. Also, the relationship between adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in insulin resistance in PCOS may offer a new avenue for further research. The search for a unifying cause of insulin resistance in women with PCOS may be futile given the heterogeneity of the condition and confounding factors such as obesity. Therefore, future studies should focus on investigating phenotype-specific defects.

#### 6.4.5 Conclusions

In conclusion, peripheral insulin resistance in overweight women with PCOS was not related to the previously observed defects in insulin signalling and could not be accounted for by TGF-beta signalling and collagen deposition.

#### 6.4.5.1 Key findings

- Main clinical features that separated women with and without PCOS were elevations in free testosterone and androstenedione, a sign of hyperandrogenism. Surprisingly, women with PCOS had lower levels of AMH compared to lean controls.
- Overweight women with PCOS display lower protein expression of skeletal muscle TGF-beta 2 but no differences in SMAD phosphorylation nor collagen I, III, IV were observed.
- Overweight women with PCOS displayed intact skeletal muscle metabolic insulin signalling.
- Women with PCOS have higher basal phosphorylation of p38 MAPK, suggesting that inflammatory factors or reactive oxygen species may be contributing to insulin resistance.

## 7 **STUDY 4:** Effect of High-intensity Interval Training and Moderate-intensity Training on Insulin Sensitivity and TGF-beta Signalling in Overweight Women with PCOS

### 7.1 Introduction

The ovaries of women with PCOS display a marked increase in collagen deposition and fibrotic tissue due to TGF-beta signalling dysregulation (Hatzirodos et al., 2011; Raja-Khan et al., 2014). Given the systemic nature of TGF-beta signalling and activity, it is conceivable that it may play a major role in the aetiology of PCOS affecting other tissues. This may provide the missing link between the metabolic and ovarian abnormalities present in women with PCOS. Previous data from our lab showed that women with PCOS who are overweight appear to have lesser improvements in insulin sensitivity compared to BMI-matched controls (Harrison et al., 2012). This has also been supported by others showing similar responses in lean women with PCOS (Hansen et al., 2020). However, the underlying mechanism of this impairment in the insulin-sensitizing effect of exercise training in women with PCOS is poorly understood.

Preliminary evidence suggests that TGF-beta signalling may be partly responsible for this unfavourable response. Stepto et al., 2020, showed that women with PCOS who are overweight display a gene expression pattern in skeletal muscle that is favourable for the development of fibrosis and ECM remodelling (N. Stepto et al., 2020), with greater gene expression of COL1A2, COL3A1, DCN, TGFBR2 and LOX, following exercise training intervention these genes remain elevated with COL1A2, COL3A1, and LOX expression is increased. This elevation in profibrotic genes (N. Stepto et al., 2020), along with elevated circulating levels of AMH and TGF-beta 1 (Cassar et al., 2014; Tal et al., 2013), and an increase in skeletal muscle tissue density (Hutchison et al., 2012) in women with PCOS, suggests that TGF-beta ligands and ECM remodelling may play a role in modulating insulin sensitivity in response to exercise training.

The interaction between insulin resistance and the ECM is becoming more apparent, although there is still scope for further investigation. Dysregulation of ECM remodelling via elevated TGF-beta ligands and inflammation results in excess collagen deposition, creating a physical barrier that could impair diffusion of glucose and insulin, contributing to insulin resistance (Berria et al., 2006; Richardson et al., 2005; Watts et al., 2013). A recent study identified a link between the ECM and insulin sensitivity following bariatric surgery with and without nine months of exercise training in women with severe obesity (Dantas et al., 2020). They noted that improvements in insulin sensitivity coincided with a reduction in collagen I and III, basal phosphorylation of SMAD2/3 and in the thickness of the basement membrane (Dantas et al., 2020). Moreover, individuals with type 2 diabetes who have an increase in skeletal muscle TGF-beta 1 activity show a lack of improvement in insulin sensitivity following exercise training, linked to a marked reduction of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis; PGC1 $\alpha$ , and TFAM (Böhm et al., 2016). Therefore, the role of aberrant TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS may be responsible for peripheral insulin resistance and the suppression of the insulin sensitizing effects of exercise training.

#### 7.1.1 Aims and hypothesis

We aimed to determine if 12 weeks of high-intensity or moderate-intensity exercise training can improve VO<sub>2peak</sub> and insulin sensitivity in overweight women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that greater exercise intensities would be required to see improvements in VO<sub>2peak</sub> and insulin sensitivity, to overcome the impaired insulin-sensitizing response to exercise observed in women with PCOS. We also aimed to establish if TGF-beta signalling is altered in response to 12 weeks of high-intensity or moderate-intensity exercise training in women with PCOS. It was hypothesized that exercise training would reduce the profibrotic signalling associated to TGF-beta 1 and SMAD3 and increase the expression of the adipokine TGF-beta 2.

### 7.2 Methods

#### 7.2.1 Participants

A total of 25 women with PCOS who were overweight were randomized into the following groups MICT (n = 12/enrolled, n=10/completed) and HIIT (n = 13/enrolled, n=11/completed). Randomisation was completed by an independent statistician using computerised sequence generation at an allocation ratio of 1:1. The randomisation was stratified based upon BMI, with ranges of  $<35 \text{ kg/m}^2$  or  $>35 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . The sample size was estimated a priori using G\*power 3.1.9.2 software (Faul et al., 2007). Calculations were carried based upon data from previous PCOS training studies. Changes of +32.25% in insulin sensitivity (GIR (mg/lbmkg/min) (Hutchison et al., 2012, 2011; Konopka et al., 2015; N. K. Stepto et al., 2020) and of +24% VO<sub>2peak</sub> (ml/kg/min) (Patten et al., 2020) were used as the expected effect size. To detect within-group differences, a total sample size of 26 (13 per group) will be required with a Power of 80% and  $\alpha = 0.05$ . We aimed to recruit an additional 8 participants to account for a 30% drop-out rate. Previous exercise training studies in women with PCOS have used groups sizes of 10-20 (Patten et al., 2020; Stepto et al., 2019b). Prior to baseline testing, physical activity levels were monitored for seven days using Actigraph<sup>TM</sup> accelerometer to determine if participants were meeting the weekly recommended physical activity levels. In the case of our participant's, none were meeting the weekly recommended physical activity levels (data not shown). Only participants that completed testing for the main outcome variables of insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity pre-and post-training intervention were included in the final analysis of this study (See Methodology section 3.1).

#### 7.2.2 Metabolic and body composition assessment

See Methodology section 3.2

#### 7.2.3 Muscle Biopsy

Muscle biopsies were obtained pre-and post-exercise intervention. However, only a subset agreed to pre-and post-exercise training biopsies in each group MICT (n=4) and HIIT (n=9). (See Methodology section 3.3)

7.2.4 Assessment of exercise capacity

See Methodology section 3.4

7.2.5 Exercise training intervention

See Methodology section 3.5

7.2.6 Bloods and pathology analysis

See Methodology section 3.6

7.2.7 Western blot analysis

Targets assessed in this chapter were TGF-beta 1, TGF-beta 2, TGF-Beta Receptor 1, Phospho-SMAD 3, Collagen IV, PGC1α, and GLUT4 (for more details, see Methodology section 3.12).

#### 7.2.8 Statistical analysis

A linear mixed model analysis was used to compare the effectiveness of the exercise interventions for all pre-post measures. Pre-training and post-training changes in protein expression and phosphorylation were assessed using a mixed-effects model (2 groups and 2-time points). Significant effects of interaction (group x time), Time (pre-training vs post-training) and group (MICT vs HIIT). When significant effects were observed, Sidak posthoc test was used to identify differences. The distribution of the data was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data in text for insulin sensitivity and cardiorespiratory fitness were reported as

follows: relative change (%)  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value. Data in text for TGF-beta and metabolic-related proteins are presented as relative change (%)  $\pm$  SD, 95% CI [lower, upper], P-value. (For additional details see methodology section 3.13).

## 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1 Clinical characteristics

The clinical profiles following the 12-week exercise intervention are outlined in Table 7.

Table 7. Clinical characteristics of wor	nen with PCOS b	efore and after th	e 12-week exerci	se intervention.
	Moderate-intensity		High-intensity interval	
	continuous tr	aining (MICT)	training	g(HIII)
General		-		
Number of participants	10		11	
Age (years)	$29 \pm 5$		$35\pm5$	
Height (cm)	$162 \pm 0.1$		$165 \pm 0.1$	
Phenotype				
A	4		4	
В	0		2	
C	2			
D	4		4	
<b>D</b> 1 11	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Body composition	00.0 + 00.0	00.0 + 00.0	064.000	06.0 + 10.6
Weight (kg)	$99.0 \pm 28.3$	$99.9 \pm 28.0$	$96.4 \pm 20.3$	$96.0 \pm 19.6$
Body mass index (kg m-2)	$3/\pm 10$	$38 \pm 10$	$35 \pm 7$	$35 \pm 7$
Lean mass $(\%)$	$48 \pm 5$	$48 \pm 5$	$50 \pm 6$	$51 \pm 6$
Fat mass (%)	$49 \pm 5$	$51 \pm 5^{\circ}$	45 ± /	46 ± /
Glucose homeostasis	10 + 0.5	47 + 0.2	4.0 + 0.4	46+02
Fasting glucose (mmol/l)	$4.9 \pm 0.5$	$4./\pm 0.3$	$4.9 \pm 0.4$	$4.6 \pm 0.3$
Fasting insulin (uIU/mL)	$1/.8 \pm 0.1$	$18.3 \pm 3.8$	$17.8 \pm 10.4$	$16.7 \pm 12.8$
HOMA-IK	$3.7 \pm 1.4$	$3.8 \pm 1.3$	$3.8 \pm 2.4$	$3.7 \pm 3.1$
HDAIC (%)	$5.3 \pm 0.2$	$5.4 \pm 0.2$	$5.1 \pm 0.2$	$5.2 \pm 0.2$
CID (ma/lbmba/min)	$70 \pm 20$	02122	77 + 20	$10.2 \pm 2.2^{8}$
Ungelin consitivity index (ISI)	$7.9 \pm 3.0$	$6.5 \pm 5.5$	$7.7 \pm 3.0$	$10.2 \pm 5.5$ 11.20 + 5.0 <sup>a</sup>
Hormonal status	7. <del>4</del> ± 3.3	$7.0 \pm 3.9$	$0.3 \pm 4.2$	$11.20 \pm 3.0$
Testosterone <sup>total</sup> (nmol/L)	$1.7 \pm 0.6$	$1.3 \pm 0.6$	$1.6 \pm 0.6$	$1.6 \pm 1.0$
Testesteron a <sup>free</sup> (nm a <sup>1</sup> /L)	$1.7 \pm 0.0$	$1.3 \pm 0.0$	$1.0 \pm 0.0$	$1.0 \pm 1.0$
super ( 1/L)	$34.3 \pm 1/.1$	$28.3 \pm 17.7$	$33.4 \pm 14.7$	$28.4 \pm 13.8$
SHBG (nmol/L)	$2/.9 \pm 14.2$	$26.4 \pm 11.6$	$35.9 \pm 22.0$	$38.0 \pm 22.7$
Dinydrotestosterone (nmol/L)	$0.3 \pm 0.1$	$0.2 \pm 0.1$	$0.3 \pm 0.2$	$0.3 \pm 0.2$
Androstenedione ( $\frac{1}{1}$ )	$4.0 \pm 1.9$	$5.0 \pm 1.2$	$5.0 \pm 1.1$	$4.3 \pm 1.9$
Estradiol (pmol/L)	$32/.1 \pm 265.1$	$282.8 \pm 285.3$	$235.9 \pm 207.6$	$235.0 \pm 150.0$
Anti-mullerian hormone (pmol/L)	$49.2 \pm 20.6$	$42.2 \pm 19.4$	$63.4 \pm 25.9$	$6/.4 \pm 46.0$
	50100	50 + 07	4.0 + 0.0	4.0 + 1.0
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	$5.0 \pm 0.8$	$5.0 \pm 0.7$	$4.8 \pm 0.8$	$4.8 \pm 1.0$
high density linematoin (mmal/L)	$1.4 \pm 0.0$ $1.4 \pm 0.2$	$1.7 \pm 0.0$ $1.2 \pm 0.2$	$1.0 \pm 0.4$ 1.5 ± 0.2	$1.0 \pm 0.4$
L our donaity linonrotoin (mmol/L)	$1.4 \pm 0.3$	$1.5 \pm 0.5$	$1.3 \pm 0.3$	$1.3 \pm 0.4$
Low-density inpoprotein (infinol/L)	$3.0 \pm 0.8$ $2.2 \pm 0.7$	$5.0 \pm 0.7$ $2.4 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$3.1 \pm 0.0$ $2.2 \pm 0.6$	$3.0 \pm 0.9$ $2.1 \pm 0.7$
LDL.IIDL Idilo	$2.2 \pm 0.7$	2.4 ± 0.7	$2.2 \pm 0.0$	$2.1 \pm 0.7$
	$20.6 \pm 11.6$	$20.2 \pm 13.5$	$24.0 \pm 13.7$	$20.3 \pm 7.8$
ALT (IU/L)	$33.0 \pm 16.3$	$28.7 \pm 19.3$	$33.0 \pm 29.0$	$23.3 \pm 12.1$

Data are mean and SD. AST: aspartate aminotransferase ALT: alanine aminotransferase Insulin sensitivity index was calculated using the following formula: (Glucose infusion rate/lean body mass)/Steady state insulin)\*100. HOMA-IR: fasting insulin (mU/L)\* fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L)/22.5. <sup>a</sup>denotes significant difference from pre-training. <sup>b</sup>denotes significant differences between groups. Following HIIT: significant improvements in ISI and GIR (P = 0.01, P = 0.02, respectively). Following MICT significant increase in fat mass (P = 0.001), LDL:HDL ratio (P = 0.008) and higher levels of triglycerides following training compared to HIIT group (P = 0.01).

7.3.1.1 Body composition

Following 12 weeks of MICT or HIIT, there were no changes in body weight, BMI or lean mass. Fat mass was slightly increased following MICT (mean change:  $2.30 \pm 1.71\%$  95% CI [0.97,3.62], P = 0.001) (Table 7).

#### 7.3.1.2 Glucose homeostasis

Following 12 weeks of MICT or HIIT, there was no changes in common clinical markers of glucose homeostasis: fasting glucose, fasting insulin, HOMA-IR or HbA1c. Insulin sensitivity index derived from the clamp showed no changes following MICT and increased following HIIT (Table 7).

7.3.1.3 Lipids

Following MICT, triglycerides were elevated compared to the HIIT group (mean difference:  $0.67 \pm 0.70 \text{ mmol/L}$ , 95% CI [0.12,1.22], P = 0.01). MICT also resulted in increase in the LDL:HDL ratio (mean change:  $0.23 \pm 0.21\%$ , 95% CI [0.06,0.17], P = 0.008). While following HIIT there was no changes in lipids (**Table 7**).

#### 7.3.1.4 Liver function

Following 12 weeks of MICT or HIIT, there were no changes in liver function as measured by aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) (Table 7).

#### 7.3.2 Cardiorespiratory fitness

There were no differences between groups at baseline or following training for VO<sub>2peak</sub>. The 12 weeks of exercise training resulted in an increase in VO<sub>2peak</sub> independently of the type of intervention completed. (Group effect P = 0.11; training effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.10). Both MICT and HIIT resulted in similar improvement in VO<sub>2peak</sub>; MICT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 17  $\pm$  8%, 95% CI [12,22], P < 0.001), HIIT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 22  $\pm$  11%, 95% CI [16,29], P < 0.001). (Figure 26A.).

#### 7.3.3 Insulin sensitivity

There were no differences between groups at baseline or following training for the glucose infusion rate. Following 12 weeks of exercise training there was a main effect of training on glucose infusion rate (Group effect P = 0.51; training effect, P = 0.03; Interaction effect, P = 0.11). Post-hoc analysis indicated that HIIT resulted in a significant increase in insulin sensitivity; HIIT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 47  $\pm$  59%, 95% CI [13,82], P = 0.02), MICT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 8  $\pm$  24%, CI [-7,22], P = 0.87) (Figure 26B.).



Figure 26. pre- and post-intervention data for VO<sub>2peak</sub> and Glucose infusion rate.

A) VO<sub>2peak</sub> obtained during maximal graded exercise test pre- and post-12-week exercise intervention. B) Glucose infusion rate (GIR) a measure of insulin sensitivity obtained during euglycemic–hyperinsulinemic clamp. GIR was taken from the steady-state period during the final 30mins of the clamp. \* signifies statistically significant difference from pre-post intervention. Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. (MICT: n = 10, HIIT: n = 11).

7.3.4 TGF-Beta signalling

#### 7.3.4.1 TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 2

The expression of TGF-beta ligands, TGF-beta 1 and 2 were not different between groups and did not change following the 12-week exercise interventions. TGF-beta 1 (Group effect P = 0.58; training effect, P = 0.40; Interaction effect, P = 0.85) (Figure 27A.). TGF-beta 2 (Group effect P = 0.53; training effect, P = 0.47; Interaction effect, P = 0.23) (Figure 27B.).

#### 7.3.4.2 TGF-beta receptor 1 and TGF-beta receptor 2

The expression of TGF-beta receptor 1 was not different between groups at baseline and post training, there was a main effect of training for the expression of TGF-beta receptor 1 (Group effect P = 0.42; training effect, P = 0.01; Interaction effect, P = 0.07). Post hoc analysis identified significant increase following the MICT intervention (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 82  $\pm$  103%, 95% CI [-19,183], P = 0.02) HIIT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 24  $\pm$  29%, 95% CI [5,42], P = 0.62) (Figure 27C.). The expression of TGF-beta receptor 2 could not be detected.

#### 7.3.4.3 SMAD 3

There were no differences between groups at baseline or following training for phosphorylation of SMAD 3. (Group effect P = 0.66; training effect, P = 0.04; Interaction effect, P = 0.96). There was a main effect of training, but Post-hoc analysis identified no differences (P > 0.13) (Figure 27D.).

#### 7.3.4.4 Collagen IV

The expression of collagen IV was not different between groups and was not altered following the 12-week exercise intervention, (Group effect P = 0.96; training effect, P = 0.18; Interaction effect, P = 0.16). (Figure 27E.).



Figure 27.Pre-post intervention TGF-beta signalling protein expression.

Total TGF-beta 1 B) Total TGF-beta 2 C) Total TGF-beta receptor 1 D) SMAD3 Phosphorylation E) Total Collagen IV. \* signifies statistically significant difference from pre-post intervention. Data presented mean  $\pm$  SD. (MICT: n = 4, HIIT: n = 9).

#### 7.3.5 Metabolic protein expression

#### $7.3.5.1 \text{ PGC1}\alpha$

No differences were detected between groups at baseline or post training for PGC1 $\alpha$  expression. There was a main effect for training with an increase in PGC1 $\alpha$  expression in the HIIT group and a decrease in the MICT group. (Group effect P = 0.90; training effect, P = 0.32; Interaction effect, P = 0.02). MICT: (relative change ± SD: -22 ± 36%, 95% CI [-57,13], P = 0.61) HIIT: (relative change ± SD: 36 ± 18%, 95% CI [25, 48], P = 0.01) (Figure 28A).

#### 7.3.5.2 GLUT4

There were no differences detected between groups at baseline or following 12 weeks of exercise training. There was a main effect of training with an increase in GLUT4 expression. (Group effect P = 0.16; training effect, P < 0.001; Interaction effect, P = 0.19). Both MICT and HIIT resulted in similar increases in GLUT4; MICT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 27  $\pm$  16%, 95% CI [11,43], P = 0.001), HIIT (relative change  $\pm$  SD: 20  $\pm$  11%, 95% CI [12,27], P = 0.001) (Figure 28B).



Figure 28. Metabolic protein expression pre-post 12-week training intervention. A) Total PGC1α B) Total GLUT4 \* signifies statistically significant difference from pre-post intervention. Data presented mean ± SD. (MICT: n = 4, HIIT: n = 9).

#### 7.4 Discussion

## 7.4.1 Are women with PCOS resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training?

No changes were observed in common clinical markers of glucose homeostasis: HOMA-IR, fasting glucose and insulin, and HbA1c. HIIT of 75 min per week resulted in improvements in insulin sensitivity by 47% and exercise capacity by 22%, and MICT of 150 min per week resulted in improvements in insulin sensitivity by 8% and exercise capacity by 17%. While both interventions improved cardiometabolic health, this effect seemed to be more pronounced following HIIT. Collective evidence shows similar improvements in insulin sensitivity, 16-45% increase, in women with PCOS following aerobic exercise training interventions (Harrison et al., 2012; Hutchison et al., 2012, 2011; Konopka et al., 2015). Similar findings have been reported in T2DM individuals, who had an improvement in insulin sensitivity of 25-50% following exercise interventions utilising HIIT or MICT (Cassidy et al., 2017; Conn et al., 2014). Our findings build upon previous studies demonstrating that regular aerobic exercise is beneficial for improving insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS, assessed by the goldstandard euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. However, we did not see improvements in commonly used clinical measures such as HbA1c, fasting insulin and glucose, and HOMA-IR. This may indicate that the beneficial effects of exercise on metabolic health may be underestimated or even go undetected when relying on common clinical measures. Our findings are in agreement with a recent meta-analysis from our group (Patten et al., 2020), highlighting that both moderate and vigorous exercise are capable of improving cardiometabolic health outcomes. The results from the meta-analysis also indicated that vigorous exercise might be more beneficial than moderate exercise for improving HOMA-IR, change in HOMA-IR following exercise training of vigorous-intensity: -36% or moderateintensity: -16%).

It has been proposed that women with PCOS have partial resistance to the insulin sensitizing effects of exercise. In line with that, overweight women without PCOS following HIIT showed greater improvements in insulin sensitivity than women with PCOS (23 vs 16%, respectively) (Harrison et al., 2012). Similarly, in lean hyperandrogenic women with PCOS, a 14-week exercise intervention consisting of HIIT and resistance exercise failed to improve insulin-

stimulated glucose uptake, insulin signalling and blood flow (Hansen et al, 2020). This may suggest that the PCOS phenotype, in particular hyperandrogenism, may be influencing the metabolic adaptations to exercise. However, our intervention study only included women with PCOS; therefore, we cannot entirely rule out a partial resistance to insulin sensitizing effects, but this seems unlikely given the substantial improvements that we observed.

Improvements in peripheral insulin sensitivity following HIIT are probably a result of greater depletion skeletal muscle glycogen and recruitment of type II fibres than MICT (Egan et al., 2010; Kristensen et al., 2015; Lee-Young and Canny, 2009). This subsequently leads to greater metabolic adaptations with increases in GLUT4 expression and mitochondrial biogenesis (increase in PGC1 $\alpha$ ) (Baar et al., 2002; Chinsomboon et al., 2009), as observed in our study. Previously, it has been established that increases in PGC1 $\alpha$  expression are related to training intensity, with HIIT being a potent stimulus for increasing PGC1 $\alpha$  and mitochondrial biogenesis (Bishop et al., 2019). This could result in altered substrate utilization and influence whole-body metabolism. While PGC1 $\alpha$  is decreased in individuals with metabolic diseases and can be improved with exercise, a direct link between PGC1 $\alpha$  and improvements in insulin sensitivity has yet to be established in vivo. The improvements in insulin sensitivity following HIIT occurred in conjunction with an increase in PGC1 $\alpha$ , suggesting an increased exerciseinduced mitochondrial function. However, both groups had an increase in GLUT4 abundance, suggesting that this not a limiting factor in insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS. These findings are in line with a previous study indicating that GLUT4 translocation in overweight women with PCOS is comparable to that on overweight controls following an acute moderate treadmill exercise, despite being more insulin resistant (Dantas et al., 2015). Previously, both HIIT and MICT have been shown to increase GLUT4 expression in type I and II fibres, as well as GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane, allowing GLUT4 to be more readily available for fusion with GLUT4 vesicles upon insulin stimulation (Bradley et al., 2015; Richter and Hargreaves, 2013). In the case of our study, the localization of GLUT4 was not assessed, and we can only confirm an increase in GLUT4 expression.

There were large variances in the improvement of insulin sensitivity following HIIT and MICT in our study, with improvements ranging from 3%-163%. Individuals with higher baseline insulin sensitivity displayed lesser improvements following our exercise interventions. This

may be related to the volume of exercise training performed only meeting the minimum recommended guidelines and suggests that individualised/personalized exercise programming are necessary due to the heterogeneity of the condition. It is important not to discount the role of moderate-intensity exercise for women with PCOS. Konopka and colleagues have shown that following 12 weeks of MICT 60 min at 65% of VO<sub>2peak</sub> resulted in a 47% improvement in GIR (insulin sensitivity) (Konopka et al., 2015). When comparing these results to our study, there are notable difference: 5 vs 3 days of training per week, session time 60 vs 50 minutes, and intensity 65% vs 50-60% VO<sub>2peak</sub>. Thus, despite minimal improvements in insulin sensitivity following MICT in our study, there is still a role of MICT in exercise prescription for women with PCOS with greater exercise volume being required. Taken together, women with PCOS do not appear to be resistant to the insulin sensitizing effect of exercise training when the exercise prescribed is of higher intensities or higher volumes.

## 7.4.2 Does exercise training alter skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS?

We aimed to investigate the effects of exercise training on skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling in overweight women with PCOS. This study followed up the findings from Stepto et al., which attributed insulin resistance and attenuated responses to exercise training to aberrant TGF beta signalling (N. Stepto et al., 2020). Based upon our findings, increased insulin sensitivity occurred independently of changes in TGF-beta and ECM related proteins. Following 12 weeks of MICT or HIIT, there were no changes in TGF-beta 1, TGF-beta 2 and collagen IV, with both groups seeing a non-significant increase in the phosphorylation of SMAD3. Following MICT only there was an increase in the expression of TGF-beta receptor 1. The effect of exercise intensity on ECM remodelling has only been explored in a few acute studies few studies, Holm et al. found similar rates of total collagen protein fractional synthesis following low-load and high load unilateral knee extensions (Holm et al., 2010). Together with the findings from our study, these results may indicate that higher exercise intensities are not required for ECM remodelling via collagens deposition and synthesis. It has recently been reported that when bariatric surgery is combined with nine months of exercise training in severely obese women, improvements in insulin sensitivity are linked to reductions in skeletal muscle collagen deposition, capillary basement membrane thickness, and TGF-B1/SMAD3 signalling (Dantas et al., 2020). In the case of our study, the intervention may not have been

long enough (12 weeks compared to 9 months) to induce structural changes in the ECM. This study also points to the beneficial effect of combined aerobic and resistance exercise intervention rather than a single exercise modality.

It has previously been demonstrated that increases in SMAD3 phosphorylation results in suppression of PGC1 $\alpha$  (Tiano et al., 2015), decrease in skeletal muscle glucose uptake (Yadav et al., 2011), and promotes muscle atrophy (Goodman et al., 2013) in animal models and C2C12 mouse myoblasts. In the context of our study, both MICT and HIIT resulted in an increase in SMAD3 phosphorylation with no negative effects observed in muscle mass or metabolism. The lack of SMAD3 signalling has been shown to impair muscle regeneration and decrease TFAM following acute muscle damage in mice (Ge et al., 2012) and to play a role in muscle hypertrophy (Mendias et al., 2016), which may suggest that increased SMAD3 signalling could also have beneficial effects. The role of SMAD3 in muscle physiology is still not fully understood, and any potential negative effects in other conditions/settings may have been mitigated by beneficial effects of exercise such as increases in PGC1 $\alpha$  expression observed following HIIT. The effects and function of TGF-beta signalling may be modulated by other factors such as inflammation and ROS. In our study, MICT increased TGF-beta receptor 1 protein expression but not HIIT, and the reasons for this are not clear. A possible explanation can be ascertained from research focusing on renal fibrosis, whereby increases in PGC1a expression reduced activation of SMAD signalling by reducing TGF-beta receptor 1 expression (Choi et al., 2019). In the MICT group, lack of increase in expression of PGC1a coincided with an increase in TGF-beta receptor 1 expression. However, these findings should be taken with caution due to the small sample size of MICT biopsies (n = 4). In addition, further investigation is needed, given that greater expression of TGF-beta receptor 1 corresponds with increases in TGF-beta activity.

Although the ECM and TGF-beta signalling does not appear to be a limiting factor for insulin sensitizing effects of exercise training in women with PCOS, we cannot fully rule out the role of the ECM in regulating insulin sensitivity in women with PCOS given the complexity of this structure and lack of understanding regarding biological communication with skeletal muscle cells (Gillies and Lieber, 2011). In a recent meta-analysis reviewing the composition of ECM in connective tissue, it was identified by proteomics that the skeletal muscle ECM proteins are predominantly made up of collagen I and III, with other collagens, versican, elastin and

fibronectin accounting for the rest of ECM protein expression (McKee et al., 2019). A similar systemic approach comparing the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS and matched controls may overcome the limitation of assessing individual protein expression. This would allow for a clear assessment of the ECM structure as a whole, and the relative expression of the different components, creating a more accurate method of analysis.

#### 7.4.3 Exercise prescription for women with PCOS

Based on the findings from our study, the current exercise guidelines may not be sufficient for women with PCOS to see improvements in clinical parameters beyond insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity. Our study aligns with a previous observational study, showing that time spent doing vigorous physical activity reduced the odds of metabolic syndrome in women with PCOS by 22% per hour of activity (Greenwood et al., 2016). This effect occurred independently of total activity time and was absent for moderate activity.

Despite the positive effects of both of our exercise interventions, HIIT and MICT, on the peak oxygen consumption and a significant improvement with HIIT on the underlying insulin resistance, there was no beneficial effect of neither of the exercise interventions on body composition, hormonal status or lipids. A recent meta-analysis of exercise intervention studies in women with PCOS showed beneficial effects of exercise on fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, cholesterol and VO<sub>2peak</sub> (Kite et al., 2019). Similar to our study, there was little to no beneficial effects of exercise on androgens and other hormones (Kite et al., 2019). Another meta-analysis in healthy women showed beneficial effects of exercise to decrease circulating sex hormones, in particular when the exercise interventions included high-intensity exercise (Ennour-Idrissi et al., 2015). In particular, resistance exercise in women with PCOS has shown favourable effects on reduction of Free androgen index, testosterone, and AMH (Almenning et al., 2015; Kogure et al., 2018), suggesting a potential for exercise to improve hyperandrogenism and hormonal status of women with PCOS. Based upon our findings showing beneficial effects of aerobic training on cardiometabolic health, together with other strength training studies showing changes on the hormonal profile, a combined intervention may be optimal. Women with PCOS are genetically predisposed to obesity and increased visceral adiposity (Day et al., 2015; Durmus et al., 2017), which may be detrimental for both metabolic and reproductive health. Therefore, exercise can maintain weight loss or mitigate weight gain in women with

PCOS (Barber et al., 2019). In line with our findings, HIIT and MICT resulted in improvements in insulin sensitivity without changing body weight, lean mass or fat mass. This highlights that exercise alone is not effective means to achieve weight loss; however, it can maintain weight and has other health benefits. One of the major barriers to implement exercise interventions in women with PCOS is a lack of time and low motivation and compliance (Blackshaw et al., 2019). One of the strengths of our study was the fact that all exercise training sessions were supervised, which resulted in superior outcomes. Consequently, adherence was greater than 90%. Thus, more studies are required to optimize exercise prescription to achieve these outcomes and assure motivation and compliance.

7.4.3.1 Implementing recommendations from the evidence based-guidelines for women with PCOS

A recent opinion piece outlining the recommendations from evidence-based guidelines for exercise and physical activity in women with PCOS identified key research areas requiring further investigation, which are relevant to the findings of our study (Moran et al., 2020; Stepto et al., 2019b). These included optimizing exercise training regimes and the effect of long-term exercise interventions  $\geq 12$ months. We have demonstrated that a 12-week high-intensity interval exercise training may have a greater beneficial effect on metabolic health compared to 12-week moderate-intensity continuous exercise training, but further studies should replicate these findings and assess sustainability. In addition, research should focus on optimizing regimes to improve different clinical aspects of PCOS (metabolic, hormonal and reproductive health) and phenotype specific-interventions. Given the short duration of our exercise interventions (3months), it may be postulated that longer-term intervention would have resulted in greater improvements in cardiometabolic health and altered hormonal status.

#### 7.4.4 Limitations and future studies

Overall, there are several limitations with our study, in particular, the small sample size (n = 4) for biopsies in the MICT group compared with the HIIT group (n = 9). Comparing groups due to the unequal sample size resulted in a reduction in statistical power and increased the chance of type I errors occurring. In our study, post-intervention biopsies were optional as we did not want this to be a barrier for women completing the exercise intervention and post-testing. Also,

the limited overall sample size may not have been sufficient to detect differences between groups.

In relation to the assessment of ECM and TGF-beta signalling proteins, some targets still have to be analysed such as collagen I and III, key components of intramuscular connective tissue in skeletal muscle (McKee et al., 2019). Following this analysis, we will be able to see if our intervention altered skeletal muscle ECM composition. In addition, we attempted to quantify CTGF (profibrotic regulator) and perlecan (multi-functional heparan sulfate proteoglycan) (Yamashita et al., 2018) via western blot, but no protein was detected.

Given that PCOS is a life-long condition and exercise is recommended as first-line therapy for management, long-term trials are needed to assess sustainability and feasibility of the incorporation of regular exercise as part of everyday life. This would allow for the determination of long-term benefits beyond improving insulin sensitivity, such as reproductive and mental health outcomes. Our study and others across the literature are of a short-term nature with exercise interventions lasting 3 to 4 months. Future studies should aim to run long-term interventions, although it is appreciated this is not without challenges given the personnel and resources required to achieve this. Another consideration for the interpretation of our findings is that our study was lab-based, and all exercise sessions were supervised. It would be useful to see if similar results could be achieved in a community-based study.

#### 7.4.5 Conclusions

We were able to demonstrate that exercise training, both HIIT and MICT, improved insulin sensitivity and VO<sub>2peak</sub>, when interventions were matched for MET.min/week, but only HIIT resulted in significant improvements in insulin sensitivity. Improvements in insulin sensitivity occur independently of skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling/expression and changes in body composition. Neither interventions altered hormonal status, lipids or markers of liver function. Collectively, exercise training, irrespective of the intensity, is an effective lifestyle intervention for improving cardiometabolic health in women with PCOS.

#### 7.4.5.1 Key findings

- Both moderate-intensity continuous training (MICT) and high-intensity interval training (HIIT) similarly improved VO<sub>2peak</sub>, but improvements in insulin sensitivity were greater following high-intensity interval training (HIIT).
- Improvements in insulin sensitivity occurred independently of changes in skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling, collagen deposition or body composition.
- Hormonal status, lipids and liver function were unaffected by 12 weeks of exercise training regardless of exercise intensity.

## 8 General Discussion

#### 8.1 Overall aim

To date, a variety of studies have attempted to understand the mechanisms of insulin resistance in women with PCOS by quantifying insulin signalling in the peripheral tissues and relating it to clinical measures of insulin sensitivity. However, few have attempted to understand if aspects of the pathophysiology of PCOS are contributing factors to these defects and the subsequent insulin resistance. Lifestyle modification is considered first-line therapy for the management of PCOS and is regarded as an effective means of improving metabolic health. Currently, there is a lack of understanding regarding the effectiveness of these approaches on clinical outcomes in women with PCOS and a need for specifically designed interventions for women with PCOS taking into account their PCOS phenotype and associated clinical features. The overall aim of this thesis was to determine if TGF-beta signalling is dysregulated in the skeletal muscle of overweight women with PCOS and subsequently if it was related to insulin resistance. In addition to attempting to understand if TGF-beta signalling was altered by exercise training and related to improvements in insulin sensitivity. This aim was achieved through a combination of in vivo and in vitro investigations. The results of this thesis provide novel insights into the role of TGF-beta signalling and insulin resistance in overweight women with PCOS.

#### 8.2 Conclusions

The main conclusions of each of the studies are as follows:

*Study 1*: The metabolic phenotype was not retained in cultured in myotubes from women with PCOS suggesting that external environmental factors, combined with intrinsic defects, play an essential role in developing peripheral insulin resistance. We identified that two TGF-beta ligands known to play a role in the pathophysiology of PCOS, TGF-beta 1 and AMH, had distinct effects on insulin signalling and glucose uptake in myotubes from women with and without PCOS. TGF-beta 1 may trigger metabolic conditions conducive to the development of tissue fibrosis, inducing aerobic glycolysis. Conversely, AMH caused a reduction in glucose

uptake and insulin signalling changes with a decrease in PI3Kp110 expression and an increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub>.

*Study 2*: Myotubes from women with PCOS displayed minimal differences in responsiveness to an *in vitro* model of contraction (EPS) compared to myotubes from healthy controls, which show increased phosphorylation of p38 MAPK and CREB. When combined with *in vitro* contraction, TGF-beta 1 and AMH had minimal effects on exercise-induced signalling transduction.

*Study 3*: Women with PCOS did not have any identifiable defects in skeletal muscle insulin signalling despite having severe insulin resistance. Likewise, TGF-beta signalling was not dysregulated, with the expression of TGF-beta ligands, SMADs and collagens being comparable between women with and without PCOS. Skeletal muscle TGF-beta signalling was not related to insulin resistance.

*Study 4*: Exercise training, regardless of the intensity, improved the cardiometabolic health of women with PCOS. Both HIIT and MICT resulted in a significant increased VO<sub>2peak</sub>, but only HIIT resulted in significant improvements in insulin sensitivity independently of changes in body composition or other clinical parameters. Collectively, exercise training, irrespective of the intensity, is an effective lifestyle intervention for improving cardiometabolic health in women with PCOS. Exercise training did not cause any changes in TGF-beta signalling in overweight women with PCOS.

#### 8.2.1 Discussion of key findings

8.2.1.1 The role of TGF-beta ligands and associated signalling in metabolism

Multiple studies have hinted that TGF-beta signalling and ECM remodelling may play a role in the development of insulin resistance in women with PCOS. Our *in vitro* data from **Study 1** investigated a possible mechanism by which TGF-beta ligands can influence glucose homeostasis. Previous results from C2C12 myotubes suggest that TGF-beta 1 treatment increases phosphorylation of SMAD3, which can suppress insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of AKT and AS160 (Dantas et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2019). In contrast to these results, our study

showed TGF-beta 1 resulted in increases in glucose uptake without changes in proximal insulin signalling. The contrasting response with our results and studies from C2C12 myotubes may be explained by differences in structure and function, metabolic behaviours and donor variability (Abdelmoez et al., 2019). On the other hand, AMH had not been previously investigated in the context of skeletal muscle metabolism. We found that AMH was capable of reducing glucose uptake via an increase in the phosphorylation IRS-1<sub>ser312</sub>, a defect that has been previously associated with insulin resistance in PCOS.

Although we demonstrated that TGF-beta 1 and AMH could alter glucose metabolism and insulin signalling in primary cultured myotubes, it appears that these findings do not translate in vivo. In Study 3, we observed insulin resistance in the absence of any signalling defects in skeletal muscle tissue, a lack of aberrant TGF-beta signalling, and higher levels of serum AMH in controls compared to overweight women with PCOS. The response or contribution of TGFbeta signalling in peripheral insulin resistance could be occurring via other tissues or organs. A recent review focusing on proteomics of insulin resistance in metabolically active organs (adipose tissue, skeletal muscle and liver) found ECM and fibrosis-related proteins in adipose tissue to be responsible for the pathology of insulin resistance, while in skeletal muscle that was associated to mitochondrial related proteins (Li et al., 2020). In line with this, TGF-beta 1 has been linked with subcutaneous adipose tissue insulin resistance (Dumesic et al., 2019). It has recently been observed in obese women that ECM contributes to insulin resistance via adipose accumulation of lumican, which enhances collagen deposition and impairs insulin signalling (Guzmán-Ruiz et al., 2020). This suggests that TGF-beta signalling may play a role in adipose tissue influencing metabolic function rather than in skeletal muscle. Altogether, this indicates that the dysregulation of TGF-beta signalling is a consequence of insulin resistance rather than a cause per se, and it may serve as a biomarker of metabolic dysfunction in women with PCOS.

There is evidence to suggest changes in the extracellular matrix occur in conjunction with changes in insulin sensitivity, but how the two are directly linked is still poorly understood. Typically, insulin resistance has been associated with increased collagen deposition; however, we have seen no changes in the main component of basement membrane collagen IV, collagen I (epimysium) or collagen III (perimysium). It should be noted that the pathology of fibrosis is also determined by collagen organization and distribution, which we did not assess. Previously,

it had been postulated that TGF-beta ligands are capable of impairing metabolic responsiveness to exercise training in T2D patients (Böhm et al., 2016) and may be related to insulin resistance (Williams et al., 2015). In **Study 3**, we found that insulin sensitivity was not related to TGF-beta signalling. In **Study 4**, we found that improvements in insulin sensitivity occurred independently of changes in TGF-beta signalling. This suggests that TGF-beta signalling is not a limiting factor for improvements in insulin sensitivity following exercise training in women with PCOS.

It is important to note that this thesis only focused on the metabolic role of two out of thirtythree TGF-beta ligands and their main associated signalling pathway (Moses et al., 2016). These ligands are known to interact and share receptors, modulating a plethora of biological processes. We assessed these ligands for their potential negative effects; however, their responses are dependent on the cellular environment. Under normal physiological conditions, they play an important role in tissue regeneration, regulating stem cell proliferation, differentiation and migration (Xu et al., 2018). The activation of these TGF-beta ligands is regulated by a number of factors such as pH, ROS and matrix metalloproteinases (Annes et al., 2003). In conditions of inflammation and oxidative stress, excessive activation of latent TGFbeta ligands could result in detrimental effects. Other TGF-beta ligands such as follistatin and myostatin can influence insulin action in skeletal muscle in PCOS-like, suggesting an association of these ligands with insulin resistance in women with PCOS (Eilers et al., 2020; Han et al., 2019). Testosterone can directly influence TGF-beta signalling in mouse satellite cells, resulting in the inhibition of phosphorylation of SMAD2/3 and an increase in follistatin (Braga et al., 2012). This highlights the complex regulation of TGF-beta signalling, with more research being required to understand these complex multifactorial cytokines and their role in the pathology of PCOS and other disease states.

8.2.1.2 Comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* data: whole muscle *vs* primary cultured myotubes

In **Study 3**, we found no observable differences in metabolic insulin signalling in the skeletal muscle samples obtained from women with PCOS at rest and during insulin-stimulated conditions, whereas in **Study 1**, myotubes from women with PCOS displayed impaired insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of AKT when compared to lean, healthy women. This defect has

not been previously observed *in vitro* but has been identified *in vivo* (Hojlund et al., 2008). The reason for these disparities in our study is not clear and remains to be determined. However, it is unlikely that this difference fully accounts for insulin resistance, given that only a small percentage of AKT phosphorylation is required for GLUT4 translocation and glucose uptake (Hoehn et al., 2008; Whitehead et al., 2001). We identified in **Study 3** that basal phosphorylation of p38MAPK was elevated in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. However, these findings were not observed when the cells were in culture (**study 2**). In one of the few studies assessing skeletal muscle insulin signalling *in vivo* and *in vitro*, Ciaraldi and colleagues showed that skeletal muscle and myotubes from women with PCOS both display a reduction of ~50% in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in the absence of any insulin signalling defects (Ciaraldi et al., 2009). This highlights that insulin resistance can occur independently of defects in the insulin signalling cascade in women with PCOS.

Taken together, combined results from **Study 1**, **Study 2** and **Study 3** suggest that expression of signalling components is intact and that assessment of activity of these proteins may be where defects are occurring. This consideration aligns with previous findings showing a normal abundance of PI3K p85 but a reduction in insulin-stimulated PI3K activity in skeletal muscle and myotubes (Corbould et al., 2005; Dunaif et al., 2001). In the case of our studies, we only assessed the expression of proteins and not the activity. The lack of agreement between studies in skeletal muscle tissue and cultured myotubes may be determined by the severity of PCOS and the corresponding *in vivo* physiological environment, where the level of hyperinsulinemia, hyperandrogenism and other factors may cause metabolic reprogramming. The metabolic differences seen *in vivo* and *in vitro* from the same donor may indicate that environmental factors are driving insulin resistance. This presents an opportunity to manipulate the extracellular milieu in cell culture to mechanistically explore environmental factors contributing to insulin resistance in PCOS.

The measure of glucose uptake in culture is influenced by the expression of glucose transporters, which seems to differ from what is observed *in vivo*. In myotubes, the expression of GLUT1 is higher while GLUT4 is lower than *in vivo* skeletal muscle (Al-Khalili et al., 2003; Henry et al., 1995; Sarabia et al., 1992). In myotubes, GLUT1 is responsible for basal glucose uptake whilst GLUT4 facilitates insulin-stimulated glucose uptake mimicking *in vivo* responses (Al-Khalili et al., 2003; Henry et al., 1995; Sarabia et al., 2003; Henry et al., 2003; Henry et al., 2003; Henry et al., 2005; Sarabia et al., 2005; Sarabia et al., 2003; Henry et al., 2005; Sarabia et al

elevated expression of GLUT1 and subsequent increase in basal glucose uptake may contribute to the lack of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake observed in both myotubes from lean, healthy controls and women with PCOS. This may subsequently influence the interpretation of the retention of the *in vivo* metabolic phenotype. Indeed, in **Study 1**, the relationship between insulin sensitivity measured by a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp and *in vitro* glucose uptake in myotubes was poor.

#### 8.2.1.3 Mechanisms of insulin resistance

The findings from our *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies, together with previous studies, pose the question of what develops first, insulin resistance or defects in insulin signalling in women with PCOS. Due to the challenges of the diagnosis and women being diagnosed with PCOS at various different stages of life, it makes it difficult to determine when insulin resistance first develops. It has been observed that obese adolescent girls with PCOS display a decrease in peripheral insulin sensitivity, decreased adiponectin and metabolic inflexibility compared to matched girls without PCOS (J. Y. Kim et al., 2018). The mechanisms responsible for the development of insulin resistance remain a mystery not only in PCOS but also in other metabolic conditions (Fazakerley et al., 2019).

One factor to consider when comparing our results with others is the timing of the biopsies. It has previously been suggested that defects occur in the early phase, 15-30 minutes, of insulin stimulation with a decrease in IRS-1-associated PI3K activity, which was no longer present after 90minutes (Dunaif et al., 2001). Previous data from our lab showing skeletal muscle insulin signalling during the early stage of the clamp, after 30 minutes (N. Stepto et al., 2020), and our data in **Study 3** obtained during steady-state both found insulin signalling to be intact despite women with PCOS presenting with insulin resistance. Based on our data, it would appear that insulin resistance is developed by environmental factors and low physical activity levels. A recently proposed mechanism for the development of insulin resistance is chronic hyperinsulinemia, which is common in women with PCOS. It has been demonstrated that prolonged insulin exposure in human primary myotubes and C2C12 results in a reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Turner et al., 2020, 2018). This is accompanied by a reduction in phosphorylation of IRS-1 tyrosine and AKT (Turner et al., 2020). Another study in C2C12 myotubes reported that chronic hyperinsulinemia resulted in the downregulation of

insulin receptor mRNA (Cen et al., 2019). Furthermore, animal models have been used to demonstrate the role of circulating insulin in the regulation of adiposity and weight gain (Page et al., 2018). This occurs as insulin is capable of suppressing lipolysis, leading to increased lipid uptake and storage. This mechanism of insulin resistance goes against traditional thinking that hyperinsulinemia is a consequence rather than a cause of insulin resistance, and it requires more research before it becomes an accepted mechanism. Regarding our studies, this idea may make sense as obese women with PCOS have elevated fasting insulin (Study 3), and improvements in insulin sensitivity were accompanied by a non-significant decrease in fasting insulin following HIIT and MICT (Study 4).

In **Study 3**, we observed an elevation of phosphorylation of p38MAPK in skeletal muscle of women with PCOS. This may indicate that mitochondrial dysfunction and excess ROS production as factors responsible for the development of insulin resistance in these women. This may occur via either fatty acid metabolites and intracellular diglycerides or a decrease in substrate oxidation influencing the activity of the electron transport chain (Montgomery and Turner, 2015; Shukla and Mukherjee, 2020). Similar to other defects observed, studies assessing mitochondrial function in women with PCOS are not conclusive. Hutchinson et al. show no observable defects in mitochondrial respiration and function (Hutchison et al., 2012), while Konopka et al. observed increased mitochondrial ROS production and downregulation of ADP to oxygen ratio (Konopka et al., 2015). Although the mechanism of insulin resistance remains to be determined, all of the defects observed to date are able to be improved via lifestyle intervention. It should be acknowledged that the odds of a single factor or defect being the cause of insulin resistance in women with PCOS are highly unlikely. It may be more reasonable to consider multiple possibilities with distinct pathways and patterns within each phenotype.

#### 8.2.1.4 Exercise training and insulin sensitivity

It has been proposed that individuals with metabolic diseases have an impaired response to exercise, where improvements in insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis do not occur or occur to a lesser extent than healthy populations. Indeed, this hypothesis has been presented in exercise training studies of women with PCOS. The findings of **Study 4** support other studies indicating that women with PCOS are able to benefit from exercise training with substantial

improvements in insulin sensitivity. The determining factor of this response appears to be more related to intensity, volume and frequency, with an exercise training of a high-intensity of 3 sessions per week (Study 4) or moderate-intensity exercise of 5 sessions per week (Konopka et al., 2015), resulting in substantial improvements in insulin sensitivity. In our study (Study 4), 10/11 participants following HIIT had an improvement in insulin sensitivity, independently of changes in body composition. Collectively, this data suggests that women with PCOS are not resistant to the beneficial effects of exercise, but rather previous studies have used insufficient exercise dose as determined by frequency, intensity, and time. In our study, we observed improvements in insulin sensitivity independent of weight loss or changes in body composition, demonstrating a direct effect of exercise training (HIIT and MICT) on insulin sensitivity. Indeed, weight loss in exercise intervention studies is a confounding factor making it difficult to separate the effects of exercise and weight loss on insulin sensitivity. This would suggest that improvements in insulin sensitivity were reflective of enhanced skeletal muscle glucose uptake. It has been previously demonstrated that improvements in insulin sensitivity can occur following exercise training with and without changes in body composition (Poehlman et al., 2000).

It is important to note that the beneficial effects of exercise on insulin sensitivity are transient and related to the acute effects of the last session performed. As previously mentioned, following a period of inactivity, high levels of insulin sensitivity are rapidly diminished (Heath et al., 1983). A recent study showed that post-training improvements were present 24 hours after the last exercise bout but were no longer apparent after four days of training cessation, regardless of exercise intensity of the training in obese men and women (Ryan et al., 2020). This highlights the need for regular physical activity and exercise to maintain normal insulin sensitivity. Also, when interpreting or comparing results between studies, the time between the last exercise session and measurement of insulin sensitivity should be considered.

#### 8.2.1.5 GLUT4 translocation in women with PCOS

Exercise training is an effective stimulus for increasing GLUT4 abundance (Richter and Hargreaves, 2013). In **Study 4**, we were able to show an increase in skeletal muscle GLUT4 expression; however, this does not resolve whether glucose transport is compromised at baseline or improved by exercise training. In women with PCOS, post-exercise GLUT4

translocation has been assessed via indirect measures assessing total and membrane protein expression of GLUT4 (Dantas et al., 2015). They found that women with PCOS had similar GLUT4 translocation following acute exercise to BMI matched controls. Furthermore, GLUT4 translocation in the postprandial state has not been assessed in women with PCOS and may have important implications in the development of insulin resistance. Recent advances in this area allow quantification of GLUT4 translocation to subcellular locations in skeletal muscle using transmission electron microscopy and fluorescence microscopy (Knudsen et al., 2020). An *in vitro* approach with a cell culture model has been developed utilising human serum to stimulate GLUT4 translocation in cultured myotubes with serum being collected from participants in a fasted and fed state (Cogan et al., 2019). This approach using conditioned media could be used to assess the effects of post-exercise serum from women with and without PCOS to better understand the insulin sensitising effects of exercise. This approach would be particularly interesting in women with PCOS due to investigating the role of circulating hormones and other environmental factors in skeletal muscle insulin resistance.

#### 8.3 Limitations and Considerations

A strength of our studies is that we used the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp technique, often considered the gold-standard to determine insulin sensitivity (DeFronzo et al., 1979). A principle of this technique is that the constant infusion of insulin induces a hyperinsulinemic state, which increases glucose disposal from skeletal muscle and adipose tissue and suppresses hepatic glucose production (Muniyappa et al., 2008). Although we did not use stable isotope tracer [6,6-<sup>2</sup>H] of glucose to account for hepatic glucose production, future studies should utilize tracers to improve the accuracy of the measurement of insulin sensitivity. Another challenge of the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp is the interpretation of data obtained and its clinical relevance, given that there are no reference ranges for GIR (Tam et al., 2012). Also, comparing results between studies is challenging given differences in insulin doses used (range: 30-120 mU/min/m<sup>2</sup>). The results can be expressed relative to body weight, body surface area or fat-free mass. We used the same insulin dose of insulin for all groups in order to allow group comparisons. Several different methods have been used to set cut off points for insulin resistance determined by a clamp, which can influence the percentage of participants defined as insulin resistant. An example is the one established by Stern and colleagues, who used mixed

bimodal modelling on data from 2,321 participants who had insulin sensitivity measured by clamp using an insulin infusion rate of 40 mU/min/m<sup>2</sup> (the same as our studies) to define insulin resistance cut-off point of 5 mg/lbmkg/min (Stern et al., 2005). In the case of our studies, if we applied this cut-off, 36% of the women with PCOS would be classified as insulin resistant. In contrast, previous work from our lab defined insulin resistance as GIR of less than the 25<sup>th</sup> percentile of lean controls (Stepto et al., 2013). If we apply the latter to our studies, 100% of the women with PCOS would be classified as insulin resistant. Another study in women with PCOS defined reference limit of 11.76 mg/lbm/min (Tosi et al., 2017). If this is applied to our study, 84% of women with PCOS would be classified as insulin resistant. This calls for the need for standardized definitions of insulin resistance based upon clamp-derived data to ensure that the prevalence of insulin resistance can be accurately reported.

A confounding factor in the assessment of phenotypic retention and identification of signalling defects from whole muscle to myotubes in our work is the reliance on a single technique for signalling and metabolism, western blotting and 2-deoxy glucose uptake respectively (Study 1 and 2). This limited approach may have meant that we had overlooked characteristics or defects present. A more comprehensive approach to assessing myotubes' metabolic function could include glycogen synthesis, glucose oxidation, lipid uptake, lipid oxidation, and mitochondrial ATP synthesis, all of which are well-established assays. However, supporting our findings (Study 1), a more comprehensive approach by Eriksen and colleagues assessing metabolic function observed that insulin resistance and mitochondrial dysfunction in vivo was no longer present in vitro (Eriksen et al., 2010, 2011). Another limitation is the use of western blotting. We utilized several aspects to minimize error and improve reproducibility by optimizing conditions for each target and utilising the stain-free method. However, there are factors out of our control that may influence our findings, such as the quality of antibodies (Gilda et al., 2015). The use of additional techniques such as immunohistochemistry would be useful to support our findings and allow for observation of localization and changes in tissue morphology. Other techniques such as proteomics present as an attractive alternative to western blotting, which provides with the ability to quantify vast numbers of targets and identify new pathways. Nevertheless, this technology is not as accessible as western blotting.

A significant limitation for studies 1, 2 and 3 is the lack of a BMI-matched control group, which could be a significant confounder for the findings of this thesis. In an ideal scenario, a study

with the following groups: (1) lean control group, (2) lean women with PCOS, (3) obese control group, and (4) obese women with PCOS, would be carried out to take into account the interaction of PCOS and obesity. Additional aspects, such as physical activity levels and PCOS phenotype, should also be matched to minimize confounders. Indeed, obese women with and without PCOS have many similar traits, including excess central adiposity, insulin resistance, and a greater risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, approximately 60% of women with PCOS are either overweight or obese, and this is associated with the severity of metabolic features (Lim et al., 2013). However, it has been stated that insulin resistance can occur in the absence of obesity in women with PCOS (Stepto et al., 2013), suggesting that factors independent of obesity contribute to insulin resistance in PCOS. The interaction between obesity and PCOS provides a challenge for many researchers. In the case of our studies, the majority of the major outcomes and physiological responses assessed in this thesis can be affected by obesity, including insulin signalling, insulin sensitivity, contractile function, extracellular matrix composition, contractile function and oxidative stress. Therefore, we cannot fully account for the effects of obesity to understand the real impact of PCOS.

Like many of the studies conducted to date focusing on skeletal muscle insulin resistance in women with PCOS, our sample size was limited. This may be partly attributed to the timedemand of our study and the use of invasive techniques such as biopsies acting as barriers to recruitment. A potential strategy to reduce the number of biopsies would be to utilize an *ex vivo* approach incubating a proportion of the muscle biopsy in insulin. In addition, we had a strict inclusion criterion to ensure that other factors did not influence the primary outcome of insulin sensitivity. The limited sample sizes observed across the board in mechanistic and intervention based PCOS research calls for a more collaborative approach between groups. Our studies lack a broad representation across all PCOS phenotypes, making it challenging to translate the effectiveness of our findings for all women with this syndrome. A major limitation of our studies is the lack of a group of lean women with PCOS to account for the contribution of the condition versus obesity. To this accord in our study, insulin sensitivity was comparable between overweight women with and without PCOS, indicating an important contribution of obesity.

### 8.4 Future Research

#### 8.4.1 Tissue crosstalk

Similar to the observations in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS, insulin resistance and signalling have been explored in the subcutaneous adipose tissue. Women with PCOS display adipose tissue insulin resistance in vivo, but it has been shown that cultured preadipocytes displayed normal insulin responsiveness and no insulin signalling defects (Corbould and Dunaif, 2007; Dumesic et al., 2019). Moreover, contrary to myotubes, adipocytes have decreased GLUT4 expression (Rosenbaum et al., 1993). More recently, pathways related to PI3K-AKT, MAPK, TGF-beta and androgen signalling were found to be differently regulated in the adipose tissue (Kokosar et al., 2016). Interestingly, TGF-beta 2 is secreted from the adipose tissue in response to increases in lactate during exercise (Takahashi et al., 2019). They also showed that TGF-beta 2 stimulates glucose uptake and fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle suggesting inter-organ communication. Therefore, the crosstalk between adipose and skeletal muscle tissues may be a future avenue of research within PCOS. Samples obtained from women with PCOS could be examined by using a co-culture model in conjunction with hormone treatments. The assessment of myokines and adipokines released under different conditions may provide insights into how these tissues act under stress-induced conditions such as exercise or hyperinsulinemia. In addition, the characterization of these myokines and adipokines is relatively unexplored, presenting opportunities for the discovery of new therapeutics.

#### 8.4.2 Retention of donor characteristics in vitro

The use of human primary myotube cultures allows for the identification of intrinsic defects and environmental in the development of metabolic diseases. A number of studies have indicated that myotubes from women with PCOS do not retain the donor characteristics (Eriksen et al., 2010, 2011). Accordingly, in **Study 1**, we showed a lack of retention of the metabolic phenotype in myotubes from women with PCOS. However, to date, the analysis employed have been limited to targeted approaches such as western blots, qPCR and metabolic measures, and a more comprehensive study has not been done. Given that the specific aetiology of this underlying insulin resistance is unknown, targeted approaches may miss defects, which may be responsible for metabolic abnormalities. This could also be the case when assessing donor characteristic retention in cultured cells. Myotubes from individuals with type 2 diabetes have been studied via proteomics and RNA sequencing (Al-Khalili et al., 2014; Frederiksen et al., 2008; Thingholm et al., 2011), and were unable to detect any intrinsic defects at basal conditions that may explain altered metabolism in the myotubes although these have been demonstrated to retain metabolic features of their type 2 diabetic donor (Ciaraldi et al., 1995; Gaster et al., 2012, 2002; Henry et al., 1995). This highlights the complexity of insulin resistance and how the mechanism involved might be different between conditions. Furthermore, it has been shown that *in vivo* characteristics such as fibre type and mitochondrial content are retained *in vitro* in early passages (4-5) but not in subsequent passages (Covington et al., 2015). Myotubes cultured beyond passage 5, show downregulation of metabolic function and an increase in senescent cells (Nehlin et al., 2011). Therefore, experiments should be carried out in early passages to minimize the loss of *in vivo* characteristics in myotubes, as done in our studies.

Future studies should create an in-depth profile of early-passaged cultured cells from women with PCOS in basal and insulin-stimulated states in order to understand how metabolic defects are occurring and whether metabolic characteristics are retained in cultured myotubes. Additionally, in order to ascertain if environmental factors contribute to metabolic dysfunction and related signalling, future studies may wish to consider culturing cells in serum from the same donor. This may allow for the identification of circulating factors that are influencing insulin sensitivity. Remarkably, benefits of exercise training *in vivo* on glucose and lipid metabolic reprogramming of satellite cells by exercise *in vivo* is evident in cultured myotubes and present opportunities for understanding how different populations respond to exercise in this *in vitro* model. The approach of culturing myotubes from muscle biopsies before and after exercise training interventions may be useful to assess whether the impact of exercise training is similar in distinct populations. In cases where underlying defects are observed, this approach would be able to determine whether exercise can normalize these defects and shift cells towards a healthy phenotype.
## 8.4.3 Exercise and lifestyle in women with PCOS

Based on our findings in Study 4, future interventions should ensure that exercise training is of a sufficient volume or intensity to improve insulin sensitivity and cardiorespiratory fitness. Whilst we showed beneficial effects of a short-term (12 weeks) exercise intervention, longterm trials (up to 12 months) are required to determine if long-term interventions would result in more significant improvements in metabolic health and if the effects extend beyond metabolic health to other clinical parameters. Other factors to explore that may further optimize the benefits of exercise for women with PCOS are the timing of exercise around meals: fasted and fed state and modulating the frequency of training to encompass shorter bouts throughout the day. An important but overlooked factor is the effect of exercise on appetite regulation considering that women with PCOS display dysregulation of ghrelin (Kasim-Karakas et al., 2007; Moran et al., 2004). Furthermore, the acute responses to different types of exercise in women with PCOS are poorly characterized. Only skeletal muscle GLUT4 and insulin signalling gene expression profiles have been explored in response to an acute bout of exercise. A simple study assessing glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity via a euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp post-exercise may be sufficient to assess the acute insulin sensitizing effects of exercise without the need for invasive biopsy procedures. Therefore, future clinical studies should consider all these factors and investigate the acute effect of exercise on insulin sensitivity.

It is important to note that exercise is only one component of lifestyle modification for women with PCOS, and other lifestyle factors, in particular diet and nutrition, may have an additional beneficial impact. A recent review has shown that lifestyle interventions comprising of diet and exercise showed combined intervention is more beneficial than exercise alone, in particular for reducing BMI and adiposity (Naderpoor et al., 2015). Given that we were unable to see changes in body composition with exercise alone, regardless of a significant improvement in peripheral insulin sensitivity, it may be suggested that combined dietary and exercise intervention would be more effective than on its own.

## 8.4.4 Further assessment of TGF-beta signalling in women with PCOS

Several experimental approaches could be applied to explore the role of the TGF-beta ligands and their signalling pathways in PCOS pathologies (insulin resistance, glucose metabolism and hyperandrogenism). In particular, animal models could initially be utilized. Indeed, PCOSspecific animal models utilising prenatal androgen or AMH exposure have already been used to re-create the PCOS-phenotype (Risal et al., 2019; Tata et al., 2018), and whereby offspring develop a PCOS-like phenotype displaying reproductive dysfunction and metabolic perturbations. Other TGF-beta ligands could be used in this prenatal exposure model to explore whether they develop similar PCOS-like phenotypes. This could provide critical insights into the role of TGF-beta ligands on early metabolic reprogramming. This approach could be applied to various animal models, from non-human primates to rodent models, depending on outcomes of interest and resources available (Stener-Victorin et al., 2020). The use of targeted treatments on PCOS-like animal models may provide an in vivo approach to investigate the direct effect of TGF-beta pathways in PCOS, by using neutralizing antibodies, siRNA or small peptide-base strategies. These type of treatments have been designed to target different parts of the pathway, including ligand activation, receptor blocking, receptor kinase inhibition, mRNA disruption and transcription disruption (Akhurst, 2017).

Currently, several neutralizing antibodies are designed to target only the active isoforms of TGF-beta ligands producing anti-fibrotic and tumour reducing effects *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bedinger et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2021). Specifically for skeletal muscle, others have utilized anti-Activin receptor IIA and IIB antibodies to inhibit the TGF-beta ligands myostatin, activin A, and GDF11, and promote muscle growth or reduce muscle wasting in mice (Morvan et al., 2017). Another study treating mouse models of obesity and T2D with anti-TGF- $\beta$ 1 neutralization antibody (1D11) has shown that these animals are protected from the development of metabolic disease (Yadav et al., 2011). This protection was conferred by reducing SMAD3 signalling in the adipose tissue and reducing inflammatory cells and cytokines. Following these studies, the role of TGF-beta signalling in PCOS could be explored by selective inhibition of different TGF-beta receptors or ligands to improve peripheral insulin resistance or ovarian fibrosis.

Human trials with targeted TGF-beta signalling treatments have already been conducted, particularly in the context of fibrotic conditions and cancers. However, the benefits displayed in preclinical models have failed to translate into human trials due to a systemic inhibition promoting inflammation, tumorigenesis and drug-related toxicity (Lodyga and Hinz, 2020). This is not surprising given the systemic nature of TGF-beta signalling and its roles in homeostasis in particular immune function. These adverse effects may be overcome with the drug delivery field advancing in cell and tissue-specific approaches such as extracellular vesicles as delivery vehicles (Zhao et al., 2020), as well as the development of selective TGF-beta inhibitors (Martin et al., 2020) and drugs such as nintedanib and pirfenidone, which target TGF-beta induced transcription of the profibrotic genes COL1A1, COL3A1 and fibronectin 1 (Knuppel et al., 2017).

## 8.5 Clinical implications

We sought to determine if aberrant TGF-beta signalling extended beyond reproductive tissue to the peripheral tissues, influencing insulin signalling and sensitivity. From our findings, it would appear that fibrosis or ECM remodelling is tissue-specific and does not necessarily extend systemically. More research is required to rule out the role of TGF-beta signalling and maladaptive ECM remodelling in other tissues and organs. From a drug development perspective, the primary source of aberrant TGF-beta signalling is reproductive tissues. Therefore, target treatments should focus on resolving the defects in the ovaries rather than whole-body approach. Many clinical trials of TGF-beta inhibitors targeting receptors or specific ligands have focused on cancers and pulmonary fibrosis (Akhurst, 2017; Lodyga and Hinz, 2020; Mahalanobish et al., 2020). This is challenging given the diverse role of TGF-beta ligands AMH and TGF-beta 1 can influence metabolism and insulin signalling in skeletal muscle myotubes; therefore, the measurement of these ligands in circulation may be warranted.

The lack of clarity regarding the mechanism governing insulin resistance makes it difficult for target therapies to be developed. The likelihood of a central defect in insulin signalling in women with PCOS being the cause of insulin resistance does not seem viable, given the lack of consistency in findings to date. Also, if there was a genetic defect, it would be present in multiple tissues, but this has not yet been observed in women with PCOS, who present isolated

defects in a single tissue or cell type. In the case of our study, the higher expression of MAPK at baseline in the skeletal muscle would suggest elevations in ROS and inflammatory factors. Future investigations should seek to determine how common medications prescribed to women with PCOS, such as insulin sensitizers and oral contraceptives, influence TGF-beta ligands and ROS production.

Although the precise mechanisms of peripheral insulin resistance in women with PCOS are still not clear, lifestyle intervention appears to have positive effects. We have shown that a time-efficient weekly exercise training regime performed under supervision effectively improves metabolic health as measured by a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. It should be noted that using standard clinical markers such as fasting glucose, fasting insulin, and HbA1c was not sufficient to detect improvements in metabolic health. Also, improvements in insulin sensitivity occurred independently of changes in body weight and composition. It is not feasible to run euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps regularly in a clinical setting, given the labour, cost, and limited clinical benefit of this level of information. This highlights the need for more sensitive surrogates/biomarkers when assessing the benefits of lifestyle interventions. Notably, we had a strict inclusion criteria for our participants, excluding women regularly taking prescribed medications such as metformin and oral contraceptives (McCartney and Marshall, 2016) as these could influence the primary outcomes of our study. However, it is important to include these women in future trials and investigate how medications influence the response to exercise interventions.

Therefore, understanding the molecular mechanisms involved in insulin resistance will be vital for developing future PCOS-specific therapies, which may include combined lifestyle interventions, to ultimately improve the metabolic health and well-being of women with PCOS.

## 9 References

- Aas, V., Bakke, S.S., Feng, Y.Z., 2013. Are cultured human myotubes far from home? 671– 682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-013-1655-1
- Aas, V., Thoresen, G.H., Rustan, A.C., Lund, J., 2020. Substrate oxidation in primary human skeletal muscle cells is influenced by donor age. Cell Tissue Res. 382, 599–608. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-020-03275-w
- Abbara, A., Eng, P.C., Phylactou, M., Clarke, S.A., Hunjan, T., Roberts, R., Vimalesvaran, S., Christopoulos, G., Islam, R., Purugganan, K., Comninos, A.N., Trew, G.H., Salim, R., Hramyka, A., Owens, L., Kelsey, T., Dhillo, W.S., 2019. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) in the Diagnosis of Menstrual Disturbance Due to Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00656
- Abdelmoez, A.M., Sardón Puig, L., Smith, J.A., Gabriel, B.M., Savikj, M., Dollet, L., Chibalin,
  A. V., Krook, A., Zierath, J.R., Pillon, N.J., 2019. Comparative profiling of skeletal muscle models reveals heterogeneity of transcriptome and metabolism. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 615–626. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00540.2019
- Ábrigo, J., Campos, F., Simon, F., Riedel, C., Cabrera, D., Vilos, C., Cabello-Verrugio, C., 2018. TGF-β requires the activation of canonical and non-canonical signalling pathways to induce skeletal muscle atrophy. Biol. Chem. 399, 253–264. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2017-0217
- Abrigo, J., Carlos, J., Simon, F., Cabrera, D., Cabello-verrugio, C., 2016. Transforming growth factor type beta (TGF- β) requires reactive oxygen species to induce skeletal muscle atrophy. Cell. Signal. 28, 366–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2016.01.010
- Afshar, M.E., Abraha, H.Y., Bakooshli, M.A., Davoudi, S., Thavandiran, N., Tung, K., Ahn, H., Ginsberg, H.J., Zandstra, P.W., Gilbert, P.M., 2020. A 96-well culture platform enables longitudinal analyses of engineered human skeletal muscle microtissue strength. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62837-8
- Agley, C.C., Rowlerson, A.M., Velloso, C.P., Lazarus, N.L., Harridge, S.D.R., 2015. Isolation and Quantitative Immunocytochemical Characterization of Primary Myogenic Cells and Fibroblasts from Human Skeletal Muscle. J. Vis. Exp. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3791/52049
- Agley, C.C., Rowlerson, A.M., Velloso, C.P., Lazarus, N.R., Harridge, S.D.R., 2013. Human skeletal muscle fibroblasts, but not myogenic cells, readily undergo adipogenic

differentiation. J. Cell Sci. 126, 5610-5625. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.132563

- Aguirre, V., Uchida, T., Yenush, L., Davis, R., White, M.F., 2000. The c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphorylation of Ser307. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 9047–9054. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.12.9047
- Akhurst, R.J., 2017. Targeting TGF-β signaling for therapeutic gain. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 9, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022301
- Al-bayati, A., Brown, A., Walker, M., 2019. Impaired enhancement of insulin action in cultured skeletal muscle cells from insulin resistant type 2 diabetic patients in response to contraction using electrical pulse stimulation. J. Diabetes Complications 33, 107412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2019.107412
- Al-Khalili, L., Chibalin, A. V, Kannisto, K., Zhang, B.B., Permert, J., Holman, G.D., Ehrenborg, E., Ding, V.D.H., Zierath, J.R., Krook, A., 2003. Insulin action in cultured human skeletal muscle cells during differentiation: assessment of cell surface GLUT4 and GLUT1 content. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 60, 991–998. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-003-3001-3
- Al-Khalili, L., de Castro Barbosa, T., Östling, J., Massart, J., Katayama, M., Nyström, A.C., Oscarsson, J., Zierath, J.R., 2014. Profiling of human myotubes reveals an intrinsic proteomic signature associated with type 2 diabetes. Transl. Proteomics 2, 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trprot.2013.12.002
- Alessi, M.C., Bastelica, D., Morange, P., Berthet, B., Leduc, I., Verdier, M., Geel, O., Juhan-Vague, I., 2000. Plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, transforming growth factor-β1, and BMI are closely associated in human adipose tissue during morbid obesity. Diabetes 49, 1374–1380. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.49.8.1374
- Almenning, I., Rieber-mohn, A., Lundgren, K.M., Shetelig, T., 2015. Effects of High Intensity Interval Training and Strength Training on Metabolic , Cardiovascular and Hormonal Outcomes in Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome : A Pilot Study. PLoS One 10, 1– 16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138793
- Andersen, P., Adams, R.P., Sjøgaard, G., Thorboe, A., Saltin, B., 1985. Dynamic knee extension as model for study of isolated exercising muscle in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 1647–1653. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1985.59.5.1647
- Andrianifahanana, M., Hernandez, D.M., Yin, X., Kang, J.H., Jung, M.Y., Wang, Y., Yi, E.S., Roden, A.C., Limper, A.H., Leof, E.B., 2016. Profibrotic up-regulation of glucose

transporter 1 by TGF-β involves activation of MEK and mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 pathways. FASEB J. 30, 3733–3744. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201600428R

- Annes, J.P., Munger, J.S., Rifkin, D.B., 2003. Making sense of latent TGFβ activation. J. Cell Sci. 116, 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00229
- Baar, K., Wende, A.R., Jones, T.E., Marison, M., Nolte, L.A., Chen, M., Kelly, D.P., Holloszy, J.O., 2002. Adaptations of skeletal muscle to exercise: rapid increase in the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1. FASEB J. 16, 1879–1886. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0367com
- Baillargeon, J.P., Carpentier, A., 2007. Role of insulin in the hyperandrogenemia of lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal insulin sensitivity. Fertil. Steril. 88, 886–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.12.055
- Bajpeyi, S., Tanner, C.J., Slentz, C.A., Duscha, B.D., McCartney, J.S., Hickner, R.C., Kraus, W.E., Houmard, J.A., 2009. Effect of exercise intensity and volume on persistence of insulin sensitivity during training cessation. J. Appl. Physiol. 106, 1079–1085. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.91262.2008
- Baldelli, S., Lettieri Barbato, D., Tatulli, G., Aquilano, K., Ciriolo, M.R., 2014. The role of nNOS and PGC-1α in skeletal muscle cells. J. Cell Sci. 127, 4813–20. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.154229
- Bandyopadhyay, G.K., Yu, J.G., Ofrecio, J., Olefsky, J.M., 2005. Increased p85/55/50
  Expression and Decreased Phosphotidylinositol 3-Kinase Activity in Insulin-Resistant
  Human Skeletal Muscle. Diabetes 54, 2351–2359. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.8.2351
- Barber, T.M., Hanson, P., Weickert, M.O., Franks, S., 2019. Obesity and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Implications for Pathogenesis and Novel Management Strategies. Clin. Med.
  Insights Reprod. Heal. 13, 117955811987404. https://doi.org/10.1177/1179558119874042
- Barbour, L.A., Rahman, S.M., Gurevich, I., Leitner, J.W., Fischer, S.J., Roper, M.D., Knotts, T.A., Vo, Y., McCurdy, C.E., Yakar, S., LeRoith, D., Kahn, C.R., Cantley, L.C., Friedman, J.E., Draznin, B., 2005. Increased P85α is a potent negative regulator of skeletal muscle insulin signaling and induces in vivo insulin resistance associated with growth hormone excess. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 37489–37494. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M506967200
- Barrès, R., Yan, J., Egan, B., Treebak, J.T., Rasmussen, M., Fritz, T., Caidahl, K., Krook, A., O'Gorman, D.J., Zierath, J.R., 2012. Acute exercise remodels promoter methylation in

human skeletal muscle. Cell Metab. 15, 405–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.01.001

- Bartlett, J.D., Joo, C.H., Jeong, T.S., Louhelainen, J., Cochran, A.J., Gibala, M.J., Gregson, W., Close, G.L., Drust, B., Morton, J.P., 2012. Matched work high-intensity interval and continuous running induce similar increases in PGC-1α mRNA, AMPK, p38, and p53 phosphorylation in human skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 112, 1135–1143. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01040.2011
- Bastian, N.A., Bayne, R.A., Hummitzsch, K., Hatzirodos, N., Bonner, W.M., Hartanti, M.D., Irving-Rodgers, H.F., Anderson, R.A., Rodgers, R.J., 2016. Regulation of fibrillins and modulators of TGFβ in fetal bovine and human ovaries. Reproduction 152, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-16-0172
- Bedinger, D., Lao, L., Khan, S., Lee, S., Takeuchi, T., Mirza, A.M., 2016. Development and characterization of human monoclonal antibodies that neutralize multiple TGF β isoforms. MAbs 8, 389–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/19420862.2015.1115166
- Beeson, M., Sajan, M.P., Daspet, J.G., Luna, V., Dizon, M., Grebenev, D., Powe, J.L., Lucidi, S., Miura, A., Kanoh, Y., Bandyopadhyay, G., Standaert, M.L., Yeko, T.R., Farese, R. V., 2004. Defective Activation of Protein Kinase C-z in Muscle by Insulin and Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5,-(PO 4) 3 in Obesity and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Metab. Syndr. Relat. Disord. 2, 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1089/met.2004.2.49
- Bengal, E., Aviram, S., Hayek, T., 2020. P38 mapk in glucose metabolism of skeletal muscle: Beneficial or harmful? Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21186480
- Bergström, J., 1975. Percutaneous needle biopsy of skeletal muscle in physiological and clinical Research. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 35, 609–616. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365517509095787
- Berria, R., Wang, L., Richardson, D.K., Finlayson, J., Belfort, R., Pratipanawatr, T., De Filippis, E.A., Kashyap, S., Mandarino, L.J., 2006. Increased collagen content in insulinresistant skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 290, 560–65. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00202.2005
- Bhide, P., Dilgil, M., Gudi, A., Shah, A., Akwaa, C., Homburg, R., 2015. Each small antral follicle in ovaries of women with polycystic ovary syndrome produces more antimüllerian hormone than its counterpart in a normal ovary: An observational cross-sectional study. Fertil. Steril. 103, 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.10.033

Bishop, D.J., Botella, J., Genders, A.J., Lee, M.J.C., Saner, N.J., Kuang, J., Yan, X., Granata,

C., 2019. High-intensity exercise and mitochondrial biogenesis: Current controversies and future research directions. Physiology 34, 56–70. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00038.2018

- Björnholm, M., Kawano, Y., Lehtihet, M., Zierath, J.R., 1997. Insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation and phosphatidylinositol 3- kinase activity in skeletal muscle from NIDDM subjects after in vivo insulin stimulation. Diabetes 46, 524–527. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.46.3.524
- Blackshaw, Chhour, Stepto, Lim, 2019. Barriers and Facilitators to the Implementation of Evidence-Based Lifestyle Management in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Narrative Review. Med. Sci. 7, 76. https://doi.org/10.3390/medsci7070076
- Bodine, S.C., Stitt, T.N., Gonzalez, M., Kline, W.O., Stover, G.L., Bauerlein, R., Zlotchenko, E., Scrimgeour, A., Lawrence, J.C., Glass, D.J., Yancopoulos, G.D., 2001. Akt/mTOR pathway is a crucial regulator of skeletal muscle hypertrophy and can prevent muscle atrophy in vivo. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 1014–1019. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1101-1014
- Bogardus, C., Narimiga, M., Azhar, S., 1983. Effect of muscle glycogen depletion on in vivo insulin action in man. J. Clin. Invest. 72, 1605–1610. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI111119
- Böhm, A., Hoffmann, C., Irmler, M., Schneeweiss, P., Schnauder, G., Sailer, C., Schmid, V.,
  Hudemann, J., Machann, J., Schick, F., Beckers, J., Hrabě de Angelis, M., Staiger, H.,
  Fritsche, A., Stefan, N., Nieß, A.M., Häring, H.-U., Weigert, C., 2016. TGF-β Contributes
  to Impaired Exercise Response by Suppression of Mitochondrial Key Regulators in
  Skeletal Muscle. Diabetes 65, 2849–2861. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-1723
- Boisseau, N., Isacco, L., Duche, P., 2012. Influence of Hormonal Status on Substrate Utilization at Rest and during Exercise in the Female Population. Sport. Med. 42, 327–342.
- Book, C B, Dunaif, a, 1999. Selective insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 3110–3116.
- Book, Carol Beth, Dunaif, A., 1999. Selective insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 3110–3116. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.84.9.3110
- Bourlier, V., Saint-Laurent, C., Louche, K., Badin, P.M., Thalamas, C., Glisezinski, I. De, Langin, D., Sengenes, C., Moro, C., 2013. Enhanced glucose metabolism is preserved in cultured primary Myotubes from obese donors in response to exercise training. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 3739–3747. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-1727

- Bozdag, G., Mumusoglu, S., Zengin, D., Karabulut, E., Yildiz, B.O., 2016. The prevalence and phenotypic features of polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-Analysis. Hum. Reprod. 31, 2841–2855. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew218
- Brachmann, S.M., Ueki, K., Engelman, J.A., Kahn, R.C., Cantley, L.C., 2005. Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Catalytic Subunit Deletion and Regulatory Subunit Deletion Have Opposite Effects on Insulin Sensitivity in Mice. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25, 1596–1607. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.25.5.1596-1607.2005
- Bradley, H., Shaw, C.S., Bendtsen, C., Worthington, P.L., Wilson, O.J., Strauss, J.A., Wallis, G.A., Turner, A.M., Wagenmakers, A.J.M., 2015. Visualization and quantitation of GLUT4 translocation in human skeletal muscle following glucose ingestion and exercise. Physiol. Rep. 3, e12375. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12375
- Braga, M., Bhasin, S., Jasuja, R., Pervin, S., Singh, R., 2012. Testosterone inhibits transforming growth factor-β signaling during myogenic differentiation and proliferation of mouse satellite cells: Potential role of follistatin in mediating testosterone action. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 350, 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2011.11.019
- Brakta, S., Lizneva, D., Mykhalchenko, K., Imam, A., Walker, W., Diamond, M.P., Azziz, R., 2017. Perspectives on polycystic ovary syndrome: Is polycystic ovary syndrome research underfunded? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 4421–4427. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-01415
- Braun, B., Zimmermann, M.B., Kretchmer, N., 1995. Effects of exercise intensity on insulin sensitivity in women with non- insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Appl. Physiol. 78, 300–306. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1995.78.1.300
- Bremer, A.A., Miller, W.L., 2008. The serine phosphorylation hypothesis of polycystic ovary syndrome: a unifying mechanism for hyperandrogenemia and insulin resistance. Fertil. Steril. 89, 1039–1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.02.091
- Brown, Audrey E, Jones, D.E., Walker, M., Newton, J.L., 2015. Abnormalities of AMPK Activation and Glucose Uptake in Cultured Skeletal Muscle Cells from Individuals with Chronic Fatigue Syndrome 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122982
- Brown, Audrey E., Palsgaard, J., Borup, R., Avery, P., Gunn, D.A., De Meyts, P., Yeaman, S.J., Walker, M., 2015. P38 mapk activation upregulates proinflammatory pathways in skeletal muscle cells from insulin-resistant type 2 diabetic patients. Am. J. Physiol. -Endocrinol. Metab. 308, E63–E70. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00115.2014

Bruno, N.E., Kelly, K.A., Hawkins, R., Bramah-Lawani, M., Amelio, A.L., Nwachukwu, J.C.,

Nettles, K.W., Conkright, M.D., 2014. Creb coactivators direct anabolic responses and enhance performance of skeletal muscle. EMBO J. 33, 1027–1043. https://doi.org/10.1002/embj.201386145

- Budi, E.H., Muthusamy, B.P., Derynck, R., 2015. The insulin response integrates increased TGF-b signaling through Akt-induced enhancement of cell surface delivery of TGF-b receptors. Sci. Signal. 8, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aaa9432
- Buford, T.W., Roberts, M.D., Church, T.S., 2013. Toward exercise as personalized medicine. Sport. Med. 43, 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-013-0018-0
- Bungum, L., Tagevi, J., Jokubkiene, L., Bungum, M., Giwercman, A., Macklon, N., Andersen, C.Y., Klausen, T.W., Tørring, N., Kumar, A., Skouby, S.O., 2018. The Impact of the Biological Variability or Assay Performance on AMH Measurements: A Prospective Cohort Study With AMH Tested on Three Analytical Assay-Platforms. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 9, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00603
- Burch, N., Arnold, A.S., Item, F., Summermatter, S., Santos, G.B.S., Christe, M., Boutellier, U., Toigo, M., Handschin, C., 2010. Electric pulse stimulation of cultured murine muscle cells reproduces gene expression changes of trained mouse muscle. PLoS One 5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010970
- Burgomaster, K.A., Howarth, K.R., Phillips, S.M., Rakobowchuk, M., Macdonald, M.J., Mcgee, S.L., Gibala, M.J., 2008. Similar metabolic adaptations during exercise after low volume sprint interval and traditional endurance training in humans. J. Physiol. 586, 151– 160. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.142109
- Burns, J.S., Manda, G., 2017. Metabolic pathways of the warburg effect in health and disease: Perspectives of choice, chain or chance. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18122755
- Cartee, G.D., 2015a. Roles of TBC1D1 and TBC1D4 in insulin- and exercise-stimulated glucose transport of skeletal muscle. Diabetologia 58, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3395-5
- Cartee, G.D., 2015b. Mechanisms for greater insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in normal and insulin-resistant skeletal muscle after acute exercise. Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab. 309, E949–E959. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00416.2015
- Cartee, G.D., Briggs-Tung, C., Kietzke, E.W., 1993. Persistent effects of exercise on skeletal muscle glucose transport across the life-span of rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 75, 972–978. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1993.75.2.972

- Cassar, S., Misso, M.L., Hopkins, W.G., Shaw, C.S., Teede, H.J., Stepto, N.K., 2016a. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of euglycaemic–hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies. Hum. Reprod. 31, 2619–2631. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew243
- Cassar, S., Misso, M.L., Hopkins, W.G., Shaw, C.S., Teede, H.J., Stepto, N.K., 2016b. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of euglycaemic–hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies. Hum. Reprod. 31, 2619–2631. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew243
- Cassar, S., Teede, H.J., Moran, L.J., Joham, A.E., Harrison, C.L., Strauss, B.J., Stepto, N.K., 2014. Polycystic ovary syndrome and anti-Müllerian hormone: role of insulin resistance, androgens, obesity and gonadotrophins. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 81, 899–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.12557
- Cassidy, S., Thoma, C., Houghton, D., Trenell, M.I., 2017. High-intensity interval training: a review of its impact on glucose control and cardiometabolic health. Diabetologia 60, 7– 23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-4106-1
- Castorena, C.M., Arias, E.B., Sharma, N., Cartee, G.D., 2014. Postexercise improvement in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake occurs concomitant with greater AS160 phosphorylation in muscle from normal and insulin-resistant rats. Diabetes 63, 2297– 2308. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-1686
- Catoire, M., Mensink, M., Boekschoten, M. V., Hangelbroek, R., Müller, M., Schrauwen, P., Kersten, S., 2012. Pronounced Effects of Acute Endurance Exercise on Gene Expression in Resting and Exercising Human Skeletal Muscle. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051066
- Cedars, M.I., Steingold, K.A., de Ziegler, D., Lapolt, P.S., Chang, R.J., Judd, H.L., 1992. Longterm administration of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist and dexamethasone: assessment of the adrenal role in ovarian dysfunction. Fertil. Steril. 57, 495–500.
- Cen, H.H., Botezelli, J.D., Wang, S., Noursadeghi, N., Johnson, J.D., 2019. Downregulation of muscle cell Insr and insulin receptor signaling by hyperinsulinemia in vitro and in vivo. bioRxiv 556571. https://doi.org/10.1101/556571
- Chen, W., Nyasha, M.R., Koide, M., Tsuchiya, M., Suzuki, N., Hagiwara, Y., Aoki, M., Kanzaki, M., 2019. In vitro exercise model using contractile human and mouse hybrid myotubes. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48316-9

Chen, Z., McConell, G.K., Michell, B.J., Snow, R.J., Canny, B.J., Kemp, B.E., 2000. AMPK

signaling in contracting human skeletal muscle: acetyl-CoA carboxylase and NO synthase phosphorylation. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 279, E1202–E1206. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2000.279.5.E1202

- Chin, D., Boyle, G.M., Parsons, P.G., Coman, W.B., 2004. What is transforming growth factorbeta (TGF-β)? Br. J. Plast. Surg. 57, 215–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2003.12.012
- Chinsomboon, J., Ruas, J., Gupta, R.K., Thom, R., Shoag, J., Rowe, G.C., Sawada, N., Raghuram, S., Arany, Z., 2009. The transcriptional coactivator PGC-1α mediates exercise-induced angiogenesis in skeletal muscle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 21401–21406. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0909131106
- Choi, H.I., Park, J.S., Kim, D.H., Kim, C.S., Bae, E.H., Ma, S.K., Kim, S.W., 2019. PGC-1α suppresses the activation of TGF-β/smad signaling via targeting TGFBRI downregulation by let-7b/c upregulation. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20205084
- Ciaraldi, T.P., Abrams, L., Nikoulina, S., Mudaliar, S., Henry, R.R., 1995. Glucose transport in cultured human skeletal muscle cells. Regulation by insulin and glucose in nondiabetic and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus subjects. J. Clin. Invest. 96, 2820–7. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI118352
- Ciaraldi, T.P., Aroda, V., Mudaliar, S., Chang, J., Henry, R.R., Chang, R.J., Henry, R.R., 2009. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Is Associated with Tissue-Specific Differences in Insulin Resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 157–163. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-1492
- Ciaraldi, T.P., Aroda, V., Mudaliar, S.R., Henry, R.R., 2013. Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, skeletal muscle and polycystic ovary syndrome: Effects of pioglitazone and metformin treatment. Metabolism. 62, 1587–1596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2013.07.004
- Ciaraldi, T.P., Morales, A.J., Hickman, M.G., Odom-Ford, R., Yen, S.S.C., Olefsky, J.M., 1998. Lack of insulin resistance in fibroblasts from subjects with polycystic ovary syndrome. Metabolism. 47, 940–946. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-0495(98)90348-1
- Cleasby, M.E., Reinten, T.A., Cooney, G.J., James, D.E., Kraegen, E.W., 2007. Functional studies of Akt isoform specificity in skeletal muscle in vivo; maintained insulin sensitivity despite reduced insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. Mol. Endocrinol. 21, 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2006-0154
- Coffey, V.G., Zhong, Z., Shield, A., Canny, B.J., Chibalin, A. V., Zierath, J.R., Hawley, J.A., 2006. Early signaling responses to divergent exercise stimuli in skeletal muscle from well-

trained humans. FASEB J. 20, 190-192. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-4809fje

- Cogan, K.E., Carson, B.P., Patel, B., Amigo-Benavent, M., Jakeman, P.M., Egan, B., 2019. Regulation of GLUT4 translocation in an in vitro cell model using postprandial human serum ex vivo. Exp. Physiol. 104, 800–807. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP087356
- Combes, A., Dekerle, J., Webborn, N., Watt, P., Bougault, V., Daussin, F.N., 2015. Exerciseinduced metabolic fluctuations influence AMPK, p38-MAPK and CaMKII phosphorylation in human skeletal muscle. Physiol. Rep. 3, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12462
- Conery, A.R., Cao, Y., Thompson, E.A., Townsend, C.M., Ko, T.C., Luo, K., 2004. Akt interacts directly with Smad3 to regulate the sensitivity to TGF-β-induced apoptosis. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 366–372. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1117
- Conn, V.S., Koopman, R.J., Ruppar, T.M., Phillips, L.J., Mehr, D.R., Hafdahl, A.R., 2014. Insulin Sensitivity Following Exercise Interventions. J. Prim. Care Community Health 5, 211–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150131913520328
- Cook, C.L., Siow, Y., Brenner, A.G., Fallat, M.E., 2002. Relationship between serum müllerian-inhibiting substance and other reproductive hormones in untreated women with polycystic ovary syndrome and normal women. Fertil. Steril. 77, 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(01)02944-2
- Cooney, L.G., Lee, I., Sammel, M.D., Dokras, A., 2017. High prevalence of moderate and severe depressive and anxiety symptoms in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum. Reprod. 32, 1075–1091. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dex044
- Corbould, A., 2008. Insulin resistance in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue in polycystic ovary syndrome: are the molecular mechanims distinct from type 2 diabetes? Panminerva Med. 50, 279–294.
- Corbould, A., Dunaif, A., 2007. The adipose cell lineage is not intrinsically insulin resistant in polycystic ovary syndrome. Metabolism 56, 716–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2006.12.021
- Corbould, A., Kim, Y.-B., Youngren, J.F., Pender, C., Kahn, B.B., Lee, A., Dunaif, A., Kim, Y.-B., Youngren, J.F., Kahn, B.B., Lee, A., Insulin, A.D., 2005. Insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS involves intrinsic and acquired defects in insulin signaling. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288, E1047-54. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00361.2004

- Corbould, A., Zhao, H., Mirzoeva, S., Aird, F., Dunaif, A., 2006. Enhanced Mitogenic Signaling in Skeletal Muscle of Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Diabetes 55, 751–759. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.55.03.06.db05-0453
- Cornall, L., Hryciw, D., Mathai, M., McAinch, A., 2012. Generation and Use of Cultured Human Primary Myotubes, in: Muscle Biopsy. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/33534
- Costello, M.F., Misso, M.L., Balen, A., Boyle, J., Devoto, L., Garad, R.M., Hart, R., Johnson, L., Jordan, C., Legro, R.S., 2019. Evidence summaries and recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: assessment and treatment of infertility. Hum. Reprod. Open 2019, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1093/hropen/hoy021
- Coviello, A.D., Sam, S., Legro, R.S., Dunaif, A., 2009. High prevalence of metabolic syndrome in first-degree male relatives of women with polycystic ovary syndrome is related to high rates of obesity. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 4361–4366. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-1333
- Covington, J.D., Myland, C.K., Rustan, A.C., Ravussin, E., Smith, S.R., Bajpeyi, S., 2015. Effect of serial cell passaging in the retention of fiber type and mitochondrial content in primary human myotubes. Obesity 23, 2414–2420. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21192
- Cree-Green, M., 2017. Worldwide dissatisfaction with the diagnostic process and initial treatment of PCOS. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 375–378. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-3808
- Dahl, T.B., Holm, S., Aukrust, P., Halvorsen, B., 2012. Visfatin/NAMPT: A Multifaceted Molecule with Diverse Roles in Physiology and Pathophysiology. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 32, 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071811-150746
- Dahlgren, E., Landin, K., Krotkiewski, M., Holm, G., Janson, P.O., 1998. Effects of two antiandrogen treatments on hirsutism and insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum. Reprod. 13, 2706–2711. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/13.10.2706
- Dantas, W.S., Antonio Miguel Marcondes, J., Katsuyuki Shinjo, S., Augusto Perandini, L., Olzon Zambelli, V., Das Neves, W., Roberto Grimaldi Barcellos, C., Patrocínio Rocha, M., Dos Reis Vieira Yance, V., Tavares Dos Santos Pereira, R., Hisashi Murai, I., Lucia De Sá Pinto, A., Roschel, H., Gualano, B., 2015. GLUT4 translocation is not impaired after acute exercise in skeletal muscle of women with obesity and polycystic ovary syndrome. Obesity 23, 2207–2215. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21217

- Dantas, W.S., Murai, I.H., Perandini, L.A., Azevedo, H., Moreira-Filho, C.A., Camara, N.O.S., Roschel, H., Gualano, B., 2017. Acute exercise elicits differential expression of insulin resistance genes in the skeletal muscle of patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 86, 688–697. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.13307
- Dantas, W.S., Neves, W. das, Gil, S., Barcellos, C.R.G., Rocha, M.P., de Sá-Pinto, A.L., Roschel, H., Gualano, B., 2019. Exercise-induced anti-inflammatory effects in overweight/obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Cytokine 120, 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.04.006
- Dantas, W.S., Roschel, H., Murai, I.H., Gil, S., Davuluri, G., Axelrod, C.L., Ghosh, S., Newman, S.S., Zhang, H., Shinjo, S.K., Neves, W. das, Merege-Filho, C., Teodoro, W.R., Capelozzi, V.L., Pereira, R.M., Benatti, F.B., de Sá-Pinto, A.L., de Cleva, R., Santo, M.A., Kirwan, J.P., Gualano, B., 2020. Exercise-Induced Increases in Insulin Sensitivity After Bariatric surgery are Mediated by Muscle Extracellular Matrix Remodeling. Diabetes db191180. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-1180
- Davegårdh, C., Hall Wedin, E., Broholm, C., Henriksen, T.I., Pedersen, M., Pedersen, B.K., Scheele, C., Ling, C., 2019. Sex influences DNA methylation and gene expression in human skeletal muscle myoblasts and myotubes. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 10, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-1118-4
- David, C.J., Massagué, J., 2018. Contextual determinants of TGFβ action in development, immunity and cancer. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19, 419–435. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0007-0
- Day, F.R., Hinds, D.A., Tung, J.Y., Stolk, L., Styrkarsdottir, U., Saxena, R., Bjonnes, A., Broer, L., Dunger, D.B., Halldorsson, B. V, Lawlor, D.A., Laval, G., Mathieson, I., McCardle, W.L., Louwers, Y., Meun, C., Ring, S., Scott, R.A., Sulem, P., Uitterlinden, A.G., Wareham, N.J., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Welt, C., Stefansson, K., Laven, J.S.E., Ong, K.K., Perry, J.R.B., 2015. Causal mechanisms and balancing selection inferred from genetic associations with polycystic ovary syndrome. Nat. Commun. 6, 8464. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9464
- De Leo, V., La Marca, A., Petraglia, F., 2003. Insulin-Lowering Agents in the Management of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Endocr. Rev. 24, 633–667. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2002-0015
- Deeks, A.A., Gibson-Helm, M.E., Teede, H.J., 2010. Anxiety and depression in polycystic ovary syndrome: A comprehensive investigation. Fertil. Steril. 93, 2421–2423.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.09.018

- Defronzo, R.A., Ferrannini, E., Sato, Y., Felig, P., 1981. Synergistic Interaction between Exercise and Insulin on Peripheral Glucose Uptake. J. Clin. Invest. 68, 1468–1474. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI110399
- DeFronzo, R.A., Tobin, J.D., Andres, R., 1979. Glucose clamp technique: A method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. Gastrointest. Physiol. 6.
- DeFronzo, R.A., Tripathy, D., 2009. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 32 Suppl 2. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-S302
- Derynck, R., Budi, E.H., 2019. Specificity, versatility, and control of TGF-β family signaling. Sci. Signal. 12, eaav5183. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aav5183
- Deshmukh, A.S., Murgia, M., Nagaraj, N., Treebak, J.T., Cox, J., Mann, M., 2015. Deep proteomics of mouse skeletal muscle enables quantitation of protein isoforms, metabolic pathways, and transcription factors. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 14, 841–853. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M114.044222
- DeUgarte, C.M., Bartolucci, A.A., Azziz, R., 2005. Prevalence of insulin resistance in the polycystic ovary syndrome using the homeostasis model assessment. Fertil. Steril. 83, 1454–1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.11.070
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Argyrakopoulou, G., Economou, F., Kandaraki, E., Koutsilieris, M., 2008. Defects in insulin signaling pathways in ovarian steroidogenesis and other tissues in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 109, 242–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2008.03.014
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Dunaif, A., 2012. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome revisited: An update on mechanisms and implications. Endocr. Rev. 33, 981–1030. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2011-1034
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Papavassiliou, A.G., 2006. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. Trends Mol. Med. 12, 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2006.05.006
- Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., Piouka, A., Livadas, S., Piperi, C., Katsikis, I., Papavassiliou, A.G., Panidis, D., 2009. Anti-mullerian hormone is associated with advanced glycosylated end products in lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 160, 847– 853. https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-08-0510
- Diamond-Stanic, M.K., Marchionne, E.M., Teachey, M.K., Durazo, D.E., Kim, J.S.,

Henriksen, E.J., 2011. Critical role of the transient activation of p38 MAPK in the etiology of skeletal muscle insulin resistance induced by low-level in vitro oxidant stress. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 405, 439–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.01.049

- Diamond, M.P., Grainger, D., Diamond, M.C., Sherwin, R.S., Defronzo, R.A., 1998. Effects of methyltestosterone on insulin secretion and sensitivity in women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83, 4420–4425. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.83.12.4420
- Dona, S., Bacchi, E., Moghetti, P., 2017. Is cardiorespiratory fitness impaired in PCOS women? A review of the literature. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 40, 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-016-0599-1
- Draznin, B., 2006. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance: Serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 and increased expression of p85 α: The two sides of a coin. Diabetes 55, 2392–2397. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-0391
- Duan, D., Derynck, R., 2019. Transforming growth factor β (TGF-β)-induced up-regulation of TGF-β receptors at the cell surface amplifies the TGF-β response. J. Biol. Chem. jbc.RA118.005763. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.005763
- Dubé, J.J., Coen, P.M., DiStefano, G., Chacon, A.C., Helbling, N.L., Desimone, M.E., Stafanovic-Racic, M., Hames, K.C., Despines, A. a, Toledo, F.G.S., Goodpaster, B.H., 2014. Effects of acute lipid overload on skeletal muscle insulin resistance, metabolic flexibility, and mitochondrial performance. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 307, E1117-24. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00257.2014
- Duleba, A.J., Spaczynski, R.Z., Olive, D.L., 1998. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor I stimulate the proliferation of human ovarian theca-interstitial cells. Fertil. Steril. 69, 335–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(97)00473-1
- Dumesic, D.A., Akopians, A.L., Madrigal, V.K., Ramirez, E., Margolis, D.J., Sarma, M.K., Thomas, A.M., Grogan, T.R., Haykal, R., Schooler, T.A., Okeya, B.L., Abbott, D.H., Chazenbalk, G.D., 2016. Hyperandrogenism Accompanies Increased Intra-Abdominal Fat Storage in Normal Weight Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 101, 4178–4188. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-2586
- Dumesic, D.A., Phan, J.D., Leung, K.L., Grogan, T.R., Ding, X., Li, X., Hoyos, L.R., Abbott, D.H., Chazenbalk, G.D., 2019. Adipose Insulin Resistance in Normal-Weight Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 2171–2183. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-02086

Dunaif, A., Finegood, D.T., 1996. B-Cell Dysfunction Independent of Obesity and Glucose

Intolerenace in the Polycycstic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 942–947.

- Dunaif, A., Green, G., Futterweit, W., Dobrjansky, A., 1990. Suppression of Hyperandrogenism Does not Improve Peripheral or Hepatic Insulin Resistance in the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 70, 699–704. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-70-3-699
- Dunaif, A., Scott, D., Finegood, D., Quintana, B., Whitcomb, R., 1996. The insulin-sensitizing agent troglitazone improves metabolic and reproductive abnormalities in the polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 3299–3306. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.81.9.8784087
- Dunaif, A., Segal, K.R., Futterweit, W., Dobrjansky, A., 1989. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. Diabetes 38, 1165– 1174. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.38.9.1165
- Dunaif, A., Wu, X., Lee, A., Diamanti-Kandarakis, E., 2001. Defects in insulin receptor signaling in vivo in the polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 281, E392-9. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2001.281.2.E392
- Dunaif, A., Xia, J., Book, C., Schenker, E., Tang, Z., Hershey, M.S., 1995. Excessive Insulin Receptor Serine Phosphorylation in Cultured Fibroblasts and in Skeletal Muscle A Potential Mechanism for Insulin Resistance in the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 96, 801–810.
- Durmus, U., Duran, C., Ecirli, S., 2017. Visceral adiposity index levels in overweight and/or obese, and non-obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome and its relationship with metabolic and inflammatory parameters. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 40, 487–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-016-0582-x
- Egan, B., Carson, B.P., Garcia-Roves, P.M., Chibalin, A. V., Sarsfield, F.M., Barron, N., McCaffrey, N., Moyna, N.M., Zierath, J.R., O'Gorman, D.J., 2010. Exercise intensity-dependent regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ coactivator-1α mRNA abundance is associated with differential activation of upstream signalling kinases in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 588, 1779–1790. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.188011
- Egan, B., Zierath, J.R., 2013. Exercise metabolism and the molecular regulation of skeletal muscle adaptation. Cell Metab. 17, 162–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.012
- Ehrmann, D.A., 2005. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 1223-1236.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra041536

- Ehrmann, D.A., Rosenfield, R.L., Barnes, R.B., Brigell, D.F., Sheikh, Z., 1992. Detection of Functional Ovarian Hyperandrogenism in Women with Androgen Excess. N. Engl. J. Med. 327, 157–162. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199207163270304
- Eilers, W., Chambers, D., Cleasby, M., Foster, K., 2020. Local myostatin inhibition improves skeletal muscle glucose uptake in insulin resistant high fat diet-fed mice. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. ajpendo.00185.2019. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00185.2019
- Ennour-Idrissi, K., Maunsell, E., Diorio, C., 2015. Effect of physical activity on sex hormones in women: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Breast Cancer Res. 17, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-015-0647-3
- Eriksen, M., Pørneki, A.D., Skov, V., Burns, J.S., Beck-nielsen, H., Gaster, M., 2010. Insulin Resistance Is Not Conserved in Myotubes Established from Women with PCOS. PLoS One 5, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014469
- Eriksen, M.B., Glintborg, D., Nielsen, M.F.B., Jakobsen, M.A., Brusgaard, K., Tan, Q., Gaster, M., 2014. Testosterone treatment increases androgen receptor and aromatase gene expression in myotubes from patients with PCOS and controls, but does not induce insulin resistance. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 451, 622–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.033
- Eriksen, M.B., Minet, A.D., Glintborg, D., Gaster, M., 2011. Intact Primary Mitochondrial Function in Myotubes Established from Women with PCOS. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, E1298–E1302. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0278
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G., Buchner, A., 2007. G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav. Res. Methods 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fay, L., Londeree, B., Lafontain, T., Volek, M., 2009. Physiological Parameters Related To Distance Running Performance in Female Athletes. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318168da2f
- Fazakerley, D.J., Krycer, J.R., Kearney, A.L., Hocking, S.L., James, D.E., 2019. Muscle and adipose tissue insulin resistance: malady without mechanism? J. Lipid Res. 60, 1720– 1732. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R087510
- Feng, Y.Z., Nikoli, N., Bakke, S.S., Kase, E.T., Guderud, K., Hjelmesæth, J., Aas, V., Rustan, A.C., Thoresen, G.H., 2015. Myotubes from lean and severely obese subjects with and without type 2 diabetes respond differently to an in vitro model of exercise. Am. J.

Physiol. - Cell Physiol. 308, 548-556. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00314.2014

- Fox, J.H., Licholai, T., Green, G., Dunaif, A., 1993. Differential effects of oral glucosemediated versus intravenous hyperinsulinemia on circulating androgen levels in women. Fertil. Steril. 60, 994–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0015-0282(16)56399-7
- Franks, S., Webber, L.J., Goh, M., Valentine, A., White, D.M., Conway, G.S., Wiltshire, S., McCarthy, M.I., 2008. Ovarian morphology is a marker of heritable biochemical traits in sisters with polycystic ovaries. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 3396–3402. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-0369
- Frederiksen, C.M., Højlund, K., Hansen, L., Oakeley, E.J., Hemmings, B., Abdallah, B.M., Brusgaard, K., Beck-Nielsen, H., Gaster, M., 2008. Transcriptional profiling of myotubes from patients with type 2 diabetes: No evidence for a primary defect in oxidative phosphorylation genes. Diabetologia 51, 2068–2077. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-008-1122-9
- Garg, D., Tal, R., 2016. The role of AMH in the pathophysiology of polycystic ovarian syndrome. Reprod. Biomed. Online 33, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2016.04.007
- Garten, A., Schuster, S., Penke, M., Gorski, T., De Giorgis, T., Kiess, W., 2015. Physiological and pathophysiological roles of NAMPT and NAD metabolism. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 11, 535–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.117
- Gaster, M., 2019. The diabetic phenotype is preserved in myotubes established from type 2 diabetic subjects: a critical appraisal. APMIS 127, 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.12908
- Gaster, M., Nehlin, J.O., Minet, A.D., 2012. Impaired TCA cycle flux in mitochondria in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic subjects: Marker or maker of the diabetic phenotype. Arch. Physiol. Biochem. 118, 156–189. https://doi.org/10.3109/13813455.2012.656653
- Gaster, M., Petersen, I., Højlund, K., Poulsen, P., Beck-nielsen, H., 2002. The Diabetic Phenotype Is Conserved in Myotubes Established From Diabetic Subjects. Diabetes 51, 921–927.
- Ge, X., Vajjala, A., McFarlane, C., Wahli, W., Sharma, M., Kambadur, R., 2012. Lack of Smad3 signaling leads to impaired skeletal muscle regeneration. Am. J. Physiol. -Endocrinol. Metab. 303, 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00113.2012
- Geiger, P.C., Dong, H.H., Wright, D.C., Holloszy, J.O., 2006. How muscle insulin sensitivity is regulated: Testing of a hypothesis. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 291, 1258–

1263. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00273.2006

- Geiger, P.C., Wright, D.C., Han, D.H., Holloszy, J.O., 2005. Activation of p38 MAP kinase enhances sensitivity of muscle glucose transport to insulin. Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab. 288, 782–788. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00477.2004
- Gibala, M.J., McGee, S.L., Garnham, A.P., Howlett, K.F., Snow, R.J., Hargreaves, M., 2009. Brief intense interval exercise activates AMPK and p38 MAPK signaling and increases the expression of PGC-1 in human skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 106, 929–934. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.90880.2008
- Gibson-Helm, M., Teede, H., Dunaif, A., Dokras, A., 2017. Delayed diagnosis and a lack of information associated with dissatisfaction in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 604–612. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-2963
- Gilda, J.E., Ghosh, R., Cheah, J.X., West, T.M., Bodine, S.C., Gomes, A. V., 2015. Western blotting inaccuracies with unverified antibodies: Need for a Western Blotting Minimal Reporting Standard (WBMRS). PLoS One 10, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135392
- Gillies, A.R., Lieber, R.L., 2011. Structure and function of the skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. Muscle and Nerve 44, 318–331. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.22094
- Glintborg, D., Højlund, K., Andersen, N.R., Hansen, B.F., Beck-Nielsen, H., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2008. Impaired insulin activation and dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase in skeletal muscle of women with polycystic ovary syndrome is reversed by pioglitazone treatment. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 3618–3626. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-0760
- Glister, C., Richards, S.L., Knight, P.G., 2005. Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) -4, -6, and
  -7 potently suppress basal and luteinizing hormone-induced androgen production by bovine theca interna cells in primary culture: Could ovarian hyperandrogenic dysfunction be caused by a defect in thecal BMP si. Endocrinology 146, 1883–1892. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2004-1303
- González, F., Rote, N.S., Minium, J., Kirwan, J.P., 2006a. Increased activation of nuclear factor κB triggers inflammation and insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 1508–1512. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-2327
- González, F., Rote, N.S., Minium, J., Kirwan, J.P., 2006b. Reactive Oxygen Species-InducedOxidative Stress in the Development of Insulin Resistance and Hyperandrogenism inPolycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 336–340.

https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-1696

- Goodarzi, M.O., Dumesic, D.A., Chazenbalk, G., Azziz, R., 2011. Polycystic ovary syndrome: Etiology, pathogenesis and diagnosis. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 7, 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2010.217
- Goodarzi, M.O., Erickson, S., Port, S.C., Jennrich, R.I., Korenman, S.G., 2005. β-Cell Function: A Key Pathological Determinant in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 310–315. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-1006
- Goodman, C.A., McNally, R.M., Hoffmann, F.M., Hornberger, T.A., 2013. Smad3 induces atrogin-1, inhibits mTOR and protein synthesis, and promotes muscle atrophy in vivo. Mol. Endocrinol. 27, 1946–1957. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2013-1194
- Goodyear, L.J., Giorgino, F., Sherman, L.A., Carey, J., Smith, R.J., Dohm, G.L., 1995. Insulin receptor phosphorylation, insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity are decreased in intact skeletal muscle strips from obese subjects. J. Clin. Invest. 95, 2195–2204. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI117909
- Granata, C., Oliveira, R.S.F., Little, J.P., Renner, K., Bishop, D.J., 2017. Sprint-interval but not continuous exercise increases PGC-1 α protein content and p53 phosphorylation in nuclear fractions of human skeletal muscle. Nat. Publ. Gr. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44227
- Green, C.J., Bunprajun, T., Pedersen, B.K., Scheele, C., 2013. Physical activity is associated with retained muscle metabolism in human myotubes challenged with palmitate. J. Physiol. 591, 4621–4635. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2013.251421
- Greenwood, E.A., Noel, M.W., Kao, C.-N., Shinkai, K., Pasch, L.A., Cedars, M.I., Huddleston, H.G., 2016. Vigorous exercise is associated with superior metabolic profiles in polycystic ovary syndrome independent of total exercise expenditure. Fertil. Steril. 105, 486–493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.10.020
- Gual, P., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., Tanti, J.F., 2005. Positive and negative regulation of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. Biochimie 87, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2004.10.019
- Guo, Q., Wei, X., Hu, H., Yang, D.Q., Zhang, B., Fan, X., Liu, J., He, H., Oh, Y., Wu, Q., Zhang, Y., Wang, C., Liu, C., Gu, N., 2019. The saturated fatty acid palmitate induces insulin resistance through Smad3-mediated down-regulation of FNDC5 in myotubes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 520, 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.10.077

- Guo, X., Wang, X.F., 2009. Signaling cross-talk between TGF-β/BMP and other pathways. Cell Res. 19, 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2008.302
- Guzmán-Ruiz, R., Tercero-Alcázar, C., Rabanal-Ruiz, Y., Díaz-Ruiz, A., El Bekay, R., Rangel-Zuñiga, O.A., Navarro-Ruiz, M.C., Molero, L., Membrives, A., Ruiz-Rabelo, J.F., Pandit, A., López-Miranda, J., Tinahones, F.J., Malagón, M.M., 2020. Adipose tissue depot-specific intracellular and extracellular cues contributing to insulin resistance in obese individuals. FASEB J. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201902703R
- Han, X., Møller, L.L.V., De Groote, E., Bojsen-Møller, K.N., Davey, J., Henríquez-Olguin, C., Li, Z., Knudsen, J.R., Jensen, T.E., Madsbad, S., Gregorevic, P., Richter, E.A., Sylow, L., 2019. Mechanisms involved in follistatin-induced hypertrophy and increased insulin action in skeletal muscle. J. Cachexia. Sarcopenia Muscle 10, 1241–1257. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12474
- Hançer, N.J., Qiu, W., Cherella, C., Li, Y., Copps, K.D., White, M.F., 2014. Insulin and metabolic stress stimulate multisite serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 and inhibit tyrosine phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 12467–12484. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.554162
- Hansen, P.A., Nolte, L.A., Chen, M.M., Holloszy, J.O., 1998. Increased GLUT-4 translocation mediates enhanced insulin sensitivity of muscle glucose transport after exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 85, 1218–1222. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1998.85.4.1218
- Hansen, S.L., Bojsen-Møller, K.N., Lundsgaard, A.M., Hendrich, F.L., Nilas, L., Sjøberg, K.A., Hingst, J.R., Serup, A.K., Olguín, C.H., Carl, C.S., Wernblad, L.F., Henneberg, M., Lustrup, K.M., Hansen, C., Jensen, T.E., Madsbad, S., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Richter, E.A., Kiens, B., 2020. Mechanisms underlying absent training-induced improvement in insulin action in lean, hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Diabetes 69, 2267–2280. https://doi.org/10.2337/db20-0062
- Hansen, S.L., Svendsen, P.F., Jeppesen, J.F., Hoeg, L.D., Andersen, N.R., Kristensen, J.M., Nilas, L., Lundsgaard, A.-M., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Madsbad, S., Kiens, B., 2019.
  Molecular Mechanisms in Skeletal Muscle Underlying Insulin Resistance in Women Who Are Lean With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 1841–1854. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-01771
- Harrison, C.L., Stepto, N.K., Hutchison, S.K., Teede, H.J., 2012. The impact of intensified exercise training on insulin resistance and fitness in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 76, 351–357.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04160.x

- Hatzirodos, N., Bayne, R. a, Irving-Rodgers, H.F., Hummitzsch, K., Sabatier, L., Lee, S., Bonner, W., Gibson, M. a, Rainey, W.E., Carr, B.R., Mason, H.D., Reinhardt, D.P., Anderson, R. a, Rodgers, R.J., 2011. Linkage of regulators of TGF-β activity in the fetal ovary to polycystic ovary syndrome. FASEB J. 25, 2256–2265. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.11-181099
- Heath, G.W., Gavin, J.R., Hinderliter, J.M., Hagberg, J.M., Bloomfield, S.A., Holloszy, J.O., 1983. Effects of exercise and lack of exercise on glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity.
  J. Appl. Physiol. 55, 512–517. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1983.55.2.512
- Henry, R.R., Abrams, L., Nikoulina, S., Ciaraldi, T.P., 1995. Insulin action and glucose metabolism in nondiabetic control and NIDDM subjects: Comparison using human skeletal muscle cell cultures. Diabetes 44, 936–946. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.44.8.936
- Hernández-Alvarez, M.I., Thabit, H., Burns, N., Shah, S., Brema, I., Hatunic, M., Finucane, F., Liesa, M., Chiellini, C., Naon, D., Zorzano, A., Nolan, J.J., 2010. Subjects With Early-Onset Type 2 Diabetes Show Defective Activation of the Skeletal Muscle PGC-1 alpha/Mitofusin-2 Regulatory Pathway in Response to Physical Activity. Diabetes Care 33, 645–651. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-1305.M.I.H.-A.
- Hiam, D., Patten, R., Gibson-Helm, M., Moreno-Asso, A., McIlvenna, L., Levinger, I., Harrison, C., Moran, L.J., Joham, A., Parker, A., Shorakae, S., Simar, D., Stepto, N., 2019. The effectiveness of high intensity intermittent training on metabolic, reproductive and mental health in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: study protocol for the iHITrandomised controlled trial. Trials 20, 221. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3313-8
- Hingst, J.R., Bruhn, L., Hansen, M.B., Rosschou, M.F., Birk, J.B., Fentz, J., Foretz, M., Viollet,
  B., Sakamoto, K., Færgeman, N.J., Havelund, J.F., Parker, B.L., James, D.E., Kiens, B.,
  Richter, E.A., Jensen, J., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2018. Exercise-induced molecular mechanisms promoting glycogen supercompensation in human skeletal muscle. Mol. Metab. 16, 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018.07.001
- Hirosumi, J., Tuncman, G., Chang, L., Görgün, C.Z., Uysal, K.T., Maeda, K., Karin, M., Hotamisligil, G.S., 2002. A central, role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. Nature 420, 333–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01137
- Hjorth, M., Norheim, F., Meen, A.J., Pourteymour, S., Lee, S., Holen, T., Jensen, J., Birkeland, K.I., Martinov, V.N., Langleite, T.M., Eckardt, K., Drevon, C.A., Kolset, S.O., 2015. The effect of acute and long-term physical activity on extracellular matrix and serglycin in

human skeletal muscle. Physiol. Rep. 3, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12473

- Høeg, L.D., Sjøberg, K.A., Jeppesen, J., Jensen, T.E., Frøsig, C., Birk, J.B., Bisiani, B., Hiscock, N., Pilegaard, H., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Richter, E.A., Kiens, B., 2011. Lipidinduced insulin resistance affects women less than men and is not accompanied by inflammation or impaired proximal insulin signaling. Diabetes 60, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.2337/db10-0698
- Hoehn, K.L., Hohnen-Behrens, C., Cederberg, A., Wu, L.E., Turner, N., Yuasa, T., Ebina, Y., James, D.E., 2008. IRS1-Independent Defects Define Major Nodes of Insulin Resistance. Cell Metab. 7, 421–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.04.005
- Hoffman, N.J., Parker, B.L., Chaudhuri, R., Fisher-Wellman, K.H., Kleinert, M., Humphrey, S.J., Yang, P., Holliday, M., Trefely, S., Fazakerley, D.J., Stöckli, J., Burchfield, J.G., Jensen, T.E., Jothi, R., Kiens, B., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Richter, E.A., James, D.E., 2015. Global Phosphoproteomic Analysis of Human Skeletal Muscle Reveals a Network of Exercise-Regulated Kinases and AMPK Substrates. Cell Metab. 22, 922–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.001
- Hoffmann, C., Weigert, C., 2017. Skeletal muscle as an endocrine organ: The role of myokines in exercise adaptations. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 7. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029793
- Hojlund, K., Glintborg, D., Andersen, N.R., Birk, J.B., Treebak, J.T., Frosig, C., Beck-Nielsen,
  H., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2008. Impaired Insulin-Stimulated Phosphorylation of Akt and
  AS160 in Skeletal Muscle of Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Is Reversed by
  Pioglitazone Treatment. Diabetes 57, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-0706
- Holm, L., Van Hall, G., Rose, A.J., Miller, B.F., Doessing, S., Richter, E.A., Kjaer, M., 2010.
  Contraction intensity and feeding affect collagen and myofibrillar protein synthesis rates differently in human skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 298, 257–269. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00609.2009
- Homburg, R., Pariente, C., Lunenfeld, B., Jacobs, H.S., 1992. The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and IGF binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) in the pathogenesis of polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum. Reprod. 7, 1379–1383. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137577
- Houmard, J.A., Tanner, C.J., Slentz, C.A., Duscha, B.D., McCartney, J.S., Kraus, W.E., 2004. Effect of the volume and intensity of exercise training on insulin sensitivity. J. Appl. Physiol. 96, 101–106. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00707.2003

- Hu, H.H., Chen, D.Q., Wang, Y.N., Feng, Y.L., Cao, G., Vaziri, N.D., Zhao, Y.Y., 2018. New insights into TGF-β/Smad signaling in tissue fibrosis. Chem. Biol. Interact. 292, 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2018.07.008
- Hutchison, S.K., Stepto, N.K., Harrison, C.L., Moran, L.J., Strauss, B.J., Teede, H.J., 2011. Effects of exercise on insulin resistance and body composition in overweight and obese women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 48– 56. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0828
- Hutchison, S.K., Teede, H.J., Rachoń, D., Harrison, C.L., Strauss, B.J., Stepto, N.K., 2012. Effect of exercise training on insulin sensitivity, mitochondria and computed tomography muscle attenuation in overweight women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. Diabetologia 55, 1424–1434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-011-2442-8
- Irani, M., Seifer, D.B., Grazi, R. V., Julka, N., Bhatt, D., Kalgi, B., Irani, S., Tal, O., Lambert-Messerlian, G., Tal, R., 2015. Vitamin D supplementation decreases TGF-β1 bioavailability in PCOS: A randomized placebo-controlled trial. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100, 4307–4314. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-2580
- Jain, M., Rivera, S., Monclus, E.A., Synenki, L., Zirk, A., Eisenbart, J., Feghali-Bostwick, C., Mutlu, G.M., Budinger, G.R.S., Chandel, N.S., 2013. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate transforming growth factor-β signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 770–777. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.431973
- Jallut, D., Golay, A., Munger, R., Frascarolo, P., Schutz, Y., Jéquier, E., Felber, J.P., 1990. Impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes in obesity: A 6-year follow-up study of glucose metabolism. Metabolism 39, 1068–1075. https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(90)90168-C
- Jensen, J., Jebens, E., Brennesvik, E.O., Ruzzin, J., Soos, M.A., Engebretsen, E.M.L., O'Rahilly, S., Whitehead, J.P., 2006. Muscle glycogen inharmoniously regulates glycogen synthase activity, glucose uptake, and proximal insulin signaling. Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab. 290, 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00330.2005
- Kakoly, N.S., Moran, L.J., Teede, H.J., Joham, A.E., 2019. Cardiometabolic risks in PCOS: a review of the current state of knowledge. Expert Rev. Endocrinol. Metab. 14, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/17446651.2019.1556094
- Kasim-Karakas, S.E., Cunningham, W.M., Tsodikov, A., 2007. Relation of nutrients and hormones in polycystic ovary syndrome. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 85, 688–694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/85.3.688
- Kazyken, D., Magnuson, B., Bodur, C., Acosta-Jaquez, H.A., Zhang, D., Tong, X., Barnes,

T.M., Steinl, G.K., Patterson, N.E., Altheim, C.H., Sharma, N., Inoki, K., Cartee, G.D., Bridges, D., Yin, L., Riddle, S.M., Fingar, D.C., 2019. AMPK directly activates mTORC2 to promote cell survival during acute energetic stress. Sci. Signal. 12, eaav3249. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aav3249

- Kent, S.C., Gnatuk, C.L., Kunselman, A.R., Demers, L.M., Lee, P.A., Legro, R.S., 2008. Hyperandrogenism and hyperinsulinism in children of women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A controlled study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 1662–1669. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2007-1958
- Kim, J.Y., Tfayli, H., Michaliszyn, S.F., Arslanian, S., 2018. Impaired lipolysis, diminished fat oxidation, and metabolic inflexibility in obese girls with polycystic ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 103, 546–554. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-01958
- Kim, K.K., Sheppard, D., Chapman, H.A., 2018. TGF-β1 signaling and tissue fibrosis. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 10. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a022293
- King, D.S., Dalsky, G.P., Clutter, W.E., Young, D.A., Staten, M.A., Cryer, P.E., Holloszy, J.O., 1988. Effects of exercise and lack of exercise on insulin sensitivity and responsiveness. J. Appl. Physiol. 64, 1942–1946.
- Kite, C., Lahart, I.M., Afzal, I., Broom, D.R., Randeva, H., Kyrou, I., Brown, J.E., 2019. Exercise, or exercise and diet for the management of polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst. Rev. 8, 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-019-0962-3
- Kjøbsted, R., Chadt, A., Jørgensen, N.O., Kido, K., Larsen, J.K., De Wendt, C., Al-Hasani, H., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2019a. TBC1D4 is necessary for enhancing muscle insulin sensitivity in response to AICAR and contraction. Diabetes 68, 1756–1766. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0769
- Kjøbsted, R., Munk-Hansen, N., Birk, J.B., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., Björnholm, M., Zierath, J.R., Treebak, J.T., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2017. Enhanced Muscle Insulin Sensitivity After Contraction/Exercise Is Mediated by AMPK. Diabetes 66, 598–612. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-0530
- Kjøbsted, R., Pedersen, A.J.T., Hingst, J.R., Sabaratnam, R., Birk, J.B., Kristensen, J.M., Højlund, K., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2016. Intact Regulation of the AMPK Signaling Network in Response to Exercise and Insulin in Skeletal Muscle of Male Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: Illumination of AMPK Activation in Recovery From Exercise. Diabetes 65, 1219–1230. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-1034

- Kjøbsted, R., Roll, J.L.W., Jørgensen, N.O., Birk, J.B., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., Chadt, A., Al-Hasani, H., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2019b. AMPK and TBC1D1 regulate muscle glucose uptake after, but not during, exercise and contraction. Diabetes 68, 1427–1440. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0050
- Knudsen, J.R., Steenberg, D.E., Hingst, J.R., Hodgson, L.R., Henriquez-olguin, C., Li, Z., Kiens, B., Richter, E.A., Jørgen, F.P., Verkade, P., Jensen, T.E., 2020. Prior exercise in humans redistributes intramuscular GLUT4 and enhances insulin-stimulated sarcolemmal and endosomal GLUT4 translocation. Mol. Metab. 100998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.100998
- Knuppel, L., Ishikawa, Y., Aichler, M., Heinzelmann, K., Hatz, R., Behr, J., Walch, A., Bachinger, H.P., Eickelberg, O., Staab-Weijnitz, C.A., 2017. A novel antifibrotic mechanism of nintedanib and pirfenidone inhibition of collagen fibril assembly. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 57, 77–90. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2016-02170C
- Kobaly, K., Vellanki, P., Sisk, R.K., Armstrong, L., Lee, J.Y., Lee, J., Hayes, M.G., Urbanek, M., Legro, R.S., Dunaif, A., 2014. Parent-of-origin effects on glucose homeostasis in polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 99, 2961–6. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-4338
- Kogure, G.S., Silva, R.C., Miranda-Furtado, C.L., Ribeiro, V.B., Pedroso, D.C.C., Melo, A.S., Ferriani, R.A., Reis, R.M. dos, 2018. Hyperandrogenism Enhances Muscle Strength After Progressive Resistance Training, Independent of Body Composition, in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Strength Cond. Res. 32, 2642–2651. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002714
- Koistinen, H.A., Chibalin, A. V., Zierath, J.R., 2003. Aberrant p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling in skeletal muscle from Type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 46, 1324– 1328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-003-1196-3
- Kokosar, M., Benrick, A., Perfilyev, A., Fornes, R., Nilsson, E., Maliqueo, M., Behre, C.J., Sazonova, A., Ohlsson, C., Ling, C., Stener-victorin, E., 2016. Epigenetic and Transcriptional Alterations in Human Adipose Tissue of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Nat. Publ. Gr. 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22883
- Konopka, A.R., Asante, A., Lanza, I.R., Robinson, M.M., Johnson, M.L., Man, C.D., Cobelli, C., Amols, M.H., Irving, B.A., Nair, K.S., 2015. Defects in mitochondrial efficiency and H2O2 emissions in obese women are restored to a lean phenotype with aerobic exercise training. Diabetes 64, 2104–2115. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1701

- Kraniou, G.N., Cameron-Smith, D., Hargreaves, M., 2006. Acute exercise and GLUT4 expression in human skeletal muscle: Influence of exercise intensity. J. Appl. Physiol. 101, 934–937. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01489.2005
- Kristensen, D.E., Albers, P.H., Prats, C., Baba, O., Birk, J.B., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2015. Human muscle fibre type-specific regulation of AMPK and downstream targets by exercise. J. Physiol. 593, 2053–2069. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2014.283267
- Krogh-Madsen, R., Thyfault, J.P., Broholm, C., Mortensen, O.H., Olsen, R.H., Mounier, R., Plomgaard, P., van Hall, G., Booth, F.W., Pedersen, B.K., 2010. A 2-wk reduction of ambulatory activity attenuates peripheral insulin sensitivity. J Appl Physiol 108, 1034– 1040. https://doi.org/00977.2009 [pii]\r10.1152/japplphysiol.00977.2009
- Krotkiewski, M., Landin, K., Dahlgren, E., Janson, P.O., Holm, G., 2003. Effect of two modes of antiandrogen treatment on insulin sensitivity and serum leptin in women with PCOS. Gynecol. Obstet. Invest. 55, 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1159/000070180
- Krutzfeldt, J., Kausch, C., Volk, A., Klein, H.H., Rett, K., Haring, H.U., Stumvoll, M., 2000. Insulin signaling and action in cultured skeletal muscle cells from lean healthy humans with high and low insulin sensitivity. Diabetes 49, 992–998. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.49.6.992
- Kubota, T., Kubota, N., Kumagai, H., Yamaguchi, S., Kozono, H., Takahashi, T., Inoue, M., Itoh, S., Takamoto, I., Sasako, T., Kumagai, K., Kawai, T., Hashimoto, S., Kobayashi, T., Sato, M., Tokuyama, K., Nishimura, S., Tsunoda, M., Ide, T., Murakami, K., Yamazaki, T., Ezaki, O., Kawamura, K., Masuda, H., Moroi, M., Sugi, K., Oike, Y., Shimokawa, H., Yanagihara, N., Tsutsui, M., Terauchi, Y., Tobe, K., Nagai, R., Kamata, K., Inoue, K., Kodama, T., Ueki, K., Kadowaki, T., 2011. Impaired insulin signaling in endothelial cells reduces insulin-induced glucose uptake by skeletal muscle. Cell Metab. 13, 294–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.01.018
- Kupfer, S.R., Wilson, E.M., French, F.S., 1994. Androgen and glucocorticoid receptors interact with insulin degrading enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 20622–20628.
- La Marca, A., Egbe, T.O., Morgante, G., Paglia, T., Ciani, A., De Leo, V., 2000. Metformin treatment reduces ovarian cytochrome P-450c17α response to human chorionic gonadotrophin in women with insulin resistance-related polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum. Reprod. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/15.1.21
- Lachelin, G.C. I., Barnett, M., Hopper, B.R., Brink, G., Yen, S.S.C., 1979. Adrenal Function in Normal Women and Women with the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol.

Metab. 49, 892–898. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-49-6-892

- Lai, Y.C., Zarrinpashneh, E., Jensen, J., 2010. Additive effect of contraction and insulin on glucose uptake and glycogen synthase in muscle with different glycogen contents. J. Appl. Physiol. 108, 1106–1115. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00401.2009
- Lambernd, S., Taube, A., Schober, A., Platzbecker, B., Görgens, S.W., Schlich, R., Jeruschke, K., Weiss, J., Eckardt, K., Eckel, J., 2012. Contractile activity of human skeletal muscle cells prevents insulin resistance by inhibiting pro-inflammatory signalling pathways. Diabetologia 55, 1128–1139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2454-z
- Laurens, C., Bergouignan, A., Moro, C., 2020. Exercise-Released Myokines in the Control of Energy Metabolism. Front. Physiol. 11, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00091
- Lean, M.E., Leslie, W.S., Barnes, A.C., Brosnahan, N., Thom, G., McCombie, L., Peters, C., Zhyzhneuskaya, S., Al-Mrabeh, A., Hollingsworth, K.G., Rodrigues, A.M., Rehackova, L., Adamson, A.J., Sniehotta, F.F., Mathers, J.C., Ross, H.M., McIlvenna, Y., Stefanetti, R., Trenell, M., Welsh, P., Kean, S., Ford, I., McConnachie, A., Sattar, N., Taylor, R., 2018. Primary care-led weight management for remission of type 2 diabetes (DiRECT): an open-label, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet 391, 541–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33102-1
- Lee-Young, R., Canny, B., 2009. AMPK activation is fiber type specific in human skeletal muscle: effects of exercise and short-term exercise training. J Appl Physiol 107, 283–289. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.91208.2008.
- Lehti, T.M., Silvennoinen, M., Kivela, R., Kainulainen, H., Komulainen, J., Maarit, T., Silvennoinen, M., Kivela, R., 2006. Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes and physical training on gene expression of extracellular matrix proteins in mouse skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol Endocrinol. Metab. 290, 900–907. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00444.2005.
- Lessard, S.J., MacDonald, T.L., Pathak, P., Han, M.S., Coffey, V.G., Edge, J., Rivas, D.A., Hirshman, M.F., Davis, R.J., Goodyear, L.J., 2018. JNK regulates muscle remodeling via myostatin/SMAD inhibition. Nat. Commun. 9, 3030. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05439-3
- Li, J.H., Huang, X.R., Zhu, H.J., Johnson, R., Lan, H.Y., 2003. Role of TGF-beta signaling in extracellular matrix production under high glucose conditions. Kidney Int 63, 2010–2019. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00016.x
- Li, M., Youngren, J.F., Dunaif, A., Goldfine, I.D., Maddux, B.A., Zhang, B.B., Evans, J.L.,

2002. Decreased Insulin Receptor (IR) Autophosphorylation in Fibroblasts from Patients with PCOS: Effects of Serine Kinase Inhibitors and IR Activators. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 4088–4093. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-020363

- Li, M.E., Lauritzen, H.P.M.M., O'Neill, B.T., Wang, C.-H., Cai, W., Brandao, B.B., Sakaguchi, M., Tao, R., Hirshman, M.F., Softic, S., Kahn, C.R., 2019. Role of p110a subunit of PI3-kinase in skeletal muscle mitochondrial homeostasis and metabolism. Nat. Commun. 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11265-y
- Li, Y., Ma, Q., Li, P., Wang, J., Wang, M., Fan, Y., Wang, Tieshan, Wang, C., Wang, Ting, Zhao, B., 2020. Proteomics reveals different pathological processes of adipose tissue, liver, and skeletal muscle under insulin resistance. J. Cell. Physiol. 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29658
- Lim, S.S., Norman, R.J., Davies, M.J., Moran, L.J., 2013. The effect of obesity on polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes. Rev. 14, 95–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01053.x
- Little, J.P., Safdar, A., Bishop, D., Tarnopolsky, M.A., Gibala, M.J., 2011. An acute bout of high-intensity interval training increases the nuclear abundance of PGC-1α and activates mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. - Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 300, 1303–1310. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00538.2010
- Liu, S., Ren, J., Dijke, P., 2021. Targeting TGF β signal transduction for cancer therapy. Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00436-9
- Liu, X.Y., Yang, Y.J., Tang, C.L., Wang, K., Chen, J.-J., Teng, X.M., Ruan, Y.C., Yang, J.Z., 2019. Elevation of antimüllerian hormone in women with polycystic ovary syndrome undergoing assisted reproduction: effect of insulin. Fertil. Steril. 111, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.09.022
- Livingstone, C., Collison, M., 2002. Sex steroids and insulin resistance. Clin. Sci. 102, 151– 166. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs1020151
- Lodyga, M., Hinz, B., 2020. TGF-β1 A truly transforming growth factor in fibrosis and immunity. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 101, 123–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.12.010
- Lund, J., Rustan, A.C., Løvsletten, N.G., Mudry, J.M., Langleite, T.M., Feng, Y.Z., Stensrud,
  C., Brubak, M.G., Drevon, C.A., Birkeland, K.I., Kolnes, K.J., Johansen, E.I., Tangen,
  D.S., Stadheim, H.K., Gulseth, H.L., Krook, A., Kase, E.T., Jensen, J., Thoresen, G.H.,
  2017. Exercise in vivo marks human myotubes in vitro: Training-induced increase in lipid

metabolism. PLoS One 12, 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175441

- Maciel, G.A.R., Baracat, E.C., Benda, J.O.A., Markham, S.M., Hensinger, K., Chang, R.J., Erickson, G.F., 2004. Stockpiling of transitional and classic primary follicles in ovaries of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 5321–5327. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-0643
- Mahalanobish, S., Saha, S., Dutta, S., Sil, P.C., 2020. Matrix metalloproteinase: An upcoming therapeutic approach for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Pharmacol. Res. 152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104591
- Makhnovskii, P.A., Zgoda, V.G., Bokov, R.O., Shagimardanova, E.I., Gazizova, G.R., Gusev, O.A., Lysenko, E.A., Kolpakov, F.A., Vinogradova, O.L., Popov, D. V., 2020. Regulation of Proteins in Human Skeletal Muscle: The Role of Transcription. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60578-2
- Mannerås-Holm, L., Leonhardt, H., Kullberg, J., Jennische, E., Odén, A., Holm, G., Hellström, M., Lönn, L., Olivecrona, G., Stener-Victorin, E., Lönn, M., 2011. Adipose Tissue Has Aberrant Morphology and Function in PCOS: Enlarged Adipocytes and Low Serum Adiponectin, But Not Circulating Sex Steroids, Are Strongly Associated with Insulin Resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, E304–E311. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-1290
- March, W.A., Moore, V.M., Willson, K.J., Phillips, D.I.W., Norman, R.J., Davies, M.J., 2010.
  The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. Hum. Reprod. 25, 544–551.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dep399
- Martin, C.J., Datta, A., Littlefield, C., Kalra, A., Chapron, C., Wawersik, S., Dagbay, K.B., Brueckner, C.T., Nikiforov, A., Danehy, F.T., Streich, F.C., Boston, C., Simpson, A., Jackson, J.W., Lin, S., Danek, N., Faucette, R.R., Raman, P., Capili, A.D., Buckler, A., Carven, G.J., Schürpf, T., 2020. Selective inhibition of TGFβ1 activation overcomes primary resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy by altering tumor immune landscape. Sci. Transl. Med. 12, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aay8456
- McCartney, C., Marshall, J., 2016. Polycystic ovary syndrome. Author manuscript. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMcp1514916
- McConell, G.K., Sjøberg, K.A., Ceutz, F., Gliemann, L., Nyberg, M., Hellsten, Y., Frøsig, C., Kiens, B., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Richter, E.A., 2020. Insulin-induced membrane permeability to glucose in human muscles at rest and following exercise. J. Physiol. 598,

303-315. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP278600

- McIntyre, E.A., Halse, R., Yeaman, S.J., Walker, M., 2004a. Cultured muscle cells from insulin-resistant type 2 diabetes patients have impaired insulin, but normal 5-amino-4imidazolecarboxamide riboside-stimulated, glucose uptake. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 3440–3448. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031919
- McIntyre, E.A., Halse, R., Yeaman, S.J., Walker, M., 2004b. Cultured muscle cells from insulin-resistant type 2 diabetes patients have impaired insulin, but normal 5-amino-4imidazolecarboxamide riboside-stimulated, glucose uptake. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 3440–3448. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031919
- McKee, T.J., Perlman, G., Morris, M., Komarova, S. V., 2019. Extracellular matrix composition of connective tissues: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci. Rep. 9, 1– 15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46896-0
- Mendias, C.L., Schwartz, A.J., Grekin, J.A., Gumucio, J.P., Sugg, K.B., 2016. Changes in muscle fiber contractility and extracellular matrix production during skeletal muscle hypertrophy.
  J. Appl. Physiol. 122, 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00719.2016
- Mey, J.T., Solomon, T.P.J., Kirwan, J.P., Haus, J.M., 2019. Skeletal muscle Nur77 and NOR1 insulin responsiveness is blunted in obesity and type 2 diabetes but improved after exercise training. Physiol. Rep. 7, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14042
- Meyer, M., Levin, K., Grimmsmann, T., Beck-Nielsen, H., Klein, H., 2002. Insulin signalling in skeletal muscle of subjects with or without Type II-diabetes and first degree relatives of patients with the disease. Diabetologia 45, 813–822. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-002-0830-9
- Michael, L.F., Wu, Z., Cheatham, R.B., Puigserver, P., Adelmant, G., Lehman, J.J., Kelly, D.P., Spiegelman, B.M., 2001. Restoration of insulin-sensitive glucose transporter (GLUT4) gene expression in muscle cells by the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 3820–3825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.061035098
- Micic, D., Popovic, V., Nesovic, M., Sumarac, M., Dragasevic, M., Kendereski, A., Markovic, D., Djordjevic, P., Manojlovic, D., Micic, J., 1988. Androgen levels during sequential insulin euglycemic clamp studies in patients with polycystic ovary disease. J. Steroid Biochem. 31, 995–999. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4731(88)90344-5
- Mikines, K.J., Sonne, B., Farrell, P.A., Tronier, B., Galbo, H., 1988. Effect of physical exercise on sensitivity and responsiveness to insulin in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 254, E248–

E259. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1988.254.3.E248

- Mills, R.J., Parker, B.L., Monnot, P., Needham, E.J., Vivien, C.J., Ferguson, C., Parton, R.G., James, D.E., Porrello, E.R., Hudson, J.E., 2019. Development of a human skeletal micro muscle platform with pacing capabilities. Biomaterials 198, 217–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.11.030
- Moghetti, P., Castello, R., Magnani, C.M., Furlani, L., 1996. The Insulin Resistance in Women with Hyperandrogenism Is Partially Reversed by Antiandrogen Treatment : Evidence That Androgens Impair Insulin Action in Women. J. Clin. endicrinology Metab. 81, 952–960.
- Moghetti, P., Castello, R., Negri, C., Tosi, F., Perrone, F., Caputo, M., Zanolin, E., Mugge, M., 2000. Metformin Effects on Clinical Features, Endocrine and Metabolic Profiles, and Insulin Sensitivity in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled 6-Month Trial, followed by Open, Long-Term Clinical Evaluation. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.85.1.139
- Moghetti, P., Tosi, F., Bonin, C., Di Sarra, D., Fiers, T., Kaufman, J.-M., Giagulli, V.A., Signori, C., Zambotti, F., Dall'Alda, M., Spiazzi, G., Zanolin, M.E., Bonora, E., 2013. Divergences in Insulin Resistance Between the Different Phenotypes of the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, E628–E637. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-3908
- Montgomery, M.K., Turner, N., 2015. Mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance: an update. Endocr. Connect. 4, R1–R15. https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-14-0092
- Moran, L.J., Misso, M.L., Wild, R.A., Norman, R.J., 2010. Impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum. Reprod. Update 16, 347–363. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmq001
- Moran, L.J., Noakes, M., Clifton, P.M., Wittert, G.A., Tomlinson, L., Galletly, C., Luscombe, N.D., Norman, R.J., 2004. Ghrelin and measures of satiety are altered in polycystic ovary syndrome but not differentially affected by diet composition. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 3337–3344. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031583
- Moran, L.J., Tassone, E.C., Boyle, J., Brennan, L., Harrison, C.L., Hirschberg, A.L., Lim, S., Marsh, K., Misso, M.L., Redman, L., Thondan, M., Wijeyaratne, C., Garad, R., Stepto, N.K., Teede, H.J., 2020. Evidence summaries and recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: Lifestyle management. Obes. Rev. 2019, obr.13046.

https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13046

- Morino, K., Petersen, K.F., Shulman, G.I., 2006. Molecular Mechanisms of Insulin Resistance in Humans and Their Potential Links With Mitochondrial Dysfunction. Diabetes 55, S9– S15. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-S002
- Morvan, F., Rondeau, J.M., Zou, C., Minetti, G., Scheufler, C., Scharenberg, M., Jacobi, C., Brebbia, P., Ritter, V., Toussaint, G., Koelbing, C., Leber, X., Schilb, A., Witte, F., Lehmann, S., Koch, E., Geisse, S., Glass, D.J., Lach-Trifilieff, E., 2017. Blockade of activin type II receptors with a dual anti-ActRIIA/IIB antibody is critical to promote maximal skeletal muscle hypertrophy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114, 12448–12453. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1707925114
- Moses, H.L., Roberts, A.B., Derynck, R., 2016. The discovery and early days of TGF-b: A historical perspective. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 8. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a021865
- Munir, I., Yen, H.W., Geller, D.H., Torbati, D., Bierden, R.M., Weitsman, S.R., Agarwal, S.K., Magoffin, D.A., 2004. Insulin Augmentation of 17α-Hydroxylase Activity Is Mediated by Phosphatidyl Inositol 3-Kinase but Not Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase-1/ 2 in Human Ovarian Theca Cells. Endocrinology 145, 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2003-0329
- Muniyappa, R., Lee, S., Chen, H., Quon, M.J., 2008. Current approaches for assessing insulin sensitivity and resistance in vivo : advantages , limitations , and appropriate usage. Am. J.
  Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 294, E15–E26. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00645.2007.
- Murphy, R.M., Flores-Opazo, M., Frankish, B.P., Garnham, A., Stapleton, D., Hargreaves, M., 2018. No evidence of direct association between GLUT4 and glycogen in human skeletal muscle. Physiol. Rep. 6, e13917. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.13917
- Naderpoor, N., Shorakae, S., De Courten, B., Misso, M.L., Moran, L.J., Teede, H.J., 2015.
  Metformin and lifestyle modification in polycysticovary syndrome: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum. Reprod. Update 21, 560–574. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmv025
- Nedachi, T., Fujita, H., Kanzaki, M., 2008. Contractile C2C12 myotube model for studying exercise-inducible responses in skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab. 295. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.90280.2008
- Nehlin, J.O., Just, M., Rustan, A.C., Gaster, M., 2011. Human myotubes from myoblast
cultures undergoing senescence exhibit defects in glucose and lipid metabolism. Biogerontology 12, 349–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-011-9336-5

- Nestler, J.E., Barlascini, C.O., Matt, D.W., Steingold, K.A., Plymate, S.R., Clore, J.N., Blackard, W.G., 1989. Suppression of serum insulin by diazoxide reduces serum testosterone levels in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 68, 1027–1032. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-68-6-1027
- Nestler, J.E., Powers, L.P., Matt, D.W., Steingold, K.A., Plymate, S.R., Rittmaster, R.S., Clore, J.N., Blackard, W.G., 1991. A direct effect of hyperinsulinemia on serum sex hormonebinding globulin levels in obese women with the polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 72, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-72-1-83
- Nestor, C.E., Ottaviano, R., Reinhardt, D., Cruickshanks, H.A., Mjoseng, H.K., McPherson, R.C., Lentini, A., Thomson, J.P., Dunican, D.S., Pennings, S., Anderton, S.M., Benson, M., Meehan, R.R., 2015. Rapid reprogramming of epigenetic and transcriptional profiles in mammalian culture systems. Genome Biol. 16, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0576-y
- Nikolić, N., Görgens, S.W., Thoresen, G.H., Aas, V., Eckel, J., Eckardt, K., 2017. Electrical pulse stimulation of cultured skeletal muscle cells as a model for in vitro exercise – possibilities and limitations. Acta Physiol. 220, 310–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.12830
- Nikolić, N., Skaret Bakke, S., Tranheim Kase, E., Rudberg, I., Flo Halle, I., Rustan, A.C., Thoresen, G.H., Aas, V., 2012. Electrical pulse stimulation of cultured human skeletal muscle cells as an in vitro model of exercise. PLoS One 7, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033203
- Nikooie, R., Jafari-Sardoie, S., Sheibani, V., Vaziri-Chatrodi, A., 2020. Resistance traininginduced muscle hypertrophy is mediated by TGF-β1-Smad signaling pathway in male Wistar rats. J. Cell. Physiol. jcp.29497. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.29497
- Nikooie, R., Samaneh, S., 2016. Exercise-induced lactate accumulation regulates intramuscular triglyceride metabolism via transforming growth factor-β1 mediated pathways. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 419, 244–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2015.10.024
- Nilsson, E., Benrick, A., Kokosar, M., Krook, A., Lindgren, E., Källman, T., Martis, M.M., Højlund, K., Ling, C., Stener-Victorin, E., 2018. Transcriptional and Epigenetic Changes Influencing Skeletal Muscle Metabolism in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 103, 4465–4477. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-00935

- O'Donoghue, G., Kennedy, A., Andersen, G.S., Carr, B., Cleary, S., Durkan, E., Davis, H., Færch, K., Fitzpatrick, P., Kenny, H., McCaffrey, N., Monedero, J., Murphy, E., Noone, J., Suvitaival, T., Thybo, T., Wheeler, M., Vistisen, D., Nolan, J.J., O'Gorman, D.J., 2019. Phenotypic responses to a lifestyle intervention do not account for inter-individual variability in glucose tolerance for individuals at high risk of type 2 diabetes. Front. Physiol. 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00317
- O'Gorman, D.J., Karlsson, H.K.R., McQuaid, S., Yousif, O., Rahman, Y., Gasparro, D., Glund, S., Chibalin, A. V., Zierath, J.R., Nolan, J.J., 2006. Exercise training increases insulinstimulated glucose disposal and GLUT4 (SLC2A4) protein content in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia 49, 2983–2992. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-006-0457-3
- O'Meara, N.M., Blackman, J.D., Ehrmann, D.A., Barnes, R.B., Jaspan, J.B., Rosenfield, R.L., Polonsky, K.S., 1993. Defects in beta-cell function in functional ovarian hyperandrogenism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 76, 1241–1247. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.76.5.8496316
- Oita, R.C., Ferdinando, D., Wilson, S., Bunce, C., Mazzatti, D.J., 2010. Visfatin induces oxidative stress in differentiated C2C12 myotubes in an Akt- And MAPK-independent, NFKB-dependent manner. Pflugers Arch. Eur. J. Physiol. 459, 619–630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-009-0752-1
- Ortega, J.F., Fernández-Elías, V.E., Hamouti, N., García-Pallarés, J., Mora-Rodriguez, R., 2014. Higher insulin-sensitizing response after sprint interval compared to continuous exercise. Int. J. Sports Med. 9, 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1389942
- Page, M.M., Skovsø, S., Cen, H., Chiu, A.P., Dionne, D.A., Hutchinson, D.F., Lim, G.E., Szabat, M., Flibotte, S., Sinha, S., Nislow, C., Rodrigues, B., Johnson, J.D., 2018. Reducing insulin via conditional partial gene ablation in adults reverses diet-induced weight gain. FASEB J. 32, 1196–1206. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201700518R
- Pankhurst, M.W., Chong, Y.H., Mclennan, I.S., 2016. Relative levels of the proprotein and cleavage-activated form of circulating human anti-Müllerian hormone are sexually dimorphic and variable during the life cycle. Physiol. Rep. 4, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12783
- Papakostas, T.D., Pieretti-Vanmarcke, R., Nicolaou, F., Thanos, A., Trichonas, G., Koufomichali, X., Anago, K., Donahoe, P.K., Teixeira, J., MacLaughlin, D.T., Vavvas, D., 2010. Development of an efficiently cleaved, bioactive, highly pure FLAG-tagged recombinant human Mullerian Inhibiting Substance. Protein Expr. Purif. 70, 32–38.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pep.2009.09.004

- Park, S., Turner, K.D., Zheng, D., Brault, J.J., Zou, K., Chaves, A.B., Nielsen, T.S., Tanner, C.J., Treebak, J.T., Houmard, J.A., 2019. Electrical pulse stimulation induces differential responses in insulin action in myotubes from severely obese individuals. J. Physiol. 597, 449–466. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP276990
- Parker, L., Stepto, N.K., Shaw, C.S., Serpiello, F.R., Anderson, M., Hare, D.L., Levinger, I., Cooke, P.S., 2016. Acute High-Intensity Interval Exercise-Induced Redox Signaling Is Associated with Enhanced Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Middle-Aged Men 7, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00411
- Pataky, M.W., Van Acker, S.L., Dhingra, R., Freeburg, M.M., Arias, E.B., Oki, K., Wang, H., Treebak, J.T., Cartee, G.D., 2019. Fiber type-specific effects of acute exercise on insulinstimulated AS160 phosphorylation in insulin-resistant rat skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. 317, E984–E998. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00304.2019
- Pattamaprapanont, P., Garde, C., Fabre, O., Barrès, R., 2016. Muscle contraction Induces Acute hydroxymethylation of the exercise-responsive gene Nr4a3. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 7, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2016.00165
- Patten, R.K., Boyle, R.A., Moholdt, T., Kiel, I.A., Hopkins, W., Stepto, N.K., 2020. Exercise interventions in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front. Physiol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00606
- Pearen, M.A., Muscat, G.E.O., 2018. The Nuclear Receptor Nor-1 Is a Pleiotropic Regulator of Exercise-Induced Adaptations. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 46, 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1249/JES.00000000000143
- Pederson, T.M., Kramer, D.L., Rondinone, C.M., 2001. Serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 triggers its degradation: Possible regulation by tyrosine phosphorylation. Diabetes 50, 24–31. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.50.1.24
- Pellatt, L., Rice, S., Dilaver, N., Heshri, A., Galea, R., Brincat, M., Brown, K., Simpson, E.R., Mason, H.D., 2011. Anti-Müllerian hormone reduces follicle sensitivity to folliclestimulating hormone in human granulosa cells. Fertil. Steril. 96, 1246-1251.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.08.015
- Pellegrinelli, V., Rouault, C., Rodriguez-Cuenca, S., Albert, V., Edom-Vovard, F., Vidal-Puig, A., Clément, K., Butler-Browne, G.S., Lacasa, D., 2015. Human adipocytes induce inflammation and atrophy in muscle cells during obesity. Diabetes 64, 3121–3134. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-0796

- Pender, C., Goldfine, I.D., Kulp, J.L., Tanner, C.J., Maddux, B.A., MacDonald, K.G., Houmard, J.A., Youngren, J.F., 2005. Analysis of insulin-stimulated insulin receptor activation and glucose transport in cultured skeletal muscle cells from obese subjects. Metabolism. 54, 598–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2004.11.018
- Perseghin, G., Ghosh, S., Gerow, K., Shulman, G.I., 1997. Metabolic Defects in Lean Nondiabetic Offspring of NIDDM Parents: A Cross-Sectional Study. Diabetes 46, 1001– 1009. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.46.6.1001
- Petersen, A.C., McKenna, M.J., Medved, I., Murphy, K.T., Brown, M.J., Della Gatta, P., Cameron-Smith, D., 2012. Infusion with the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine attenuates early adaptive responses to exercise in human skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol. 204, 382–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.2011.02344.x
- Petta, S., Ciresi, A., Bianco, J., Geraci, V., Boemi, R., Galvano, L., Magliozzo, F., Merlino, G., Craxı, A., Giordano, C., 2017. Insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism drive steatosis and fibrosis risk in young females with PCOS 1–11.
- Piek, E., Heldin, C., Dijke, P.T.E.N., 1999. Specificity , diversity , and regulation in TGF-β superfamily signaling. FASEB J. 13, 2105–2124.
- Pierre, A., Racine, C., Rey, R.A., Fanchin, R., Taieb, J., Cohen-Tannoudji, J., Carmillo, P., Pepinsky, R.B., Cate, R.L., Di Clemente, N., 2016. Most cleaved anti-müllerian hormone binds its receptor in human follicular fluid but little is competent in serum. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 101, 4618–4627. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-1742
- Pincu, Y., Linden, M.A., Zou, K., Baynard, T., Boppart, M.D., 2015. The effects of high fat diet and moderate exercise on TGFβ1 and collagen deposition in mouse skeletal muscle. Cytokine 73, 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2015.01.013
- Poehlman, E.T., Dvorak, R. V, DeNino, W.F., Brochu, M., Ades, P.A., 2000. Effects of resistance training and endurance training on insulin sensitivity in nonobese, young women: A controlled randomized trial. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 2463–2468. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.85.7.2463
- Poretsky, L., 2006. Polycystic ovary syndrome Increased or preserved ovarian sensitivity to insulin? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 2859–2860. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-0317
- Poretsky, L., Cataldo, N.A., Rosenwaks, Z., Giudice, L.C., 1999. The insulin-related ovarian regulatory system in health and disease. Endocr. Rev. 20, 535–582. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.20.4.0374
- Pozzer, D., Favellato, M., Bolis, M., Invernizzi, R.W., Solagna, F., Blaauw, B., Zito, E., 2017.

Endoplasmic reticulum oxidative stress triggers tgf-beta-dependent muscle dysfunction by accelerating ascorbic acid turnover. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40993

- Puurunen, J., Piltonen, T., Jaakkola, P., Ruokonen, A., Morin-Papunen, L., Tapanainen, J.S., 2009. Adrenal androgen production capacity remains high up to menopause in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 1973–1978. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2008-2583
- Raja-Khan, N., Kunselman, A.R., Demers, L.M., Ewens, K.G., Spielman, R.S., Legro, R.S., 2010. A variant in the fibrillin-3 gene is associated with TGF-β and inhibin B levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil. Steril. 94, 2916–2919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.05.047
- Raja-Khan, N., Urbanek, M., Rodgers, R.J., Legro, R.S., 2014. The Role of TGF-β in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Reprod. Sci. 21, 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719113485294
- Rajkhowa, M., Brett, S., Cuthbertson, D.J., Lipina, C., Ruiz-Alcaraz, A.J., Thomas, G.E., Logie, L., Petrie, J.R., Sutherland, C., 2009. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with defective regulation of ERK1/2 by insulin in skeletal muscle in vivo. Biochem. J. 418, 665–671. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20082176
- Raymond, F., Métairon, S., Kussmann, M., Colomer, J., Nascimento, A., Mormeneo, E., García-Martínez, C., Gómez-Foix, A.M., 2010. Comparative gene expression profiling between human cultured myotubes and skeletal muscle tissue. BMC Genomics 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-125
- Remy, I., Montmarquette, A., Michnick, S.W., 2004. PKB/Akt modulates TGF-β signalling through a direct interaction with Smad3. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 358–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1113
- Rice, S., Christoforidis, N., Gadd, C., Nikolaou, D., Seyani, L., Donaldson, A., Margara, R., Hardy, K., Franks, S., 2005. Impaired insulin-dependent glucose metabolism in granulosa-lutein cells from anovulatory women with polycystic ovaries. Hum. Reprod. 20, 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deh609
- Richardson, D.K., Kashyap, S., Bajaj, M., Cusi, K., Mandarino, S.J., Finlayson, J., DeFronzo,
   R.A., Jenkinson, C.P., Mandarino, L.J., 2005. Lipid infusion decreases the expression of
   nuclear encoded mitochondrial genes and increases the expression of extracellular matrix
   genes in human skeletal muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 10290–10297.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M408985200

- Richter, E.A., Hargreaves, M., 2013. Exercise, GLUT4, and skeletal muscle glucose uptake. Physiol. Rev. 93, 993–1017. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00038.2012
- Risal, S., Pei, Y., Lu, H., Manti, M., Fornes, R., Pui, H.P., Zhao, Z., Massart, J., Ohlsson, C., Lindgren, E., Crisosto, N., Maliqueo, M., Echiburú, B., Ladrón de Guevara, A., Sir-Petermann, T., Larsson, H., Rosenqvist, M.A., Cesta, C.E., Benrick, A., Deng, Q., Stener-Victorin, E., 2019. Prenatal androgen exposure and transgenerational susceptibility to polycystic ovary syndrome. Nat. Med. 25. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0666-1
- Rocha, A.L.L., Faria, L.C., Guimarães, T.C.M., Moreira, G. V., Cândido, A.L., Couto, C.A., Reis, F.M., 2017. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 40, 1279–1288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-017-0708-9
- Rodgers, R.J., Avery, J., McAllister, V., 2019. A new evidence-based guideline for assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Med. J. Aust. 210, 285. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.50054
- Romijn, J.A., Coyle, E.F., Sidossis, L.S., Gastaldelli, A., Horowitz, J.F., Endert, E., Wolfe,
  R.R., 1993. Regulation of endogenous fat and carbohydrate metabolism in relation to
  exercise intensity and duration. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 265, 380–391.
- Rosenbaum, D., Haber, R.S., Dunaif, A., 1993. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: decreased expression of GLUT-4 glucose transporters in adipocytes. Am. J. Physiol. 264, E197–E202.
- Rosenfield, R.L., Ehrmann, D.A., Biochemical, A., 2016. The Pathogenesis of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS): The Hypothesis of PCOS as Functional Ovarian 37, 467–520. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2015-1104
- Rullman, E., Norrbom, J., Stro, A., Wa, D., Rundqvist, H., Haas, T., Gustafsson, T., 2009.
  Endurance exercise activates matrix metalloproteinases in human skeletal muscle. J. Appl.
  Physiol. 106, 804–812. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.90872.2008.
- Ryan, B.J., Schleh, M.W., Ahn, C., Ludzki, A.C., Gillen, J.B., Varshney, P., Van Pelt, D.W., Pitchford, L.M., Chenevert, T.L., Gioscia-Ryan, R.A., Howton, S.M., Rode, T., Hummel, S.L., Burant, C.F., Little, J.P., Horowitz, J.F., 2020. Moderate-intensity exercise and highintensity interval training affect insulin sensitivity similarly in obese adults. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2008–2010. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa345

Sabaratnam, R., Pedersen, A.J., Eskildsen, T. V., Kristensen, J.M., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P.,

Højlund, K., 2019. Exercise Induction of Key Transcriptional Regulators of Metabolic Adaptation in Muscle Is Preserved in Type 2 Diabetes. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 4909–4920. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-02679

- Salehzadeh, F., Rune, A., Osler, M., Al-Khalili, L., 2011. Testosterone or 17β-estradiol exposure reveals sex-specific effects on glucose and lipid metabolism in human myotubes.
  J. Endocrinol. 210, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-10-0497
- Sarabia, V., Lam, L., Burdett, E., Leiter, L.A., Klip, A., 1992. Glucose transport in human skeletal muscle cells in culture: Stimulation by insulin and metformin. J. Clin. Invest. 90, 1386–1395. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116005
- Scheler, Mika, Irmler, Martin, Lehr, Stefan, Hartwig, Sonja, Staiger, Harald, Al-hasani, H., Beckers, Johannes, Angelis, M.H. De, Häring, H., Weigert, Cora, Scheler, M, Irmler, M, Lehr, S, Hartwig, S, Staiger, H, Beckers, J, M, H.D.A., Hu, H., Weigert, C, 2013. Cytokine response of primary human myotubes in an in vitro exercise model. Am. J. Physiol. - Cell Physiol. 305, 877–886. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00043.2013
- Schinner, S., Scherbaum, W.A., Bornstein, S.R., Barthel, A., 2005. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance. Diabet. Med. 22, 674–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01566.x
- Seifer, D.B., MacLaughlin, D.T., 2007. Mullerian Inhibiting Substance is an ovarian growth factor of emerging clinical significance. Fertil. Steril. 88, 539–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.02.014
- Selvarajah, B., Azuelos, I., Platé, M., Guillotin, D., Forty, E.J., Contento, G., Woodcock, H. V., Redding, M., Taylor, A., Brunori, G., Durrenberger, P.F., Ronzoni, R., Blanchard, A.D., Mercer, P.F., Anastasiou, D., Chambers, R.C., 2019. MTORC1 amplifies the ATF4dependent de novo serine-glycine pathway to supply glycine during TGF-B1-induced collagen biosynthesis. Sci. Signal. 12. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.aav3048
- Shanely, R.A., Zwetsloot, K.A., Triplett, N.T., Meaney, M.P., Farris, G.E., Nieman, D.C., 2014. Human Skeletal Muscle Biopsy Procedures Using the Modified Bergström Technique. J. Vis. Exp. 91, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3791/51812
- Sharples, A.P., Stewart, C.E., Seaborne, R.A., 2016. Does skeletal muscle have an 'epi'memory? The role of epigenetics in nutritional programming, metabolic disease, aging and exercise. Aging Cell 15, 603–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12486
- Shukla, P., Mukherjee, S., 2020. Mitochondrial dysfunction: An emerging link in the pathophysiology of polycystic ovary syndrome. Mitochondrion 52, 24–39.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2020.02.006

- Sir-Petermann, T., Maliqueo, M., Angel, B., Lara, H., S.E.Recabarren, F.P.-B. and, 2002. Maternal serum androgens in pregnant women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: possible implications in prenatal androgenization. Hum. Reprod. 17, 2573–2579. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/17.10.2573
- Sjøberg, K.A., Frøsig, C., Kjøbsted, R., Sylow, L., Kleinert, M., Betik, A.C., Shaw, C.S., Kiens, B., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Rattigan, S., Richter, E.A., McConell, G.K., 2017. Exercise increases human skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity via coordinated increases in microvascular perfusion and molecular signaling. Diabetes 66, 1501–1510. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-1327
- Skov, V., Glintborg, D., Knudsen, S., Jensen, T., Kruse, T.A., Tan, Q., Brusgaard, K., Beck-Nielsen, H., Hojlund, K., 2007. Reduced Expression of Nuclear-Encoded Genes Involved in Mitochondrial Oxidative Metabolism in Skeletal Muscle of Insulin-Resistant Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Diabetes 56, 2349–2355. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-0275
- Slentz, C.A., Tanner, C.J., Bateman, L.A., Durheim, M.T., Huffman, K.M., Houmard, J.A., Kraus, W.E., 2009. Effects of Exercise Training Intensity on Pancreatic B-cell Function. Diabetes Care 32, 1807–1811. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0032.Clinical
- Solinas, G., Becattini, B., 2017. JNK at the crossroad of obesity, insulin resistance, and cell stress response. Mol. Metab. 6, 174–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2016.12.001
- Son, Y.H., Lee, S.-M., Lee, S.H., Yoon, J.H., Kang, J.S., Yang, Y.R., Kwon, K.-S., 2019. Comparative molecular analysis of endurance exercise in vivo with electrically stimulated in vitro myotube contraction . J. Appl. Physiol. 1742–1753. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00091.2019
- Song, X., Shen, Q., Fan, L., Yu, Q., Jia, X., Sun, Y., Bai, W., Kang, J., 2018. Dehydroepiandrosterone-induced activation of mTORC1 and inhibition of autophagy contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance in a mouse model of polycystic ovary syndrome. Oncotarget 9, 11905–11921. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.24190
- Steenberg, D.E., Hingst, J.R., Birk, J.B., Thorup, A., Kristensen, J.M., Sjøberg, K.A., Kiens, B., Richter, E.A., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2020. A Single Bout of One-legged Exercise to Local Exhaustion Decreases Insulin Action in Non-exercised Muscle Leading to Decreased Whole-body Insulin Action. Diabetes db191010. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-1010

- Steenberg, D.E., Jørgensen, N.B., Birk, J.B., Sjøberg, K.A., Kiens, B., Richter, E.A., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., 2019. Exercise training reduces the insulin-sensitizing effect of a single bout of exercise in human skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 597, 89–103. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP276735
- Stefan, N., Hennige, A.M., Staiger, H., Machann, J., Schick, F., Krober, S.M., Machicao, F., Fritsche, A., Haring, H.-U., 2006. 2-Heremans-Schmid Glycoprotein/ Fetuin-A Is Associated With Insulin Resistance and Fat Accumulation in the Liver in Humans. Diabetes Care 29, 853–857. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.29.04.06.dc05-1938
- Stefan, N., Staiger, H., Wagner, R., Machann, J., Schick, F., Häring, H.U., Fritsche, A., 2015.
  A high-risk phenotype associates with reduced improvement in glycaemia during a lifestyle intervention in prediabetes. Diabetologia 58, 2877–2884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3760-z
- Stein, I.F., Leventhal, M.L., 1935. Amenorrhea associated with bilateral polycystic ovaries. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 29, 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9378(15)30642-6
- Stener-Victorin, E., Padmanabhan, V., Walters, K.A., Campbell, R.E., Benrick, A., Giacobini,
  P., Dumesic, D.A., Abbott, D.H., 2020. Animal Models to Understand the Etiology and
  Pathophysiology of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Endocr. Rev. 41, 538–576.
  https://doi.org/10.1210/endrev/bnaa010
- Stephens, N.A., Brouwers, B., Eroshkin, A.M., Yi, F., Cornnell, H.H., Meyer, C., Goodpaster, B.H., Pratley, R.E., Smith, S.R., Sparks, L.M., 2018. Exercise response variations in skeletal muscle PCR recovery rate and insulin sensitivity relate to muscle epigenomic profiles in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 41, 2245–2254. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-0296
- Stepto, N., Hiam, D., Gibson-Helm, M., Cassar, S., Harrison, C.L., Hutchison, S.K., Joham, A.E., Canny, B., Moreno-Asso, A., Strauss, B.J., Hatzirodos, N., Rodgers, R.J., Teede, H.J., 2020. Exercise and insulin resistance in PCOS: muscle insulin signalling and fibrosis. Endocr. Connect. 2, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1530/ec-19-0551
- Stepto, N.K., Cassar, S., Joham, A.E., Hutchison, S.K., Harrison, C.L., Goldstein, R.F., Teede,
  H.J., 2013. Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. Hum. Reprod. 28, 777–784. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/des463
- Stepto, N.K., Hawley, J.A., Dennis, S.C., Hopkins, W.G., 1999. Effects of different intervaltraining programs on cycling time-trial performance. Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc. 31, 736–

741. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199905000-00018

- Stepto, N.K., Hiam, D., Gibson-Helm, M., Cassar, S., Harrison, C.L., Hutchison, S.K., Joham, A.E., Canny, B.J., Moreno-Asso, A., Strauss, B.J., Hatzirodos, N., Rodgers, R.J., Teede, H.J., 2020. Exercise and insulin resistance in PCOS: Muscle insulin signalling and fibrosis. Endocr. Connect. 9, 346–359. https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-19-0551
- Stepto, N.K., Moreno-Asso, A., McIlvenna, L.C., Walters, K.A., Rodgers, R.J., 2019a. Molecular Mechanisms of Insulin Resistance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Unraveling the Conundrum in Skeletal Muscle? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 5372–5381. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2019-00167
- Stepto, N.K., Patten, R.K., Tassone, E.C., Misso, M.L., Brennan, L., Boyle, J., Boyle, R.A., Harrison, C.L., Hirschberg, A.L., Marsh, K., Moreno-Asso, A., Redman, L., Thondan, M., Wijeyaratne, C., Teede, H.J., Moran, L.J., 2019b. Exercise Recommendations for Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Is the Evidence Enough? Sport. Med. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-019-01133-6
- Stern, S.E., Williams, K., Ferrannini, E., DeFronzo, R.A., Bogardus, C., Stern, M.P., 2005. Identification of Individuals With Insulin Resistance Using Routine Clinical Measurements. Diabetes 54, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.2.333
- Stocks, B., Dent, J.R., Ogden, H.B., Zemp, M., Philp, A., 2019. Postexercise skeletal muscle signaling responses to moderate- to high-intensity steady-state exercise in the fed or fasted state. Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab. 316, E230–E238. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00311.2018
- Straight, C.R., Toth, M.J., Miller, M.S., 2020. Current Perspectives on Obesity and Skeletal Muscle Contractile Function in Older Adults. J. Appl. Physiol. 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00739.2020
- Sun, Q., Li, L., Li, R., Yang, M., Liu, H., Nowicki, M.J., Zong, H., Xu, J., Yang, G., 2009. Overexpression of visfatin/PBEF/Nampt alters whole-body insulin sensitivity and lipid profile in rats. Ann. Med. 41, 311–320. https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890902729760
- Sweeney, G., Somwar, R., Ramlal, T., Volchuk, A., Ueyama, A., Klip, A., 1999. An inhibitor of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase prevents insulin- stimulated glucose transport but not glucose transporter translocation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 10071–10078. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.15.10071
- Sylow, L., Richter, E.A., 2019. Current advances in our understanding of exercise as medicineinmetabolicdisease.Curr.Opin.Physiol.12,12–19.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cophys.2019.04.008

- Takahashi, H., Alves, C.R.R.R., Stanford, K.I., Middelbeek, R.J.W.W., Nigro, P., Ryan, R.E., Xue, R., Sakaguchi, M., Lynes, M.D., So, K., Mul, J.D., Lee, M.-Y.Y., Balan, E., Pan, H., Dreyfuss, J.M., Hirshman, M.F., Azhar, M., Hannukainen, J.C., Nuutila, P., Kalliokoski, K.K., Nielsen, S., Pedersen, B.K., Kahn, C.R., Tseng, Y.-H.H., Goodyear, L.J., 2019. TGF-β2 is an exercise-induced adipokine that regulates glucose and fatty acid metabolism. Nat. Metab. 1, 291–303. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-018-0030-7
- Takano, A., Usui, I., Haruta, T., Kawahara, J., Uno, T., Iwata, M., Kobayashi, M., 2001.
  Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Pathway Regulates Insulin Signaling via Subcellular
  Redistribution of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 and Integrates Nutritional Signals and
  Metabolic Signals of Insulin. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 5050–5062.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.15.5050-5062.2001
- Tal, R., Seifer, D.B., Shohat-Tal, A., Grazi, R. V., Malter, H.E., 2013. Transforming growth factor-β1 and its receptor soluble endoglin are altered in polycystic ovary syndrome during controlled ovarian stimulation. Fertil. Steril. 100, 538–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.04.022
- Tallis, J., James, R.S., Seebacher, F., 2018. The effects of obesity on skeletal muscle contractile function. J. Exp. Biol. 221. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.163840
- Tam, C.S., Covington, J.D., Bajpeyi, S., Tchoukalova, Y., Burk, D., Johannsen, D.L., Zingaretti, C.M., Cinti, S., Ravussin, E., 2014. Weight gain reveals dramatic increases in skeletal muscle extracellular matrix remodeling. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 99, 1749– 1757. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-4381
- Tam, C.S., Xie, W., Johnson, W.D., Cefalu, W.T., Redman, L.M., Ravussin, E., 2012. Defining insulin resistance from hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps. Diabetes Care 35, 1605– 1610. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-2339
- Tan, S.X., Ng, Y., Meoli, C.C., Kumar, A., Khoo, P.S., Fazakerley, D.J., Junutula, J.R., Vali, S., James, D.E., Stöckli, J., 2012. Amplification and demultiplexing in insulin-regulated Akt protein kinase pathway in adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 6128–6138. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.318238
- Tarum, J., Folkesson, M., Atherton, P.J., Kadi, F., 2017. Electrical pulse stimulation: an in vitro exercise model for the induction of human skeletal muscle cell hypertrophy. A proof-ofconcept study. Exp. Physiol. 102, 1405–1413. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP086581

Tata, B., Mimouni, N.E.H., Barbotin, A.L., Malone, S.A., Loyens, A., Pigny, P., Dewailly, Di.,

Catteau-Jonard, S., Sundström-Poromaa, I., Piltonen, T.T., Dal Bello, F., Medana, C., Prevot, V., Clasadonte, J., Giacobini, P., 2018. Elevated prenatal anti-Müllerian hormone reprograms the fetus and induces polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood. Nat. Med. 24, 834–846. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0035-5

- Taylor, H.L., Wu, C.L., Chen, Y.C., Wang, P.G., Gonzalez, J.T., Betts, J.A., 2018. Postexercise carbohydrate-energy replacement attenuates insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance the following morning in healthy adults. Nutrients 10, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10020123
- Teede, H., Deeks, A., Moran, L., 2010. Polycystic ovary syndrome: a complex condition with psychological, reproductive and metabolic manifestations that impacts on health across the lifespan. BMC Med. 8, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-8-41
- Teede, H., Misso, M., Tassone, E.C., Dewailly, D., Ng, E.H., Azziz, R., Norman, R.J., Andersen, M., Franks, S., Hoeger, K., Hutchison, S., Oberfield, S., Shah, D., Hohmann, F., Ottey, S., Dabadghao, P., Laven, J.S.E., 2019. Anti-Müllerian Hormone in PCOS: A Review Informing International Guidelines. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 30, 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2019.04.006
- Teede, H.J., Misso, M.L., Boyle, J.A., Garad, R.M., McAllister, V., Downes, L., Gibson, M., Hart, R.J., Rombauts, L., Moran, L., Dokras, A., Laven, J., Piltonen, T., Rodgers, R.J., Thondan, M., Costello, M.F., Norman, R.J., Gibson-Helm, M., Hart, R.J., Rombauts, L., Moran, L., Dokras, A., Laven, J., Piltonen, T., Rodgers, R.J., Thondan, M., Costello, M.F., Norman, R.J., Baye, E., Brennan, L., Harrison, C., Hutchison, S., Joham, A., Johnson, L., Jordan, C., Kulkarni, J., Mansfield, D., Marsh, K., Mol, B.W., Peña, A., Rodgers, R.J., Speight, J., Stepto, N., Tassone, E.C., Wan, A., Woolcock, J., 2018a. Translation and implementation of the Australian-led PCOS guideline: clinical summary and translation resources from the International Evidence-based Guideline for the Assessment and Management of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Med. J. Aust. 209, S3–S8. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja18.00656
- Teede, H.J., Misso, M.L., Costello, M.F., Dokras, A., Laven, J., Moran, L., Piltonen, T., Norman, R.J., Andersen, M., Azziz, R., Balen, A., Baye, E., Boyle, J., Brennan, L., Broekmans, F., Dabadghao, P., Devoto, L., Dewailly, D., Downes, L., Fauser, B., Franks, S., Garad, R.M., Gibson-Helm, M., Harrison, C., Hart, R., Hawkes, R., Hirschberg, A., Hoeger, K., Hohmann, F., Hutchison, S., Joham, A., Johnson, L., Jordan, C., Kulkarni, J., Legro, R.S., Li, R., Lujan, M., Malhotra, J., Mansfield, D., Marsh, K., McAllister, V.,

Mocanu, E., Mol, B.W., Ng, E., Oberfield, S., Ottey, S., Peña, A., Qiao, J., Redman, L., Rodgers, R., Rombauts, L., Romualdi, D., Shah, D., Speight, J., Spritzer, P.M., Stener-Victorin, E., Stepto, N., Tapanainen, J.S., Tassone, E.C., Thangaratinam, S., Thondan, M., Tzeng, C.R., Van Der Spuy, Z., Vanky, E., Vogiatzi, M., Wan, A., Wijeyaratne, C., Witchel, S., Woolcock, J., Yildiz, B.O., 2018b. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum. Reprod. 33, 1602–1618. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dey256

- Teede, H.J., Ng, S., Hedger, M., Moran, L., 2013. Follistatin and activins in polycystic ovary syndrome: Relationship to metabolic and hormonal markers. Metabolism 62, 1394–1400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2013.05.003
- Thamer, C., Machann, J., Stefan, N., Haap, M., Schäfer, S., Brenner, S., Kantartzis, K., Claussen, C., Schick, F., Haring, H., Fritsche, A., 2007. High visceral fat mass and high liver fat are associated with resistance to lifestyle intervention. Obesity 15, 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.568
- The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group, 2004. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Fertil. Steril. 81, 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2003.10.004
- Thingholm, T.E., Bak, S., Beck-Nielsen, H., Jensen, O.N., Gaster, M., 2011. Characterization of human myotubes from type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic subjects using complementary quantitative mass spectrometric methods. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 10, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M110.006650
- Tiano, J.P., Springer, D.A., Rane, S.G., 2015. SMAD3 Negatively Regulates Serum Irisin and Skeletal Muscle FNDC5 and Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor γ Coactivator 1 α (PGC-1α) during Exercise. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 7671–7684. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.617399
- Tonks, K.T., Ng, Y., Miller, S., Coster, A.C.F., Samocha-Bonet, D., Iseli, T.J., Xu, A., Patrick, E., Yang, J.Y.H., Junutula, J.R., Modrusan, Z., Kolumam, G., Stöckli, J., Chisholm, D.J., James, D.E., Greenfield, J.R., 2013. Impaired Akt phosphorylation in insulin-resistant human muscle is accompanied by selective and heterogeneous downstream defects. Diabetologia 56, 875–885. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2811-y
- Tosi, F., Bonora, E., Moghetti, P., 2017. Insulin resistance in a large cohort of women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comparison between euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp

and surrogate indexes. Hum. Reprod. 32, 2515–2521. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dex308

- Tosi, F., Dal Molin, F., Zamboni, F., Saggiorato, E., Salvagno, G.L., Fiers, T., Kaufman, J.-M., Bonora, E., Moghetti, P., 2020. Serum Androgens Are Independent Predictors of Insulin Clearance but Not of Insulin Secretion in Women With PCOS. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 105, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa095
- Totsikas, C., Röhm, J., Kantartzis, K., Thamer, C., Rittig, K., MacHann, J., Schick, F., Hansel, J., Niess, A., Fritsche, A., Häring, H.U., Stefan, N., 2011. Cardiorespiratory fitness determines the reduction in blood pressure and insulin resistance during lifestyle intervention. J. Hypertens. 29, 1220–1227. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e3283469910
- Tremellen, K., Zander-Fox, D., 2015. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone assessment of ovarian reserve and polycystic ovary syndrome status over the reproductive lifespan. Aust. New Zeal. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 55, 384–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajo.12366
- Trendelenburg, A.U., Meyer, A., Rohner, D., Boyle, J., Hatakeyama, S., Glass, D.J., 2009.
  Myostatin reduces Akt/TORC1/p70S6K signaling, inhibiting myoblast differentiation and myotube size. AJP Cell Physiol. 296, C1258–C1270. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00105.2009
- Turner, D.C., Kasper, A.M., Seaborne, R.A., Brown, A.D., Close, G.L., Murphy, M., Stewart, C.E., Martin, N.R.W., Sharples, A.P., 2019. Exercising Bioengineered Skeletal Muscle In Vitro: Biopsy to Bioreactor, in: Rønning, S.B. (Ed.), Myogensis: : Methods and Protocols, Methods in Molecular Biology, Methods in Molecular Biology. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 55–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8897-6\_5
- Turner, M.C., Martin, N.R.W., Player, D.J., Ferguson, R.A., Wheeler, P., Green, C.J., Akam, E.C., Lewis, M.P., 2020. Characterising hyperinsulinemia-induced insulin resistance in human skeletal muscle cells. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 64, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-19-0169
- Turner, M.C., Player, D.J., Martin, N.R.W., Akam, E.C., Lewis, M.P., 2018. The effect of chronic high insulin exposure upon metabolic and myogenic markers in C2C12 skeletal muscle cells and myotubes. J. Cell. Biochem. 119, 5686–5695. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.26748
- Ueno, M., Carvalheira, J.B.C., Tambascia, R.C., Bezerra, R.M.N., Amaral, M.E., Carneiro, E.M., Folli, F., Franchini, K.G., Saad, M.J.A., 2005. Regulation of insulin signalling by

hyperinsulinaemia: Role of IRS-1/2 serine phosphorylation and the mTOR/p70 S6K pathway. Diabetologia 48, 506–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-004-1662-6

- Uhlén, M., Fagerberg, L., Hallström, B.M., Lindskog, C., Oksvold, P., Mardinoglu, A., Sivertsson, Å., Kampf, C., Sjöstedt, E., Asplund, A., Olsson, I.M., Edlund, K., Lundberg, E., Navani, S., Szigyarto, C.A.K., Odeberg, J., Djureinovic, D., Takanen, J.O., Hober, S., Alm, T., Edqvist, P.H., Berling, H., Tegel, H., Mulder, J., Rockberg, J., Nilsson, P., Schwenk, J.M., Hamsten, M., Von Feilitzen, K., Forsberg, M., Persson, L., Johansson, F., Zwahlen, M., Von Heijne, G., Nielsen, J., Pontén, F., 2015. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science (80-. ). 347. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260419
- Urbanek, M., Sam, S., Legro, R.S., Dunaif, A., 2007. Identification of a polycystic ovary syndrome susceptibility variant in fibrillin-3 and association with a metabolic phenotype.
  J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 4191–4198. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2007-0761
- Vaag, A., Henriksen, J.E., Beck-Nielsen, H., 1992. Decreased insulin activation of glycogen synthase in skeletal muscles in young nonobese Caucasian first-degree relatives of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Invest. 89, 782–788. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115656
- Varanasi, L.C., Subasinghe, A., Jayasinghe, Y.L., Callegari, E.T., Garland, S.M., Gorelik, A., Wark, J.D., 2017. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: Prevalence and impact on the wellbeing of Australian women aged 16-29 years. Aust. New Zeal. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajo.12730
- Vassilatou, E., Lafoyianni, S., Vryonidou, A., Ioannidis, D., Kosma, L., Katsoulis, K., Papavassiliou, E., Tzavara, I., 2010. Increased androgen bioavailability is associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum. Reprod. 25, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dep380
- Vázquez-Martínez, E.R., Gómez-Viais, Y.I., García-Gómez, E., Reyes-Mayoral, C., Reyes-Muñoz, E., Camacho-Arroyo, I., Cerbón, M., 2019. DNA methylation in the pathogenesis of polycystic ovary syndrome. Reproduction 158, R27–R40. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-18-0449
- Vedtofte, L., Foghsgaard, S., Zierau, L., Vilsbøll, T., Knop, F.K., 2019. Lean Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and Insulin Resistance Have Normal Incretin Effect, which Is Unaffected by Metformin Therapy. Diabetes 68, 1186-P. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-1186-P

Velazquez, E.M., Mendoza, S., Hamer, T., Sosa, F., Glueck, C.J., 1994. Metformin therapy in

polycystic ovary syndrome reduces hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, hyperandrogenemia, and systolic blood pressure, while facilitating normal menses and pregnancy. Metabolism 43, 647–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(94)90209-7

- Vind, B.F., Pehmøller, C., Treebak, J.T., Birk, J.B., Hey-Mogensen, M., Beck-Nielsen, H., Zierath, J.R., Wojtaszewski, J.F.P., Højlund, K., 2011. Impaired insulin-induced sitespecific phosphorylation of TBC1 domain family, member 4 (TBC1D4) in skeletal muscle of type 2 diabetes patients is restored by endurance exercise-training. Diabetologia 54, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-010-1924-4
- Vrbikova, J., Bendlova, B., Hill, M., Vankova, M., Vondra, K., Starka, L., 2002. Insulin Sensitivity and B-Cell Function in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Diabetes Care 25, 1217–1222. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.25.7.1217
- Wahren, J., Felig, P., Hagenfeldt, L., 1978. Physical exercise and fuel homeostasis in diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 14, 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01219419
- Wallace, I.R., McKinley, M.C., Bell, P.M., Hunter, S.J., 2013. Sex hormone binding globulin and insulin resistance. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 78, 321–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.12086
- Walton, K.L., Johnson, K.E., Harrison, C.A., 2017. Targeting TGF-β mediated SMAD signaling for the prevention of fibrosis. Front. Pharmacol. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00461
- Wang, J., Wu, D., Guo, H., Li, M., 2019. Hyperandrogenemia and insulin resistance: The chief culprit of polycystic ovary syndrome. Life Sci. 236, 116940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.116940
- Wang, P.Y., Koishi, K., McGeachie, A.B., Kimber, M., MacLaughlin, D.T., Donahoe, P.K., McLennan, I.S., 2005. Mullerian Inhibiting Substance acts as a motor neuron survival factor in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 16421–16425. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508304102
- Wang, R., Mol, B.W.J., 2017. The Rotterdam criteria for polycystic ovary syndrome: Evidence-based criteria? Hum. Reprod. 32, 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew287
- Watts, R., McAinch, A.J., Dixon, J.B., O'Brien, P.E., Cameron-Smith, D., 2013. Increased Smad signaling and reduced MRF expression in skeletal muscle from obese subjects. Obesity 21, 525–528. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20070
- Weist, M.R., Wellington, M.S., Bermudez, J.E., Kostrominova, T.Y., Mendias, C.L., Arruda,

E.M., Larkin, L.M., 2013. TGF- $\beta$ 1 enhances contractility in engineered skeletal muscle.

J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 7, 562–571. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.551

- Welt, C.K., Carmina, E., 2013. Lifecycle of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): From in utero to menopause. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 4629–4638. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-2375
- Welt, C.K., Taylor, A.E., Fox, J., Messerlian, G.M., Adams, J.M., Schneyer, A.L., 2005.
  Follicular arrest in polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with deficient inhibin A and B biosynthesis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 5582–5587. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0695
- White, M.F., 1998. The IRS-signalling system : A network of docking proteins that mediate insulin action 3–11.
- Whitehead, J.P., Molero, J.C., Clark, S., Martin, S., Meneilly, G., James, D.E., 2001. The Role of Ca2+ in Insulin-stimulated Glucose Transport in 3T3-L1 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 27816–27824. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M011590200
- Whitham, M., Chan, M.H.S., Pal, M., Matthews, V.B., Prelovsek, O., Lunke, S., El-Osta, A., Broenneke, H., Alber, J., Brüning, J.C., Wunderlich, F.T., Lancaster, G.I., Febbraio, M.A., 2012. Contraction-induced interleukin-6 gene transcription in skeletal muscle is regulated by c-Jun terminal kinase/activator protein-1. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 10771–10779. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.310581
- Widegren, U., Jiang, X.J., Krook, A., Chibalin, A. V., Björnholm, M., Tally, M., Roth, R.A., Henriksson, J., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., Zierath, J.R., 1998. Divergent effects of exercise on metabolic and mitogenic signaling pathways in human skeletal muscle. FASEB J. 12, 1379–1389. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.12.13.1379
- Williams, A.S., Kang, L., Wasserman, D.H., 2015. The extracellular matrix and insulin resistance. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 26, 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2015.05.006
- Willis, D., Franks, S., 1995. Insulin action in human granulosa cells from normal and polycystic ovaries is mediated by the insulin receptor and not the type-I insulin-like growth factor receptor. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.80.12.8530637
- Willis, D., Mason, H., Gilling-Smith, C., Franks, S., 1996. Modulation by insulin of folliclestimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone actions in human granulosa cells of normal and polycystic ovaries. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 302–309. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.81.1.8550768

- Winbanks, C.E., Weeks, K.L., Thomson, R.E., Sepulveda, P. V., Beyer, C., Qian, H., Chen, J.L., Allen, A.M., Lancaster, G.I., Febbraio, M.A., Harrison, C.A., McMullen, J.R., Chamberlain, J.S., Gregorevic, P., 2012. Follistatin-mediated skeletal muscle hypertrophy is regulated by Smad3 and mTOR independently of myostatin. J. Cell Biol. 197, 997– 1008. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201109091
- Wiweko, B., Indra, I., Susanto, C., Natadisastra, M., Hestiantoro, A., 2018. The correlation between serum AMH and HOMA-IR among PCOS phenotypes. BMC Res. Notes 11, 114. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-018-3207-y
- Wu, L., Derynck, R., 2009. Essential Role of TGF-β Signaling in Glucose-Induced Cell Hypertrophy. Dev. Cell 17, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.05.010
- Wu, Z., Huang, X., Feng, Yajun, Handschin, C., Feng, Yan, Gullicksen, P.S., Bare, O., Labow,
  M., Spiegelman, B., Stevenson, S.C., 2006. Transducer of regulated CREB-binding proteins (TORCs) induce PGC-1α transcription and mitochondrial biogenesis in muscle cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 14379–14384. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606714103
- Xu, X., Zheng, L., Yuan, Q., Zhen, G., Crane, J.L., Zhou, X., Cao, X., 2018. Transforming growth factor- β in stem cells and tissue homeostasis. Bone Res. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41413-017-0005-4
- Yadav, H., Quijano, C., Kamaraju, A.K., Gavrilova, O., Malek, R., Chen, W., Zerfas, P., Zhigang, D., Wright, E.C., Stuelten, C., Sun, P., Lonning, S., Skarulis, M., Sumner, A.E., Finkel, T., Rane, S.G., 2011. Protection from Obesity and Diabetes by Blockade of TGFβ/Smad3 Signaling. Cell Metab. 14, 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.04.013
- Yadav, H., Rane, S.G., 2012. TGF- β / Smad3 signaling regulates brown adipocyte induction in white adipose tissue 3, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2012.00035
- Yamashita, Y., Nakada, S., Yoshihara, T., Nara, T., Furuya, N., Miida, T., Hattori, N., Arikawa-Hirasawa, E., 2018. Perlecan, a heparan sulfate proteoglycan, regulates systemic metabolism with dynamic changes in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. Sci. Rep. 8, 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25635-x
- Yki Jarvinen, H., Koivisto, V.A., 1983. Effects of body composition on insulin sensitivity. Diabetes 32, 965–969. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.32.10.965
- Zhang, Y.E., 2009. Non-Smad pathways in TGF-β signaling. Cell Res. 19, 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2008.328
- Zhao, Y., Fu, L., Li, R., Wang, L.N., Yang, Y., Liu, N.N., Zhang, C.M., Wang, Y., Liu, P., Tu,

B. Bin, Zhang, X., Qiao, J., 2012. Metabolic profiles characterizing different phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome: Plasma metabolomics analysis. BMC Med. 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-10-153

- Zhao, Z., Ukidve, A., Kim, J., Mitragotri, S., 2020. Targeting Strategies for Tissue-Specific Drug Delivery. Cell 181, 151–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.001
- Zierath, J., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., 2002. From Receptor to Effector: Insulin Signal Transduction in Skeletal Muscle from Type II Diabetic Patients. New York Acad. Sci. 967, 120–134.